JMIR Aging

Journal Impact Factor (JIF) (2023): 5.0 Volume 4 (2021), Issue 1 ISSN 2561-7605 Editor in Chief: Yun Jiang, PhD, MS, RN, FAMIA; Jinjiao Wang, PhD, RN, MPhil

Contents

Original Papers

XSL•F⊖ RenderX

Health Impacts of the Stay-at-Home Order on Community-Dwelling Older Adults and How Technologies May Help: Focus Group Study (e25779)	
Jessica Daly, Colin Depp, Sarah Graham, Dilip Jeste, Ho-Cheol Kim, Ellen Lee, Camille Nebeker.	3
Web-Based Cognitive Testing of Older Adults in Person Versus at Home: Within-Subjects Comparison Study (e23384)	
Andrée-Ann Cyr, Kristoffer Romero, Laura Galin-Corini.	13
A Multipurpose Platform for Ambient Assisted Living (ActiveAdvice): Usability Study (e18164)	
Diogo Abrantes, Soraia Teles, Rita Tavares de Sousa, Alberto Freitas, Pedro Vieira-Marques, Ana Ferreira.	27
Implementations of Evidence-Based eHealth Interventions for Caregivers of People With Dementia in Municipality Contexts (Myinlife and Partner in Balance): Evaluation Study (e21629)	
Hannah Christie, Lizzy Boots, Huibert Tange, Frans Verhey, Marjolein de Vugt.	47
Family Caregiver Needs and Preferences for Virtual Training to Manage Behavioral and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia: Interview Study (e24965)	
Magaly Ramirez, Miriana Duran, Chester Pabiniak, Kelly Hansen, Ann Kelley, James Ralston, Susan McCurry, Linda Teri, Robert Penfold 6	
Attitudes Toward Technology and Use of Fall Alert Wearables in Caregiving: Survey Study (e23381)	
Deborah Vollmer Dahlke, Shinduk Lee, Matthew Smith, Tiffany Shubert, Stephen Popovich, Marcia Ory.	75
Impact of Social Media on Health-Related Outcomes Among Older Adults in Singapore: Qualitative Study (e23826)	
Madeline Han, Xin Tan, Rachael Lee, Jeong Lee, Rathi Mahendran.	102
Mobile Apps for Older Adults: Systematic Search and Evaluation Within Online Stores (e23313)	
Dallmeier, Harald Baumeister, Eva-Maria Messner.	126
A New Tool for Detecting COVID-19 Psychological Burden Among Postacute and Long-term Care Residents (Mood-5 Scale): Observational Study (e26340)	
William Mansbach, Ryan Mace, Melissa Tanner.	142

JMIR Aging 2021 | vol. 4 | iss. 1 | p.1

Understanding Technology Preferences and Requirements for Health Information Technologies Designed to Improve and Maintain the Mental Health and Well-Being of Older Adults: Participatory Design Study (e21461)	
Haley LaMonica, Tracey Davenport, Anna Roberts, Ian Hickie	150
Using Consumer-Grade Physical Activity Trackers to Measure Frailty Transitions in Older Critical Care Survivors: Exploratory Observational Study (e19859) Ben Kim, Miranda Hunt, John Muscedere, David Maslove, Joon Lee.	167

Reviews

XSL•FO RenderX

Providing Medical Information to Older Adults in a Web-Based Environment: Systematic Review (e24092)	
Bianca McLean, Nazia Hossain, Valentina Donison, Mikaela Gray, Sara Durbano, Kristen Haase, Shabbir Alibhai, Martine Puts.	87
Technology-Assisted Home Care for People With Dementia and Their Relatives: Scoping Review (e25307)	
Sarah Palmdorf, Anna Stark, Stephan Nadolny, Gerrit Eliaß, Christoph Karlheim, Stefan Kreisel, Tristan Gruschka, Eva Trompetter, Christoph	
Dockweiler.	114

Original Paper

Health Impacts of the Stay-at-Home Order on Community-Dwelling Older Adults and How Technologies May Help: Focus Group Study

Jessica R Daly¹, BA, BS; Colin Depp¹, PhD; Sarah A Graham¹, PhD; Dilip V Jeste¹, MD; Ho-Cheol Kim², PhD; Ellen E Lee¹, MD; Camille Nebeker³, EdD, MS

¹Department of Psychiatry, Sam and Rose Stein Institute for Research on Aging, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, United States ²AI and Cognitive Software, IBM Research-Almaden, San Jose, CA, United States

³Research Center for Optimal Digital Ethics in Health, Herbert Wertheim School of Public Health and Human Longevity Science, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Camille Nebeker, EdD, MS Research Center for Optimal Digital Ethics in Health Herbert Wertheim School of Public Health and Human Longevity Science University of California, San Diego 9500 Gilman Drive La Jolla, CA, 92093-0811 United States Phone: 1 8585347786 Email: <u>nebeker@eng.ucsd.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: As of March 2021, in the USA, the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in over 500,000 deaths, with a majority being people over 65 years of age. Since the start of the pandemic in March 2020, preventive measures, including lockdowns, social isolation, quarantine, and social distancing, have been implemented to reduce viral spread. These measures, while effective for risk prevention, may contribute to increased social isolation and loneliness among older adults and negatively impact their mental and physical health.

Objective: This study aimed to assess the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting "Stay-at-Home" order on the mental and physical health of older adults and to explore ways to safely increase social connectedness among them.

Methods: This qualitative study involved older adults living in a Continued Care Senior Housing Community (CCSHC) in southern California, USA. Four 90-minute focus groups were convened using the Zoom Video Communications platform during May 2020, involving 21 CCSHC residents. Participants were asked to describe how they were managing during the "stay-at-home" mandate that was implemented in March 2020, including its impact on their physical and mental health. Transcripts of each focus group were analyzed using qualitative methods.

Results: Four themes emerged from the qualitative data: (1) impact of the quarantine on health and well-being, (2) communication innovation and technology use, (3) effective ways of coping with the quarantine, and (4) improving access to technology and training. Participants reported a threat to their mental and physical health directly tied to the quarantine and exacerbated by social isolation and decreased physical activity. Technology was identified as a lifeline for many who are socially isolated from their friends and family.

Conclusions: Our study findings suggest that technology access, connectivity, and literacy are potential game-changers to supporting the mental and physical health of older adults and must be prioritized for future research.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e25779) doi:10.2196/25779

KEYWORDS

RenderX

aging; quarantine; mental health; physical health; social isolation; COVID-19 pandemic; continued care senior housing community; CCSHC; qualitative research; videoconferencing; older adults; gerontechnology; loneliness; housing for the elderly; independent living

Introduction

Social isolation and loneliness affect human health, well-being, and overall quality of life [1] and are known risk factors for poor mental and physical health across an individual's lifespan, particularly among adults aged over 65 years [2-4]. Social isolation is defined as "the objective lack or limited extent of social contacts with others," whereas loneliness is defined as "the perception of social isolation or the subjective feeling of being lonely" [5]. Research has documented the relationship between social isolation and loneliness and mental health contributing to suicides and opioid-related deaths [6]; poor physical health, including cardiovascular disease and stroke [7]; and premature mortality [8].

The serious societal and public health concerns around social isolation and loneliness prompted the American Association for Retired Persons to commission the National Academies to convene a working group to address social isolation and loneliness among older adults. The resulting report, which included recommendations for improving our health care system, was published in February 2020, just around the time when the COVID-19 pandemic was beginning to grip the United States. The COVID-19 pandemic and related social distancing guidelines are expected to exacerbate social isolation and loneliness, particularly among older adults [9]. In fact, the "double pandemic" of social isolation and COVID-19 has received increasing attention, as the balance of survival against the sacrifices of social connectedness are clearly at odds [8]. An important consideration is how long preventive measures can be kept in place, while considering the consequences of such measures on the public's health and well-being.

In March 2020, "Stay-at-Home" quarantine orders were imposed across the USA to mitigate the spread of COVID-19. As Continued Care Senior Housing Community (CCSHC) residents were considered at high risk of infection, conservative protocols were implemented to prevent the escalation of infection and deaths among older adult residents. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention issued guidance for CCSHCs to increase protections for residents and workers and advised administrators to work with their local health officials to develop safe and feasible guidelines [10]. Recommendations included risk reduction practices to limit exposure by closing access to common areas (eg, gyms and restaurants) and encouraged workers and residents to refrain from visiting other individuals' living spaces. In addition, those residing or permitted to work within the facility were asked to maintain at least six-feet physical distance, complete daily health screens, and wear face coverings. In many cases, nonessential workers and visitors were not permitted within the facilities.

As COVID-19 continued to spread, it was clear that older adults were at significant risk, particularly those living in CCSHCs where outbreaks were concentrated and associated with community spread and a higher death rate. In the United States, there are nearly 2000 CCSHCs offering long-term care options for older adults [11]. We selected a CCSHC in southern California for our qualitative study designed to assess the impact of quarantine on resident's physical and mental health.

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25779
```

XSL•FC RenderX This CCSHC was selected because many of its residents are currently involved as participants in an ongoing longitudinal research study. This larger parent study is designed to learn about cognitive, physical, and mental health and factors that influence healthy aging among older adults living independently in a CCSHC [12]. The community-based longitudinal study involves 112 participants (about one-third of all the CCSHC residents) aged 65-100 years and living independently. For our qualitative study, we invited residents, including participants of the longitudinal study, to participate in one of four virtual 90-minute focus group meetings scheduled for May 2020. The aim of the study was to assess the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting quarantine on the residents' mental and physical health and to explore ways to safely increase social connectedness among them.

Methods

Inclusion Criteria

Four focus groups were conducted in May 2020 using the Zoom videoconferencing platform; the focus groups comprised residents from a CCSHC in southern California aged 65 years and above. Residents were considered eligible for this study if they were an independent-living resident at the CCSHC; willing to participate in a 90-minute group discussion using the Zoom videoconferencing platform; had access to the Zoom platform using a phone, tablet, or computer; and had a general understanding of how to use the platform.

Recruitment and Scheduling

The study was reviewed and verified as exempt by the institutional review board. An informational flyer was circulated electronically and physically to residents. The research staff also contacted participants of the ongoing longitudinal study to share study information and gauge their interest. Interested residents were provided with details of the focus group (eg, date and time) and asked to indicate their availability. A research assistant confirmed the selected date/time along with instructions for joining the meeting via the Zoom platform. Two email reminders were sent prior to the focus group sessions with the meeting link and a message that technical support was available for 30 minutes prior to the meeting.

Data Collection: Focus Group Semi-Structured Interview Guide

Participants joined the Zoom focus group via a phone, tablet, or computer device, and any technical difficulties they experienced were addressed by the research staff. Each 90-minute session was led by a trained focus group facilitator (CN or JD), with both facilitators attending all four sessions.

Focus groups began with an introduction to the study purpose, confidentiality expectations, and ground rules. All focus group attendees gave verbal consent to participate and the meeting to be recorded. The first focus group took place on May 5, 2020, that is, 47 days after the stay-at-home order was issued in California. The fourth or the last focus group was held on May 27, 2020, that is, 22 days after the first group and 69 days after the stay-at-home mandate was imposed.

The focus group protocol items (see Table 1) included two forced choice and several open-ended prompts to gauge participants' responses to the quarantine measures. The polling feature of the Zoom platform was used early in the session to have participants anonymously respond to two questions that asked how the social distancing requirement had impacted their mental health and physical health. The facilitator also asked open-ended questions to explore how the quarantine was affecting participants' mental and physical health, thoughts about what other residents might be experiencing, strategies to manage stress and isolation, the use of technology to increase social connectedness, and potential solutions that would mitigate health consequences due to quarantine.

Table 1. Focus group protocol items.

Category	Question
Zoom polling feature	 The impact of the corona virus pandemic social distancing requirement has impacted my mental health: 1. Not at all 2. Somewhat 3. A lot
	 The impact of the corona virus pandemic social distancing requirement has impacted my physical health: 1. Not at all 2. Somewhat 3. A lot
Social distancing	How would you describe the impact of social distancing on your (a) mental health and (b) physical health? What about the people around you?
Strategies	What strategies have you found helpful to manage your anxiety and reduce stress? What strategies have your family or friends used?
Activities	Have you engaged in new activities to help cope with the coronavirus pandemic?
Technology	How are you using technology differently than pre-COVID?
Intervention	We are planning to conduct a program that, we hope, will reduce loneliness in senior housing communities. What are your thoughts about this type of program, and would you be interested?

Community Validation

Results

CCSHC Campus Management Response to COVID-19

Two additional group meetings were held in September 2020 with a subset of participants who reviewed a summary presentation of the study results. One of the objectives of this meeting was to check in with the participants, also called "member checking," to validate that what they learned from the focus group meetings was consistent with their recollection and to confirm the trustworthiness of findings [13]. The participants also provided an update on how their circumstances had changed in the 3 months since participating in the focus groups.

Data Analysis

Group discussions were digitally recorded and professionally transcribed. Transcripts were deidentified by redacting identifiable information. Two researchers (CN and JD) manually coded and analyzed the transcripts to identify distinct themes and patterns. The analysis followed a traditional content analysis process whereby text was reviewed, codes were developed, and themes and patterns were identified [14]. The inductive coding framework was developed from the interview guide and research questions. Both researchers (CN and JD) reviewed notes taken during each focus group, along with all transcripts, and independently coded two transcripts that were then compared and analyzed to verify intercoder consistency. Codes were then grouped into categories, and emerging themes were identified. The resulting codebook was used to guide the analysis of the remaining focus groups' transcripts carried out by JD. When the California stay-at-home order went into effect on March 19, 2020, the CCSHC management effected the following changes: (1) closed the restaurant and initiated delivery of meals directly to each resident's apartment; (2) closed the gym and suspended organized social gatherings (eg, bingo, trivia, and exercise classes); and (3) closed the campus to all external visitors except for deliveries.

Focus Groups

Twenty-one residents participated in one of four 90-minute focus group meetings. Demographic information was available for 20 of the 21 participants who were also enrolled in the parent study. Participants were predominately Caucasian (20/21, 95%) and female (14/21, 67%) with a mean age of 80 (SD 5.5) years. A majority of the participants (17/21, 81%) had attained an associate degree or higher, with 86% (18/21) reporting an annual household income over US \$50,000.

Poll Results

Impact of social distancing on participants' mental and physical health was quantified from poll responses (see Table 1). Of the 21 participants, 17 (81%) confirmed they experienced a negative impact on their mental health and 12 (57%) indicated they experienced a negative impact on their physical health.



Results of the Thematic Analysis

Four themes were identified from the qualitative analysis and labeled as follows: (1) impact of the quarantine on health and well-being, (2) communication innovation and technology use, (3) effective ways of coping with the quarantine, and (4) improving access to technology and training. Qualitative responses attest to the effects of quarantine on the participants' mental and physical health, which were attributed to restricted social routines, including limited access to family and friends, and reduced physical activity.

Impact of the Quarantine on Health and Well-Being

A common frustration expressed across all focus groups was the negative impact of the quarantine on participants' physical and mental health. Negative effects most frequently mentioned included weight gain, decreased mobility, worsening of existing health conditions, and/or development of new conditions due to decreased physical activity.

I miss the gym a lot. I was there almost every day, and my mobility has suffered from not being able to use the machines down there. I'm limited in the distance that I can walk due to neuropathy and things like that, arthritis, so it's really taken a toll.

The not being able to use the equipment down in the gym has really been detrimental to my physical health because I have these stents in my legs, and the one thing that my doctors told me I needed to do was to be on a treadmill or on an exercise bike several times a week for an hour a day and I haven't been able to...

Participants expressed a consistently strong preference for the gym to reopen and provided ideas for how the management could reopen the facility safely. Some suggested that gym visits could be scheduled and a sanitation protocol could be included, which they felt was feasible since the facility was not open to the public. To mitigate the reduced access to the gym, the management organized 15-minute group workout classes that were conducted by a health educator in the parking lot. Participants could join from their balconies or using a web-based platform. Although many appreciated the opportunity to participate, it did not replace their desire to return to the in-house gym facility.

From a mental health perspective, limited opportunity to engage with others was taking a toll. Participants expressed their desire to interact with friends and family and hoped for a return to the routines and activities that originally connected them as a community. Many emphasized a longing for physical touch (eg, hugging) and social connection without a mask, so they could interact with smiles and other facial expressions. Additionally, participants expressed how much they missed celebrations, and some felt diminished joy for life. Participants who had lost their partner prior to the quarantine spoke about increased feelings of grief associated with being alone. Several participants described short bouts of anxiety and depression. Some managed these low moods by going for a drive, working on a hobby, or enjoying the company of their partner or pet. Others worried that the impact of the quarantine on their mental health may be long lasting.

I don't normally get real [sic] depressed. But, for about 2 days, I just really thought this is it, that we're never gonna get out of here. Because I wanna keep things closed down 'til it's really safe. I don't feel good about going out and doing things...

It's all of these quarantine fears that have cast question over my capability to handle myself, which has been an ever-present piece of fear in my mind...It's all causing a fearful mentality of what could happen.

For many participants, social connectivity and group activities were key reasons for relocating to the CCSHC; however, the lockdown requirements were met with frustration, despite understanding the need to stay safe during the pandemic.

I lost human connection and I'm the type of person that wants to be with a group of people and do fun things together. We lost our family connection, family celebration, family hugging, joking around, and sometimes I feel lost.

In addition to physical distancing requirements, the use of face masks contributed to the loss of connection. One participant noted that some older adults rely on reading lips to follow a conversation, particularly when experiencing hearing loss. With masks, they have fewer social and emotional signals, making conversing in person more difficult. The inability to see a smile or other forms of expression proved challenging when physically near one another, as depicted by this participant.

I'm kind of a touchy-feely person and enjoy looking at people's faces and expressions and the tone of their voice, so it's been a big loss.

Communication Innovation and Technology Use

Communication innovation reflects creative strategies for social engagement, including technology use, that participants developed to mitigate the social isolation stemming from the quarantine. Most participants used a smartphone, and some used a videoconferencing platform.

We use a lot of texting and phone calls to get back and forth and sending pictures back and forth, so it helps a lot. It makes a big difference.

Video communication platforms (eg, Zoom and Skype) were identified as an ideal solution for connecting with family and friends while in quarantine. Several participants mentioned using these tools for virtual book clubs and social groups. They also enjoyed the idea of leveraging technology to support access to discussion groups with specific topics, interactive group games, and/or support groups.

I think that there needs to be some appreciation and recognition that Zoom is a tool that can be very beneficial for this community on an ongoing basis.

There's so much to be said in a face and an expression and the quality of voice [sic]. It just communicates so much, while safely using videoconferencing [to connect]

One participant coordinated web access to her church for Sunday services, and another continued participating in her women's group via Zoom. The use of digital medicine was also mentioned

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25779
```

as an advantage of the quarantine, making it possible to speak with a clinician without having to travel to the clinic themselves.

My women's group that I belonged to for 25 years is scheduled for this afternoon and is supposed to be on Zoom. We have sort of grown up together and it's a support group and a friendship group...

Many participants were concerned about the shy or reclusive residents who may not have well-established relationships within the community and felt that community videoconference meetings could help to connect these individuals with the rest of the community and reduce the effects of social isolation and loneliness.

I was thinking that Zoom is a way for introverts to reach out from the safety of their own home and sometimes having an anchorage available gives courage to movement. And that being safe in your own apartment and reaching out is a little step that is safer to take than putting your whole self out there.

Although technology was seen as an ideal intermediary resource, participants preferred interacting with other residents while physically distancing, for example, meeting for a meal in the parlor or walking around the campus grounds.

There are 6 to 8 of us that sit in one of the parlors and have dinner together, although we're all at our own tables and we're all at least 6 feet apart...

Effective Ways of Coping with the Quarantine

The two most common ways that the participants coped with the quarantine was by maintaining a positive attitude and finding support and companionship within the community. As previously mentioned, technology was also used as a coping mechanism to provide social connection and access to certain activities (eg, church).

With respect to attitude, many participants recognized that they had some control in how they perceived the quarantine as either an opportunity or a threat. One participant stressed that her framing of the situation made a big difference in her perspective of the pandemic and reduced its negative impact.

It's all about attitude, I think. I saw something recently that said we can look at ourselves as being stuck at home or we can look at ourselves as being safe at home. So, to me, a lot of it is just in how you look at it. We are safe, we're healthy, and this will end.

Similarly, another participant noted that in addition to recognizing how you can control your own narrative, you can also let others know that they have the ability to change their attitude and, subsequently, their reality.

Finding safe community support was another tool that participants mentioned. Within the CCSHC, each building or floor is considered an individual neighborhood. Participants described different ways that their "neighborhoods" supported one another. For instance, singing or reciting the pledge of allegiance every day at noon was becoming a custom.

Most of our residents come out every day at noon, and we say the Pledge of Allegiance and sing a song.

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25779
```

And then we spend just a few minutes making sure everybody is okay and talking about any problems they might have come up with...everybody says it's really good for their mental health to see each other.

Another neighborhood held a fundraiser by selling ice cream bars down the hallways, while distancing and wearing proper protective equipment. Other neighborhoods posted artwork near the elevators for their fellow residents to enjoy. Many found happiness in celebrating uncommon holidays, such as National Pretzel Day on April 26, 2020. Residents left bags of pretzels at their neighbor's doorsteps with small notes attached, hoping that this would bring some celebration back into their lives.

On the positive side, it seems to me that floors have become little neighborhoods and are beginning to look out for each other more than they used to.

Participants who had a pet expressed gratitude for the companionship and the additional motivation to walk outside, which supported their physical activity.

But if you have a dog or a cat...there is company in that too. That helps a lot. But I think it would be very hard if you're by yourself in your apartment.

Improving Access to Technology and Training

Despite mentioning technology as a communication coping strategy to mitigate the effects of social isolation and loneliness, participants emphasized that technological barriers existed. For those with access, the cost of an internet service was potentially prohibitive. For those with both a device and connection, training was needed to learn how to use technology.

In our meeting earlier today, they [management] said that only about 50% of the residents here are computer literate.

Participants suggested that a peer-educator model, whereby participants taught each other, would be desirable. This approach could facilitate a safe and enjoyable environment that would enable them to interact and learn how to use their devices.

I like the idea of more Zoom activities for meetings and things like that. The one thing that is needed, though, is a concerted effort to educate people and help them set their computers up.

Debriefing Meetings

Two additional meetings held in September 2020 included a subset of participants to validate the findings. Participants confirmed our study results and, similar to the findings in May 2020, they remained frustrated, and negative impacts of the quarantine on their mental and physical health persisted. Many appreciated that restrictions were loosening and felt encouraged by the reopening of the community gym and local restaurant, yet the monotony of day-to-day reality was taking a toll on their mental health. Social activities had not resumed and community facilities where people gathered (eg, dining rooms and clubs) remained closed. Participants expressed concern that the gym may be closed again if the county community outbreak numbers increased, which would be detrimental to their physical health and mental well-being.

They [management] failed to weigh the effects that the re-closing of the gym would have on the residents, you know. It's getting to the point where not having a gym is just as bad as the risk of contracting the virus, so there has to be a trade.

Participants continued to use technology (eg, Zoom, videoconferencing, and texting) as a communication coping strategy but reiterated their need for physical contact, emphasizing the negative effects of diminished social contact with friends and family. Participants generally agreed that the primary source of frustration came from the quarantine having "no end in sight."

Additionally, they felt the standards and guidelines within their community lacked detail, and it was unclear what activities were allowed. Despite these frustrations, participants continued to focus on potential solutions, and again expressed the need for simple and straightforward technology training, emphasizing the peer-educator model, and the potential for videoconferencing to aid social connection.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This focus group study of CCSHC residents informs our understanding of the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting quarantine and increased social isolation has had on older adults' physical and mental health. Additionally, the role of technology emerged as being key to preserving social connectedness for many within these communities; however, unfortunately, the technology was not accessible by all participants. Below, we discuss the major findings of the focus groups with recommendations for next steps.

Impact on Physical and Mental Health

Prior to COVID-19, older adults already represented the least physically active age group in the United States [15]. Greater self-reported physical activity has been associated with better self-reported and objectively measured physical health of older adults living in a retirement community [16]. Reduced physical activity may also have negative implications for other aspects of health such as cognitive trajectories; older adults that spend less time in physical activities of moderate-to-vigorous intensity may have a greater long-term risk for cognitive impairment [17]. It was mentioned multiple times by participants that physical and mental health were directly tied to one another and when one declined, the other did as well. These assertions are supported by recent literature demonstrating that even light physical activity during the COVID-19 pandemic may help alleviate the negative impact on the mental health of older adults who are socially isolated [18]. Furthermore, studies have reported that decreased physical activity may increase susceptibility of at-risk groups to infections and exacerbate existing chronic medical conditions such as cardiovascular disease and cancer [19]. Alternative exercise and social activities are clearly necessary to maintain the physical and mental health and well-being of socially isolated older adults.

Prior studies have associated social isolation and loneliness itself with poor physical and mental health outcomes.

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25779

Specifically, social isolation and loneliness have been associated with unhealthy lifestyle behaviors, including increased smoking, alcohol consumption, and malnutrition [20-23]. Moreover, social isolation and loneliness are independent predictors of depression, anxiety, and cognitive impairments among older adults [24-26]. The duration of social isolation and loneliness is also of concern, particularly in conjunction with quarantine, as recent findings suggest that social disengagement and fewer subjectively meaningful interpersonal interactions are related to decreased physical performance over time [27]. Evidently, more research is needed to assess the impact of quarantine-induced social isolation and loneliness, with an emphasis on how technology may be useful in reducing health risks.

Technology Solutions

Participants highlighted technology as critical to maintaining social connectedness, by using Zoom and other media to reduce social isolation and loneliness throughout quarantine. The barriers to adoption of technology reported by the participants were consistent with those reported in prior research among older adults, including attitudes, cognitive ability, prior experience, product design, cost, and access [28,29]. An issue with the design of health technologies (eg, monitors and sensors, communication systems, and artificial intelligence), is that older adults are rarely involved in the design process or are engaged too late in the development cycle. For example, older adults are the likely major users of telehealth, yet little attention is given to their end-user perspectives [30]. Older adults may therefore have a lack of confidence that they can learn to use these technologies, or they may have limited interest [28,31]. Prior research has shown that older adults want to assist with co-designing health technologies and can help technology developers understand how to design, considering their physical and cognitive limitations as well as privacy concerns [32].

Importance of Attitude

Aging is associated with heterogeneity, with some older adults having increased emotional responses to naturally occurring daily stressors and others being more resilient [33]. Increased resilience has been associated with better cognitive function and self-perceived health, reduced depression, and greater optimism for older adults [34]. Negative stereotypes associated with aging, particularly negative self-perception of aging, may play an additional role in the varying severity levels of the effects of quarantine on the mental health of older adults [35]. Research has shown that negative attitudes towards aging can increase emotional response to daily stressors [36]. Our study found that maintaining a positive attitude during quarantine was a key coping factor. The combined effects of varying resiliency and attitudes towards aging among older adults are likely responsible for the diverse findings in recently published studies evaluating the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on senior persons [37].

Participants demonstrated compassion for other residents in many ways (eg, regular check-ins). This compassion for others may relate to the community prioritizing supportive actions, where neighbors were "beginning to look out for each other more than they used to." These findings support the role of compassion in battling potential loneliness caused by social

XSL•FO RenderX

isolation [3,38,39] and reinforce the need for interventions to reduce loneliness by promoting compassion [40,41]. Once technology barriers have been addressed, web-based platforms could be used as a resource for these types of interventions.

A final and concerning observation was that the fear of exposure to COVID-19 infection among the participants appeared to diminish over time, while feelings of quarantine frustrations increased. Being "safe at home" comes with frustrations that could undermine the ability to persist with behaviors that support infection prevention; subsequently, the behaviors enacted due to these frustrations may have contributed to the second COVID-19 wave in the USA that occurred in fall 2020.

Recommendations for Addressing Social Isolation During COVID-19

The COVID-19 pandemic will continue to exacerbate social isolation and loneliness and related health issues for older adults. There are actions that individuals and organizations, including CCSHCs, can undertake to mitigate quarantine harms and related social and physical implications. Due to the current quarantine restrictions, technology emerged as a clear and viable solution for supporting older adult's mental and physical health while practicing social distancing. The key areas that must be prioritized for future research are described below.

Communication Platforms

Recognizing the prevalence of and predictors for loneliness in older adult populations is important. A grim statistic in a survey of older adults (N=6,786) revealed that 39% suffered from loneliness, with 5% of the total population reporting loneliness often or always [42]. Given that loneliness is linked to social isolation, could loneliness be prevented through proactive interventions? One suggestion from the study participants was to schedule more frequent and consistent virtual gatherings using communication platforms (eg, Zoom and Google Hangouts). These gatherings could bring the community together for physical activity, educational lectures, book clubs, and other social opportunities. Participants suggested that access to these virtual opportunities may encourage access by people who normally do not attend social activities, as they would be able to attend without the pressure to participate. Online group gatherings may hold promise for older adults, as current research shows that by implementing a group intervention reduced social isolation and loneliness and health care costs, whereas it increased feelings of well-being [43]. Access to resources that facilitate physical activity were prioritized by participants to support their physical and mental health, which is known to alleviate the negative consequences of quarantine [18]. Increased efforts to provide older adults with consistent and easily accessible workouts, either via web-based platforms or by observing social distancing within the community, are essential to support their overall well-being.

Access and Connectivity

Access to technologies, including communication platforms and social robots, may mitigate frustrations associated with social distancing and isolation. Presently, little is known about the extent to which campus residents have access to or own

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25779

personal technologies. Assessing interest among the participants as well as facilitators and barriers to access are the first steps for research in this direction. Results could inform interventions to connect with and use technologies. If technology is a key to the short- and long-term health and well-being of older adults, efforts should be made by programs of all levels to identify needs and bridge gaps so that participants are able to access and use technologies that support social connection with friends, family, and the community. Additionally, when information is communicated by the management using a technology platform that not all can access, the leadership is encouraged to explore all avenues necessary to reach residents, as communication is a lifeline for many during these uncertain times.

Technology Literacy

Once challenges pertaining to access and connectivity are addressed, which is an issue of digital equity and beyond the scope of this paper, training to use the technology is necessary. In this study, participants expressed a lack of confidence that may be addressed through education; however, with the pandemic raging, it is challenging to match appropriate education to promote technology literacy. Participants suggested that the development of a peer-led education program would be a desirable method, as it would increase community capacity safely. The peer-educator model suggested by participants has been used successfully in programs designed for older adults [44,45]. Although this is a starting point, these resources will need to be evaluated, augmented, and implemented to support older adults, particularly those with limited technology experience.

Limitations

There are several limitations to this study. Focus groups were conducted using the Zoom videoconferencing platform, rather than in person, due to the quarantine restrictions. Participants represented a select subset of CCSHC residents who had technology access, connectivity, and some knowledge of how to navigate the technology. The majority of participants were highly educated, financially stable, Caucasian, and represented a single CCSHC in southern California. For these reasons, the results of this study may not be generalizable to other locations and more socioeconomically diverse older adult populations.

Conclusions

This study engaged residents of a CCSHC to learn how the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting quarantine has impacted the mental and physical health of older adults. The preventive measures to reduce the spread of infection has revealed that technology access, connectivity, and literacy are potential game-changers in supporting the mental and physical health of older adults and must be prioritized for future research. CCSHC residents reported the impact of the quarantine on their mental and physical health was directly tied to the stay-at-home mandate due to social isolation and reduced physical activity. Technology was identified as a lifeline for many participants who were socially isolated from their friends and family. The digital divide is more prevalent among older adults than other populations and will exacerbate health disparities if not prioritized and addressed.

XSL•FO

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by IBM Research AI through the AI Horizons Network.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Hawton A, Green C, Dickens AP, Richards SH, Taylor RS, Edwards R, et al. The impact of social isolation on the health status and health-related quality of life of older people. Qual Life Res 2011 Feb;20(1):57-67. [doi: 10.1007/s11136-010-9717-2] [Medline: 20658322]
- 2. Blazer D. Social isolation and loneliness in older adults-a mental health/public health challenge. JAMA Psychiatry 2020 Oct 01;77(10):990-991. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.1054] [Medline: 32492078]
- Jeste DV, Di Somma S, Lee EE, Nguyen TT, Scalcione M, Biaggi A, et al. Study of loneliness and wisdom in 482 middle-aged and oldest-old adults: a comparison between people in Cilento, Italy and San Diego, USA. Aging Ment Health 2020 Oct 01:1-11. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2020.1821170] [Medline: 33000647]
- 4. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. Social Isolation and Loneliness in Older Adults: Opportunities for the Health Care System Internet. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press; 2020.
- Donovan NJ, Blazer D. Social isolation and loneliness in older adults: review and commentary of a National Academies report. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2020 Dec;28(12):1233-1244 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2020.08.005] [Medline: 32919873]
- 6. Jeste DV, Lee EE, Cacioppo S. Battling the modern behavioral epidemic of loneliness: suggestions for research and interventions. JAMA Psychiatry 2020 Jun 01;77(6):553-554. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.0027] [Medline: 32129811]
- Valtorta NK, Kanaan M, Gilbody S, Ronzi S, Hanratty B. Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for coronary heart disease and stroke: systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal observational studies. Heart 2016 Jul 01;102(13):1009-1016 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2015-308790] [Medline: 27091846]
- Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB, Baker M, Harris T, Stephenson D. Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for mortality: a meta-analytic review. Perspect Psychol Sci 2015 Mar;10(2):227-237. [doi: 10.1177/1745691614568352] [Medline: 25910392]
- Plagg B, Engl A, Piccoliori G, Eisendle K. Prolonged social isolation of the elderly during COVID-19: between benefit and damage. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2020;89:104086 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2020.104086] [Medline: 32388336]
- Considerations for Retirement Communities and Independent Living Facilities Internet. Centers for Diseases Control and Prevention. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/community/retirement/considerations.html</u> [accessed 2020-09-06]
- 11. How Continuing Care Retirement Communities Work. AARP. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.aarp.org/caregiving/basics/info-2017/</u> <u>continuing-care-retirement-communities.html</u> [accessed 2020-11-08]
- Jeste DV, Glorioso D, Lee EE, Daly R, Graham S, Liu J, et al. Study of independent living residents of a continuing care senior housing community: sociodemographic and clinical associations of cognitive, physical, and mental health. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2019 Sep;27(9):895-907 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2019.04.002] [Medline: 31078382]
- 13. Birt L, Scott S, Cavers D, Campbell C, Walter F. Member checking: a tool to enhance trustworthiness or merely a nod to validation? Qual Health Res 2016 Nov;26(13):1802-1811. [doi: 10.1177/1049732316654870] [Medline: 27340178]
- 14. Saldaña J. The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers. Third Edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2016.
- Watson KB, Carlson SA, Gunn JP, Galuska DA, O'Connor A, Greenlund KJ, et al. Physical inactivity among adults aged 50 years and older - United States, 2014. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2016 Sep 16;65(36):954-958 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6536a3] [Medline: 27632143]
- 16. Sebastião E, Henert S, Siqueira V. Physical activity and physical function in older adults living in a retirement community: a cross-sectional analysis focusing on self-rated health. Am J Lifestyle Med 2020 Jul 24. [doi: 10.1177/1559827620942720]
- Zhu W, Wadley VG, Howard VJ, Hutto B, Blair SN, Hooker SP. Objectively measured physical activity and cognitive function in older adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2017 Jan;49(1):47-53 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000001079] [Medline: 27580146]
- Callow DD, Arnold-Nedimala NA, Jordan LS, Pena GS, Won J, Woodard JL, et al. The mental health benefits of physical activity in older adults survive the COVID-19 pandemic. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2020 Oct;28(10):1046-1057 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2020.06.024] [Medline: 32713754]
- Damiot A, Pinto AJ, Turner JE, Gualano B. Immunological implications of physical inactivity among older adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. Gerontology 2020;66(5):431-438 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000509216] [Medline: 32585674]

RenderX

- 20. Lauder W, Mummery K, Jones M, Caperchione C. A comparison of health behaviours in lonely and non-lonely populations. Psychol Health Med 2006 May;11(2):233-245. [doi: 10.1080/13548500500266607] [Medline: 17129911]
- 21. Wilson C, Moulton B. Loneliness among Older Adults: A National Survey of Adults 45+. Knowledge Networks and Insight Policy Research. Washington, DC: AARP; 2010 Sep. URL: <u>https://assets.aarp.org/rgcenter/general/loneliness_2010.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-03-12]
- 22. Crewdson JA. The effect of loneliness in the elderly population: a review. Heal Aging Clin Care Elder 2016 Mar;8(1):1-8. [doi: 10.4137/hacce.s35890]
- 23. Boulos C, Salameh P, Barberger-Gateau P. Social isolation and risk for malnutrition among older people. Geriatr Gerontol Int 2017 Feb;17(2):286-294. [doi: 10.1111/ggi.12711] [Medline: 26790629]
- Barg FK, Huss-Ashmore R, Wittink MN, Murray GF, Bogner HR, Gallo JJ. A mixed-methods approach to understanding loneliness and depression in older adults. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2006 Nov;61(6):S329-S339 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geronb/61.6.s329] [Medline: 17114313]
- 25. Donovan NJ, Wu Q, Rentz DM, Sperling RA, Marshall GA, Glymour MM. Loneliness, depression and cognitive function in older U.S. adults. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2017 May;32(5):564-573 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/gps.4495] [Medline: 27162047]
- Ellwardt L, van Tilburg T, Aartsen M, Wittek R, Steverink N. Personal networks and mortality risk in older adults: a twenty-year longitudinal study. PLoS One 2015 Mar;10(3):e0116731 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116731] [Medline: 25734570]
- Philip KEJ, Polkey MI, Hopkinson NS, Steptoe A, Fancourt D. Social isolation, loneliness and physical performance in older-adults: fixed effects analyses of a cohort study. Sci Rep 2020 Aug 17;10(1):13908 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-70483-3] [Medline: 32807857]
- 28. Charness N, Boot WR. Aging and information technology use: potential and barriers. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2009 Oct;18(5):253-258. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01647.x]
- 29. Vaportzis E, Clausen MG, Gow AJ. Older adults perceptions of technology and barriers to interacting with tablet computers: a focus group study. Front Psychol 2017 Oct 04;8:1687 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01687] [Medline: 29071004]
- 30. Foster MV, Sethares KA. Facilitators and barriers to the adoption of telehealth in older adults: an integrative review. Comput Inform Nurs 2014 Nov;32(11):523-533. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.000000000000105] [Medline: 25251862]
- Peek STM, Luijkx KG, Rijnaard MD, Nieboer ME, van der Voort CS, Aarts S, et al. Older adults' reasons for using technology while aging in place. Gerontology 2016;62(2):226-237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000430949] [Medline: 26044243]
- 32. Wang S, Bolling K, Mao W, Reichstadt J, Jeste D, Kim H, et al. Technology to support aging in place: older adults' perspectives. Healthcare (Basel) 2019 Apr 10;7(2) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare7020060] [Medline: 30974780]
- Ong AD, Bergeman CS, Bisconti TL, Wallace KA. Psychological resilience, positive emotions, and successful adaptation to stress in later life. J Pers Soc Psychol 2006 Oct;91(4):730-749. [doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.91.4.730] [Medline: 17014296]
- Jeste DV, Savla GN, Thompson WK, Vahia IV, Glorioso DK, Martin AS, et al. Association between older age and more successful aging: critical role of resilience and depression. Am J Psychiatry 2013 Feb;170(2):188-196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.12030386] [Medline: 23223917]
- 35. Levy B. Stereotype embodiment: a psychosocial approach to aging. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 2009 Dec 01;18(6):332-336 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01662.x] [Medline: 20802838]
- Bellingtier JA, Neupert SD. Negative aging attitudes predict greater reactivity to daily stressors in older adults. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2018 Sep 20;73(7):1155-1159. [doi: <u>10.1093/geronb/gbw086</u>] [Medline: <u>27489092</u>]
- Luchetti M, Lee JH, Aschwanden D, Sesker A, Strickhouser JE, Terracciano A, et al. The trajectory of loneliness in response to COVID-19. Am Psychol 2020 Oct;75(7):897-908 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/amp0000690] [Medline: 32567879]
- Lee EE, Depp C, Palmer BW, Glorioso D, Daly R, Liu J, et al. High prevalence and adverse health effects of loneliness in community-dwelling adults across the lifespan: role of wisdom as a protective factor. Int Psychogeriatr 2019 Oct;31(10):1447-1462 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1041610218002120] [Medline: 30560747]
- Nguyen TT, Lee EE, Daly RE, Wu T, Tang Y, Tu X, et al. Predictors of loneliness by age decade: study of psychological and environmental factors in 2,843 community-dwelling Americans aged 20-69 years. J. Clin Psychiatry 2020 Nov 10;81(6):20m13378. [doi: 10.4088/jcp.20m13378]
- 40. Lee EE, Bangen KJ, Avanzino JA, Hou B, Ramsey M, Eglit G, et al. Outcomes of randomized clinical trials of interventions to enhance social, emotional, and spiritual components of wisdom: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Psychiatry 2020 Sep 01;77(9):925-935. [doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.0821] [Medline: 32401284]
- Treichler EBH, Glorioso D, Lee EE, Wu T, Tu XM, Daly R, et al. A pragmatic trial of a group intervention in senior housing communities to increase resilience. Int Psychogeriatr 2020 Feb;32(2):173-182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1041610219002096] [Medline: 32017867]
- 42. Savikko N, Routasalo P, Tilvis RS, Strandberg TE, Pitkälä KH. Predictors and subjective causes of loneliness in an aged population. Arch Gerontol Geriatr 2005;41(3):223-233. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.archger.2005.03.002</u>] [Medline: <u>15908025</u>]

RenderX

- Savikko N, Routasalo P, Tilvis R, Pitkälä K. Psychosocial group rehabilitation for lonely older people: favourable processes and mediating factors of the intervention leading to alleviated loneliness. Int J Older People Nurs 2010 Mar;5(1):16-24. [doi: 10.1111/j.1748-3743.2009.00191.x] [Medline: 20925753]
- 44. Khong L, Farringdon F, Hill KD, Hill A. "We are all one together": peer educators' views about falls prevention education for community-dwelling older adults--a qualitative study. BMC Geriatr 2015 Mar 20;15:28. [doi: <u>10.1186/s12877-015-0030-3</u>] [Medline: <u>25887213</u>]
- 45. Klein LA, Ritchie JE, Nathan S, Wutzke S. An explanatory model of peer education within a complex medicines information exchange setting. Soc Sci Med 2014 Jun;111:101-109. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.04.009</u>] [Medline: <u>24768781</u>]

Abbreviations

CCSHC: Continued Care Senior Housing Community

Edited by J Wang; submitted 15.11.20; peer-reviewed by R Barak Ventura; comments to author 01.03.21; revised version received 06.03.21; accepted 07.03.21; published 22.03.21.	
<u>Please cite as:</u>	
Daly JR, Depp C, Graham SA, Jeste DV, Kim HC, Lee EE, Nebeker C	
Health Impacts of the Stay-at-Home Order on Community-Dwelling Older Adults and How Technologies May Help: Focus Group	
Study	
JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e25779	
URL: <u>https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25779</u>	
doi: <u>10.2196/25779</u>	
PMID: 33690146	

©Jessica R Daly, Colin Depp, Sarah A Graham, Dilip V Jeste, Ho-Cheol Kim, Ellen E Lee, Camille Nebeker. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 22.03.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Cyr et al

Web-Based Cognitive Testing of Older Adults in Person Versus at Home: Within-Subjects Comparison Study

Andrée-Ann Cyr¹, PhD; Kristoffer Romero², PhD; Laura Galin-Corini¹, BSc

¹Department of Psychology, Glendon Campus, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada
²Department of Psychology, University of Windsor, Windsor, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author: Andrée-Ann Cyr, PhD Department of Psychology Glendon Campus York University 126 York Hall 2275 Bayview Avenue Toronto, ON, M4N 3R4 Canada Phone: 1 416 897 0194 Email: andreeann.cyr@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Web-based research allows cognitive psychologists to collect high-quality data from a diverse pool of participants with fewer resources. However, web-based testing presents unique challenges for researchers and clinicians working with aging populations. Older adults may be less familiar with computer usage than their younger peers, leading to differences in performance when completing web-based tasks in their home versus in the laboratory under the supervision of an experimenter.

Objective: This study aimed to use a within-subjects design to compare the performance of healthy older adults on computerized cognitive tasks completed at home and in the laboratory. Familiarity and attitudes surrounding computer use were also examined.

Methods: In total, 32 community-dwelling healthy adults aged above 65 years completed computerized versions of the word-color Stroop task, paired associates learning, and verbal and matrix reasoning in 2 testing environments: at home (unsupervised) and in the laboratory (supervised). The paper-and-pencil neuropsychological versions of these tasks were also administered, along with questionnaires examining computer attitudes and familiarity. The order of testing environments was counterbalanced across participants.

Results: Analyses of variance conducted on scores from the computerized cognitive tasks revealed no significant effect of the testing environment and no correlation with computer familiarity or attitudes. These null effects were confirmed with follow-up Bayesian analyses. Moreover, performance on the computerized tasks correlated positively with performance on their paper-and-pencil equivalents.

Conclusions: Our findings show comparable performance on computerized cognitive tasks in at-home and laboratory testing environments. These findings have implications for researchers and clinicians wishing to harness web-based testing to collect meaningful data from older adult populations.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e23384) doi:10.2196/23384

KEYWORDS

web-based testing; aging; cognition; neuropsychology; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

The internet is an increasingly popular medium for running behavioral experiments in psychology [1-4]. In 2017, approximately a quarter of research papers in 4 top cognitive

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23384/
```

psychology journals featured at least one web-based study, up by 5% from the past 5 years [5]. This is an exciting paradigm shift for researchers given that web-based methods allow for the cost-effective collection of larger data sets from broader geographical regions and more diverse participants [6-10]. A growing number of studies have validated the use of web-based



behavioral research by reproducing benchmark findings in cognitive psychology among web-based samples (eg, attentional blink, Flanker, Simon) [7] or finding equivalent performance between web-based and laboratory-tested samples on memory, perception, and attention tasks [8,11-15].

Cognitive aging research especially stands to reap the benefits of web-based testing: Participation among older adults may be hindered by restricted mobility and access to testing sites. As a result, many studies rely on convenience sampling where participants are self-selected due to the ease of recruitment and willingness to participate [16]. This is problematic as convenience samples of cognitively normal older adults tend to be younger and better educated than those recruited via population-based sampling [16-19] and more likely to have a family history of Alzheimer disease [17], all factors that can skew research findings. A similar issue exists in research on neurodegenerative diseases, where the research samples are overwhelmingly White, well-educated, and have a high socioeconomic status, limiting the generalizability of clinical research to the population at large [20].

An obstacle to web-based aging research is that adults aged above 65 years have lower rates of technology adoption than their younger peers [21] and unfamiliarity with computers may affect performance on computerized tasks. Moreover, Mechanical Turk by Amazon, the most popular crowdsourcing platform for psychology researchers, has a population of workers that tends to be younger than the overall population [22]. Nonetheless, some studies have examined cognitive abilities in large web-based samples with ages ranging from 10 to 70 years [23,24] and 10 to 85 years [25]. Web-based data collection has also been used to investigate age-related changes in prospective memory [26] as well as working memory and visuospatial processing [27]. More commonly, however, web-based research among older cohorts is often used to test the validity and reliability of web-based neuropsychological batteries for clinical purposes of cognitive screening [28] or tele-neuropsychology [29]. A small body of work in tele-neuropsychology has explored the use of web-based cognitive screens for self-monitoring of cognitive impairment [30-32]. There are promising avenues for better detection and monitoring of cognitive impairment using well-established cognitive tasks [33-35]. Nevertheless, most clinicians (ie, neurologists, neuropsychologists) continue to rely on paper-and-pencil testing conducted during in-office visits, using technology only sparingly in their assessments [36,37].

Given the ongoing effects of COVID-19 on health care delivery and behavioral research, there is a pressing need to establish and validate protocols for remote cognitive testing among older adults. A chief concern, however, is whether performance within a standard testing situation is comparable with testing done in an unsupervised web-based format [38]. Using a within-subjects design, Assman et al [39] found that a self-administered web-based cognitive battery (NutriCog) provided similar information to a version supervised by a neuropsychologist. However, they found learning effects such that performance was better on the second completion of the battery, independent of the mode of administration. A recent study by Backx et al [40] also used a within-subjects design to examine the effects

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23384/

XSL•FO

of testing environment (supervised in the laboratory vs unsupervised at home) on performance on the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery. They found comparable performance across contexts, although reaction times (RTs) were slower in the web-based version. Although the results of these studies are encouraging, they did not examine older adults specifically. An advantage of supervised testing is that the neuropsychologist or experimenter can clarify instructions, provide encouragement, and ensure that the setting is free of distractions for participants-this may be especially important with older participants who are likely to be less fluent with technology. However, older adults may also be more stressed in such situations: novel testing locations have been shown to disproportionately stress older adults relative to younger adults, leading to greater age differences in memory [41].

Objectives

The aim of this study is to investigate using a within-subjects design whether performance on computerized cognitive tasks differs as a function of the testing environment in a group of community-dwelling older adults aged above 65 years. We selected cognitive tasks that are well established in both experimental research and neuropsychology, have low susceptibility to practice effects, and are known to be sensitive to age-related changes. The word-color Stroop task [42] (response inhibition and processing speed) is a widely used test in both experimental psychology and clinical neuropsychology, with a large body of work demonstrating declines in Stroop performance due to normative aging [43] and age-related neurodegenerative disease [44]. Similarly, paired associates learning (PAL) has long been used as a measure of the associative nature of episodic memory, which is well-known to be affected during normative aging [45] and is strongly implicated in Alzheimer disease [46-48]. Participants completed computerized versions of these tasks in 2 testing sessions spaced 24 hours apart: unsupervised in their own home using their personal computer as well as supervised by an experimenter in the laboratory. If the testing environment does indeed affect performance on these web-based measures, we would predict a significant difference between scores across the 2 conditions: given the paucity of previous findings using these particular measures, we did not have any strong a priori hypothesis with respect to the directionality of effects of testing environment on performance (ie, performance would be better or worse in person vs on the web). In addition, we explored the extent to which scores on computerized cognitive tests correlated with their gold standard neuropsychological test equivalents and the extent to which performance on computerized tests is associated with technology use and familiarity.

Methods

Participant Recruitment

This study was powered to detect moderate effect sizes (Cohen d=0.50) at a power >0.80 (two-tailed α at .05). To date, no studies have compared these experimental measures across testing conditions among older adults; however, a handful of studies have compared performance on web-based

neuropsychological tests as a function of testing location [28,39,40] and found moderate effects of testing location. A power analysis using G*Power 3 [49] determined that a sample size of 34 would be required to detect moderate effects (Cohen d=0.50) with a power >0.80 (two-tailed distribution with an =.5). A total of 38 adults age above 65 years were recruited via the York Research Participant Pool and agreed to participate in the study. The data of 6 participants were excluded: 3 due to computer-related issues and 3 due to participant error. The analyses included 32 participants (20 females). Participants were screened to ensure that they were diagnosed with any medical, neurological, or psychiatric condition known to impact cognition.

Measures

Web-Based Cognitive Tasks

In total, 3 experimental tasks were completed on a computer. For the in-person testing session, the tasks were presented on a 23.8" Dell monitor and responses were provided on a QWERTY keyboard. The specifications of the computer used in the web-based testing session are unknown as participants used their personal devices. However, participants were told before being enrolled into the study that a QWERTY keyboard was required.

- Word-color Stroop task: 36 congruent (eg, blue in blue ink) and 36 incongruent (eg, blue in yellow ink) stimuli were randomly presented to participants using PsyToolKit [31,32]. Participants were instructed to press the r, y, g, and b keys on the keyboard in response to words presented in red, yellow, green, and blue, respectively. If they did not respond within 4500 milliseconds, the following stimulus was presented. Participants first completed a practice trial with 6 trials before beginning the main task. Key outcome measures were raw RTs to respond to the congruent and incongruent trials, Stroop effects (calculated by subtracting RT to incongruent trials from RT to congruent trials), and errors (eg, pressing on the key corresponding to red when the ink was blue).
- 2. PAL task: 32 unrelated word pairs (eg, baker-wagon) were selected from the study by Connor et al [50] and divided into 2 sets of 16 pairs (set A and set B). There were no differences in word frequency or concreteness between sets, $F_{1,30}$ <1. Stimuli were presented using Qualtrics. In total, 16 unrelated word pairs (eg, tool-coast) were randomly presented, one at a time, for 4 seconds followed by a 1-second interstimulus interval (study 1). Immediately after, participants completed a self-paced cued recall (eg, tool-?) for the word pairs they had just studied (immediate recall 1) using the keyboard to type their responses. The same study-test cycle was then repeated (study 2 followed by immediate recall 2). After a 15-min delay, they completed the delayed cued recall portion of the PAL task (eg, tool-?) at their own pace. Key outcome measures were a PAL learning score calculated by adding the number of correctly recalled words during immediate recall 1 and 2 as well as a PAL delayed memory score defined as the number of words recalled during the delayed cued recall.

International Cognitive Ability Resource (ICAR): The ICAR 3. is a public-domain cognitive assessment tool [51] that types includes 4 item measuring reasoning: three-dimensional rotation presents cube renderings and asks participants to identify which of the response choices is a rotation of the target stimulus. The letter and number items show participants a short digit or letter sequence and ask them to identify the next position in the sequence from among 6 choices. The matrix reasoning items present 3×3 arrays of geometric shapes with one of the 9 shapes missing, and participants are instructed to identify which of the 6 geometric shapes best complete the stimulus. Finally, the verbal reasoning items include logic questions. We created 2 sets of problems each with 4 items from each item type for a total of 16 questions per set (set A and set B). Stimuli were presented using Qualtrics. Participants were given 7.5 min to complete 4 verbal reasoning and 4 letter and number problems, followed by 7.5 min to complete 4 matrix reasoning and 4 three-dimensional rotation problems from the ICAR. All questions were in a multiple-choice format, and participants used the mouse to select their answer. The key outcome was total accuracy across verbal and matrix questions (score from 0 to 16).

Standardized Neuropsychological Tasks

The following neuropsychological tasks were administered in person by a research assistant. All testing was performed under the supervision of a licensed neuropsychologist (KR). The verbal Paired Associates subtest of the Weschler Memory Scale -IV (WMS-IV) and Color Word Interference test of the Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System (D-KEFS) were included so that we could compare performance with their computerized analogs (PAL and Stroop task, respectively). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA), Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9), and Shipley Verbal subtest were included for the purposes of describing our sample and ensuring that participants did not exceed clinical cut-offs for cognitive impairment or depression.

- 1. Verbal Paired Associates subtest (WMS-IV) [52]: this test assesses the ability of an individual to learn unrelated word pairs. Participants were given the task according to standard instructions. Specifically, they were presented with 14 pairs of unrelated words at a rate of 1 pair every 3 seconds. They were then given the first word of each pair and asked to recall the second word. This was repeated for 4 trials using the same list of word pairs. After a delay of 15-min, participants were again given the first word of each pair and asked to recall the second word. Key outcomes include the total number of correctly recalled word pairs across the immediate recall trials (learning score) and the total number of words recalled after the delay (delayed score). These raw scores were then converted to age-corrected scaled scores. 2.
 - Color Word Interference test (D-KEFS) [53]: participants were administered the color naming and interference conditions of this task according to standardized instructions. In the color naming condition, participants were shown a page of colored patches and had to name them one by one as fast as possible, without making mistakes. In the interference subtest, participants were shown a page with names of colors printed in various colors

and were instructed for each word to name the color the word was printed in, rather than read the word itself. Participants were told to complete the task as quickly as possible without making mistakes. Key outcomes for both subtests were the time to completion (in seconds). These raw scores were then converted to age-corrected scaled scores.

- 3. MoCA [54]: this is a brief administered screening tool used to detect cognitive impairment. It assesses cognitive domains including short-term memory, visuospatial processing, executive functioning, attention, and orientation in time and space. The key outcome was the total score out of 30 (for geriatric samples, scores >26 are considered normal, whereas scores 18-25 indicate mild cognitive impairment, 10-17 indicate moderate cognitive impairment, and less than 10 indicate severe cognitive impairment).
- 4. PHQ-9 [55]: this is a self-administered 9-item measure of depression severity. The key outcome was the total score out of 27, with higher scores indicating greater depression severity.
- 5 The Shipley Verbal subtest (from the Shipley Institute of Living Scale) [56] was included as a brief measure of verbal abilities (scores range from 0-40, with higher scores reflecting greater ability). This test requires participants to identify synonyms for stimulus words presented in a multiple-choice format.

Computer Questionnaires

The 20-item Computer Anxiety Scale [57] and the 19-item Computer Anxiety Rating Scale [58] are questionnaires asking individuals to indicate their level of agreement (1: strongly disagree to 5: strongly agree) with statements pertaining to attitudes toward computer use (eg, I feel apprehensive about using computers). The Computer Aversion, Attitudes, and Familiarity Index [59] is a 40-item questionnaire that prompts participants to indicate the extent to which statements about computer use and feelings surrounding computers apply to them (-3: absolutely false to +3: absolutely true; eg, I enjoy using computers).

Procedure

All participants completed both an in-person testing session at the laboratory and a web-based testing session at their home, 24 hours apart. Whether participants completed the first testing session on the web (home first) or in-person (laboratory first) was counterbalanced across participants (Figure 1). The assignment of participants to order of testing (home first vs laboratory first) and order of test administration in the laboratory setting (web-based tests first vs paper-and-pencil tests first) was determined using a Latin square design. Upon recruitment, a participant was assigned to the next row in the Latin square, which determined their testing orders.

Figure 1. Flowchart of counterbalancing participant assignment to conditions in the experiment. ICAR: International Cognitive Ability Resource; PAL: paired associates learning.



Web-Based Testing Session

word-color Stroop task. Participants were prompted to enter a 3-digit identifier before each task.

Participants were sent a link to the study on the Qualtrics platform via email. After providing consent, they first completed the PAL task using stimuli from set A or B (set used was counterbalanced across participants). Finally, participants were redirected to the PsycToolkit site [60,61] to complete the

In-Person Testing Session

Participants completed 2 blocks of testing during the in-person

session: an experimental testing block and a neuropsychological

testing block. The order of the testing blocks was

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23384/

counterbalanced across participants. The experimental testing block was identical to the web-based testing session, with the exception that the PAL stimuli and the ICAR problems were different. For example, if a participant studied set A during the web-based testing session's PAL task, they studied set B during the in-person testing session. Importantly, both the web-based testing and the in-person testing were completed on the PsycToolkit website, ensuring that the only difference between conditions was the testing location. In the neuropsychological testing block, participants completed the immediate and delayed recall conditions from the WMS-IV VPA (Verbal Paired Associates) test: the color naming condition and the interference condition from the D-KEFS Color Word Interference Test, MoCA, and the Shipley vocabulary test. In the 15-min interval between the VPA learning trials and the delayed cued recall, the following questionnaires were administered: PHQ-9, Computer Attitude Scale, Computer Anxiety Rating Scale, and Computer Familiarity Scale.

Statistical Analyses

All analyses were conducted in Jamovi (version 1.2.27) using R statistical language, and an alpha level of .05 was used throughout.

To avoid the undue influence of extreme outliers on the Stroop task, trials where the participants responded under 200 milliseconds or over 4000 milliseconds were excluded. This led to 1.5% of total trials being excluded in the laboratory condition and 2% being excluded in the home condition. The Stroop data of 1 participant were removed in the home condition due to the fact that they missed all trials (RTs >4500 milliseconds).

Mixed analyses of variance were conducted to examine how performance on the outcome measures of our computerized experimental tasks (Stroop, PAL, and ICAR) varied as a function of testing environment (home vs laboratory) and testing order (home first vs laboratory first). In addition, Bayesian inferential testing was performed to provide a more comprehensive perspective on the equivalence of the test data across testing environments. This approach allows us to assign a probability of the null hypothesis or alternative hypothesis being true, given our obtained data [62]. Specifically, we conducted paired *t* tests and calculated corresponding Bayes factors for each *t* test using the BayesFactor R package [63] implemented in Jamovi to investigate the PAL total scores in both conditions (learning and delayed recall), mean RTs for Stroop (congruent, incongruent, and inhibition), and total scores on the ICAR reasoning task using testing environments as the paired conditions. The null hypothesis was defined as no meaningful difference in performance on these measures across testing environments, whereas the alternative hypothesis would be defined as a significant (nondirectional) difference in test scores between tasks done in the laboratory and on the web. As there are no prior studies on paired associate learning and Stroop task performance across in-laboratory and web-based settings, we did not have a strong a priori hypothesis regarding the presence or directionality of any effects of testing environment, other than a general alternative hypothesis of nonequivalence across testing conditions. In addition, given the lack of previous studies, we had no scientific knowledge to inform the most appropriate prior distribution. Thus, we used a Cauchy distribution centered around 0 (ie, the null) and specified a width parameter of 0.707. Results are presented in terms of a Bayes factor (BF01), which denotes the probability of the observed data, given the null hypothesis. Bayes factors were interpreted using the guidelines by Lee and Wagenmakers [64], which are as follows: Bayes factors below 1 are seen as evidence for the alternative hypothesis (0.33-1: anecdotal evidence, 0.1-0.33: moderate evidence; and <0.1 strong evidence), and Bayes factors above 1 are seen as evidence for the null hypothesis (1-3: anecdotal evidence, 3-10: moderate evidence; and >10 strong evidence).

To explore the validity of these experimental measures, Pearson correlations were conducted to explore the association between performance on the computerized experimental tasks and their pencil-and-paper analogs currently used in clinical practice. Specifically, we examined the relationship between performance on the computerized Stroop and the D-KEFS Color Word Interference Test as well as performance on the PAL task and the WMS-IV Verbal Paired Associates test. In addition, Pearson correlations were conducted to investigate the association between scores on the questionnaires querying computer attitudes, familiarity, and outcome measures on the computerized experimental tasks and the neuropsychological tests.

Results

Participant Characteristics

Demographic variables and neuropsychological scores as a function of testing session order are shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Mean demographic and neuropsychological scores as a function of order of testing environments.

Participant characteristics and neuropsychological variables	Order of testing environment	ts, mean (SD)
	Home first ^a	Laboratory first ^b
Age (years)	70.50 (6.87)	70.90 (7.30)
Years of education	17.90 (3.12)	17.90 (2.72)
PHQ-9 ^c	2.56 (2.73)	1.00 (1.46)
MoCA ^d	27.70 (1.89)	27.30 (1.85)
Shipley	36.10 (3.90)	37.20 (1.47)
WMS-IV ^e -Verbal Paired Associates		
Learning score (scaled score)	11.94 (2.46)	11.75 (2.96)
Delayed score (scaled score)	11.81 (3.27)	11.19 (3.15)
D-KEFS ^f -Color-Word Interference test (Stroop)		
Color naming (scaled score)	11.06 (2.46)	12.13 (2.36)
Inhibition score (scaled score)	11.81 (3.10)	11.81 (1.72)

^aHome testing session on day 1 and laboratory testing session on day 2.

^bLaboratory testing session on day 1 and home testing session on day 2.

^cPHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire-9.

^dMoCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment.

^eWMS-IV: Wechsler Memory Scale-IV.

^fD-KEFS: Delis-Kaplan Executive Functioning System Test.

The years of education of the 2 participants could not be confirmed. There were no significant differences in age $(t_{30}=0.15; P=.88)$ or years of education $(t_{28}=0.01; P=.99)$ as a function of session order. Participants assigned to the home-first testing order had marginally higher scores on the (PHQ-9) than those assigned to the laboratory-first testing order $(t_{30}=2.02; P=.05)$; however, none of the participants exceeded the clinical cut-off for major depressive disorder on the PHQ-9 (total score ≥ 10). There were no group differences in the MoCA $(t_{30}=0.57; P=.58)$ nor the Shipley vocabulary test $(t_{30}=1.02; P=.32)$.

Performance on Experimental Tasks Across Testing Environments: Frequentist Analyses

Stroop Task

We first conducted a 2 (Stroop condition: congruent vs incongruent)×2 (testing environment: home vs laboratory) repeated measures ANOVA with raw RTs as the dependent variable. RTs were significantly faster in congruent trials than incongruent trials ($F_{1,30}$ =54.54; P<.001; η^2_p =0.65), and there were no group differences in RTs across testing environments ($F_{1,30}$ =1.15; P=.29; η^2_p =0.04). The Stroop condition×testing environment interaction was not significant ($F_{1,30}$ <1; P=.77; η^2_p =<0.01). Next, we wanted to examine whether first being administered the Stroop test at home or in the laboratory would affect Stroop performance. A 2 (Stroop condition: congruent vs incongruent)×2 (order of testing environment: home first vs laboratory first) mixed ANOVA with reaction time on the Stroop test completed at home revealed a significant effect of condition ($F_{1,30}$ =81.33; P<.001; η^2_p =0.73) and no order effect ($F_{1,30}$ =1.46;

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23384/

RenderX

P=.24; η_p^2 =0.05). The interaction was insignificant (*F*_{1,30}<1; *P*=.43; η_p^2 =0.02). The same analysis as above was conducted but with RT on the Stroop test completed in the laboratory. Participants were faster on congruent trials than incongruent trials (*F*_{1,30}=30.40; *P*<.001; η_p^2 =0.51), and there was no order effect (*F*_{1,30}<1; *P*=.52; η_p^2 =0.01). The interaction was insignificant (*F*_{1,30}<1; *P*=.59; η_p^2 =0.01).

We repeated the set of analyses above to examine Stroop errors as a function of testing environments and testing order. A 2 (Stroop condition: congruent vs incongruent) $\times 2$ (testing environment: home vs laboratory) repeated measures ANOVA with errors on the Stroop test as the dependent variable revealed that participants made more errors on the incongruent compared with congruent trials ($F_{1,30}=11.33$; P=.002; $\eta^2_p=0.27$). There was no significant main effect of the testing environment $(F_{1,30} < 1; P = .55; \eta_p^2 = 0.01)$, and the Stroop condition×testing environment interaction was insignificant ($F_{1,30}=2.41$; P=.13; $\eta_{p}^{2}=0.07$). A 2 (Stroop condition: congruent vs incongruent) ×2 (order of testing environment: home first vs laboratory first) mixed ANOVA with errors on the Stroop test completed at home revealed a significant effect of condition ($F_{1,30}$ =90.94; P=.004; $\eta_{p}^{2}=0.25$) and no order effect ($F_{1,30}=1.99$; P=.17; η^2_{p} =0.06). The interaction was insignificant ($F_{1,30}$ =1.29; P=.27; $\eta_{p}^{2}=0.04$). The same analysis as above was conducted but with errors committed on the Stroop test completed in the laboratory. Errors were equivalent across conditions ($F_{1,30}$ =1.45; P=.24; $\eta_{p}^{2}=0.05$) and the order of testing environment main effect was

insignificant ($F_{1,30}$ =2.28; P=.14; η^2_p =0.07). The interaction was insignificant ($F_{1,30}$ <1; P=.87; η^2_p <0.01).

Finally, Stroop effects were calculated for each participant by subtracting the RT for congruent trials from the RT for incongruent trials. We then conducted a 2 (testing environment: home vs laboratory)×2 (order of testing environment: home first vs laboratory first) mixed ANOVA with these Stroop effect scores as the dependent variable. The results showed no significant main effect of the testing environment ($F_{1,29}$ <1;

P=.78; $\eta_p^2 < 0.01$) or order of testing environment (*F*_{1,29}<1; *P*=.45; $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$). The testing environment×order of testing environment interaction was insignificant (*F*_{1,29}<1; *P*=.89; $\eta_p^2 < 0.01$).

PAL

We conducted a 2 (testing environment: home vs laboratory) \times 2 (order of testing environment: home first vs laboratory first) mixed ANOVA with PAL learning scores as the dependent variable (Table 2).

Table 2.	Mean performance or	n experimental tasks as	a function of testing e	environment and orde	er of testing environment	(SDs in parentheses).
----------	---------------------	-------------------------	-------------------------	----------------------	---------------------------	-----------------------

Variables	Home testing session, mean (SD)		Laboratory testing session ^a , mean (SD)		
	Home first ^b	Laboratory first ^c	Home first	Laboratory first	
Word-color Stroop					
Congruent—RT ^d (ms)	1415.63 (289.03)	1317.13 (253.14)	1276.61 (317.03)	1374.46 (315.87)	
Incongruent—RT (ms)	1661.52 (320.55)	1522.54 (280.04)	1510.95 (461.22)	1566.58 (257.71)	
Interference scores (ms)	245.89 (168.18)	205.41 (108.55)	234.34 (216.48)	192.12 (213.85)	
Congruent—errors	0.43 (1.32)	0 (0)	0.50 (2.00)	0.13 (0.34)	
Incongruent—errors	1.50 (2.63)	0.50 (1.27)	0.44 (1.09)	0.63 (0.89)	
Paired associates learning					
Learning scores	18.13 (8.28)	17.25 (8.56)	15.75 (8.41)	15.06 (9.73)	
Delayed cued recall	10.68 (4.54)	9.94 (4.72)	9.88 (4.80)	9.13 (5.24)	
ICAR ^e scores	5.75 (3.21)	6.88 (2.31)	5.69 (1.96)	5.75 (2.54)	

^aLaboratory testing session on day 2.

^bHome testing session on day 1 and laboratory testing session on day 2.

^cLaboratory testing session on day 1 and home testing session on day 2.

^dRT: reaction time.

^eICAR: International Cognitive Ability Resource.

Results showed no significant difference in cued recall learning scores across testing environments ($F_{1,30}$ =3.57; P=.07; η^2_p =0.106) or as a function of the order of testing environment ($F_{1,30}$ <1; P=.79; η^2_p <0.01). The testing environment×order of testing environment interaction was insignificant ($F_{1,30}$ <1; P=.94; η^2_p <0.01).

Next, we conducted the same analysis as above, with delayed cued recall scores as the dependent variable. There was no effect of testing environment ($F_{1,30}$ =1.66; P=.21; η^2_p =0.05) or order of testing environment ($F_{1,30}$ <1; P=.64; η^2_p <0.01). The interaction was insignificant ($F_{1,30}$ <1; P=.99; η^2_p <0.01).

ICAR

We ran a 2 (testing environment: home vs laboratory)×2 (order of testing environment: home first vs laboratory first) mixed ANOVA with ICAR scores as the dependent variable (Table 2). This showed insignificant main effects of testing environment $(F_{1,30}=1.55; P=.22; \eta^2_p=0.05)$ and order of testing environment $(F_{1,30}<1; P=.44; \eta_p^2=0.04)$. The interaction was insignificant $(F_{1,30}=1.24; P=.28; \eta_p^2=0.04)$.

Performance on Computerized Tasks Across Testing Environments: Bayesian Analyses

The Bayesian paired samples t test of PAL learning scores yielded a Bayes factor of 1.04, indicating that the data could be consistent with either the null hypothesis or the alternative hypothesis. However, on PAL delayed recall, there was a Bayes factor of 2.44, providing anecdotal evidence that data were 2.44 times more likely under the null hypothesis (ie, the groups of test scores were equivalent across testing environments). In terms of Stroop RT performance, results from the paired t test for the congruent condition indicated that the data were 3.4 times more likely under the null hypothesis than the alternative hypothesis (BF01=3.40). Similarly, RTs from the incongruent condition and the Stroop effects (incongruent RT-congruent RT) also provided moderate evidence that the null hypothesis was more likely than the alternative hypothesis (BF01=3.12 and 4.34, respectively). Finally, the Bayesian paired t test on the ICAR reasoning total scores yielded a Bayes factor of 2.63, providing anecdotal evidence that the data were more likely

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

under the null hypothesis than the alternative hypothesis. Collectively, these results bolster the notion that there was no meaningful difference in performance on computerized PAL, Stroop, and ICAR reasoning tasks when done in a laboratory or on the web. Prior and posterior distribution plots and Bayes factor robustness checks are provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.

Correlations Between Computerized Tasks and Standard Neuropsychological Tests

Regarding Stroop performance, we found no significant correlation between mean RT for the congruent condition and color naming on the D-KEFS Color Word Interference Test (r=0.13; P=.47; 95% CI –0.23 to 0.46). However, we did find a significant positive association between mean RT in the incongruent condition and the inhibition subtest (r=0.69; P<.001; 95% CI 0.46 to 0.84). We found a similar significant positive association between PAL total learning scores across 2 trials and the total learning score on the WMS-IV Verbal Paired Associates test (r=0.67; P<.001; 95% CI 0.42 to 0.83). In terms of delayed recall, there was also a significant positive association (r=0.67; P<.001; 95% CI 0.41 to 0.82). Collectively, these findings suggest a robust association between performance on web-based computerized tests and standard neuropsychological tests completed in person.

Test-Retest Reliability of Web-Based Cognitive Measures

We also conducted intraclass correlations between PAL and Stroop scores obtained at home and in the laboratory to obtain an estimate of the reliability of these measures over time. Regarding the Stroop test, there were adequate ICC (intraclass correlations) values between scores obtained in the laboratory and on the web for the congruent (r=0.72; P<.001; 95% CI 0.49 to 0.85) and incongruent (r=0.75; P<.001; 95% CI 0.53 to 0.87) conditions. The ICC for the interference condition was modest (r=0.61; 95% CI 0.34 to 0.79). For PAL, there were adequate ICC values between scores obtained in the laboratory and on the web for the total learning score (r=0.70; P<.001; 95% CI 0.46 to 0.84) and delayed recall score (r=0.73; P<.001; 95% CI 0.51 to 0.86) conditions.

Correlations Between Computerized Tasks and Computer Questionnaires

Scores on the 3 questionnaires (ie, Computer Anxiety Scale [CAS], Computer Anxiety Rating Scale [CARS], and Computer Aversion, Attitudes, and Familiarity Index [CAAFI]) were scored for each participant. The mean scores and correlations among the questionnaires are shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Pearson correlations among questionnaires.

Questionnaires	Mean (SD)	1		2	
		Correlation coefficient	P value	Correlation coefficient	P value
1. CAAFI ^{a,b}	-11.20 (13.30)	C	_	_	
2. CARS ^{d,e}	40.30 (14.00)	-0.649	<.001	_	—
3. CAS ^e	70.10 (10.10)	0.487	.005	-0.584	<.001

^aCAAFI: Computer Aversion, Attitudes, and Familiarity Index.

^bHigher scores on the CAAFI reflect greater familiarity and more positive attitudes toward computers.

^cCorrelation scores not applicable.

^dCARS: Computer Anxiety Rating Scale.

^eHigher scores on CARS and the Computer Anxiety Scale (CAS) reflect lesser and greater computer-related anxiety, respectively.

Questionnaire scores did not differ as a function of the order of the testing environment for the CAS ($F_{1,30}$ =3.31; P=.08), CARS ($F_{1,30}$ =1.80; P=.20), or CAAFI ($F_{1,30}$ <1; P=.77). There were significant correlations between CAS and CARS scores and ICAR scores completed at home (r=0.50, P=.004 and r=-0.45, P=.01, respectively). However, there were no significant correlations between these measures when completed in the laboratory nor were there any other significant correlations between scores on any of the questionnaires and performance on the computerized tasks (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Discussion

XSL•F() RenderX

Principal Findings

The primary aim of this study is to examine whether performance on computerized versions of well-known cognitive tasks (ie, word-color Stroop, PAL, and matrix and verbal reasoning) would vary as a function of the testing environment

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23384/
```

(supervised in the laboratory vs unsupervised at home) among healthy older adults. Our results align with other studies that found comparable results across testing environments using a within-subjects design [39,40] and extend them to older adults. Our findings are encouraging for researchers and clinicians looking to harness web-based testing among older adult populations. We found no significant differences in performance on any of the computerized tasks across testing environments, a pattern of results supported by complementary Bayesian analyses. Crucially, there were no order effects, that is, whether participants completed the at-home or in-person testing session first had no influence on performance. There was no consistent correlation between the measures of computer familiarity or attitudes and performance on any of the computerized tasks. This is congruent with past research finding that computer familiarity did not mediate benefits derived from web-based memory training [65]. There is some evidence, however, that the total learning score on PAL may not be equivalent across

contexts, given the *P* value approached significance and the Bayesian analysis indicated that the data were not more consistent with either the null hypothesis or alternative hypothesis. Further studies are required to replicate this finding and establish a more precise estimate of any putative differences due to the testing location. It is interesting to note that the scores obtained during web-based testing (ie, in the participant's home) were higher on average than those obtained in the laboratory, which is counterintuitive to the idea that performance should suffer in an uncontrolled environment with more potential distractors. Nevertheless, the results indicate that older adults can produce equivalent results on tests tapping into various cognitive domains, regardless of whether they are done at home or in the laboratory.

Our findings are reassuring for experimental researchers seeking to extend their web-based research program to older adult populations. Our findings support the viability of testing older adults in their homes, which is likely a lower stress environment than a laboratory or office [41]. Past studies have found that older adults report preferring computerized over traditional assessments [66] and that they value being able to choose the timing [67] and circumstances [68] of at-home assessments. Our findings also have relevance for clinical neuropsychology, a field that has been slow to integrate technology into practice [36]. Although our study was among cognitively healthy adults, the fact that we found equivalent task performance on several cognitive tests across testing environments supports the further investigation and validation of computerized measures in geriatric patients, which can open new avenues for the diagnosis and monitoring of cognitive functioning. Adapting experimental paradigms into clinical assessment protocols may prove useful for increasing precision in measuring underlying cognitive constructs (ie, validity) and in drawing brain-behavior associations [69]. Important next steps would be to validate web-based testing as an appropriate means to measure cognition to support diagnosis and also as an appropriate assay of everyday functioning in key cognitive domains such as memory [70], given that age differences in memory tend to be minimized in the real world relative to laboratory settings [71].

The need for further research into the utility of remote testing has been brought to the forefront by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Much of the extant work has focused on administering existing cognitive screens and neuropsychological tests via tele-conferencing [29,39,66,72,73] rather than exploring updated options, such as using well-validated experimental tasks in a clinical context. Looking into the future, incorporating data collected from wearables, smartphone apps, and/or other sensors may also provide a rich source of data for better detection and monitoring of cognitive [37,74] and mood symptoms in neurodegenerative diseases [75]. For example, if some cognitive domains can be reliably measured using web-based cognitive tasks with acceptable psychometric properties [28,76-78], clinical practice can shift toward more remote monitoring of cognitive changes in memory or executive functioning, given that these domains are key factors in the loss of functional independence in neurodegenerative diseases [79].

An additional, encouraging finding regarding the validity of these computerized measures is that participants' performance on web-based computerized cognitive tasks was significantly associated with performance on analogous standard neuropsychological tests, with correlations in the order of 0.6, and CIs showing a lower-bound correlation of approximately 0.4. These findings suggest that across a sample of healthy older adults, the rank order of their performance on standard neuropsychological tests is generally preserved when examining web-based test scores. However, unlike the Stroop and the PAL tasks, we did not include a paper-and-pencil analog for our computerized ICAR task, so we could not estimate its validity with current clinical tools. Although subsequent research is needed with more robust samples, these preliminary results are consistent with a recent study [75] showing that normative data from web-based measures can be used for individual differences research and eventually to guide decision making about individual patients.

Strengths and Limitations

Our study examined cognitive task performance across at-home and in-laboratory settings within the same group of older adults. A limitation of our study is that participants were recruited via a university participant pool. As discussed above, it is likely that participants recruited via population-based sampling would be lower in education and higher in age, which would likely yield lower familiarity with computer usage. However, it is important to note that over time, older cohorts will be increasingly technology savvy, so this will not be an enduring issue: 67% of adults aged above 65 years report going on the internet, up from 13% in the early 2000s, and the figure increases to 82% when we look at the youngest-old between the ages of 65 and 69 years [21]. Our study also had participants performing the web-based tasks on different devices as the at-home computer was their own. Although this was not an issue for our purposes, future research should consider using the same devices, especially for screening and diagnosis. Finally, it should be noted that 3 participants (9% of our sample) had to be excluded due to user problems. Our study required individuals to navigate to 2 different platforms to complete the tasks, which may have added confusion. Improving the design of computerized tasks continues to be an important goal for bringing cognitive testing on the web.

Conclusions

In summary, we provide evidence that healthy older adults who conduct computerized cognitive tests on a web-based platform can produce results comparable with those obtained in a laboratory environment. Moreover, performance on these web-based measures was correlated with standard neuropsychological test performance but was not correlated with technology familiarity. The results serve as a starting point for future studies on the validity of web-based platforms for measuring cognition in healthy and unhealthy aging populations.



Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary correlational matrix and output of Bayesian analyses. [DOCX File, 285 KB - aging v4i1e23384 app1.docx]

References

- Sassenberg K, Ditrich L. Research in Social Psychology Changed Between 2011 and 2016: Larger Sample Sizes, More Self-Report Measures, and More Online Studies. In: Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications Ltd; Apr 12, 2019.
- 2. Hitlin P. Research in the Crowdsourcing Age, a Case Study. Pew Research Center. 2016. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/</u> 2016/07/11/research-in-the-crowdsourcing-age-a-case-study/ [accessed 2020-12-24]
- Gosling SD, Mason W. Internet research in psychology. Annu Rev Psychol 2015 Jan 3;66(1):877-902. [doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015321] [Medline: 25251483]
- 4. Mason W, Suri S. Conducting behavioral research on Amazon's Mechanical Turk. Behav Res Methods 2012 Mar;44(1):1-23. [doi: <u>10.3758/s13428-011-0124-6</u>] [Medline: <u>21717266</u>]
- 5. Stewart N, Chandler J, Paolacci G. Crowdsourcing samples in cognitive science. Trends Cogn Sci 2017 Oct;21(10):736-748 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2017.06.007] [Medline: 28803699]
- 6. Buhrmester M, Kwang T, Gosling SD. Amazon's mechanical Turk: a new source of inexpensive, yet high-quality, data? Perspect Psychol Sci 2011 Jan 3;6(1):3-5. [doi: 10.1177/1745691610393980] [Medline: 26162106]
- 7. Crump MJ, McDonnell JV, Gureckis TM. Evaluating amazon's mechanical turk as a tool for experimental behavioral research. PLoS One 2013 Mar;8(3):e57410 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057410] [Medline: 23516406]
- Germine L, Nakayama K, Duchaine BC, Chabris CF, Chatterjee G, Wilmer JB. Is the Web as good as the lab? Comparable performance from web and lab in cognitive/perceptual experiments. Psychon Bull Rev 2012 Oct 25;19(5):847-857. [doi: 10.3758/s13423-012-0296-9] [Medline: 22829343]
- 9. Vaughn K, Cone J, Kornell N. A user's guide to collecting data online. Handbook Res Methods Hum Memory 2018:354-373. [doi: <u>10.4324/9780429439957-20]</u>
- 10. Gosling SD, Vazire S, Srivastava S, John OP. Should we trust web-based studies? A comparative analysis of six preconceptions about internet questionnaires. Am Psychol 2004;59(2):93-104. [doi: 10.1037/0003-066x.59.2.93]
- 11. Hauser DJ, Schwarz N. Attentive Turkers: MTurk participants perform better on online attention checks than do subject pool participants. Behav Res Methods 2016 Mar 12;48(1):400-407. [doi: 10.3758/s13428-015-0578-z] [Medline: 25761395]
- Casler K, Bickel L, Hackett E. Separate but equal? A comparison of participants and data gathered via Amazon's MTurk, social media, and face-to-face behavioral testing. Comput Hum Behav 2013 Nov;29(6):2156-2160. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2013.05.009</u>]
- Slote J, Strand JF. Conducting spoken word recognition research online: validation and a new timing method. Behav Res Methods 2016 Jun 19;48(2):553-566. [doi: <u>10.3758/s13428-015-0599-7</u>] [Medline: <u>25987305</u>]
- 14. Semmelmann K, Weigelt S. Online psychophysics: reaction time effects in cognitive experiments. Behav Res Methods 2017 Aug 5;49(4):1241-1260. [doi: 10.3758/s13428-016-0783-4] [Medline: 27496171]
- Semmelmann K, Weigelt S. Online webcam-based eye tracking in cognitive science: a first look. Behav Res Methods 2018 Apr;50(2):451-465. [doi: 10.3758/s13428-017-0913-7] [Medline: 28593605]
- Hultsch DF, MacDonald SW, Hunter MA, Maitland SB, Dixon RA. Sampling and generalisability in developmental research: comparison of random and convenience samples of older adults. Int J Behav Dev 2016 Jun 30;26(4):345-359. [doi: 10.1080/01650250143000247]
- 17. Brodaty H, Mothakunnel A, de Vel-Palumbo M, Ames D, Ellis KA, Reppermund S, et al. Influence of population versus convenience sampling on sample characteristics in studies of cognitive aging. Ann Epidemiol 2014 Jan;24(1):63-71. [doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2013.10.005] [Medline: 24211070]
- Dixon RA, Wahlin A, Maitland SB, Hultsch DF, Hertzog C, Bäckman L. Episodic memory change in late adulthood: generalizability across samples and performance indices. Mem Cognit 2004 Jul;32(5):768-778. [doi: <u>10.3758/bf03195867</u>] [Medline: <u>15552354</u>]
- Ganguli M, Lytle ME, Reynolds MD, Dodge HH. Random versus volunteer selection for a community-based study. J Gerontology Series A 1998 Jan 1;53A(1):M39-M46. [doi: <u>10.1093/gerona/53A.1.M39</u>]
- Babulal GM, Quiroz YT, Albensi BC, Arenaza-Urquijo E, Astell AJ, Babiloni C, International Society to Advance Alzheimer's ResearchTreatment, Alzheimer's Association. Perspectives on ethnic and racial disparities in Alzheimer's disease and related dementias: Update and areas of immediate need. Alzheimers Dement 2019 Feb 13;15(2):292-312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.09.009] [Medline: 30555031]
- 21. Anderson M, Perrin A. Tech Adoption Climbs Among Older Adults. Pew Research Center. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2017/05/17/technology-use-among-seniors/</u> [accessed 2020-12-24]

- 22. Difallah D, Filatova E, Ipeirotis P. Demographics and Dynamics of Mechanical Turk Workers. In: Proceedings of the Eleventh ACM International Conference on Web Search and Data Mining. 2018 Presented at: WSDM'18; February, 2018; Marina Del Rey CA USA p. 135-143. [doi: 10.1145/3159652.3159661]
- 23. Fortenbaugh FC, DeGutis J, Germine L, Wilmer JB, Grosso M, Russo K, et al. Sustained attention across the life span in a sample of 10,000: dissociating ability and strategy. Psychol Sci 2015 Sep 7;26(9):1497-1510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0956797615594896] [Medline: 26253551]
- 24. Germine LT, Duchaine B, Nakayama K. Where cognitive development and aging meet: face learning ability peaks after age 30. Cognition 2011 Feb;118(2):201-210. [doi: 10.1016/j.cognition.2010.11.002] [Medline: 21130422]
- Halberda J, Ly R, Wilmer JB, Naiman DQ, Germine L. Number sense across the lifespan as revealed by a massive internet-based sample. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012 Jul 10;109(28):11116-11120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.1200196109] [Medline: 22733748]
- Logie RH, Maylor EA. An Internet study of prospective memory across adulthood. Psychol Aging 2009 Sep;24(3):767-774. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0015479</u>] [Medline: <u>19739935</u>]
- 27. Bui DC, Myerson J, Hale S. Age-related slowing in online samples. Psychol Rec 2015 Jul 2;65(4):649-655. [doi: 10.1007/s40732-015-0135-2]
- Feenstra HE, Murre JM, Vermeulen IE, Kieffer JM, Schagen SB. Reliability and validity of a self-administered tool for online neuropsychological testing: the Amsterdam Cognition Scan. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 2018 Apr 3;40(3):253-273. [doi: <u>10.1080/13803395.2017.1339017</u>] [Medline: <u>28671504</u>]
- 29. Munro Cullum C, Hynan L, Grosch M, Parikh M, Weiner M. Teleneuropsychology: evidence for video teleconference-based neuropsychological assessment. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 2014 Oct 24;20(10):1028-1033. [doi: 10.1017/s1355617714000873]
- Aalbers T, Baars MA, Olde Rikkert MG, Kessels RP. Puzzling with online games (BAM-COG): reliability, validity, and feasibility of an online self-monitor for cognitive performance in aging adults. J Med Internet Res 2013 Dec 3;15(12):e270 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2860] [Medline: 24300212]
- 31. Dougherty JH, Cannon RL, Nicholas CR, Hall L, Hare F, Carr E, et al. The Computerized Self Test (CST): An Interactive, Internet Accessible Cognitive Screening Test For Dementia. JAD 2010 Mar 24;20(1):185-195. [doi: 10.3233/jad-2010-1354]
- Trustram Eve C, de Jager CA. Piloting and validation of a novel self-administered online cognitive screening tool in normal older persons: the Cognitive Function Test. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2014 Feb 11;29(2):198-206. [doi: <u>10.1002/gps.3993</u>] [Medline: <u>23754255</u>]
- Germine L, Reinecke K, Chaytor NS. Digital neuropsychology: Challenges and opportunities at the intersection of science and software. Clin Neuropsychol 2019 Feb 06;33(2):271-286. [doi: <u>10.1080/13854046.2018.1535662</u>] [Medline: <u>30614374</u>]
- Blackwell AD, Sahakian BJ, Vesey R, Semple JM, Robbins TW, Hodges JR. Detecting dementia: novel neuropsychological markers of preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord 2004;17(1-2):42-48. [doi: <u>10.1159/000074081</u>] [Medline: <u>14560064</u>]
- 35. Wouters H, Zwinderman AH, van Gool WA, Schmand B, Lindeboom R. Adaptive cognitive testing in dementia. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res 2009 Jun 08;18(2):118-127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/mpr.283] [Medline: 19507163]
- Miller J, Barr W. The Technology Crisis in Neuropsychology. Arch Clin Neuropsychol 2017 Aug 01;32(5):541-554. [doi: 10.1093/arclin/acx050] [Medline: 28541383]
- 37. Schmand B. Why are neuropsychologists so reluctant to embrace modern assessment techniques? Clin Neuropsychol 2019 Feb 12;33(2):209-219. [doi: 10.1080/13854046.2018.1523468] [Medline: 30882285]
- Gates NJ, Kochan NA. Computerized and on-line neuropsychological testing for late-life cognition and neurocognitive disorders: are we there yet? Curr Opin Psychiatry 2015 Mar;28(2):165-172. [doi: <u>10.1097/YCO.000000000000141</u>] [Medline: <u>25602241</u>]
- 39. Assmann KE, Bailet M, Lecoffre AC, Galan P, Hercberg S, Amieva H, et al. Comparison Between a Self-Administered and Supervised Version of a Web-Based Cognitive Test Battery: Results From the NutriNet-Santé Cohort Study. J Med Internet Res 2016 Apr 05;18(4):e68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4862] [Medline: 27049114]
- Backx R, Skirrow C, Dente P, Barnett JH, Cormack FK. Comparing Web-Based and Lab-Based Cognitive Assessment Using the Cambridge Neuropsychological Test Automated Battery: A Within-Subjects Counterbalanced Study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 04;22(8):e16792 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16792] [Medline: 32749999]
- 41. Sindi S, Fiocco AJ, Juster R, Pruessner J, Lupien SJ. When we test, do we stress? Impact of the testing environment on cortisol secretion and memory performance in older adults. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2013 Aug;38(8):1388-1396. [doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2012.12.004] [Medline: 23352228]
- 42. Stroop JR. Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. Journal of Experimental Psychology 1935;18(6):643-662. [doi: 10.1037/h0054651]
- 43. May CP, Hasher L. Synchrony effects in inhibitory control over thought and action. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance 1998;24(2):363-379. [doi: <u>10.1037/0096-1523.24.2.363</u>]
- 44. Spieler DH, Balota DA, Faust ME. Stroop performance in healthy younger and older adults and in individuals with dementia of the Alzheimer's type. Journal of Experimental Psychology: Human Perception and Performance 1996;22(2):461-479. [doi: 10.1037/0096-1523.22.2.461]

RenderX

- 45. Old SR, Naveh-Benjamin M. Memory for people and their actions: further evidence for an age-related associative deficit. Psychol Aging 2008 Jun;23(2):467-472. [doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.23.2.467] [Medline: 18573021]
- 46. Gould RL, Brown RG, Owen AM, Bullmore ET, Williams SC, Howard RJ. Functional neuroanatomy of successful paired associate learning in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Psychiatry 2005 Nov;162(11):2049-2060. [doi: <u>10.1176/appi.ajp.162.11.2049</u>] [Medline: <u>16263844</u>]
- 47. Sperling R, Chua E, Cocchiarella A, Rand-Giovannetti E, Poldrack R, Schacter DL, et al. Putting names to faces:. NeuroImage 2003 Oct;20(2):1400-1410. [doi: 10.1016/s1053-8119(03)00391-4]
- 48. Winocur G, Moscovitch M. Paired-associate learning in institutionalized and noninstitutionalized old people: an analysis of interference and context effects. J Gerontol 1983 Jul 01;38(4):455-464. [doi: 10.1093/geronj/38.4.455] [Medline: 6863858]
- 49. Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang A, Buchner A. G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. Behavior Research Methods 2007 May;39(2):175-191. [doi: <u>10.3758/BF03193146</u>]
- 50. Connor LT, Dunlosky J, Hertzog C. Age-related differences in absolute but not relative metamemory accuracy. Psychology and Aging 1997;12(1):50-71. [doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.12.1.50]
- 51. Condon DM, Revelle W. The international cognitive ability resource: Development and initial validation of a public-domain measure. Intelligence 2014 Mar;43:52-64. [doi: 10.1016/j.intell.2014.01.004]
- 52. Wechsler D, Pearson EI. PsychCorp (Firm). WMS-IV Administration and Scoring Manual. Pearson 2009. [doi: 10.1163/ afco asc 2230]
- 53. Delis D, Kaplan E, Kramer J. Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System (D-KEFS). The Psychological Corporation 2001. [doi: <u>10.1037/t15082-000</u>]
- Nasreddine ZS, Phillips NA, Bédirian V, Charbonneau S, Whitehead V, Collin I, et al. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. J Am Geriatr Soc 2005 Apr;53(4):695-699. [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x] [Medline: 15817019]
- 55. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Sep;16(9):606-613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x] [Medline: 11556941]
- 56. Shipley WC. A Self-Administering Scale for Measuring Intellectual Impairment and Deterioration. The Journal of Psychology 1940 Apr;9(2):371-377. [doi: 10.1080/00223980.1940.9917704]
- 57. Nickell GS, Pinto JN. The computer attitude scale. Computers in Human Behavior 1986 Jan;2(4):301-306. [doi: 10.1016/0747-5632(86)90010-5]
- 58. Heinssen RK, Glass CR, Knight LA. Assessing computer anxiety: Development and validation of the Computer Anxiety Rating Scale. Computers in Human Behavior 1987 Jan;3(1):49-59. [doi: <u>10.1016/0747-5632(87)90010-0</u>]
- Schulenberg SE, Yutrzenka BA, Gohm CL. The Computer Aversion, Attitudes, and Familiarity Index (CAAFI): A Measure for the Study of Computer-Related Constructs. Journal of Educational Computing Research 2016 Jul 22;34(2):129-146. [doi: <u>10.2190/45b4-gmh7-geqb-t1h1</u>]
- 60. Stoet G. PsyToolkit: A Novel Web-Based Method for Running Online Questionnaires and Reaction-Time Experiments. Teaching of Psychology 2016 Nov 15;44(1):24-31 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0098628316677643]
- 61. Stoet G. PsyToolkit: A software package for programming psychological experiments using Linux. Behavior Research Methods 2010 Nov;42(4):1096-1104. [doi: 10.3758/brm.42.4.1096]
- 62. Rouder JN, Speckman PL, Sun D, Morey RD, Iverson G. Bayesian t tests for accepting and rejecting the null hypothesis. Psychon Bull Rev 2009 Apr;16(2):225-237. [doi: 10.3758/PBR.16.2.225] [Medline: 19293088]
- 63. BayesFactor: Computation of Bayes Factors for Common Designs. Morey RD, Rouder JN. URL: <u>https://cran.r-project.org/</u> package=BayesFactor [accessed 2020-12-24]
- 64. Lee M. Bayesian Cognitive Modeling A Practical Course. In: Bayesian Cognitive Modeling. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2014:A.
- 65. Bottiroli S, Cavallini E. Can computer familiarity regulate the benefits of computer-based memory training in normal aging? A study with an Italian sample of older adults. Neuropsychol Dev Cogn B Aging Neuropsychol Cogn 2009 Jul 29;16(4):401-418. [doi: 10.1080/13825580802691763] [Medline: 19253069]
- 66. Hansen TI, Haferstrom ECD, Brunner JF, Lehn H, Håberg AK. Initial validation of a web-based self-administered neuropsychological test battery for older adults and seniors. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 2015 May 26;37(6):581-594 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/13803395.2015.1038220] [Medline: 26009791]
- 67. Mielke MM, Machulda MM, Hagen CE, Edwards KK, Roberts RO, Pankratz VS, et al. Performance of the CogState computerized battery in the Mayo Clinic Study on Aging. Alzheimers Dement 2015 Nov 06;11(11):1367-1376 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2015.01.008] [Medline: 25858683]
- Tierney MC, Naglie G, Upshur R, Moineddin R, Charles J, Liisa Jaakkimainen R. Feasibility and Validity of the Self-administered Computerized Assessment of Mild Cognitive Impairment With Older Primary Care Patients. Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders 2014;28(4):311-319. [doi: 10.1097/wad.000000000000036]
- Kessels RPC. Improving precision in neuropsychological assessment: Bridging the gap between classic paper-and-pencil tests and paradigms from cognitive neuroscience. Clin Neuropsychol 2019 Feb 05;33(2):357-368. [doi: 10.1080/13854046.2018.1518489] [Medline: 30394172]



- 70. Diamond NB, Romero K, Jeyakumar N, Levine B. Age-related decline in item but not spatiotemporal associative memory for a real-world event. Psychol Aging 2018 Nov;33(7):1079-1092. [doi: <u>10.1037/pag0000303</u>] [Medline: <u>30421954</u>]
- 71. Ross M, Schryer E. What everyone knows about aging and remembering ain?t necessarily so. In: The SAGE Handbook of Applied Memory. Thousand Oaks, California, United States: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2003:239.
- Zygouris S, Tsolaki M. Computerized cognitive testing for older adults: a review. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2015 Feb 13;30(1):13-28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1533317514522852] [Medline: 24526761]
- 73. Darby D, Fredrickson J, Pietrzak R, Maruff P, Woodward M, Brodtmann A. Reliability and usability of an internet-based computerized cognitive testing battery in community-dwelling older people. Computers in Human Behavior 2014 Jan;30:199-205. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.08.009]
- 74. Verhagen SJW, Daniëls NEM, Bartels SL, Tans S, Borkelmans KWH, de Vugt ME, et al. Measuring within-day cognitive performance using the experience sampling method: A pilot study in a healthy population. PLoS One 2019 Dec 12;14(12):e0226409 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0226409] [Medline: 31830099]
- 75. Stringer G, Couth S, Brown L, Montaldi D, Gledson A, Mellor J, et al. Can you detect early dementia from an email? A proof of principle study of daily computer use to detect cognitive and functional decline. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2018 Jul 09;33(7):867-874 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/gps.4863] [Medline: 29424087]
- 76. Paap KR, Sawi O. The role of test-retest reliability in measuring individual and group differences in executive functioning. J Neurosci Methods 2016 Dec 01;274:81-93. [doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2016.10.002] [Medline: 27720867]
- 77. Sanders L, Hortobágyi T, Balasingham M, Van der Zee EA, van Heuvelen MJG. Psychometric Properties of a Flanker Task in a Sample of Patients with Dementia: A Pilot Study. Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra 2018 Oct 18;8(3):382-392 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000493750] [Medline: 30483304]
- White N, Flannery L, McClintock A, Machado L. Repeated computerized cognitive testing: Performance shifts and test-retest reliability in healthy older adults. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 2019 Mar 15;41(2):179-191. [doi: 10.1080/13803395.2018.1526888] [Medline: 30320531]
- Schmitter-Edgecombe M, Parsey CM. Assessment of functional change and cognitive correlates in the progression from healthy cognitive aging to dementia. Neuropsychology 2014 Nov;28(6):881-893 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/neu0000109] [Medline: 24933485]

Abbreviations

CAAFI: Computer Aversion, Attitudes, and Familiarity Index CARS: Computer Anxiety Rating Scale CAS: Computer Anxiety Scale D-KEFS: Delis-Kaplan Executive Function System ICAR: International Cognitive Ability Resource ICC: intraclass correlations MoCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment PAL: paired associates learning PHQ-9: Patient Hospital Questionnaire 9 RT: reaction time VPA: Verbal Paired Associates WMS-IV: Weschler Memory Scale -IV

Edited by J Wang; submitted 11.08.20; peer-reviewed by E Granholm, P Wicks; comments to author 27.09.20; revised version received 11.12.20; accepted 12.12.20; published 01.02.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Cyr AA, Romero K, Galin-Corini L Web-Based Cognitive Testing of Older Adults in Person Versus at Home: Within-Subjects Comparison Study JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e23384 URL: <u>http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23384/</u> doi:10.2196/23384 PMID:<u>33522972</u>

©Andrée-Ann Cyr, Kristoffer Romero, Laura Galin-Corini. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 01.02.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium,



provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

A Multipurpose Platform for Ambient Assisted Living (ActiveAdvice): Usability Study

Diogo Abrantes¹, MSc; Soraia Teles², MSc; Rita Tavares de Sousa², PhD; Alberto Freitas¹, PhD; Pedro Vieira-Marques¹, PhD; Ana Ferreira¹, PhD

¹Center for Health Technology and Services Research, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal ²Department of Behavioral Sciences, Institute of Biomedical Sciences Abel Salazar, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

Corresponding Author:

Diogo Abrantes, MSc Center for Health Technology and Services Research University of Porto Rua Dr Plácido da Costa, s/n Porto, 4200-450 Portugal Phone: 351 225 513 622 Email: <u>dmabrantes@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Aging of the global population is slowly paving the way for new markets for care products and services. The desire of older people to maintain their independence while remaining at home is boosting the development of ambient assisted living (AAL) solutions. Lack of user awareness of AAL solutions paired with an insufficient use of user-centered and participatory design approaches in the development of these products has hindered the uptake of these solutions by end users.

Objective: This study aims to describe the usability and users' experiences within a novel platform, ActiveAdvice, aimed at offering advice and a holistic market overview of AAL products and services.

Methods: Usability tests were performed on the developed platform among identified prospective end users, with 32 older adults and informal carers from 4 European countries being part of the user tests. The usability and appeal of the web interface design, information flow, and information architecture were analyzed by collecting both objective and subjective measures. These would include pretest and posttest surveys, along with a series of think-aloud tasks to be performed within the platform.

Results: The outcomes suggest that the ActiveAdvice platform's objectives and functionalities are mostly aligned with the needs and expectations of end users, who demonstrated interest in using it, stressing its purpose along with its simple and intuitive interaction. Task completion rates were high, and participants had good satisfaction rates when navigating the platform. However, the tests still advocate for an improved design at some points and better disclosure of information.

Conclusions: Our findings shed light on a few peculiarities of interface design, information architecture, user needs, and preferred functionalities, which should be applied to future developments of similar platforms with related services. The AAL field could benefit from tools supporting the dissemination of available AAL solutions and how they can improve one's quality of life. These tools may benefit not only older adults but also caregivers, business owners, and governmental employees.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e18164) doi:10.2196/18164

KEYWORDS

aging; ambient assisted living; elderly; usability testing; user-centered design

Introduction

Background

RenderX

The world's population is aging. Several countries are now experiencing a demographic shift, which translates into a rising proportion of older people among their inhabitants. According

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e18164

to data from the United Nations' World Population Prospects [1], the number of older persons (aged 60 years or older) is expected to more than double by 2050 and more than triple by 2100, rising from 962 million globally in 2017 to 2.1 billion in 2050 and 3.1 billion in 2100. We should also consider a decrease in physical and mental abilities and the impact of age-related or chronic diseases such as Alzheimer disease and Parkinson

disease. In response, new markets for care products and services are aiming to provide older people with a higher level of autonomy and quality of life [2]. As reported by a number of studies [3-5], older people would prefer to spend time in their home or a familiar environment, prioritizing their independence rather than being taken care of, especially in institutional settings. A variety of new possibilities allowing older adults to retain a degree of autonomy at home is now being offered by the progressive use of information and communication technologies, which can also help fend off issues such as isolation and loneliness, both linked to physical and mental decline [6]. These technologies are based on the ambient intelligence paradigm, along with the concept of ambient assisted living (AAL), and address the struggles that arise from this demographic shift [7,8]. The development of most AAL systems is based on the implementation of pervasive and unobtrusive devices, which is meant to increase autonomy and quality of life [9]. These AAL tools can assist in a variety of ways and can be divided into 3 categories, in line with people's needs as they grow older: devices for everyday activities, home safety equipment, and technology for social participation [10-12].

Researchers in the field of aging and human factors have been investigating a number of pre- and postimplementation elements that can hinder the adoption of and influence the attitudes toward technology for aging in place. The barriers were identified as the characteristics of older persons (perceived needs, technological skills, and medical conditions), their environment (social support for technology use, living environment), and technology features (hardware, interface design, usability testing, and accessibility) [13-16]. The design of systems that are intended to be used by older people is often highly technology-oriented instead of user-oriented, being mostly defined from the ground up by the analysis of available technologies rather than by the users' needs. The image the system delivers and the mental models that come with it should be carefully studied by designers to avoid producing something that presents the older users with a metaphor they do not understand at a fundamental level [17,18]. As the need to pay special attention to user research and usability testing was recognized, better approaches for conceiving new technological developments came to be in demand. Getting the end users involved has been shown to be among the most successful strategies in fomenting engagement and trust with those technologies [19]. It is widely agreed that both user-centered design (UCD) and participatory design (PD) are meaningful approaches when designing AAL solutions, and their importance is shown in a variety of different studies, despite failing to prevail in technological developments [18,20,21]. This issue also seems to contribute to a well-identified challenge in the uptake of AAL solutions by end users [18,22,23], paired with the low level of general public awareness of AAL solutions [22-24].

Efforts to raise awareness among potential users of AAL technologies are currently undertaken by publishing informative websites on the internet, but they often focus on comprehensive information for older adults on topics such as nutrition, leisure and sports, and events, falling short in dedicating a bigger part

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e18164
```

XSI•FC

to AAL. When the topic is mentioned, the most commonly presented information only explains the AAL concept and its implications, hardly delivering any comprehensive and well-structured overview of existing technologies or solution providers. There are no thoroughly tested, trustworthy, reliable, and established platforms that gather information about AAL and related products in a clear and understandable way, while providing options to know more or acquire them online. Although existing websites [25,26] could be considered as projects that started to fill the gap on the matter, they lack particular key elements deemed necessary to solidify and disseminate the concept. Building an online product catalog without tending to and validating other issues such as feasibility, functionality, or usability can be proven unproductive or fruitless, hence the scope to improve.

The ActiveAdvice [27] project, a European AAL-funded project carried out in 6 countries (Austria, Belgium, the Netherlands, Portugal, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom), was developed to address these gaps by delivering a web platform directed to older adults and their relatives, AAL business representatives, as well as governmental organizations involved in aging issues across Europe. The platform offers a holistic market overview, presenting a directory of AAL products and services while combining it with a group of advisory functionalities that can inform and guide users in the process of finding a product suited to their needs.

This study aims to evaluate the level of interest, feasibility, and usability of the ActiveAdvice platform among its prospective primary and secondary end users. Primary end users are, as defined by the AAL program [28], individuals using a product or service for a direct benefit of their quality of life-here, the older adults-while secondary end users-here, the informal carers (ICs)-are individuals who may benefit from products and services indirectly providing the reduction of primary end users' care needs. Informal caregivers may also enable older adults to search for and use AAL solutions. We recruited older adults and informal caregivers to enroll in a number of test sessions to test a prototype of the ActiveAdvice platform and presented and discussed the findings and takeaways produced from a variety of challenges. To frame the prototype under study, the next section presents the development process and outcomes of the ActiveAdvice platform. The following sections describe the usability study, along with a presentation and discussion of the results. All study procedures were approved by the ethics committee of the University Hospital Center of S. João/Faculty of Medicine of the University of Porto (CE-305-2020).

The ActiveAdvice Platform

The ActiveAdvice platform originated from a European Union or AAL program–funded project intended to set up a European-wide advisory and decision support platform that brings together a broad range of available AAL products, services, and experts. As stressed by Nedopil et al [29], although AAL projects are substantially diverse, they all share a basic innovation process consisting of 3 basic stages: (1) understanding the users, including their characteristics, necessities, and requirements; (2) conceptualizing the solution,

namely use cases, technology elements, and implications for users; and (3) testing the full solution or parts, as well as its benefits. Although this paper delves into the third phase (testing), we briefly discuss the previous stages, with a greater emphasis on the conceptualized solution to better frame the testing procedures.

Understanding the Users: Requirement Analysis

A user-centered requirements engineering methodology puts the intended user at the center. Stakeholder needs, interests, and expectations need to be transferred into requirements and subsequently into measurable qualities, assisting the creation of a better layout of the platforms' representation and functionality. It also helps create a common vision for the developers, free of implicit assumptions and technological constraints. For the ActiveAdvice platform development, the integration of stakeholders at a very early stage of the project was a precondition, and thus, several stakeholder groups were integrated in a requirement analysis stage. This allowed for a better understanding of their perspectives, insights, motivations, and concerns, clarifying what could help, as well as hinder the development and implementation of the ActiveAdvice platform. The process featured a total of 38 semistructured interviews with stakeholders (12 end users, 14 business representatives in the AAL market, and 12 government representatives engaged in aging issues) in 5 European countries (Austria, Belgium, the Netherlands, Portugal, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom), with the results fully described by Teles et al [30], supporting the subsequent development of the platform.

Conceptualizing the Solution and Building the Platform

The ActiveAdvice platform was envisioned to be a product-advising, awareness hub on AAL solutions across Europe, with an emphasis on the premises of UCD and PD, drawing from the feedback of all interested parties (Figure 1). It would also feature a blog branch with assorted information on the AAL subject, including funding and support measures for the purchase of products and services, tips on community resources, articles from experts, personal stories, and other news (Figure 2).

Figure 1. The ActiveAdvice project main index with tile-based navigation. AAL: ambient assisted living.





Abrantes et al

Q

AUTHORS

Figure 2. The ActiveAdvice awareness hub.





Subscribe to our Newsletter and stay up-to-date with our latest project news

With functionalities being defined based on structured feedback from the requirement analysis, product cataloging was proposed following the TAALXONOMY classification system, which takes into account international definitions (eg, World Health Organization, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development), initiatives (eg, Building, Recruiting, And Inclusion for Diversity [BRAID], European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing [EIP-AHA]), and standards (eg, ISO [International Organization for Standardization] 9999) [31]. This was supported by a comprehensive information and communications technology (ICT)–based environment, presenting a broad and state-of-the art library on available AAL products and services offered at regional, national, and international levels and stored in a cloud database. For testing purposes, all available products on the platform were added by the research team. At a later stage, the catalog is populated by companies that could benefit from the dissemination of a strong and established platform by means of a service module developed for their business profiles (Figure 3).

HOME

NEWS >



Figure 3. Dashboard of the business profile service module.

	≣	
2	Dashboard	
LD	∉ Home	
My Account	Profile	Products
MAIN		
🟠 Dashboard	Manage your profile	Select an action to take for your products
😂 Profile	Profile Overview	Manage products
	Edit Organisation	Add Product
Se Products	Edit User	

Adding a product requires filling several attributes, such as name, description, price, related features, and subfeatures (Figures 4 and 5). In this way, products are tagged with their specific characteristics, which fit them into a certain category (or categories; Figures 6-8), where they can be reached by a simple keyword search or by resorting to an advisory feature. The latter can guide the users by asking or exemplifying common or personal situations (issues, problems, conditions, and statuses) and then posing a series of questions and filters to either find a product suited to their needs and wishes or be given a suggestion for the next best option, given the availability (Figure 9).

Businesses are required to specify the type and amount of expertise they have, know-how, and technical support needed

to install, upgrade, or maintain the indicated services and products, described with concise and honest data. Ideally, information should be provided not only on where to buy products or services (online or offline) but also on who can or will install them if needed. The more thorough they are in this process, the better the chance that their product will stand out among others.

With the launch of a viable prototype, the researchers set out to test how prospective end users of the ActiveAdvice solution—older adults and ICs—would interact with it. Future plans include the evaluation of not only the service module but also the general user platform interface with business profiles, along with the inclusion of government representatives, both for usability and feasibility analysis.

Figure 4. List of added products on the business module.

_

=						
List of Products						
# Home / Manage Pro	ducts					
Show 10 v entries						
^	Name 🗘	Product Category	Applications 0	Translations	Description	\$
	Fitbit Charge 2	Body and vital signs measuring and monitoring solutions	ACTIVEADVICE	EN PT DE Edit Edit Add FR NL Add Add	An advanced wristband to elevate every day. All-Day Activity Track steps, distance, calories burned, floors climbed, active minutes, hourly activity & stationary time Lo Battery Life Lasts longer than competing trackers with a	ing
Showing 1 to 1 of 1 entries						



Figure 5. Adding a product to the database from the business module.

Product Name*			Brand Name	Model Name
This value is required.				
arget Application(s)*				
ActiveAdvice × ~	Select a category*	^	Global Trade Item Number	Amazon Standard Identification Numb
	Wheelchairs	^		
anguage*	Stair lifts			
English x ~	Smart watches		Select Tech. Readiness Level	
	Mobility aids			
Description*	Hearing aids			
	Memory solutions			
	Social networks	~		

Figure 6. Available master categories with search bar.

Active	Advice ᅇ	My situation ${\scriptstyle\checkmark}$						۹	i≣ My Results Saved	🞯 Dan Prihoi 🗸	English	~
HOME	MY SITUATION	PRODUCT FINDER	PRODUCT FINDER (DEMO)	EXPERTS	ABOUT	METHOD						

Describe your situation (problem) with some keywords...

Q e.g. monitoring, livin	Q e.g. monitoring, living, rehabilitation						
Health & Care	Living & Buildings	Safety & Security	Mobility & Transport				
Work & Training	Vitality & Abilities	Leisure & Culture	Information & Communication				



Abrantes et al

Figure 7. Available subcategories inside the main ones.

ActiveAdvice 📀	My situation $$	Safety & Security		٩	I My Results Saved ∷	🞯 Dan Prihoi 🗸	English 🗸
HOME MY SITUATION	PRODUCT FINDER	PRODUCT FINDER (DEMO) EXPERTS ABOUT N	NETHOD				
Home > My Situation > Resu	lta						
My Situation (5)					i≡	≡ 🗉 🖩	SORT BY 🗸
	Damage: Hazards de cause dam work or in t Safety & S	s & Hazards scribes something that is dangerous and likely to age. Hazards can occur everywhere, such as at he public realm but also people&r ecurity		Building : With increase own home in if children h Safety & Se	Surveillance sing age, the probability of rises. This is due to severa nave moved out or th ecurity	living alone in one's I reasons, for example	
	Falls The risk of tripping has people with Safety & S	falling increases for older people. Poor lighting or cards can heighten the risk even more. Some cognitive impairment may for ecurity		Person L There are so tendencies example, th Safety & So	ocalization everal reasons why older a to run away or to run to ce ey only want to go for a w ecurity	dults develop rtain places. For alk or are dissa	
	Emergen There are v confronted Due to sym Safety & S	cy Management & Alarm arious emergency aituations seniors may be with, whether it is inside or outside their home. ptoms of ageing, older adults are a ecurity					

Results: 1-5 of 5

Figure 8. Detailed subcategory together with description and relevant products.



Falls

Fall aids can be used to alert the caregiver or to prevent a fall. This allows patients to be more independent and safe while reducing fatal accidental falls. Supported by sensors, cameras and automated systems fall prevention and detection monitors and assists patients in their daily lives. Functions such as unlocking doors, opening doors and turning on lights are common features in systems used for fall prevention. Neighbours and caregivers can be quickly alarmed in case a patient fell.

Description

The risk of falling increases for older people. Poor lighting or tripping hazards can heighten the risk even more. Some people with cognitive impairment may forget to turn on the light or may not find the light switch. Many people in need of care also need support when walking, for example when going to the toilet. If they are not aware of the danger themselves, the caregiver must constantly check the situation with an open ear.

The category falls includes processes, services and technologies that aim to support patients and caregivers in scenarios related to preventing a patient from falling and injuring him- or herself, detecting a fall and even contacting the caregivers in case of a fall. It results in an increase of independency for older people and patients with health issues and reduces the work of caregivers. Fall scenarios include preventive devices such as lighting systems and home automation systems, that are able to

automatically activate lights or open doors, for example. Prevention methods have to be integrated and set up in the home or room of the patient and its settings might need to be personalised to best suit the patient. The information gathered in fall prevention scenarios can be sent to caregivers for analysis and, if necessary, modification.

Unfortunately, fails are not always prevented. In fall scenarios patients can also benefit from detection measures that help caregivers to react in time. With the help of sensors, it can be detected if a patient has fallen and is laying on the floor. This information is transmitted to caregivers or neighbours and when the fail detection system is connected to other systems, measures like turning on the lights or unlocking the doors can be taken to facilitate the access of the rescue group. Relevant Product Categories





Relevant Products



https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e18164



Methods

Main Approach

The development of the ActiveAdvice platform went through several internal feedback cycles and end user usability testing. The general goal for usability tests was ultimately to identify the extent to which the interface facilitated a user's ability and motivation to navigate the platform. The usability and appeal of the design, information flow, and architecture were also analyzed based on the collection of both objective and subjective measures. These would include pre- and posttest surveys, along with a series of tasks performed by the users within the platform, while following a think-aloud protocol. Outcomes would clarify if the platform's functionalities were aligned with the needs and expectations of end users, while presenting a high level of usability to the point where potential customers showed interest in using it. In accordance with the systematic review by Martins et al [32] on usability evaluation methods that have been used during the last few years, empirical methods are the most frequently used, which confirms the recognition of the end users' roles as a source of knowledge for usability evaluations. In addition, a very comprehensive guideline from Nedopil et al [29] also reassured that the test procedures and methodology used in this study are in conformity with a successful process of user integration and product evaluation.

Participants

Primary data were collected from a nonprobabilistic sample. Prospective end users of the ActiveAdvice platform were recruited by convenience and resorting to advertising or snowball sampling in Belgium, the Netherlands, Portugal, and the United Kingdom. All information collected from users was gathered exclusively for testing and improving the prototype. An informative, jargon-free sheet was provided to all participants at the time of recruitment, including a description

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e18164
```

RenderX

of the study's aims, conditions to participate, and eligibility. Participants who agreed to cooperate signed an informed consent according to the Declaration of Helsinki, with their personal data being pseudonymized, codified, and stored in secured servers to safeguard the right to privacy. Participants were free to withdraw from the project and request the deletion of their data at any time without the need for justification or incurring penalties.

Eligible individuals participating in this study were older adults living in the community (not in institutional care) and informal or nonpaid caregivers or relatives of older adults living in the community. We considered not only individuals aged 65 years or older but also young older adults (aged 55 years and older) to capture a profile of individuals who are preparing their aging process and thinking ahead. With respect to older adults, we selected individuals matching 2 distinct profiles: (1) autonomous older adults with no perceived or apparent relevant functional loss, who wish to live longer at home and think ahead to prepare for a potential loss of autonomy or upcoming chronic illnesses; and (2) older adults presently facing some degree of functional loss with implications for the autonomous performance of basic and/or instrumental activities of daily living (as self-declared), who wish to live longer at home while avoiding institutional care. Moreover, we also aimed to include informal caregivers of older adults living in the community who provide nonpaid and ongoing assistance with basic and/or instrumental activities of daily living.

Efforts were made to gather heterogeneous participants across those profiles regarding demographics (eg, age, including older and younger older adults; sex; living arrangements including older adults living in rural or urban settings) and ICT skills, in particular internet usage (including more or less ICT-savvy users). To appraise this diversity, a screening tool (described

in Data Collection Tools) was used by the research team for the recruitment process.

Data Collection Tools

The researchers conducting the usability tests were provided with a toolkit developed by the consortium, highlighting systematic instructions for recruitment, testing, and reporting as a means to guarantee consistency across countries or testers.

Regarding the user eligibility section, the toolkit included the following:

A *screening tool* to administer at the first contact with the potential participant to check for eligibility criteria and pursue a diverse sample. It included the following:

- 1. Questions on basic sociodemographic characteristics of potential participants (age, sex, living arrangements, years spent in education, and country of origin)
- 2. Questions to appraise the autonomy profile: Potential participants were asked to classify their degree of independent living and daily task accomplishment without assistance. Participants selecting "very easy" and "somewhat easy" fitted the profile of autonomous older adults. Others reporting "somewhat difficult," "very difficult," or "cannot accomplish daily tasks without assistance" matched the profile of older adults with autonomy loss. This question was also asked to informal caregivers about the care receiver.
- 3. Questions to appraise the intent or actual use of products or services to support their own everyday activities or those of the person being cared for. The participants indicated whether they need, or the person they care for, is in need of assistance from products, services, or both. In the case of a positive answer, they indicated if they were already using them, considering a purchase, actively looking, or thinking about doing so. In case there is no recognized need for products or services, participants indicated if at least they had ever thought about it preventively.
- 4. Questions to appraise the intent of aging in place (applied to older adults only), which included asking about the intention to continue living in their current home in a 10-year time frame, as well as about the plans to make home modifications to support aging in place.

Regarding the usability test session, the toolkit included:

- A questionnaire featuring questions on ICT usage, including

 a question to appraise the frequency of internet usage
 as daily, at least once a week, at least once a month, less
 than once a month, and never; (2) devices used to access
 internet and activities performed online; and (3) attitudes
 toward technology, using 9 items gathered from the Media
 and Technology Usage and Attitudes Scale. Only 2 attitude
 subscales were selected—positive and negative attitudes
 subscales—as the authors state that subscales can be used
 in isolation [33]. Items in this scale are rated from 1
 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). All questions were
 aimed at understanding the skills and mindsets of the
 participants, which could be useful in framing the findings.
- 2. A list of scenarios and subsequent tasks to be performed in the prototype, featuring hypothetical real-world scenarios

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e18164

involving needs that could be addressed by AAL solutions [34]. These scenarios and tasks were provided to participants in printed forms to facilitate immersion and provide context for the participant to engage with the interface.

3. Posttest debrief, which included open questions concerning the participant's feedback on key features of the platform, such as the amenity of color schemes, clarity of language, the content's level of readability, perceived usefulness, and perceived ease of use. These also included overall impressions and missing features that they would expect to see. Participants were also asked to position themselves about their overall experience with the platform on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree), along 9 statements, using an adapted version of the System Usability Scale (SUS) [35]. The need of adapting the items on the scale created on the basis of a previous pilot experience of the usability testing protocol where the researchers concluded that some items of the original scale were not understandable by older adults (eg, "I thought there was too much inconsistency in this system," or "I found the various functions in this system were well integrated").

Procedures

Tests were carried out in 4 countries: Belgium, the Netherlands, Portugal, and England. The research team in Austria was responsible for the internal testing and development. To allow testing in multiple countries and cultural contexts or groups, the platform prototype was translated into Portuguese, English, German, Dutch, and French.

Sessions were implemented in realistic but controlled environments, addressing first the core functionalities of the platform and lasting from 30 to 50 minutes. Each test session included 2 test administrators, one having the role of moderator and the other being the observer and note taker. Regarding the session schedule, the participants were first briefed about the process and asked to fill out a consent form and the ICT usage and attitudes questionnaire (section Data Collection Tools). Subsequently, they were given access to the platform and asked to engage with the proposed tasks while thinking aloud when trying to solve them.

Three different tasks were proposed, each referencing a different scenario, with the respective goals being built to understand if users could find specific products, allowing the researchers to learn how they behave. The first task asked the user to find an alarm watch—a specific product-based on the following hypothetical scenario:

Last Summer you fell down and broke your hip. You were alone, and it was very painful. Being fully recovered took you some time and you wish to prevent situations like that from happening again. You want to find a watch that works like an alarm in case of a fall. Knowing that if you fall down at home, there might be a chance that in case no one is there to help you, someone will assist you in time.

The second task asked the user to find a suitable product, using a specific functionality of the platform—a product filtering wizard-based on the hypothetical scenario:

A close friend of yours went to the doctor and was told he was starting to show some signs of Alzheimer's, which means that he might start to become forgetful in the near future. He lives alone and still shops for groceries and likes his morning walks. Your friends' children would feel more comfortable if he would carry some type of localization device that would allow them to know where he is, so he asked you for help to find a solution. This will help him to stay independent while giving his children some peace of mind. He would like to spend no more than 150, and it should have an alarm function.

The third task asked the user to use the platform as they would see fit to find a generic suitable product based on the hypothetical scenario:

During a conversation with your neighbor she tells you about her heart condition, as over time it has worsened, hospitalizing her a few times. Her doctor advises her to keep track of her heart rhythm. In order to prevent risks she needs to be aware when the heart rate is spiking. The neighbor asks you to help her find a suitable product that could keep track of her heart rhythm and warns her in case it rises above a certain level. She would like to spend no more than $200 \in$ on a solution.

Provided with these contexts, the participants would look for a way to obtain the aforementioned product while navigating the platform. The process itself, along with their verbalizations, would provide the researchers with an idea of the difficulty level as well as other inherent parameters regarding layout and organization. The level of success regarding task completion (the moment when the user finds the targeted product) was registered by the researchers according to a 3-point classification: 0=not completed; 1=completed with difficulty or acceptable prompts; and 2=easily completed. The stop criterion for task performance was applied when 1 of 3 conditions occurred: (1) the users completed the task successfully; (2) the users said they completed the task, even if they did not; or (3) the users decided to give up. During task performance, the users' navigational choices, verbalizations, and nonverbal reactions (eg, facial expressions) were registered and recorded verbatim by resorting to written notes, video screen capture, or audio capture.

All researchers were provided with a list of all possible pathways to successfully complete each task to facilitate the recording. Finally, after task completion, the posttest debrief (*Data Collection Tools*) was administered to gather participants' perceptions of the platform and satisfaction. The audio recordings of the posttest interviews were transcribed by researchers from each country performing the tests and collecting the data.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to characterize the participants in this study as well as to describe quantitative usability indicators (eg, ratings on scales). Absolute and relative frequencies, central tendency, and dispersion measures were used as appropriate. When reporting median values, the IQR was the measure of statistical dispersion selected to be reported. The administered scales were analyzed itemwise. In particular, for the adapted version of the SUS, a composite score for the 9 items was not computed, as we could not assume unmeasured psychometric properties of the scale (eg, factorial structure).

After transcription, text data, both from relevant user verbalizations when performing the tasks (think-aloud protocol) and from the interviews on the posttest debrief were analyzed by performing a thematic analysis [36]. The themes were defined deductively, meaning that they were guided by a structured analysis matrix [37]. The matrix corresponded with the main topics approached in the posttest interview guide (refer to Data Collection Tools). The deductive or top-down approach in data analysis was selected as the most suitable and feasible approach to guarantee a common ground among researchers from different nationalities. A researcher from each country performing the tests performed this analysis; thus, 4 researchers performed the tests. Next, the contents categorized in each theme were translated from the source language to English by researchers from each country. All excerpts organized in their respective categories were sent to the Portuguese project team, who created a common data file. The entire corpus was inspected by a researcher of this team to find any inconsistencies among categories and correct them if necessary, under the agreement of the researchers who first analyzed the data. This is a validation process for a deductive approach to data analysis [37]. A researcher from the Portuguese team then identified, if any, the trends, or most common opinions within each theme, inspected for potential different trends per group (eg, trends per country, per type of participants-older adult or IC) and reported the overall findings. In the Results section of this paper, relevant text excerpts are used to illustrate themes and trends.

Results

Sociodemographic Characteristics of the Participants

A total of 32 participants matching any of the described profiles were recruited. Of these 32 participants, 21 were older adults, and 11 were informal caregivers or relatives of older adults. The former group was composed of 13 female and 8 male participants, and the latter by 4 female and 7 male participants. Overall, the sample was well balanced with regard to sex (17 female and 15 male), although within the groups of older adults and caregivers, the sex distribution was less balanced with more female than male participants in the former group and the opposite trend in the latter. Regarding age groups, participants were distributed from a 25-29 years range to an 80 years or older range; most older adults were aged between 65 and 79 years (12/21, 57%) and most caregivers were aged between 55 and 64 years (6/11, 55%). The participants' education level was rather high, with a median of 15 years of formal education, either for the group of older adults (IQR 6.5) and for informal

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e18164
```
caregivers (IQR 4; median of 15 years for the entire sample, IQR 5.75). Most users (20/32, 63%), regardless of being older adults or caregivers, lived in a household of 2; 12 (12/21, 57%) of them were older adults, whereas 8 (8/11, 73%) were caregivers. Regarding the 2 profiles of older adults we aimed to recruit (see *Participants* section), most of them were autonomous, who wished to prepare for a future functional decline. When older adults (n=21) assessed the extent to which it was easy or difficult for them to live independently and accomplish daily tasks without assistance, most classified it as "very easy" (14/21, 67%), 3 as "somewhat easy" (3/21, 14%), 2 as "somewhat difficult" (2/21, 10%), 1 as "very difficult" (1/21, 5%) with 1 older adult reporting to "not being able to accomplish daily tasks without assistance" (1/21, 5%). Caregiver-wise (n=11), 3 reported that the older person they

support "cannot accomplish daily activities without assistance" (3/11, 27%), the same number reported a *very difficult* accomplishment of such activities (3/11, 27%), and 2 caregivers reported "some difficulty" (2/11, 18%). In contrast, 2 caregivers (2/11, 18%) classified as "very easy" and 1 as "easy" (1/11, 9%) for the autonomous completion of daily activities by the person they support. The country mostly contributing to the recruitment of older adults was the Netherlands (13/21, 62%), as it is a country with good digital literacy among older adults [38]. Portugal contributed the most to the recruitment of informal caregivers (6/11, 55%), as it is a country characterized by a familialistic approach to care provision (the so-called Mediterranean care model [39,40]). Further details are presented in Table 1.

 Table 1. Demographic data from the study participants (N=32).

Variable	Older adults (n=21)	Informal caregivers (n=11)		
Age group, n (%)				
<55	0 (0)	1 (9)		
55-64	8 (38)	6 (55)		
65-79	12 (57)	1 (9)		
≥80	1 (5)	3 (27)		
Sex, n (%)				
Male	8 (38)	7 (64)		
Female	13 (62)	4 (36)		
Years spent in education, median (IQR)	15 (7)	15 (4)		
Autonomy profile, n (%)				
Autonomous or no relevant functional decline	17 (81)	8 (73) ^a		
Loss of autonomy or relevant functional decline	4 (19)	3 (27) ^a		
Living arrangements, n (%)				
Living alone	7 (33)	1 (9)		
Household of 2	12 (57)	8 (73)		
Household of 3 or more	2 (10)	2 (18)		
Country of origin, n (%)				
Belgium	5 (24)	2 (18)		
The Netherlands	13 (62)	2 (18)		
Portugal	2 (10)	6 (55)		
United Kingdom	1 (5)	1 (9)		

^aThe autonomy profile in the column of informal caregivers refers to how they appraised the person they care for, thus referring to the autonomy profile of the person they care for.

Plans to Age in Place

Regarding plans to age in place, the great majority of older adults in this study (17/21, 81%) declared their intention to continue living in their current home in the next decade, with 14 (14/21, 82%) of them contemplating the modification of their current houses to achieve that. Participants planning to move (4/21, 19%) were all autonomous older adults at the time of data collection. More than half of all participants (56%, n=18) reported a need to use products, services, or both to support the performance of their own daily activities or the activities of the person they care for. Curiously, among those, one-third (n=6) reported an "easy" or "very easy" completion of daily activities (their own or of the person receiving support) without help, suggesting a *think-ahead* mindset. Among those recognizing the need for supportive products and/or services (n=18), 8 (8/18, 44%) reported that they had already used these types of solutions, 11% (2/18) already found what they needed and were

considering a purchase; 22% (4/18) were actively looking for the most suitable solution, and 22% (4/18) had yet to take any action to look for solutions. Among the participants currently using, having found, or actively looking for supportive services (n=14), only 4 (4/14, 29%) had resorted to ICT-supported products and/or services. From the participants who did not report a need of using products and/or services to support their own or their care receivers' daily activities (14/32, 44%), more than half (8/14, 57%) showed a preventive mindset, having thought about using such products or services to facilitate aging in place.

ICT Usage and Attitudes Toward Technology

The majority of participants (29/32, 91%) stated that they used the internet on a daily basis, with the remaining participants (3/32, 9%) using it at least once a week. The tablet was the most used device to access the internet (24/32, 75%), followed by the smartphone (20/32, 63%) and the laptop (18/32, 56%), with the desktop being the lesser used device (15/32, 47%). As for online activities, consulting news and weather reports (30/32, 94%), email and online messaging (29/32, 91%), and looking for products and services information (24/32, 75%) comprised the top 3, whereas online banking (20/32, 63%) and social media (20/32, 63%) fell on the sparser habits.

Concerning attitudes toward technology (Table 2), there were some paradoxical findings with users showing both overall positive (items 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5; median rates from 4 to 5) and negative attitudes toward technology (items 7, 8, and 9; median rates of 4). A substantial share of the users (28/32, 88%) agreed with the importance of having access to the internet at any time and to information offered online (median of 5). More than half of the participants believed that technology offers a solution to many problems (26/32, 81%), stated that they like to keep up with technological trends (23/32, 72%), and feel more accomplished with the use of technology (20/32, 63%; all median of 4). Less than half of the participants believed that technology complicates life (15/32, 47%), but a relevant share believed that technology makes people waste too much time (20/32, 63%) or that it might contribute to increased personal isolation (20/32, 62%, all median 4).

Table 2. Participant's attitudes toward technology (N=32).^a

Item	Participants, n (%)		Participants, median	
	(Strongly) disagree	Neutral	(Strongly) agree	
1. Important to find information online	0 (0)	4 (12)	28 (88)	5 ^b
2. Important to access internet at any time	4 (12)	0 (0)	28 (88)	5 ^b
3. Important to keep up with technological trends	4 (12)	5 (16)	23 (72)	4 ^b
4. Technology is a solution to many problems	2 (6)	4 (12)	26 (81)	4 ^b
5. Technology makes anything possible	3 (10)	20 (63)	9 (29)	3 ^b
6. Technology helps to feel accomplished	6 (19)	6 (19)	20 (63)	4 ^b
7. Technology makes people waste time	6 (19)	6 (19)	20 (63)	4 ^c
8. Technology complicates life	6 (19)	11 (34)	15 (47)	4 ^c
9. Technology increases isolation	5 (15)	7 (22)	20 (63)	4 ^c

^aThe description of the items is abbreviated and rephrased for presentation purposes. To learn about the scale from where these items were gathered (Media and Technology Usage and Attitudes Scale, positive and negative attitudes subscales, please consult Rosen et al, 2015 [33]).

^bScale ranges from 1 to 5, with higher median values indicating more positive attitudes.

^cScale ranges from 1 to 5, with higher median values indicating more negative attitudes.

Usability and User Impressions

Task Analysis

Regarding successful tasks with no input from the researchers (Table 3), task 3 had the best results (15/32, 47% success rate), followed closely by task 1 (14/32, 44% success rate). However,

if we refer to the completion of the task at hand, be it by the user alone or with acceptable prompts from the researcher, the most successful was task 2 (26/32, 81% full and partial success rates). Accordingly, task 3 also had a higher rate of unsuccessful completion (10/32, 31% no success rate), followed by task 1 (8/32, 25% no success rate).



Table 3. Task completion rates and illustrative verbalizations on task (N=32).

Task	Participants, n (%)			User verbalizations
	Full success	Partial success	No success	
Task 1: use the platform to find an alarm watch	14 (44)	10 (31)	8 (25)	"I'm not sure that it is what I'm looking for, I'm not sure of being in the right section"; "There is a lot of overlap between the various categories"; "I would search for the name of the device on the bar, but I don't know the term, so I'm trying to find a relatable catego- ry"
Task 2: use the product finder to find a device that allows you to locate a person	12 (38)	14 (44)	6 (19)	"It is not clear for me how to deal with the filtering questions and the price drag bar"; "The problem should be discussed first, and then it would present you with choices"
Task 3: use the platform to find a product that suits the need of your neighbor	15 (47)	7 (22)	10 (31)	"This demands a lot of knowledge on these products to find the desired product"; "It is hard to come up with keywords"; "I don't really think that some people would know what some of these op- tions/functions actually mean"

Posttest Debrief

Overall, participants' ratings of their experience with the ActiveAdvice prototype with regard to usability were fairly positive (Table 4). The usefulness of the platform was by far its best appraised characteristic, with the great majority of participants considering the ActiveAdvice platform to be a useful resource (29/32, 91%). More than half of the participants considered that the platform was easy to use (19/32, 59%) and well organized (21/32, 66%) and that information on the platform could be easily retrieved (19/32, 59%) and navigating

on the platform was a pleasurable experience (21/32, 66%). Most participants also considered that navigating on the platform could be done with no support from others (20/32, 62%) and that it was easy to keep track of their location within the platform (19/32, 59%). However, participants assumed an overall neutral position when judging how easy it would be for other people to use the platform, with less than half agreeing that most people would quickly learn how to use the website (15/32, 47%). Despite the overall good appraisal of ActiveAdvice usability, less than half of the participants reported that they would like to use the platform frequently (13/32, 41%).

Table 4. Ratings of the users' experiences with the ActiveAdvice interface (N=32).

Item	Participants, n (%)		Participants, median	
	(Strongly) disagree	Neutral	(Strongly) agree	
1. I think the website was easy to use.	4 (13)	9 (28)	19 (59)	4 ^a
2. I think I would need support to be able to use this website.	20 (62)	3 (9)	9 (28)	2 ^b
3. I think the website is well organized.	8 (25)	3 (9)	21 (66)	4 ^a
4. I could get the information quickly.	8 (25)	5 (16)	19 (59)	4 ^a
5. I found it difficult to keep track of where I was on the website.	19 (59)	4 (13)	9 (28)	2 ^b
6. I think that most people would learn to use this system very quickly.	11 (34)	6 (19)	15 (47)	3 ^a
7. I think that I would like to use this website frequently.	9 (28)	10 (31)	13 (41)	3 ^a
8. I think the website is useful.	3 (9)	0 (0)	29 (91)	4 ^a
9. I found the website pleasant to use.	7 (22)	4 (13)	21 (66)	4 ^a

^aScale ranges from 1 to 5, with higher median values indicating a more positive assessment of usability.

^bScale ranges from 1 to 5, with higher median values indicating a more negative assessment of usability.

The quantitative assessment of users' experiences (ratings) was further explored by collecting qualitative data from a posttest debrief or interview. We provide a qualitative synthesis of the content produced by the participants with respect to each specific dimension of the platform. The debriefing was conducted in a semistructured style, thus not all participants contributed to each unique topic under the analysis below. We did not distinguish between quotes from older adults or caregivers, as no different patterns emerged from their answers to the posttest interview.

Layout (General Impressions)

Overall, the ActiveAdvice layout was well accepted by most participants (17 of 23) and considered to have an organized and clear structure:

Clear structure and well organized. [User (U)7] I think it's pretty and well organized. [U18] It's very clear and neat. [U10]

A total of 6 participants perceived negative aspects of the layout, considering the platform complex or confusing, while also including too many product categories:

Could be better, I had to think where I was a lot of times. [U17] It's neat and low-key. There are a lot of categories though. [U11]

Stick to simple things. [U16]

Amenity of Color Schemes and Use of Images

Most participants were pleased with the esthetics of the platform (23 of 27):

Not flashy, creates serenity. [U9]

The use of colour is soothing. [U14]

I found the colours very appealing. [U20]

Four participants found the platform "a bit too bland" [U3] or "not contrasting enough" [U4]. Images were considered attractive, conveying a nondiscriminatory image of older adults or disabled or ill people:

the platform is developed not only for elderly people and it does not feed stereotypes about elderly people, this could be for anyone, a family with elderly or someone with some disability who wants to live independently (...) the appearance makes me think that. [U24]

[images are] not offensive. [U22]

Readability

This parameter allows participants to appraise how easy it is for them to read and understand the text on the platform, depending both on the presentation of text (eg, font size, spacing) and the actual text content (ie, use of understandable words and sentences). Regarding text presentation, participants were divided into those who appraised this parameter positively (14 of 23):

...easily readable. [U3]

...style is professional and easy to read. [U7]

Some participants who did not appraised this parameter positively (9 of 23). Participants with negative comments mostly focused on font size, and 1 participant mentioned the amount of text:

...text size in some areas is too small. [U5]

...too much text. [U21]

Regarding textual content, most participants considered them easily understandable (19 of 25):

...good, sentences were written in short and plain language. [U22]

...terminology is fine. [U14]

...very perceivable. [U7]

Negative comments (6 of 25) relied on difficulties in understanding some of the terms used to describe the solutions:

...some words are difficult to understand. [U15]

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e18164

...for people with lower education one should be careful in using no professional terms. [U23]

Missing Features

When requested to point out any missing functionality or feature in the ActiveAdvice platform that would be expected, users were divided into those who reported not missing anything in particular (12 of 25) and those stressing a number of different expectations, which include more feedback, more support, and more product information:

I would like to get more feedback on my actions and be able to really access the products. [U12]

...product information should be much better. [U9]

...there should be a number you can call if you need help figuring out how the website works.

...people who use the website would be able to ask questions or exchange information, that would be very interesting. [U19]

Most and Least Liked Features

When questioned about the pluses and the most liked features of the platform, participants stressed the usefulness and purpose of the platform (13 of 27) and its ease of use (8 of 27), nice layout, and overall appearance (11 of 27):

Good for older people who start to have trouble living at home. [U5]

The concept is very interesting and could be useful. [U10]

It's faster than go to a physical store and compare. [U12]

I think the overall impression is that it looks good. I like the pictures. [U13]

It's a site of easy access and lets people know about what is available. [U19]

Intuitive, if you get to know it a little bit then suddenly it becomes very easy to use. [U23]

In contrast, platform minuses almost exclusively focused on missing a more effective product search and more complete product information (10 of 27):

The filtering comes too late in the process of searching. Should be earlier in the process. [U6]

The filter questions I think. You should be able to filter on your problem. [U8]

More information about categories without having to click on them. [U11]

Lacks keywords so you can use the search function. Can't see the difference between scenarios and categories. [U22]

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our study presents an innovative platform in the AAL field, ActiveAdvice, and provides observations on the usability and users' experiences within the prototype. Studies on innovative

platforms, such as ActiveAdvice, are often missing in the literature; thus, this work contributes not only to improving the prototype but also to populating the literature in this field. The main insights from this study are derived from both its results and the process, which are discussed below in a series of comments and takeaways over 2 critical sections of this work: the usability tests and the process as a whole, which translates our thoughts from the gathered data. The first section rests on dissecting the participants' attitudes and achievements while using the platform and how those observations lead to changes in the interface or information architecture. These insights are the core of knowing how to build something for a specific audience with different needs and ways to interpret digital media. Impressions on the experiences are also of crucial importance, as the reception, interpretation, usefulness, and perceived user satisfaction and engagement are effectively and ultimately the make-it-or-break-it of what we set out to develop. The second section discusses every limitation and interesting findings regarding the entire process and the characteristics of the recruited users, along with possible explanations for the obtained outcomes. Both sections also aim to discern important aspects such as difficulties, remarks, and other perceptions that are structured to help others not only to replicate the process but also to take special precautions and careful considerations regarding the specified elements.

Usability Testing

The usability testing protocol established for this study included a task analysis methodology as a means to understand users by observing them interacting with the platform while trying to achieve an intended goal. The three main tasks assigned to the participants revolved around searching products while using the existing functionalities of the ActiveAdvice platform, as these are considered the core tasks that the website must support.

We saw that task success with ease and with help were sometimes on par with each other, meaning that although the functionality was there, a fair number of users would struggle to complete the task because of confusion or lack of a clear direction. Each scenario was described in a way that allowed a very spontaneous search to look for natural patterns of interaction or provided the user with more structure to incentivize the use of specific components (eg, asked to use a certain search functionality) or named the solution being searched (eg, task 1, a smartwatch). When less detailed scenarios were provided (eg, task 3), the chances of failure were higher. Users showed a substantial lack of knowledge on AAL products or services, thereby increasing the difficulty in thinking about keywords or categories to which they could resort to for finding a solution to their needs. This observation is well illustrated by the participants' verbalizations in Table 3. This finding is particularly relevant to the AAL field, provided the considerable lack of public awareness of such solutions, and the complexity characterizing most AAL solutions (commonly requiring integration of products and services, frequently from different providers). Thus, the challenges faced in building a platform such as ActiveAdvice, where the user should be able to find a suitable solution to their problem, are more pronounced than in similar service platforms for other markets. The resource to typical search and filtering methods (eg, keywords, categories,

list of product or service features) is not sufficient in terms of efficacy, as users frequently do not possess a sufficient understanding of ICT or ICT-enabled solutions to choose keywords, decide on search categories, or whether a technical feature on a device is or is not relevant for them. This observation has implications for not only the design of the ActiveAdvice platform but also initiatives aimed at informing older adults on AAL solutions and promoting their uptake. From these observations, we not only introduced improvements in the interface but also identified a need to integrate digital and human advisory services to tackle complexity and improve the user's experience (see the concept of the Authorized Active Advisor [41]). Process-wise, one should stress that when evaluating tasks, failures and successes could be somewhat misleading, as task success or failure will rest on the evaluator's interpretation of the user's actions. We aimed to minimize this by providing structured guidance to test carriers, but variability in these judgments cannot be ruled out. Some evaluators are more lenient and others stricter, as a barely could be a fail and an easy by other standards could be a difficult. In addition, when evaluating task completion rates, one should also not completely rely on success percentage fluctuations, as these might also be explained by concatenated success (or failure), where a user who eventually spends more time on the previous task learns how to perform better on the next one. It is not easy to avoid this type of bias because tasks are ultimately not independent. Nevertheless, the overall high task completion rates suggested that tasks were permissive in terms of global interaction.

Subjective user impressions of the prototype have been favorable overall with regard to its usability. The most encouraging finding from both ratings and verbalizations was the recognition of the usefulness of a platform such as ActiveAdvice, proving its concept. Design-wise, the platform was well assessed with regard to its layout and pleasurable navigation. However, when considering room for improvement, we should not neglect that about one-third of the users have found problems in the organization of the platform, on finding the information quickly, and on keeping track of their position on the website. Moreover, about one-third believed that support would be required to use the platform and that most people would need some time to learn how to use the system. Overall, with regard to the main quality components of a system usability, most encouraging results were found on user satisfaction; ultimately, participants had a satisfying experience when navigating the platform, mostly brought by the recognition of a sense of purpose. The platform was rated as appealing to the eye, whereas the scope was reported as interesting, educative, and useful, with a broad range of content. In contrast, the tests advocated a need for improvements, mainly in terms of learnability and effectiveness. Issues with general visualization or organization can contribute significantly to this subject if the interface fails to conduct the intended interaction. This is hinged on two aspects: a strong information architecture, which is tricky when talking about a higher range of product categorization and self-explanatory elements. Some products might be difficult to place, even when using a tested taxonomy, as they might span more than 1 category. That being said, the integration of a wide range of recognizable keywords takes a big share of the process when it comes to finding them quickly. Keywords that spring to mind

XSL•FO RenderX

should have immediate (and accurate) correspondence in a search bar, as the user's mental model is a crucial part of a search method. In this case, knowing and learning the most common issues the users are experiencing or will experience helps when associating those loose keywords with frequently asked questions (or frequently posed statements) in the process of finding a solution. In addition, a clear and usable design can be achieved through familiarity, consistency, guidance, and direct feedback. The participants preferred a center-focused interface, tile-based navigation, hinting at an over-the-belt experience, while objecting to the need to scroll down to access content. A lack of previous domain or product information knowledge makes it difficult for the user to even know what to look for or search, so a short presentation statement along with a direct visualization of what is important would help to minimize those feelings. Taking, for example, the product advisor, using a wizard, was especially handy as it simplified the task into a sequence of chunks, while dropping the learning curve, making the users follow a step-by-step path to accomplish their goal. Using polished visual cues, such as coherent images with associated labels and recognizable icons with expected placements helped to simplify the navigation. Although the use of plain terms was praised by users and accomplished in most navigational settings, it can be difficult to manage in some sections that will have to get technical to deliver the correct information across. In that case, it would be better to be explicit and true to the description than risking an oversimplified explanation that will not be up to par.

Despite a good overall satisfaction with the platform, only 42% (13/32) reported that they would use the platform frequently. However, this result may be related to sample features: first, there was a percentage of users who reported not having a real need to use products and/or services to support their own or their care receivers' daily activities (14/32, 44%), which meant that the benefits of AAL were not sufficiently exposed to the point that peaks general interest in discovering them. Moreover, most of the older adults' sample was composed of individuals with no functional loss and autonomous in their daily activities, meaning that they might recognize, as a double standard, the ActiveAdvice platform as useful for older adults but not for themselves. In contrast, we also have to link the fact that the platform was at an early stage of development, meaning that its interface and functionalities were not optimized at the time of testing. It was expected that failures within tasks and other inabilities to interact with the platform would cause some disappointments in some users, influencing their intention to return. The purpose of testing is to evaluate user interaction, so it is also expected that all aspects would be corrected and refined according to the participant's usage, to the point where user-friendliness would subsequently become a positive decisive factor. A pleasant experience could be what, together with an actual need, might keep users interested and susceptible to make some effort (both time and persistence wise) while using technology that they might not be at ease with, hoping that ultimately it will help increase their quality of life.

About the Process

The interesting findings of this study must be considered within the context of some limitations. One of them concerns the selection and inclusion of only primary and secondary end users when testing the platform. Interested parties in the AAL field have been mainly identified as 3 diverse groups [42-44], with the first and biggest target of technologies and services being the consumers. The other 2 groups are governments, such as city administrations who define policies and provide services in the field of health and care, and the businesses that develop, exploit, or market products and services. In previous stages of the ActiveAdvice research and platform development (eg, requirement analysis; see the ActiveAdvice Platform section), representatives of all these groups were included, and the authors have argued for this multiperspective approach on AAL research [30]. For this usability study, however, although older adults and caregivers' requirements previously gathered were mostly addressed and implemented in the tested prototype, requirements from business and government representatives (eg, specific modules and functionalities) were still in progress. Future research on the ActiveAdvice platform must enroll multiple interested parties in such a solution. Indeed, a platform that benefits more than one party needs to take into account that, apart from the common interest in the area, each group has different ways of expressing wants and needs. For example, from a budgetary perspective, governments are concerned about ensuring the successful adoption of these technologies, as full-time home or institutional health care could become very expensive. Accordingly, the promulgation and growth of the area provides businesses with a better sense of the market's wants and needs, thus boosting research and manufacturing of products, as well as supporting a broader supply of services [30,42,43]. Another limitation was the education level of the participants, which was high (median of 15 years of schooling), causing the sample to lack diversity in this aspect. Older adults and informal caregivers were comparable in terms of education, which might have influenced the analysis, but the researchers qualitatively looked for different patterns of responses between both groups and found none. Education is a well-known determinant of internet usage, so an educated sample was expected, and the so-called education bias is common in internet- and technology-related research [44]. Our participants were frequent internet users, comfortable with a range of devices, and performed multiple online activities. They have also shown overall positive attitudes toward technology and were very open to use or already using products and/or services to support aging in place, although only a small percentage use or plan to use ICT-enabled products. Altogether, this suggests that we recruited mostly a profile of early adopters, who are not only more ICT savvy but also are more open to adopting new ideas and use innovations than their counterparts. If we consider that most participants in this sample were aged 60 years and older and attend to known statistics on ICT use by older people, this idea is further reinforced. In 2016, only 45% of users aged 65 to 74 years used the internet at least once a week, compared with 82% in the general adult population [45]. According to a survey performed in the United States [46], 34% of older internet users reported that they had little to no confidence in their ability to use electronic devices, whereas 73% revealed that they will likely need help from someone else to use an electronic device. Future work with the ActiveAdvice platform must consider the inclusion of a more diverse sample. This also applies to the

XSL•FO RenderX

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e18164

autonomy status of older adults, as it was very challenging to recruit dependent older adults, and those were mostly represented in this sample by informal caregivers. In practical terms, however, the use of a platform such as ActiveAdvice to support dependent older adults will most likely be enabled by informal caregivers, especially when autonomy loss is propelled by cognitive impairments. In this study, we decided to include those designated by some authors as young older adults (>55 years) [47]. Although this conceptualization of older adults is not consensual, when considering testing of technological solutions that will only be in the market in a few years, including prospective users is important. Moreover, AAL technologies are not only intended to compensate for functional loss, most common in old age but also to prevent it; thus, including a group who thinks ahead about aging in place is fundamental to assess the ActiveAdvice platform.

Regarding the testing protocol, challenges emerged when performing tests in 4 different countries. Even with the provision of a package with a standardized toolset, one should definitely not assume that everything will go according to plan and that testers will have the same understanding of procedures, as discussed above with regard to judging a task failure or success. Moreover, owing to language barriers, we were not able to have the same researchers performing the analysis of the text data in the original transcriptions, which were first translated into English. It might be that some discourse details may be lost in translation. These are well-known challenges of European projects, and our experience shows that communication and a systematic registration of collected data in its as raw as possible state is key. In this study, we were not able to perform any comparison among countries: small numbers hinder hypothesis testing, and for qualitative analysis, no different pattern of responses per country emerged. Studies have reported cultural differences in how usability is assessed by users, suggesting that this is a multidimensional concept [48]. Future ActiveAdvice studies must look to the extent to which different attributes are equally valued across cultures.

Our experience has also shown that dealing with older adults when performing usability tests also has its peculiarities, as agreed with in other studies [49-51]: users may be uncomfortable discussing their personal circumstances and often reluctant to acknowledge what they consider their own frailties or shortcomings. This can pair up with being afraid of giving a wrong answer, which eventually translates into being less prone to explore the application and task at hand. In addition, as they usually want to please the evaluator and not be a burden (social desirability bias), they are less likely to make a negative remark about something even if they are struggling, resulting in short and uninformative responses that should be taken with a grain of salt. This can be improved by starting to involve users early in a PD process, where they can feel safe when performing tasks or sharing opinions.

Conclusions

ActiveAdvice is a type of platform in the European context providing a holistic market overview and advice on AAL products and services, and its development process was tied to good practices in UCD. This platform has the potential to support the problematic uptake of digital solutions by older adults, which may support their aging in place. ActiveAdvice's purpose is fully aligned with wider political and strategic agendas and priorities for healthy and independent aging, as illustrated by the 2020 AAL Program call for proposals (p. 5 [52]):

Proposed solutions should meet the needs of end-users, be it seniors, their carers, or institutions providing care. Innovative approaches to deployment and adoption of ICT services should be part of the solution development alongside the development of the new ICT/digital products, as well as their integration into the regional socio-economic context.

To reach the full potential of the ActiveAdvice platform, we should strive to improve the usability areas that we have highlighted in this study, namely efficacy and learnability. Simultaneously, to improve the chances that such a resource is recognized as useful by end users and its concepts are not totally unfamiliar, researchers and policy makers in the AAL field must determine how to better deliver information on AAL to those who need it. Pulling and retaining a user on the ActiveAdvice platform relies on 3 things: a real need, knowing better (ie, a perception that ICT-enabled solutions might help address an issue), and a *pleasant experience*. The former builds on the fact that the initial motivation for using such a platform rests on someone being at a point where they need advice regarding an actual (or predicted) loss of autonomy or quality of life. Getting the information out and disseminating the area both play a huge part in this, as people can learn that there might be something in the market that helps them to address a problem they might have that is affecting their independence and well-being. Knowing better can direct someone toward our solution when necessity occurs or is expected to occur. For a pleasant experience, being able to materialize that necessity into an answer is just as important. User-friendliness and simplicity are crucial when delivering a solution to someone who is often distrustful of information technologies, usually lacks the necessary patience to deal with them, and does not feel like thinking too much about things, frequently giving in to the learned helplessness phenomenon. To create products or services that are successful in the long run, it is necessary to ensure that the product has a sufficiently high engagement level for all relevant stakeholders, which is especially important for web services such as this platform. Making the developed concepts of ActiveAdvice not only useful for the (primary) end user but also supported and accepted by other stakeholders such as families, caregivers, product suppliers, and governments, is quite challenging but instrumental to achieving its full potential in supporting technology adoption by European older adults and, ultimately, healthy aging in place.



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the cofinancing by the European Commission AAL Joint Programme and the related national agencies in Austria, Belgium, the Netherlands, Portugal, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom. This article was supported by National Funds through FCT—Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia, IP, within CINTESIS, R&D Unit (reference UIDB/4255/2020). ST is also individually supported by The Portuguese Foundation for Science and Technology (FCT; D/BD/135496/2018); PhD Program in Clinical and Health Services Research (PDICSS).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- World population prospects: the 2017 revision. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. New York: United Nations; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/publications/</u> world-population-prospects-the-2017-revision.html [accessed 2021-02-10]
- World Health Organization. World report on ageing and health. World Health Organization 2015. [doi: 10.1787/1ad1c42a-en]
- Mangoni AA. Geriatric medicine in an aging society: up for a challenge? Front Med (Lausanne) 2014 Apr 29;1:10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fmed.2014.00010] [Medline: 25705623]
- 4. Chan M, Campo E, Estève D, Fourniols J. Smart homes current features and future perspectives. Maturitas 2009 Oct 20;64(2):90-97. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.maturitas.2009.07.014</u>] [Medline: <u>19729255</u>]
- 5. Shikder SH, Mourshed M, Price A. Luminaire position optimisation using radiance based simulation: a test case of a senior living room. Loughborough, UK: Loughborough University; 2010.
- 6. Al-Shaqi R, Mourshed M, Rezgui Y. Progress in ambient assisted systems for independent living by the elderly. Springerplus 2016 May 14;5(1):624 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40064-016-2272-8] [Medline: 27330890]
- 7. Sadri F. Ambient intelligence. ACM Comput Surv 2011 Oct 01;43(4):1-66. [doi: 10.1145/1978802.1978815]
- 8. Kleinberger T, Becker M, Ras E, Holzinger A, Müller P. Ambient Intelligence in Assisted Living: Enable Elderly People to Handle Future Interfaces. In: Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer; 2006.
- Rashidi P, Mihailidis A. A survey on ambient-assisted living tools for older adults. IEEE J Biomed Health Inform 2013 May;17(3):579-590. [doi: <u>10.1109/jbhi.2012.2234129</u>] [Medline: <u>24592460</u>]
- 10. Baecker RM, Moffatt K, Massimi M. Technologies for aging gracefully. interactions 2012 May 01;19(3):32-36. [doi: 10.1145/2168931.2168940]
- Huber LL, Shankar K, Caine K, Connelly K, Camp LJ, Walker BA, et al. How in-home technologies mediate caregiving relationships in later life. Int J Human-Computer Interaction 2013 Jul 03;29(7):441-455. [doi: <u>10.1080/10447318.2012.715990</u>]
- 12. Dupuy L, Sauzéon H, Consel C. Perceived needs for assistive technologies in older adults and their caregivers. URL: <u>https://hal.archives-ouvertes.fr/hal-01168399</u> [accessed 2021-02-16]
- Peek STM, Wouters EJM, van Hoof J, Luijkx KG, Boeije HR, Vrijhoef HJM. Factors influencing acceptance of technology for aging in place: a systematic review. Int J Med Inform 2014 Apr;83(4):235-248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.01.004] [Medline: 24529817]
- 14. Chen K, Chan AHS. Gerontechnology acceptance by elderly Hong Kong Chinese: a senior technology acceptance model (STAM). In: Ergonomics. Oxfordshire, United Kingdom: Taylor & Francis; 2014:635-652.
- Dodd C, Athauda R, Adam MT. Designing user interfaces for the elderly: a systematic literature review. In: Proceedings of the Australasian Conference on Information Systems. 2017 Presented at: Australasian Conference on Information Systems ACIS 2017; December 4-6, 2017; Hobart, Tasmania p. 1-11 URL: <u>https://nova.newcastle.edu.au/vital/access/manager/</u> Repository/uon:32100?exact=sm_creator%3A%22Dodd%2C+Connor%22&sort=sort_ss_title%2F
- 16. Calvaresi D, Cesarini D, Sernani P, Marinoni M, Dragoni AF, Sturm A. Exploring the ambient assisted living domain: a systematic review. J Ambient Intell Human Comput 2016 May 4;8(2):239-257. [doi: 10.1007/s12652-016-0374-3]
- 17. Lindsay S, Jackson D, Schofield G, Olivier P. Engaging older people using participatory design. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2012 Presented at: SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems; May, 2012; Austin Texas USA p. 1199-1208. [doi: 10.1145/2207676.2208570]
- Peruzzini M, Germani M. Designing a user-centred ICT platform for active aging. In: Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Mechatronic and Embedded Systems and Applications (MESA). 2014 Presented at: 2014 IEEE/ASME 10th International Conference on Mechatronic and Embedded Systems and Applications (MESA); Sept 10-12, 2014; Senigallia, Italy p. 1-6. [doi: 10.1109/MESA.2014.6935624]
- Leonardi LC, Mennecozzi C, Not E, Pianesi F, Zancanaro M. Getting older people involved in the process of ambient assisted living research and development. Proceedings of the International Symposium of Gerontechnology ISG08 2008. [doi: <u>10.4017/GT.2008.07.02.089.00</u>]

- 20. Röcker C. User-centered design of intelligent environments: requirements for designing successful ambient assisted living systems. In: Proceedings of the Central European Conference of Information and Intelligent Systems. 2013 Presented at: Central European Conference on Information and Intelligent Systems; 2013; Varazdin, Croatia p. 4.
- 21. Queirós A, Silva A, Alvarelhão J, Rocha NP, Teixeira A. Usability, accessibility and ambient-assisted living: a systematic literature review. Univ Access Inf Soc 2013 Oct 5;14(1):57-66. [doi: 10.1007/s10209-013-0328-x]
- 22. Balta-Ozkan N, Davidson R, Bicket M, Whitmarsh L. Social barriers to the adoption of smart homes. Energy Policy 2013 Dec;63:363-374. [doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2013.08.043]
- 23. David L, Adshead S, Glennon B, Williamson B, Moore T, Damodaran L, et al. Assisted living technologies for older and disabled people in 2030. A final report to Ofcom. 2010. URL: <u>http://www.drmichaelmcgetrick.com/ALT_Report.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-02-09]
- 24. Reginatto BMB. Understanding barriers to wider telehealth adoption in the home environment of older people: an exploratory study in the Irish context. Int J Advances in Life Sci 2012;4(3). [doi: 10.1016/b978-0-08-047163-1.00023-0]
- 25. The taxonomy for AAL products. EURAC research and University of Innsbruck. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.aal-products.</u> <u>com</u> [accessed 2021-02-10]
- 26. goSmarthome. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.gosmarthome.de/en/products/ambient-assisted-living</u> [accessed 2021-02-10]
- 27. ActiveAdvice Project. 2020. URL: https://project.activeadvice.eu [accessed 2021-02-10]
- 28. USERS : AAL programme. 2020. URL: <u>http://www.aal-europe.eu/ageing-well-universe/i-am-a-user-2/</u> [accessed 2021-02-10]
- 29. Nedopil C, Schauber C, Glende S. Guideline : the art and joy of user integration in aal projects. Ambient Assisted Living Association. Brussels, Belgium: Ambient Assisted Living Association; 2013. URL: <u>http://www.aal-europe.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/AALA_Guideline_YOUSE_online.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-02-10]
- 30. Teles S, Kofler AC, Schmitter P, Ruscher S, Paúl C, Bertel D. Activeadvice: a multi-stakeholder perspective to understand functional requirements of an online advice platform for aal products and services. In: Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health. Switzerland: Springer; 2018:168-190.
- 31. Leitner P, Neuschmid J, Ruscher S, Kofler M, Ates N, Vigl S, et al. Development of a workable taxonomy for the effective classification of AAL products and services. TAALXONOMY. 2015. URL: <u>https://iktderzukunft.at/de/publikationen/taalxonomy.php</u> [accessed 2021-02-16]
- 32. Martins AI, Queirós A, Silva AG, Rocha NP. Usability Evaluation Methods: A Systematic Review. In: Human Factors in Software Development and Design. Pennsylvania, United States: IGI Global; 2015:250-273.
- 33. Rosen LD, Whaling K, Carrier LM, Cheever NA, Rokkum J. The media and technology usage and attitudes scale: an empirical investigation. In: Comput Human Behav. Amsterdam: Elsevier; Nov 01, 2013:2501-2511.
- 34. Nielsen J. Usability testing. Usability Engineering 1993:165-206. [doi: 10.1016/b978-0-08-052029-2.50009-7]
- 35. Brooke J. SUS: A 'Quick and Dirty' usability scale. In: Usability Evaluation In Industry. Florida: CRC Press; 1996.
- 36. Bardin L. Análise de conteúdo. Lisbon, Portugaldições. 2011. URL: https://bit.ly/2ZHJVED [accessed 2021-02-10]
- 37. Polit DF, Beck CT. Nursing research: principles and methods. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2004.
- König R, Seifert A, Doh M. Internet use among older Europeans: an analysis based on SHARE data. Univ Access Inf Soc 2018 Jan 19;17(3):621-633 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10209-018-0609-5]
- del-Pino-Casado R, Frías-Osuna A, Palomino-Moral PA. Subjective burden and cultural motives for caregiving in informal caregivers of older people. J Nurs Scholarsh 2011 Sep;43(3):282-291 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1547-5069.2011.01407.x] [Medline: 21884374]
- 40. Barbosa F, Matos AD. Informal support in Portugal by individuals aged 50. Eur J Ageing 2014 Dec;11(4):293-300 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10433-014-0321-0] [Medline: 28804335]
- 41. Bertel D, Teles S, Strohmeier F, Vieira-Marques P, Schmitter P, Ruscher S, et al. High tech, high touch: integrating digital and human AAL advisory services for older adults. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health Volume 1: ICT4AWE. 2018 Presented at: 4th International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health Volume 1: ICT4AWE. 2018 Presented at: 4th International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health Volume 1: ICT4AWE; 2018; Funchal, Madeira, Portugal p. 241-249. [doi: 10.5220/0006799002410249]
- 42. O'Grady MJ, Muldoon C, Dragone M, Tynan R, O'Hare GMP. Towards evolutionary ambient assisted living systems. J Ambient Intell Human Comput 2009 Dec 2;1(1):15-29. [doi: 10.1007/s12652-009-0003-5]
- 43. Nedopil C, Schauber C, Glende S. Knowledge base: AAL stakeholders and their requirements. Ambient Assisted Living Association: Brussels, Belgium. 2013. URL: <u>http://www.aal-europe.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/</u> AALA Knowledge-Base YOUSE online.pdf [accessed 2021-02-10]
- 44. Goldfarb A, Prince J. Internet adoption and usage patterns are different: implications for the digital divide. Information Economics and Policy 2008 Mar;20(1):2-15 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.infoecopol.2007.05.001]
- 45. People in the EU: who are we and how do we live? EUROSTAT. Brussels, Belgium: European Union; 2015. URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/3217494/7089681/KS-04-15-567-EN-N.pdf/8b2459fe-0e4e-4bb7-bca7-7522999c3bfd</u> [accessed 2021-02-10]
- 46. Anderson M, Perrin A. Technology use among seniors. Pew Research Center for Internet & Technology. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2017/05/17/technology-use-among-seniors/</u> [accessed 2021-02-10]

- 47. Au AML, Chan SCY, Yip HM, Kwok JYC, Lai KY, Leung KM, et al. Age-friendliness and life satisfaction of young-old and old-old in Hong Kong. Curr Gerontol Geriatr Res 2017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2017/6215917] [Medline: 28348584]
- 48. Clemmensen T. Towards a theory of cultural usability: a comparison of ADACM-U theory. In: Human Centered Design. Berlin: Springer; 2009:416-425.
- 49. Neves BB, Franz RL, Munteanu C, Baecker R, Ngo M. My hand doesn't listen to me!: adoption evaluation of a communication technology for the 'Oldest Old'. In: Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2015 Presented at: Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April, 2015; Seoul, Republic of Korea p. 1593-1602. [doi: 10.1145/2702123.2702430]
- 50. Franz RL, Munteanu C, Neves BB, Baecker R. Time to retire old methodologies? Reflecting on conducting usability evaluations with older adults. In: Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services Adjunct. 2015 Presented at: 17th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile DevicesServices Adjunct; 2015; Copenhagen Denmark p. 912-915. [doi: 10.1145/2786567.2794303]
- 51. Hawthorn D. Designing effective interfaces for older users. Doctoral dissertation, The University of Waikato. 2006. URL: https://researchcommons.waikato.ac.nz/handle/10289/2538 [accessed 2021-02-16]
- 52. Call for proposals AAL 2020. AAL Programme. 2020. URL: <u>http://www.aal-europe.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/</u> Call-Text-2020-AAL.pdf [accessed 2021-02-08]

Abbreviations

AAL: ambient assisted living
FCT: Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia, IP
IC: informal carer
ICT: information and communications technology
PD: participatory design
SUS: System Usability Scale
UCD: user-centered design

Edited by J Wang; submitted 07.02.20; peer-reviewed by M Lariviere, M Nitsch, I Rodriguez; comments to author 16.03.20; revised version received 11.05.20; accepted 13.11.20; published 01.03.21.

Please cite as:

Abrantes D, Teles S, Tavares de Sousa R, Freitas A, Vieira-Marques P, Ferreira A A Multipurpose Platform for Ambient Assisted Living (ActiveAdvice): Usability Study JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e18164 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e18164 doi:10.2196/18164 PMID:33646134

©Diogo Abrantes, Soraia Teles, Rita Tavares de Sousa, Alberto Freitas, Pedro Vieira-Marques, Ana Ferreira. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 01.03.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Implementations of Evidence-Based eHealth Interventions for Caregivers of People With Dementia in Municipality Contexts (Myinlife and Partner in Balance): Evaluation Study

Hannah Liane Christie¹, BA, MSc, PhD; Lizzy Mitzy Maria Boots¹, BSc, MSc, PhD; Huibert Johannes Tange², BSc, MSc, MD, PhD; Frans Rochus Josef Verhey¹, BSc, MSc, PhD, MD; Marjolein Elizabeth de Vugt¹, BSc, MSc, PhD

¹Department of Psychiatry and Neuropsychology, Alzheimer Centre Limburg, School for Mental Health and Neurosciences, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

²Department of Family Practice, Care and Public Health Research Institute, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

Corresponding Author:

Hannah Liane Christie, BA, MSc, PhD Department of Psychiatry and Neuropsychology, Alzheimer Centre Limburg School for Mental Health and Neurosciences Maastricht University Postbus 616 Maastricht, Netherlands Phone: 31 045 621 3078 Email: hannah.christie@maastrichtuniversity.nl

Abstract

Background: Very few evidence-based eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia are implemented into practice. Municipalities are one promising context in which to implement these interventions due to their available policy and innovation incentives regarding (dementia) caregiving and prevention. In this study, two evidence-based eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia (Partner in Balance and Myinlife) were implemented in 8 municipalities in the Euregion Meuse-Rhine. Partner in Balance is a blended care, 8-week, self-management intervention intervention designed to aid caregivers of people with dementia in adapting to their new roles that is delivered through coaches in participating health care organizations who are trained to use it to offer online support to their clients. Myinlife is an eHealth/mHealth intervention integrated into the Dutch Alzheimer's Association website and available from the App Store or Google Play, designed to help caregivers of people with dementia use their social network to better organize care and share positive (caregiving) experiences.

Objective: This study's objectives were to evaluate the success of the implementation of Myinlife and Partner in Balance and investigate determinants of their successful implementation in the municipality context.

Methods: This study collected eHealth use data, Partner in Balance coach evaluation questionnaires, and information on implementation determinants. This was done by conducting interviews with the municipality officials based on the measurement instrument for determinants of implementation (MIDI). These data from multiple sources and perspectives were integrated and analyzed to form a total picture of the determinants (barriers and facilitators to implementation in the municipality context).

Results: The municipality implementation of Partner in Balance and Myinlife showed varying levels of success. In the end, 3 municipalities planned to continue the implementation of Partner in Balance, while none planned to continue the implementation of Myinlife. The 2 Partner in Balance municipalities that did not consider the implementation to be successful viewed the implementation as an external project. For Myinlife, it was clear that more face-to-face contact was needed to engage the implementing municipality and target groups. Successful implementations were linked to implementer self-efficacy and sense of ownership, which seemed to be absent in unsuccessful implementations.

Conclusions: The experiences of implementing these interventions suggested that this implementation context was feasible regarding the required budget and infrastructure. The need to foster sense of ownership and self-efficacy in implementers will be integrated into future implementation protocols as part of standard implementation materials for municipalities and organizations implementing Myinlife and Partner in Balance.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e21629) doi:10.2196/21629



KEYWORDS

eHealth; mHealth; implementation science; dementia; caregiving; municipality

Introduction

Dementia is a progressive, neurodegenerative disease accompanied by cognitive decline in multiple domains, as well as mood and behavior changes. Informal caregivers play an indispensable role in providing high-quality care for people with dementia [1]. Supporting informal carers of people with dementia is essential, as informal caregiving can potentially allow people with dementia to delay institutionalization and result in positive effects on the person with dementia's physical and mental health [2]. Given the fact that there are currently 50 million people with dementia worldwide and this number is set to triple by 2050 [3], the rising cost of dementia care and its reliance on informal care is a significant concern for many modern health care systems [4]. Informal caregiving can have both positive [5] and negative [6] effects on the informal caregivers' physical and mental well-being, and the negative consequences of caregiving can include social isolation, depressive symptoms, stress and anxiety, financial issues, and sleep problems [7,8].

eHealth interventions have been suggested as a means to meet both the demand for more cost-effective dementia health care [9,10] and the need for effective informal caregiver support [11]. Here, eHealth interventions are "treatments, typically behaviorally based, that are operationalized and transformed for delivery via the internet" [12]. Many recent systematic reviews have shown evidence of the effectiveness of eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia, with intervention studies reporting improvements in a variety of caregiver outcomes including increased positive experiences with the caregiving process, self-efficacy, and confidence, in addition to the reduction of stress, experienced burden, and depressive symptoms and anxiety [13-16].

Unfortunately, previous research has shown that very few of these eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia are implemented into practice [17]. Here, implementation refers to "the process of putting to use or integrating evidence-based interventions within a setting" [18]. More generally, only 3% of evidence-based psychosocial interventions for dementia are translated into practice [19]. Lack of proven effects on health care outcomes, doubts from implementing health care staff, meager implementation coordination and management, lack of information on the implementation context, and the fact that users are seldom involved in the eHealth development have been cited as important barriers to the implementation of evidence-based interventions [20-23].

This study was designed to address the lack of information on the implementation context. One potentially important and well-suited implementation context for eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia in Northern Europe is the local municipality. Municipalities are districts or towns with local governments. A municipality's governing functions can vary from country to country. In general, the municipality is responsible for local services, such as health care, education, recreation, and sport. The municipality context was chosen because municipalities often have policy incentives and funds to address both dementia and caregiving challenges, as well as innovation budgets that are suitable to finance online solutions [24,25]. In this study, two evidence-based eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia (Partner in Balance and Myinlife) were implemented in 8 municipalities in the Euregion Meuse-Rhine (EMR) by municipality officials and by personnel in the local, participating health care organizations. The main research question addressed barriers and facilitators to implementing evidence-based eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia in a municipality context. This study's specific objectives were to evaluate the success of the implementation of Myinlife and Partner in Balance and investigate determinants of successful implementation of the interventions in the municipality context.

Methods

Study Background

This implementation study took place in the context of the euPrevent Senior Friendly Communities (SFC) project [26], which is based on the World Health Organization's Active Ageing framework [27]. This project took place between September 2016 and December 2019, and data collection continued until March 2020 (see Figure 1 for a timeline of the project). In this project, 32 municipalities signed up on a first come, first serve basis, with the aim to become more senior-friendly. After a kickoff conference with the participating municipalities and other stakeholders, the project assessed what the municipalities were already doing for their aging population and how they could improve. Informed by this assessment, municipalities selected activities from a so-called activity buffet, which consisted of 15 preexisting activities. These activities were aimed at improving the mental health of the municipality's aging population by focusing on various aspects of dementia and age-related depression. The activities included a theater production, consultations with experts on various topics, a photo exhibition, courses on relevant topics and psychoeducation, creation and organization of local groups of elderly people, outreach activities, and eHealth interventions to support caregivers of people with dementia. These activities were to be implemented before a final conference with municipalities and stakeholders. Implementation and use of the chosen interventions were included in the participation in the SFC project, meaning that all activities were free of costs for both municipality and users. Data collection took place parallel to the described activities and in 3 phases: preparatory, implementation, and evaluation.



Figure 1. Timeline of eHealth implementation within a Senior Friendly Communities project.



The activity buffet included two eHealth interventions to support caregivers of people with dementia: Partner in Balance and Myinlife. These interventions were included in the activity buffet by the SFC project team due to their promising research results and local origin (they were developed with the EMR). There also was a desire to offer remote support options such as eHealth within the project, and these interventions met this need. Neither had been widely implemented previously, so there were no expectations about which intervention would be easier to implement. Six municipalities opted to implement Partner in Balance (4 in the Netherlands, 1 in Belgium, and 1 in Germany), and 3 opted for Myinlife (2 in Belgium and 1 in Germany). Table 1 depicts relevant characteristics of the SFC municipalities that chose to implement eHealth in their communities. A more detailed description of the municipalities' eHealth choice process is provided elsewhere [25].

Table 1. Characteristics of the participating municipalities^a.

Characteristics	Value, n
Number of municipalities that chose Partner in Balance	6
Number of municipalities that chose Myinlife	3
Municipality average general population	36,376
Municipality average population age >65 years	7349
Municipality average estimated dementia population	1434

^aPopulation statistics sourced from the euPrevent Senior Friendly Communities project [25,26,28].

eHealth Interventions

Partner in Balance

Partner in Balance is an evidence-based eHealth intervention designed to aid caregivers of people with dementia in adapting to their new roles that is delivered through coaches in participating health care organizations who are trained to use it to offer online support to their clients. It is a blended care, 8-week, self-management intervention consisting of (1) an in-person intake session with the coach to acquaint the caregiver with Partner in Balance, select online modules, and set goals; (2) tailored online thematic modules including psychoeducation, behavioral modeling, videos of carers discussing their experiences with the chosen themes, change plans, and email feedback from the coach over 8 weeks; and (3) an in-person evaluation of the program with the coach to assess previously set goals. The in-person meetings between caregiver and coach usually take place at the coach's place of work (eg, a dementia case management organization) although some coaches choose to visit the caregiver at home. The at-home use of the chosen modules by the caregivers is asynchronous and the responsibility of the caregiver, although the coach provides encouragement and feedback via email. Partner in Balance coaches are required to have experience in health care and dementia care. All coaches take part in a 2-hour Partner in Balance training course with presentation of the intervention and exercises in coaching and self-management techniques. Detailed information about the program components and development is presented elsewhere

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21629/

[29]. Partner in Balance was shown to cause improvements in caregiver outcomes such as mastery, self-efficacy, and quality of life [29,30].

Myinlife

Myinlife is an eHealth intervention designed to help caregivers of people with dementia use their social network to better organize care and share positive (caregiving) experiences. Myinlife has been integrated into the Dutch Alzheimer's Association website [31] and can also be downloaded from the App Store or Google Play free of charge. In previous research, Myinlife has shown potential to make caregiving easier and help caregivers gain more control over their schedules [32,33]. Myinlife has the following functionalities: Profile, Circles, Timeline, Calendar, Helping, Personal Messages, Care Book, and Compass. Caregivers use these functionalities independently (with no help from a coach) to facilitate the organization of care for the person with dementia. Although Myinlife does not make use of a coach, it still requires local health care organizations to facilitate the dissemination and implementation of the intervention by promoting its use among the local population.

Measures

Use Data

Implementation use data was collected for the following measures: number of municipalities choosing one of the interventions, number of research team implementation hours (both face-to-face and remote), number of information

technology support hours, and number of accounts (caregivers and coaches). No data were collected on the effect of the intervention or the caregivers' experiences with the program, as this was assessed in previous research [30].

Partner in Balance Coach Evaluation Questionnaire

Because Partner in Balance (but not Myinlife) makes use of a coach as part of its blended approach, evaluation questionnaires were sent to all Partner in Balance coaches who took part in the coach training as part of the SFC project. An English translation of the coach evaluation questionnaire can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1. The questionnaire asked the participants of the training to rate the usability and relevance of Partner in Balance for caregivers and coaches. It consisted of 11 multiple-choice items rated on a 5-point scale (1=completely disagree to 5=completely agree) and 5 open-ended items. A version of this questionnaire had previously been used in the Partner in Balance process evaluation [34].

Determinants of Implementation

The measurement instrument for determinants of innovation (MIDI) is designed to assess which determinants may affect implementation, and it can be applied before or after the introduction of an innovation [35]. The MIDI groups determinants into 4 categories: determinants associated with the innovation, adopting person (user), organization, and sociopolitical context. The MIDI was developed to be used in a research context to explore the experiences of intermediary users ("professionals whose actions determine the degree of exposure of end users to the innovation") of the innovation [36]. To construct the MIDI, determinants were extracted from the results of 8 empirical studies on the implementation of evidence-based innovations and discussed with 22 implementation experts [36]. The instrument consists of 29 questions, each designed to explore a particular determinant. Responses consist of a number on a 1- to 5-point Likert scale and an explanation of the reasoning behind the given score. However, in this study, due to the small sample size, no quantitative MIDI scores were collected, and the MIDI was used instead as a semistructured interview guide to ensure that various domains of implementation were discussed in the evaluation. Multimedia Appendix 2 contains an English version of the MIDI as it was used in these interviews.

Data Collection

Use Data

After each interaction with the municipality, implementation data were anonymously logged in a customized data collection platform with separate entries for each municipality. The interactions included emails, telephone calls, and meetings. The dates and time required for these interactions were logged, including preparations and travel time. Data were logged for all municipalities by author HLC from the start of the implementation in January 2018 until the end of implementation in December 2019.

Partner in Balance Coach Evaluation

Coaches were sent the evaluation questionnaire via email at the end of the SFC project in December 2019 and asked to reply

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21629/
```

RenderX

via email. Reminders were sent after 6 and 12 weeks. Email responses were stored on the described data collection platform.

Determinants of Implementation

Interviews with the municipality representatives responsible for the intervention implementation were conducted to explore determinants of implementation. However, at the end of the project, not all municipalities had achieved the level of implementation necessary to appropriately evaluate implementation determinants using the MIDI questionnaire. The level of eHealth implementation was considered adequate to evaluate determinants if municipalities had completed the implementation activities planned in the initial interviews. These differed per municipality [25] and included a minimum implementation threshold to be considered for determinant assessment. For Myinlife, municipalities must at least have organized caregiver meetings around the intervention. For Partner in Balance, municipalities must have completed a coach training and appointed an organizational Partner in Balance administrator who oversaw the municipalities' coaches. Implementation levels were assessed prior to the interview by phone by author HLC; 5 municipalities were assessed as having completed the minimum level implementation necessary to conduct an evaluation interview using the MIDI questionnaire as a semistructured interview guide. Interviews were an average of 31 minutes long. For the remaining 3 municipalities, information was collected on the current level of implementation and what steps still needed to be taken via email for one municipality (due to municipality time restraints), via face-to-face meeting for a second, and via telephone meeting for the third.

Interviews occurred between August 2019 and March 2020 and were conducted by author HLC in Dutch, French, or English according to municipality preferences. The MIDI interviews and face-to-face and telephone meetings were recorded and later transcribed verbatim. The written email evaluation was also stored on the data collection platform.

Informed Consent and Ethical Approval

All participants (municipality interviewees, Partner in Balance coaches, and experts) had received an information letter explaining the aims of the study, which also guaranteed the anonymous processing of their data and responses, in addition to the option of discontinuing study participation at any point. All participants signed an informed consent form. Ethical approval for the study was granted by Maastricht University's Medical Ethical Oversight Commission (approval number 2018-0489).

Data Analysis

Use Data

After activities were logged in the online data collection platform by author HLC, total implementation and support hours were automatically calculated across entries and subsequently exported.

Partner in Balance Coach Evaluations

Responses were logged in the online data collection platform. Quantitative scores were calculated, and qualitative responses

were analyzed inductively by author HLC using analysis software Atlas.ti 8.3 for Macintosh (Atlas.ti Scientific Software Development GmbH). Inductive analysis was used because there were no expectations as to what the open question replies would be. For this analysis, individual codes were independently grouped into themes and categorized by authors HLC and LMMB. Subsequently, HLC and LMMB compared these themes and categories in a consensus meeting with author MEdV to resolve any differences and confirm the final thematic analysis.

Determinants of Implementation

Authors HLC and LMMB independently coded the semistructured interviews using deductive thematic analysis [37] in Atlas.ti. In contrast to the open questions in the coach evaluations, it was expected that the interviews would reflect the thematic groups of the consolidated framework for implementation research (CFIR) and not new inductive groups.

This is why deductive thematic analysis was used for the interviews. The deductive codes used were CFIR constructs (Table 2). CFIR is an established framework for mapping implementation of evidence-based interventions and can also for used for eHealth interventions [38]. CFIR comprises 5 domains (intervention characteristics, outer setting, inner setting, characteristics of individuals, and process) with 39 implementation constructs. For the analysis, authors LMMB and HLC applied the CFIR codes in Table 2 to interview transcriptions and compared interview segments with the same deductive codes across interviews. Again, HLC and LMMB compared the independently applied codes in a consensus meeting with author MEdV to resolve any differences of opinion. The focus of this analysis was to shed light on the breadth of implementation determinants (barriers and facilitators) in the municipality context.

Table 2. Deductive consolidated framework for implementation research codes^a.

CFIR ^b domains	Deductive CFIR construct codes
Intervention characteristics	Intervention source
	Evidence strength and quality
	Relative advantage
	Adaptability
	Trialability
	Complexity
	Design quality and packaging
	Cost
Outer setting	Patient needs and resources
	Cosmopolitanism
	Peer pressure
	External policy and incentives
Inner setting	Structural characteristics
	Networks and communications
	Culture
	 Implementation climate: Tension for change Compatibility Relative priority Organizational Incentives and rewards Goals and feedback Learning climate Readiness for implementation: Leadership engagement Available resources Access to knowledge and information
Characteristics of individuals	Knowledge and beliefs about the intervention
	Self-efficacy
	Individual stage of change
	Individual identification with organization
	Other personal attributes
Process	Planning
	 Engaging: Opinion leaders Formally appointed internal implementation leaders Champions External change agents
	Executing
	Reflecting and evaluating

^aAdapted from Damschoder et al [39].

^bCFIR: consolidated framework for implementation research.



Results

Use Data (Quantitative)

Table 3 shows the use data for Partner in Balance and Myinlife (January 2018 to December 2019). The data show that Myinlife was not chosen a single time in the Netherlands and that Partner in Balance was a more popular choice, especially in the Netherlands. One of the 6 municipalities that initially selected Partner in Balance chose to discontinue the implementation

Table 3. Use data by interven	tion.
-------------------------------	-------

after the first meeting due to a lack of information on future financing and pricing after the project end; this is discussed in depth elsewhere [25]. This municipality is therefore not represented in the table, and averages are calculated over the 5 municipalities that sustained the Partner in Balance implementation. A total of 145 hours were spent on the implementation of Partner in Balance (average 29 hours per municipality), while 54 hours were spent on the implementation of Myinlife (average of 18 hours per municipality).

Measurement	Partner in Balance	Myinlife
Number of times implemented by municipalities		
Netherlands	3	0
Belgium	1	2
Germany	1	1
Total number of implementation hours (average)		
Total remote research team hours	21 (4)	3 (1)
Total in-person research team hours	124 (25)	51 (17)
Information and communication technology support hours	48	5
Number of accounts created		
Caregivers	22	29
Coaches	22	a

^aNot applicable.

Partner in Balance Coach Evaluations (Quantitative and Qualitative)

Of the 26 coaches who took part in the coach training, only 22 coaches created Partner in Balance coach accounts. An average of 5 coaches were trained per Partner in Balance municipality. Across municipalities, coaches recruited by the municipalities were dementia case managers (7/26), volunteers (3/26), nursing home personnel (6/26), municipality personnel responsible for caregiving (4/26), and dementia outreach nursing staff (6/26). Of the coaches who were sent the coach evaluation questionnaire via email, 64% (14/22) responded, with 57% (8/14) of those (6 Dutch and 2 Belgian coaches) stating they had not been able to use Partner in Balance in their work and thus did not complete the questionnaire. When asked to provide reasons they were not able to begin coaching, 75% (6/8) of those responded: lack of interest from the caregivers in their caseload (n=1), lack of digital skills in caregivers in their caseload (n=1), lack of time to implement the intervention (n=3), and lack of dementia caregivers in their current caseload (n=1), with 2 spontaneously mentioning they found Partner in Balance a very useful and worthwhile tool, despite the barriers. The remaining 43% (6/14) replied with completed questionnaires: 2 from Dutch municipalities, 2 from the German municipality, and 2 from the Belgian municipality.

The results from the completed questionnaires showed that coaches found Partner in Balance to be moderately useful (mean 3.7 [SD 0.8]) and moderately easy to integrate into their jobs (mean 3.3 [SD 0.8]). It was also perceived as a clear added value

RenderX

to the caregiver (mean 4.5 [SD 0.5]) and to the coach, but to a lesser degree (mean 3.5 [SD 0.8]). In general, coaches found it moderately difficult to recruit suitable caregivers (mean 3.5 [SD 1.6)], although this question was not completed by the 2 German coaches. Regarding its advantages for common practice, coaches reported an enriched contact with the caregiver (mean 4.1 [SD 1.0]). They expected the intervention to be time-efficient (mean 4.1 [SD 1.0]) but not cost-efficient (mean 2.8 [SD 1.0]) in the long run. Coaches would recommend Partner in Balance to other care professionals (mean 4.0 [SD 0.9]). Qualitative analysis of the open-ended questions resulted in 2 main findings: lack of digital literacy in the target population and lack of necessary time for the trained coaches to recruit caregivers were perceived as significant barriers.

Determinants of Implementation (Qualitative)

Characteristics of the Intervention

Complexity

In general, respondents described Myinife as easy to use. However, one municipality official thought Myinlife was too complicated, as it focused on both online care coordination and positive engagement. This respondent recommended simplifying Myinlife to just the agenda function. Similarly, Partner in Balance was perceived as clear and easy to use. Municipalities found the intervention and coach training easy to understand. However, they would have preferred a more practical, hands-on training in smaller groups, as the training was too theory-focused, and more implementation tips would have been

welcome. Also, while Partner in Balance was easy to understand, there were a lot of tasks and organizing involved in making it work (finding coaches, advertising, coordinating, etc), which made it somewhat complex.

Design Quality and Packaging

For both interventions, it was reported that more face-to-face meetings and trainings and more advertising and promotional materials were needed. In general, it was suggested that the packaging of the interventions needed to be expanded. For instance, several respondents mentioned that they would like an implementation guidebook. In the current form, coaches receive a guidebook during the training, but the suggested implementation guidebook would help management facilitate the adoption, implementation, and maintenance of the intervention. This would contain a general implementation package, consisting of an implementation protocol and premade templates for social media posts, posters, and flyers.

I think it would really help if you had some kind of general promotion campaign or something, where you have flyers and messages and stuff that you can use. Because now, you really only have the information that is on the flyer on the website, which is actually very similar. And from there you have to figure out everything yourself, and think of messages... While, if you really have posters and flyers and advertising pieces for the local newspapers and such, I think you really already can reach the target group much better. [Municipality R3 (Partner in Balance)]

Cost

For Partner in Balance, municipalities confirmed that they thought the suggested price model of payment per client was reasonable in theory. The suggested financers were municipalities and advertisers/sponsors. Regarding Myinlife, municipalities liked the idea of clients downloading from the App Store or Google Play, as this seemed to contain less liability for the municipality. In these cases, they suggested price points of \mathfrak{S} (\$5.61) and $\mathfrak{E}10$ (\$11.21). Some respondents also suggested the interventions be free.

Relative Advantage

At the end of the implementation, some respondents still preferred face-to-face contact for discussing dementia case management issues. They said that typing sensitive issues on the Partner in Balance platform could be hard for caregivers and coaches, as meanings could be more easily be misconstrued than in face-to-face conversations. Myinlife was considered to be expensive in terms of necessary implementation time compared with having a speaker give a lecture on the topic of dementia caregiving, especially as it is currently impossible for the municipality to see if people are actually using the Myinlife platform. They also wondered if Myinlife really posed an added value compared with other online solutions such as WhatsApp and Facebook. Nevertheless, 28% (9/32) of municipalities in the SFC project chose to implement these eHealth interventions in their communities (although only 8 continued this implementation), indicating that they perceived these

interventions as having a relative advantage over the other activities on offer in this project.

Characteristics of Individuals

Self-Efficacy

Self-efficacy was a recurring topic in the interviews, especially for Partner in Balance, where more guidance of the caregivers and coaches was needed. Both coaches and organization coordinators were uncertain about whether they could fulfill their role and scared to make mistakes. These fears eased once they started the coaching and reported more confidence with increased experience. Municipality officials reported that successful coaches had confidence in the intervention and their own ability to use it to help their clients.

I think that first step was really a big step. But it's not about saying, "I'm not going to do this." More, "How do I go about it," "What is in here?" And from the moment it develops. That's why I also printed it, had read it, and done all of that while learning, only then did I feel like, okay, now I dare to approach someone with this. [Municipality 4 (Partner in Balance)]

Knowledge and Beliefs About the Intervention

Municipality officials believed that the interventions would be effective at improving outcomes for caregivers, as this had been proven in previous research which they were familiar with. However, some officials wondered whether these effects would also be obtained outside the research context. For both interventions, there were significant privacy and liability concerns.

I think you should have it in the App Store anyway. And I think that an IT professional from a municipality is really not going to get involved in this, there is also the security issue. If we offer it, and data is lost because you no longer maintain it properly than we are responsible, because we offer it, so I will never get myself into that legal mess. [Municipality 2 (Myinlife)]

There were also more general concerns regarding the timeliness and fit of the eHealth interventions in the current dementia health care setting. In particular, they wondered if there was sufficient digital literacy in caregivers, coaches, and in the municipality itself.

Inner Setting

Structural Characteristics and Networks and Communication

Municipality officials said that much more structural integration was needed. The implementation of the eHealth interventions was usually the sole responsibility of one person within the municipality. Municipality officials stressed that this was not enough, and that there should be a team to tackle the implementation together. As they recommended including this in the product itself, this is discussed in more detail under Characteristics of the Intervention. Municipalities added that it



was easy to set up the necessary meetings with the Partner in Balance team.

Look what we can still do is try to launch it in concrete care situations, to see if people use it. But yes, if the guidance is not there, I do not know if they will manage. [Municipality 2 (Myinlife)]

Implementation Climate

For both interventions, there was not enough goal setting and feedback, interventions had low relative priority, and there were no incentives or rewards to encourage the implementation into clinical practice. As management is primarily interested in concrete output, it is important to keep track of the output and use of the interventions. This is currently possible to track digitally for Partner in Balance but not for Myinlife.

Readiness for Implementation

Respondents indicated that there were few resources (especially in terms of available time) to spend on the implementation, as well as a lack of leadership engagement.

Outer Setting

Cosmopolitanism

Regarding how the implementing organizations are linked to other organizations, respondents stated that the interventions needed to be offered through an external party (not through the municipality) and cooperation with care providers would always be necessary, as they would have to agree to execute the interventions. Some municipalities reported that the SFC project had been a good chance to connect and strengthen their local dementia care networks.

Patient Needs and Resources

Myinlife and Partner in Balance were both perceived as fitting caregiver needs. However, for Myinlife, there was little enthusiasm from the local target population, as evidenced by the lack of attendance to the planned Myinlife caregiver meetings.

I think we've determined that this should work in principle... But maybe, indeed, it just doesn't fit what people here want, what they need, what they feel comfortable with. Or maybe we just didn't reach them despite all the effort... That is also possible. [Municipality 3 (Partner in Balance)]

External Policy and Incentives

Partner in Balance was described as fitting well into initiatives around generalized services, current internal caregiver and prevention policies, and municipality innovation budgets. These budgets are facilitated by the outer setting, but their use is determined by the inner setting (municipality). The municipalities that had these innovation budgets mentioned that these budgets could potentially be used in the future to purchase licenses for the further implementation of Partner in Balance, if the experiences were positive.

Yes, I think it fits within the policy yes. It fits within the informal care policy, is increasingly in line with the policy of health insurers, who say if we support

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21629/
```

informal carers then it will yield results. Also for the informal caregiver and the person they care for, so that they stay better in balance, can last longer, so I think it fits within the policy. [Municipality 1 (Partner in Balance)]

Process

Engaging

Municipalities implementing Myinlife indicated that a more hands-on demonstration and sales-pitch–like approach were needed to convince health care partners to cooperate in the dissemination of the intervention and less of an academic presentation. There was not enough engagement of the target populations (both of Partner in Balance coaches and dementia caregivers), although 2 municipalities did involve local dementia groups in their activity choice and subsequent eHealth implementation. More opinion leaders and internal implementation leaders were needed.

I introduced this. My supervisor, yes, but I work in my department alone. We have not really discussed it with anyone else. So, my supervisor is not actively pushing this now either. [Municipality 4 (Partner in Balance)]

Executing

The plans that were made at the beginning of the implementation [25] were followed. Nevertheless, these were in many cases insufficient, and in several municipalities, implementation plans are still being made for the future.

Planning

These new plans include involving more local health care groups (for Partner in Balance), more advertising and communications, which are more direct (for both Myinlife and Partner in Balance), and more structural goal setting and feedback (for Partner in Balance, this pertains to coaching; for Myinlife, this is tracking how many people use the intervention). Reflecting and evaluating was not a big part of this implementation but was seen as important for the future implementation of both interventions.

Evaluation

Integrating the use data, coach questionnaires, and municipality interviews, it appears that the implementation of Partner in Balance and Myinlife showed varying levels of success in different municipalities. In the end, 3 municipalities planned to continue with their implementation of Partner in Balance beyond the study period, while no municipalities planned to continue with their implementation of Myinlife. What these 3 Partner in Balance municipalities had in common was that they considered the implementation of the intervention to be a success. These municipalities appeared to have a sense of internal responsibility to facilitate the implementation of Partner in Balance and devise creative solutions. The 2 Partner in Balance municipalities that did not consider the implementation to be successful seemed to see the implementation as more of an external project, where the municipality's role was more to facilitate than execute. For Myinlife, it was clear from the municipality interviews and use data that more time was needed to successfully embed the

intervention into the local health care landscape. Despite Myinlife not necessitating the recruitment of coaches, it was clear that more face-to-face contact was needed to engage the implementing municipality and target group.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study integrated use data, coach questionnaires, and interviews to evaluate the implementations of Partner in Balance and Myinlife. These two eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia were implemented in 8 municipalities in the EMR. This study's objectives were to evaluate the success of the implementation of Myinlife and Partner in Balance and investigate determinants of the successful implementation of Myinlife and Partner in Balance in the municipality context. The analysis of the implementation determinants showed that there were unsuccessful aspects of the implementation, including the lack of goal setting and incentives, low priority, few resources, and lack of leadership. In order to successfully bring evidence-based eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia into practice, a number of important improvements must be made in the implementation of these interventions.

Improvements for Partner in Balance Coaches

A main finding from the interviews with municipality officials regarding the Partner in Balance implementation was the need to increase the self-efficacy of the Partner in Balance coaches. Coaches reported that uncertainties about whether they were ready to coach and insecurities about whether they could do a good job were significant barriers to starting to coach caregivers. Hence, an important lesson from this study is that Partner in Balance cannot increase caregivers' self-efficacy without first ensuring that coaches have a minimum level of self-efficacy to start the coaching. This is supported by previous research, which has described care professional self-efficacy as a major facilitator of successful intervention implementation in a variety of contexts [40-42]. Bandura et al [43] described 4 ways to increase self-efficacy: mastery experiences, vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion, and monitoring physiological states. Subsequent research built on this by examining how self-efficacy can be enhanced through training in professional caregivers of people with dementia, which can potentially increase intervention adherence [44]. Discussing common barriers to implementation among the training participants, addressing barriers through role-playing, and providing constructive feedback on the role-play have been shown to increase dementia care professional self-efficacy [45]. In the future, Partner in Balance will incorporate these methods into coach trainings to help coaches develop the self-efficacy necessary to start coaching with Partner in Balance.

In their responses to the request to complete the Partner in Balance coach evaluation questionnaire, several coaches mentioned that they were not able to offer Partner in Balance to any caregivers, as their clients were not familiar with the use of online interventions. These clients were often older, and previous research has indicated that advanced age is a barrier to adopting eHealth due to related declines in motor, cognitive,

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21629/
```

and perceptive abilities and the difficulties accompanying the rapidly changing technological market [46-48]. In general, studies regarding older adults' attitudes toward eHealth interventions have produced mixed results [49-51]. It is also important to consider health care professionals' attitudes toward eHealth for dementia and their role as gatekeepers in deciding whether to offer eHealth interventions such as Partner in Balance to caregivers. In line with this research, a recent systematic literature review on the attitudes of health care professionals toward eHealth described workload concerns, lack of incentives, perceived threats to autonomy, liability concerns, and lack of organizational support and cooperation as important implementation barriers [52]. Here too, a possible remedy for these eHealth challenges experienced by health care professionals is the embedding of improved eHealth education in their standard training [53,54].

Improvements for Municipalities

For both Myinlife and Partner in Balance, municipality officials reported that their municipality implementation teams were often understaffed. Previous research on municipal eHealth for home care [55] and dementia care [56] has underscored the importance of municipality-specific protocols when implementing eHealth in these contexts. Based on this study, these protocols should specify how to form municipality implementation teams, including suggestions to involve at least 2 people in the team and schedule regular progress meetings within this team. These meetings should discuss new promotion ideas and opportunities using templates for the promotion and advertising of the interventions. Additionally, these meetings should monitor the success of the intervention implementation, as municipality officials reported that their management is most interested in demonstrable output. For Partner in Balance, it is possible for organizations to monitor the number of coaches and participating caregivers. However, there is currently no way to determine whether Myinlife is successfully being used in the community. Previous research on organizational learning as a method for eHealth benefit realization in a municipal health care context emphasized the importance of reviewing and evaluating results and establishing potential for further benefits [57]. This makes it possible for the implementation teams to set and achieve goals around use in the community. In this study, not doing so was counterproductive for both team motivation and acceptability of the time spent on implementation to management. For both Partner in Balance and Myinlife, future implementation packages should include protocols on setting use goals in the regularly scheduled team meetings, and the interventions should include functionalities to easily track these statistics.

Improvements for Project Management

In order to recruit external health care organizations, the municipality is required to recruit coaches (for Partner in Balance) and integrate interventions into larger health care structures that can offer it as part of their services (for Partner in Balance and Myinlife). This requires regular meetings to follow up on coaches' experiences, where coaches can learn from each other, share tips and tricks, and discuss their progress. The involvement of the management of these external health

XSL•FO RenderX

care organizations is crucial, as they can offer incentives for successful coaching and adapt structures to facilitate the integration of Partner in Balance into the coaches' tasks. For example, it is important that management ensures that time spent coaching can be declared to the health insurer as provided care. Previous research has reported this as a significant determinant of successful eHealth implementation for health care professionals [58]. Thus, future implementation packages should include protocols for these organizations on how to organize the suggested meetings, internal monitoring, and incentives, including the declaration of coached hours to health insurers. To facilitate this, future implementation packages should also suggest appointing an eHealth ambassador within the organization whose function is to ensure that these meetings take place, and provide a reliable and continuous level of enthusiasm for the intervention. Previous research has advocated the use of ambassadors in implementing eHealth [32,59-61].

Sustainability Measures

Despite the relative ease of setting up the infrastructural aspects of this project, implementation was only successful in just over half of the municipalities. It is clear that successful implementation depends on more than merely setting the necessary structures in place. This study's interview findings indicated that successful implementation was tied to a sense of ownership and responsibility from the municipality officials. This is in line with previous research, which has pointed to a lack of eHealth ownership at both local and national levels as a considerable implementation barrier [62,63]. Therefore, future implementation packages for Myinlife and Partner in Balance will include suggestions on how to achieve sustainability by increasing sense of ownership and end user adherence in general. An important element of this is the reflection and feedback exercises that will also be part of new measures to monitor the interventions (described above), as they have been shown to improve eHealth ownership and adoption [64]. In addition to scheduling the described reflection and role-playing exercises, previous research on increasing the adherence of end users to eHealth interventions recommends persuasive system design, which is used to aid the development of information systems to shape attitudes and behaviors [65]. This approach recommends that interventions incorporate on-the-spot reminders and feedback to increase end user adherence. Hence, future implementations will incorporate more intervention monitoring and reflection moments for implementers and end users. This new approach to training coaches is expected to reduce the uncertainties reported by coaches concerning their abilities to coach.

Finally, it is also important to consider why Partner in Balance was more often successfully implemented in this municipality context than Myinlife. Previous research has indeed shown that blended eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia are more effective at improving outcomes for caregivers of people with dementia than nonblended interventions [13]. One potential explanation for the increased success of Partner in Balance in this particular context is that its blended aspect (the human contact between caregiver and coach) not only increases effectiveness through improved caregiver outcomes but also through a possible effect of

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21629/
```

increasing engagement among implementers. Here, Partner in Balance required more hours to implement in the municipality context than Myinlife. It is possible that these additional face-to-face hours required to implement Partner in Balance (but not Myinlife) increased implementers' sense of ownership of the successful implementation of the intervention. Therefore, future implementers of nonblended eHealth interventions in this context could consider incorporating this human interaction by way of face-to-face meetings about the intervention or caregiver support groups discussing the intervention to facilitate implementation by increasing the implementation hours and thus potentially the sense of ownership. Of course, this study also shows that this blended aspect is more resource intensive. Future research could investigate the comparative cost-effectiveness of these interventions in order to weigh costs and benefits.

Strengths and Limitations

This study had several important strengths. First, this study is one of few to examine the further implementation of eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia after the trial phase. This study uses various measures from multiple perspectives to construct a thorough evaluation of the implementation of these interventions in a municipality context. As a result, this study is able to shed novel light on the currently underexplored organizational and contextual implementation determinants. Second, by focusing on the municipality context in depth, this study has successfully identified the municipality as a potential distributor with the financial means to further disseminate evidence-based eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia.

This study also has several limitations. First, this study did not explore the experiences of caregivers using the Partner in Balance and Myinlife interventions. As a result, we have no information on actual eHealth use and do not know how the caregiver target group used and evaluated the interventions in this context. This is because both Partner in Balance and Myinlife were previously assessed for usability and effectiveness by caregivers in a series of trials [29,30,33,66] informed by the Medical Research Council framework [67]. The aim of this study was to gain information on their broader implementation contexts. Second, there was a moderate response rate to the request to complete the Partner in Balance coach evaluation questionnaire (64%), with only 6 coaches submitting completed questionnaires (and 8 providing details on why they had not yet started coaching). As a result, there is no information on how the nonresponders experienced Partner in Balance, causing a potentially biased sample of responses from coaches who might be more positively disposed toward the intervention. Next, this study was unable to take into account the views of the municipalities that chose not to implement Myinlife or Partner in Balance. While it was not this study's aim to generalize these qualitative findings to all municipalities, it is possible that this study represents a sample of municipalities that have more positive attitudes toward eHealth for dementia and its implementation than other municipalities. Nevertheless, it is still useful to document and learn from these (potentially more engaged) municipalities, as they can provide valuable insight

XSL•FO RenderX

into the feasibility of eHealth for dementia in this context and into municipality needs. Third, the focus of this study was to shed light on the breadth of implementation determinants encountered in bringing evidence-based eHealth interventions for caregivers of people with dementia from research into practice. The aim was to provide a complete overview of the encountered barriers and facilitators using data from a variety of sources. As a result, it must be acknowledged that this study lacks a more elaborate in-depth analysis of the process characteristics of the 8 municipality implementations. Future research will address this topic extensively. Finally, it must be acknowledged that all authors (with the exception of HJT) were involved in the development of Myinlife and Partner in Balance and are therefore potentially not unbiased. However, the authors were also interested in differences between the interventions and were in this sense unbiased. Moreover, it is the authors' belief that this type of implementation research is essential for evidence-based interventions, and researchers should more often conduct longer term implementation research on their own interventions.

Conclusions

This study provided a thorough exploration of the feasibility of the implementation of eHealth interventions to support caregivers of people with dementia in a municipality context. Future implementations can make use of protocols that provide municipalities and organizations with suggestions on how to tackle implementation challenges and realize improvements for the (Partner in Balance) coaches, implementation team, and external implementing organizations. In general, it is important to foster a sense of ownership of the success of the eHealth intervention in the municipality and dementia health care context, as this was seen as a main determinant of success in this implementation project. For Partner in Balance, an important finding was that the self-efficacy of coaches must be increased before they can be expected to help caregivers elevate their levels of self-efficacy regarding dementia caregiving. For Myinlife, it was necessary to involve more face-to-face contacts and integrate the intervention more into other local health services, despite it not being designed as a blended intervention. These insights will be integrated into future implementation protocols that will become a standard part of the Myinlife and Partner in Balance implementation packages for municipalities and organizations.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank SFC coordinators Dr Marja Veenstra, Frank Willems, and Karl-Heinz Grimm for their help in organizing the data collection. In addition, the authors are grateful to Mignon Schichel and Maud Daemen for their contributions to the data collection, as well as all municipality officials and coaches for their participation in the interviews and questionnaires. Thanks also go out to Betawerk and Illionx for their reliable information and communication technology support. The research presented in this paper was completed as part of the Marie Curie Innovative Training Network action (H2020-MSCA-ITN-2015) under grant agreement number 676265. The SFC project was completed within the framework of the Interreg V-A EMR and is supported with €983,167.50 from the European Union and European Fund for Regional Managing Authority Interreg V-A EMR Development. In addition, the project receives financing, and the project partners pay a contribution of their own.

Conflicts of Interest

HLC, LMMB, MEdV, and FRJV were involved in the previous development of Myinlife and Partner in Balance. All other authors have no conflicts to declare.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Partner in Balance coach evaluation questionnaire. [DOCX File , 24 KB - aging v4i1e21629 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Measurement instrument: description and operationalization of determinants. [DOCX File, 21 KB - aging_v4i1e21629_app2.docx]

References

- 1. Alzheimer's Association. 2018 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. Alzheimer's Dementia 2018 Mar 01;14(3):367-429. [doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.02.001]
- Spijker A, Vernooij-Dassen M, Vasse E, Adang E, Wollersheim H, Grol R, et al. Effectiveness of nonpharmacological interventions in delaying the institutionalization of patients with dementia: a meta-analysis. J Am Geriatr Soc 2008 Jun;56(6):1116-1128. [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.01705.x] [Medline: 18410323]
- 3. Dementia cases set to triple by 2050 but still largely ignored. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/</u> mediacentre/news/releases/2012/dementia_20120411/en/ [accessed 2020-12-30]
- 4. Howdon D, Rice N. Health care expenditures, age, proximity to death and morbidity: implications for an ageing population. J Health Econ 2018 Jan;57:60-74. [doi: 10.1016/j.jhealeco.2017.11.001] [Medline: 29182935]

- 5. de Boer A, Oudijk D, van Groenou MB, Timmermans J. Positieve ervaringen door mantelzorg: constructie van een schaal. Tijdschr Gerontol Geriatr 2012 Oct;43(5):243-254. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12439-012-0035-8</u>] [Medline: <u>23203675</u>]
- 6. Schulz R, Martire LM. Family caregiving of persons with dementia: prevalence, health effects, and support strategies. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2004;12(3):240-249 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 15126224]
- 7. Brodaty H, Donkin M. Family caregivers of people with dementia. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2009;11(2):217-228 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 19585957]
- Ma M, Dorstyn D, Ward L, Prentice S. Alzheimer's disease and caregiving: a meta-analytic review comparing the mental health of primary carers to controls. Aging Ment Health 2018 Nov;22(11):1395-1405. [doi: <u>10.1080/13607863.2017.1370689</u>] [Medline: <u>28871796</u>]
- Council conclusions on supporting people living with dementia: improving care policies and practices (No. 15055/15). Council of the European Union. URL: <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/</u> <u>?uri=CELEX:52015XG1216(02)&from=EN</u> [accessed 2020-12-30]
- eHealth Action Plan 2012-2020: innovative healthcare for the 21st century (Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions). European Commission. URL: <u>https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/health/files/ehealth/docs/com_2012_736_en.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-12-30]
- 11. van Rijn M. The delta plan on dementia—shared approaches: integrating dementia in society. Dutch Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport. URL: <u>https://www.government.nl/binaries/government/documents/publications/2015/07/07/</u> the-delta-plan-on-dementia/dementia-nl-parliament-2015-appendix-2.pdf [accessed 2020-12-30]
- 12. Ritterband LM, Andersson G, Christensen HM, Carlbring P, Cuijpers P. Directions for the International Society for Research on Internet Interventions (ISRII). J Med Internet Res 2006;8(3):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.3.e23] [Medline: 17032639]
- 13. Boots LMM, de Vugt ME, van Knippenberg RJM, Kempen GIJM, Verhey FRJ. A systematic review of Internet-based supportive interventions for caregivers of patients with dementia. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2014 Apr;29(4):331-344. [doi: 10.1002/gps.4016] [Medline: 23963684]
- 14. Egan KJ, Pinto-Bruno AC, Bighelli I, Berg-Weger M, van Straten A, Albanese E, et al. Online training and support programs designed to improve mental health and reduce burden among caregivers of people with dementia: a systematic review. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2018 Mar;19(3):200-206. [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2017.10.023] [Medline: 29306605]
- 15. Tyack C, Camic PM. Touchscreen interventions and the well-being of people with dementia and caregivers: a systematic review. Int Psychogeriatr 2017 Aug;29(8):1261-1280. [doi: 10.1017/S1041610217000667] [Medline: 28446258]
- Parra-Vidales E, Soto-Pérez F, Perea-Bartolomé MV, Franco-Martín MA, Muñoz-Sánchez JL. Online interventions for caregivers of people with dementia: a systematic review. Actas Esp Psiquiatr 2017 May;45(3):116-126 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>28594057</u>]
- Christie HL, Bartels SL, Boots LMM, Tange HJ, Verhey FJJ, de Vugt ME. A systematic review on the implementation of eHealth interventions for informal caregivers of people with dementia. Internet Interv 2018 Sep;13:51-59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.07.002] [Medline: 30206519]
- Rabin BA, Brownson RC, Haire-Joshu D, Kreuter MW, Weaver NL. A glossary for dissemination and implementation research in health. J Public Health Manag Pract 2008;14(2):117-123. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.PHH.0000311888.06252.bb</u>] [Medline: <u>18287916</u>]
- Gitlin LN, Marx K, Stanley IH, Hodgson N. Translating evidence-based dementia caregiving interventions into practice: state-of-the-science and next steps. Gerontologist 2015 Apr;55(2):210-226 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnu123] [Medline: 26035597]
- 20. Vernooij-Dassen M, Moniz-Cook E. Raising the standard of applied dementia care research: addressing the implementation error. Aging Ment Health 2014 Sep;18(7):809-814. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2014.899977] [Medline: 24815025]
- 21. Edwards N, Barker PM. The importance of context in implementation research. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2014 Nov 01;67 Suppl 2:S157-S162. [doi: 10.1097/QAI.0000000000222] [Medline: 25310123]
- Goldzweig CL, Towfigh A, Maglione M, Shekelle PG. Costs and benefits of health information technology: new trends from the literature. Health Aff (Millwood) 2009;28(2):w282-w293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.28.2.w282] [Medline: 19174390]
- 23. van Gemert-Pijnen JE, Nijland N, van Limburg M, Ossebaard HC, Kelders SM, Eysenbach G, et al. A holistic framework to improve the uptake and impact of eHealth technologies. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(4):e111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1672] [Medline: 22155738]
- 24. Veenstra M, Van der Zanden B. Building and sustaining a senior-friendly community movement. URL: <u>https://euprevent.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Content-book Building-and-sustaining-a-seniorfriendly-community-movement.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-12-30]
- 25. Christie HL, Schichel MCP, Tange HJ, Veenstra MY, Verhey FRJ, de Vugt ME. Perspectives from municipality officials on the adoption, dissemination, and implementation of electronic health interventions to support caregivers of people with dementia: inductive thematic analysis. JMIR Aging 2020 May 13;3(1):e17255 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17255] [Medline: 32401217]

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21629/
```

- 27. Active ageing: a policy framework. World Health Organization. URL: <u>https://extranet.who.int/agefriendlyworld/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/WHO-Active-Ageing-Framework.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-12-30]
- 28. Schichel M, Veenstra M, Grimm K, Lazarus I, Glaude C. euPrevent Senior Friendly Communities Project Assessment report Euregion Meuse-Rhine (EMR). URL: <u>https://euprevent.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/FINAL-EMR-Report-EN-2018.</u> pdf [accessed 2019-07-05]
- 29. Boots LM, de Vugt ME, Withagen HE, Kempen GI, Verhey FR. Development and initial evaluation of the web-based self-management program. JMIR Res Protoc 2016 Mar 01;5(1):e33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.5142] [Medline: 26932438]
- 30. Boots LM, de Vugt ME, Kempen GI, Verhey FR. Effectiveness of a blended care self-management program for caregivers of people with early-stage dementia (partner in balance): randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 13;20(7):e10017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10017] [Medline: 30006327]
- 31. Alzheimer Nederland. URL: https://www.dementie.nl [accessed 2021-01-03]
- 32. Dam AEH, Christie HL, Smeets CMJ, van Boxtel MPJ, Verhey FRJ, de Vugt ME. Process evaluation of a social support platform 'Inlife' for caregivers of people with dementia. Internet Interv 2019 Mar;15:18-27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2018.09.002] [Medline: 30510911]
- 33. Dam AEH, van Boxtel MPJ, Rozendaal N, Verhey FRJ, de Vugt ME. Development and feasibility of Inlife: a pilot study of an online social support intervention for informal caregivers of people with dementia. PLoS One 2017;12(9):e0183386 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0183386] [Medline: 28886056]
- Boots LM, de Vugt ME, Smeets CM, Kempen GI, Verhey FR. Implementation of the blended care self-management program for caregivers of people with early-stage dementia (partner in balance): process evaluation of a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2017 Dec 19;19(12):e423 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7666] [Medline: 29258980]
- 35. Fleuren M, Paulussen T, Van Dommelen P, Van Buuren S. Measurement instrument for determinants of innovations (MIDI). Leiden: TNO. URL: <u>https://www.tno.nl/media/6077/fleuren_et_al_midi_measurement_instrument.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-12-30]
- Fleuren MAH, Paulussen TGWM, Van Dommelen P, Van Buuren S. Towards a measurement instrument for determinants of innovations. Int J Qual Health Care 2014 Oct;26(5):501-510 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzu060] [Medline: 24951511]
- 37. Evers J. Kwalitatief Interviewen: Kunst én Kunde (Dutch Edition). Amsterdam: Boom Uitgevers; 2019.
- 38. Varsi C, Ekstedt M, Gammon D, Ruland CM. Using the consolidated framework for implementation research to identify barriers and facilitators for the implementation of an internet-based patient-provider communication service in five settings: a qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2015 Nov 18;17(11):e262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5091] [Medline: 26582138]
- 39. Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. Implementation Sci 2009 Aug 07;4(1):50. [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-50]
- 40. Nørgaard B, Ammentorp J, Ohm Kyvik K, Kofoed P. Communication skills training increases self-efficacy of health care professionals. J Contin Educ Health Prof 2012;32(2):90-97. [doi: <u>10.1002/chp.21131</u>] [Medline: <u>22733636</u>]
- Turner KMT, Nicholson JM, Sanders MR. The role of practitioner self-efficacy, training, program and workplace factors on the implementation of an evidence-based parenting intervention in primary care. J Prim Prev 2011 Apr;32(2):95-112. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10935-011-0240-1</u>] [Medline: <u>21451942</u>]
- Bahora M, Hanafi S, Chien VH, Compton MT. Preliminary evidence of effects of crisis intervention team training on self-efficacy and social distance. Adm Policy Ment Health 2008 May;35(3):159-167. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10488-007-0153-8</u>] [Medline: <u>18040771</u>]
- 43. Bandura A, Freeman W, Lightsey R. Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control. London: Springer; 1999.
- 44. Buchmann WF. Adherence: a matter of self-efficacy and power. J Adv Nurs 1997 Jul;26(1):132-137. [doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.1997.1997026132.x] [Medline: 9231287]
- 45. Mackenzie CS, Peragine G. Measuring and enhancing self-efficacy among professional caregivers of individuals with dementia. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2003;18(5):291-299 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/153331750301800507] [Medline: 14569646]
- 46. Preschl B, Wagner B, Forstmeier S, Maercker A. E-health interventions for depression, anxiety disorder, dementia, and other disorders in old age: a review. J CyberTher Rehabil 2011;4:371-386. [doi: 10.5167/uzh-67320]
- 47. Brodie M, Flournoy RE, Altman DE, Blendon RJ, Benson JM, Rosenbaum MD. Health information, the Internet, and the digital divide. Health Aff (Millwood) 2000;19(6):255-265 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11192412</u>]
- 48. Wildenbos GA, Peute L, Jaspers M. Aging barriers influencing mobile health usability for older adults: a literature based framework (MOLD-US). Int J Med Inform 2018 Jun;114:66-75. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.03.012</u>] [Medline: <u>29673606</u>]

- Vancea M, Solé-Casals J. Population aging in the European information societies: towards a comprehensive research agenda in ehealth innovations for elderly. Aging Dis 2016 Aug;7(4):526-539 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14336/AD.2015.1214] [Medline: 27493837]
- 50. Ware P, Bartlett SJ, Paré G, Symeonidis I, Tannenbaum C, Bartlett G, et al. Using eHealth technologies: interests, preferences, and concerns of older adults. Interact J Med Res 2017 Mar 23;6(1):e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/ijmr.4447] [Medline: 28336506]
- 51. Arcury TA, Sandberg JC, Melius KP, Quandt SA, Leng X, Latulipe C, et al. Older adult internet use and eHealth literacy. J Appl Gerontol 2018 Oct 24:733464818807468. [doi: 10.1177/0733464818807468] [Medline: 30353776]
- 52. Lluch M. Healthcare professionals' organisational barriers to health information technologies: a literature review. Int J Med Inform 2011 Dec;80(12):849-862. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2011.09.005] [Medline: 22000677]
- 53. Barakat A, Woolrych RD, Sixsmith A, Kearns WD, Kort HSM. eHealth technology competencies for health professionals working in home care to support older adults to age in place: outcomes of a two-day collaborative workshop. Med 2 0 2013;2(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/med20.2711] [Medline: 25075233]
- 54. van Gemert-Pijnen J, Kelders S, Nijland N, van Velzen L, Wentzel J. Hoe eHealth een katalysator kan zijn voor innovaties in de gezondheidszorg. Bijblijven 2011 Dec 20;27(8):16-23. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12414-011-0066-z</u>]
- 55. Näsström M, Nordström A. Public, personal and municipal perception of eHealth in home care. URL: <u>http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1116952/FULLTEXT01.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-12-30]
- 56. Smaradottir B, Martinez S, Holen-Rabbersvik E, Fensli R. eHealth-extended care coordination: development of a collaborative system for inter-municipal dementia teams: a research project with a user-centered design approach. 2015 Presented at: 2015 International Conference on Computational Science and Computational Intelligence (CSCI); 2015; Las Vegas. [doi: 10.1109/csci.2015.79]
- 57. Askedal K, Flak L, Solli-Sæther H, Straub D. Organizational learning to leverage benefits realization management; evidence from a municipal eHealth effort. In: Janssen M, editor. Electronic Government. EGOV 2017. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 10428. Cham: Springer; 2017.
- Swinkels ICS, Huygens MWJ, Schoenmakers TM, Oude Nijeweme-D'Hollosy W, van Velsen L, Vermeulen J, et al. Lessons learned from a living lab on the broad adoption of eHealth in primary health care. J Med Internet Res 2018 Mar 29;20(3):e83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9110] [Medline: 29599108]
- 59. Kurian R, Menke N, Santokhi S, Tak E. Enabling social inclusion and urban citizenship of older adults through ehealth: the iZi Project in the Hague. Soc Inclusion 2019 Nov 28;7(4):108-118. [doi: 10.17645/si.v7i4.2343]
- 60. Ventuneac A, Li DH, Mongrella MC, Moskowitz DA, Weingardt KR, Brown CH, et al. Exploring potential implementation barriers and facilitators of the SMART Program, a stepped-care package of eHealth HIV prevention interventions for adolescent men who have sex with men. Sex Res Social Policy 2020 Sep;17(3):378-388. [doi: 10.1007/s13178-019-00402-3] [Medline: 32884583]
- 61. Goroll AH, Simon SR, Tripathi M, Ascenzo C, Bates DW. Community-wide implementation of health information technology: the Massachusetts eHealth Collaborative experience. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2009 Feb;16(1):132-139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.M2899] [Medline: 18952937]
- 62. Fanta G, Pretorius L, Erasmus L. An evaluation of eHealth systems implementation frameworks for sustainability in resource constrained environments: a literature review. 2015 Presented at: IAMOT 2015 Conference Proceedings; 2015; Cape Town.
- 63. Wolmarans M, Solomon W, Tanna G, Venter J, Parsons A, Chetty M. eHealth Programme reference implementation in primary health care facilities. South African Health Rev 2014;1:35-43 [FREE Full text]
- 64. Geissbuhler A. Lessons learned implementing a regional health information exchange in Geneva as a pilot for the Swiss national eHealth strategy. Int J Med Inform 2013 May;82(5):e118-e124. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.11.002] [Medline: 23332387]
- 65. Kelders SM, Kok RN, Ossebaard HC, Van Gemert-Pijnen JE. Persuasive system design does matter: a systematic review of adherence to web-based interventions. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(6):e152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2104] [Medline: 23151820]
- 66. Dam AEH, de Vugt ME, van Boxtel MPJ, Verhey FRJ. Effectiveness of an online social support intervention for caregivers of people with dementia: the study protocol of a randomised controlled trial. Trials 2017 Aug 29;18(1):395. [doi: 10.1186/s13063-017-2097-y]
- 67. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2008;337:a1655 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 18824488]

Abbreviations

CFIR: consolidated framework for implementation research **EMR:** Euregion Meuse-Rhine **MIDI:** measurement instrument for determinants of innovation **SFC:** Senior Friendly Communities

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21629/
```

Edited by J Wang; submitted 23.06.20; peer-reviewed by A Lindauer, G Pare, B Hattink; comments to author 10.08.20; revised version received 28.10.20; accepted 09.11.20; published 05.02.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Christie HL, Boots LMM, Tange HJ, Verhey FRJ, de Vugt ME Implementations of Evidence-Based eHealth Interventions for Caregivers of People With Dementia in Municipality Contexts (Myinlife and Partner in Balance): Evaluation Study JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e21629 URL: http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21629/ doi:10.2196/21629 PMID:33544085

©Hannah Liane Christie, Lizzy Mitzy Maria Boots, Huibert Johannes Tange, Frans Rochus Josef Verhey, Marjolein Elizabeth de Vugt. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 05.02.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Family Caregiver Needs and Preferences for Virtual Training to Manage Behavioral and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia: Interview Study

Magaly Ramirez^{1,2}, PhD; Miriana C Duran¹, MPH, MD; Chester J Pabiniak², MS; Kelly E Hansen², BS; Ann Kelley², MHA; James D Ralston^{1,2}, MPH, MD; Susan M McCurry³, PhD; Linda Teri⁴, PhD; Robert B Penfold^{1,2}, PhD

²Kaiser Permanente Washington Health Research Institute, Seattle, WA, United States

⁴University of Washington School of Nursing, Seattle, WA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Magaly Ramirez, PhD Department of Health Services University of Washington School of Public Health Hans Rosling Center 3980 15th Ave NE Seattle, WA, 98195 United States Phone: 1 5096436227 Email: maggiera@uw.edu

Abstract

Background: Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia (BPSD) are associated with increased stress, burden, and depression among family caregivers of people with dementia. STAR-Caregivers Virtual Training and Follow-up (STAR-VTF) is adapted from an evidence-based, in-person program that trains family caregivers to manage BPSD. We used a human-centered design approach to obtain feedback from family caregivers about STAR-VTF. The program will be evaluated using a pragmatic randomized trial.

Objective: The objective of the study was to understand the needs of family caregivers for improving BPSD management and the extent to which caregivers perceived that STAR-VTF could address those needs.

Methods: Between July and September 2019, we conducted 15 semistructured interviews with family caregivers of people with dementia who receive care at Kaiser Permanente Washington in the Seattle metropolitan area. We identified participants from electronic health records, primarily based on a prescription for antipsychotic medication for the person with dementia (a proxy for caregivers dealing with BPSD). We showed caregivers low-fidelity prototypes of STAR-VTF online self-directed materials and verbally described potential design elements. We obtained caregiver feedback on these elements, focusing on their needs and preferences and perceived barriers to using STAR-VTF. We used a hybrid approach of inductive and deductive coding and aggregated codes to develop themes.

Results: The idea of a virtual training program for learning to manage BPSD appealed to caregivers. They said health care providers did not provide adequate education in the early disease stages about the personality and behavior symptoms that can affect people with dementia. Caregivers found it unexpected and frustrating when the person with dementia began experiencing BPSD, symptoms they felt unprepared to manage. Accordingly, caregivers expressed a strong desire for the health care organization to offer programs such as STAR-VTF much sooner. Caregivers had already put considerable effort into problem solving challenging behaviors. They anticipated deriving less value from STAR-VTF at that point. Nonetheless, many were interested in the virtual aspect of the training due to the convenience of receiving help from home and the perception that help from a virtual program would be timelier than traditional service modalities (eg, face to face). Given caregivers' limited time, they suggested dividing the STAR-VTF content into chunks to review as time permitted. Caregivers were interested in having a STAR-VTF provider for additional support in managing challenging behaviors. Caregivers reported a preference for having the same coach for the program duration.

¹Department of Health Services, University of Washington School of Public Health, Seattle, WA, United States

³Child, Family, and Population Health Nursing, University of Washington School of Nursing, Seattle, WA, United States

Conclusions: Caregivers we interviewed would likely accept a virtual training program such as STAR-VTF to obtain information about BPSD and receive help managing it. Family caregivers anticipated deriving more value if STAR-VTF was offered earlier in the disease course.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e24965) doi:10.2196/24965

KEYWORDS

dementia; Alzheimer disease; behavioral symptoms; caregivers; internet-based intervention; education; behavior; symptom; psychology; qualitative; caregiver; intervention; training; virtual care; digital health

Introduction

Alzheimer disease and related dementias (ADRD) are irreversible, progressive brain disorders that eventually affect a person's ability to perform basic activities, including bathing, feeding, and dressing. ADRD is the fifth leading cause of death among people 65 years and older in the United States [1]. The US prevalence of ADRD is projected to nearly triple from 5 million in 2014 to 13.9 million in 2060 [2]. People with dementia require high levels of care, most of which is provided by informal caregivers such as spouses and adult children. Up to 90% of people with dementia will experience behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia (BPSD) over the course of their illness [3]. BPSD that can be particularly challenging to family caregivers include agitation, anxiety, irritability, depression, delusions, hallucinations, and sleep changes. BPSD are associated with increased stress, burden, and depression among family caregivers of people with dementia [4,5].

STAR-Caregivers (STAR-C) is a nonpharmacological intervention endorsed by the US Department of Health and Human Services Administration on Aging in which a coach trains family caregivers over multiple face-to-face sessions on how to manage BPSD. STAR-C is demonstrated to reduce caregiver burden, caregiver depression, and the frequency and severity of BPSD [6]. The STAR-C training is 6 sessions, covering topics such as expectations about ADRD, communication with a person with ADRD, strategies for dealing with BPSD, and coping with caregiving, including pleasant activities for caregivers and patients. In its original form, coaches conduct in-person weekly sessions with caregivers in their homes with follow-up telephone calls. Despite evidence to support its efficacy, STAR-C has not been widely disseminated across health care and community settings, in part due to the cost of providing in-person training and using printed materials [7-9].

To address these implementation barriers, a Kaiser Permanente Washington Health Research Institute pragmatic trial is testing the feasibility of STAR-C Virtual Training and Follow-up (STAR-VTF) (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT04271046) [10], which will deliver the training to family caregivers virtually. Caregivers will complete online training modules asynchronously, have 30-minute weekly telephone check-ins with a coach (social worker or mental health counselor) at Kaiser Permanente Washington (KPWA), and have ongoing support from the coach via secure email messages within the KPWA member portal. Caregivers will access the online training modules via a website hosted on the Kaiser Permanente School of Allied Health Sciences extended learning management system. Caregivers

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24965/
```

will log in to the website from their preferred web browser using their email address and a user-generated password. While caregivers will not enter personal health information or other identifiable information, the website will automatically collect their IP addresses. The KPWA technology risk review team declared caregivers' use of the website as minimal risk. Only caregivers living in Washington State that meet eligibility for the pragmatic trial will have access to the website.

While considerable evidence supports the efficacy of STAR-C, and implementation challenges from a health care system perspective could be addressed by changing the modality of program delivery from in person to virtual, family caregivers' views on participating in a virtual training program are needed. A framework for using human-centered design to improve the implementation of evidence-based interventions recommends that early phases of the design process focus on gathering information to understand the viewpoints of all stakeholders [11]. This information is then used to iteratively design, build, and test solutions that directly address the needs and preferences of all stakeholders, particularly end users such as family caregivers in STAR-VTF. Human-centered design is widely considered the key to designing tools that end users will find useful and easy to use, factors that are associated with acceptance and actual use of tools [12].

Early in STAR-VTF development, when the original in-person training was being adapted for virtual delivery, our research team used a human-centered design approach to obtain feedback from family caregivers on the idea of a virtual training program. The objective was to understand the needs of family caregivers for improving BPSD management and the extent to which they perceived that a program such as STAR-VTF could address their needs. To achieve this, we conducted and analyzed 15 semistructured interviews with family caregivers of people with ADRD who receive care at KPWA in the Seattle metropolitan area. The COVID-19 pandemic has shed light on the urgent need to design and evaluate digital health strategies that offer support virtually [13], especially for families caring for vulnerable older adults. Effective digital health strategies to support family caregivers are critically needed during the pandemic and will remain important in the post-COVID-19 era.

Methods

We conducted semistructured interviews with family caregivers of people with ADRD. The institutional review boards at Kaiser Permanente Washington Health Research Institute and the

University of Washington approved the study. Study participants provided written informed consent.

Recruitment

To identify potential study participants, we extracted data from the KPWA electronic health record (EHR) and administrative claims system to identify patients aged 65 years or older with an ADRD diagnosis and a new prescription for an antipsychotic medication within the past 2 years. A prescription for an antipsychotic medication was a proxy for identifying caregivers who may have struggled with managing BPSD. We excluded patients with an International Classification of Diseases Ninth Revision-Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) or ICD-10-CM diagnosis of bipolar disorder or schizophreniform disorder and those in assisted living or skilled nursing facilities. For patients meeting our criteria, we mailed a packet to their caregiver with a cover letter describing the goals of the study and a consent form. One week after the mailing, a study staff member phoned caregivers to invite study participation. The staff member attempted up to three calls with up to two voicemail messages. Caregivers interested in participating were screened for eligibility during the phone call. Caregivers were eligible if they were 21 years or older; were an adult child, spouse or partner, or close friend of the patient; lived with the patient (or within 5 miles); provided at least 8 hours of care per week; and lived in King, Snohomish, or Pierce counties, Washington. We excluded caregivers with a diagnosis of ADRD. For eligible, interested caregivers, the staff member scheduled a date, time, and location to conduct the interview.

Data Collection

We conducted all interviews in person between July and September 2019. Interviews took place at a convenient location for caregivers, such as homes or KPWA facilities. Using a semistructured interview guide, we asked caregivers what challenging BPSD the patient experienced, how caregivers typically responded to BPSD, and how BPSD affected caregivers. Next, we used 2 storyboards to illustrate the potential experience of a caregiver using STAR-VTF to learn how to improve management of BPSD (Multimedia Appendix 1). The first storyboard depicted a caregiver struggling with behavioral symptoms in the person with dementia and learning about STAR-VTF through a health care provider. The second storyboard depicted a caregiver choosing which behavioral symptom to focus on, using STAR-VTF to learn strategies for responding to the symptom, and speaking on the phone with a coach for additional support. We asked caregivers questions to gauge their initial reactions to the idea of STAR-VTF and their interest in using the virtual program. Finally, we showed caregivers low-fidelity prototypes of the STAR-VTF online self-directed materials and verbally described potential design elements, including information content, visual and auditory presentation of information, and user interaction (Multimedia Appendix 2). We asked caregivers questions to obtain feedback

on these design elements, elicit needs and preferences, and understand perceived barriers to using STAR-VTF.

We surveyed caregivers for sociodemographic and caregiving characteristics. Caregivers received US \$100 for participating. All interviews were audiorecorded and transcribed verbatim by a professional transcription company. The transcripts were proofread by the interviewer. Interviews were 40 to 60 minutes.

Data Analysis

We used Dedoose version 8.1.8 (University of California, Los Angeles) to manage the coding process. The first author (MR) read all interview transcripts and developed an initial codebook containing deductive codes about the extent to which caregivers perceived STAR-VTF to align with their informational, educational, psychosocial, and accessibility needs. Two members of the research team independently coded interview transcripts using the deductive codes in the initial codebook. They applied additional inductive codes based on the content of responses that were not covered by the original deductive codes. For all 15 transcripts, after coding each transcript, we reviewed the coding as a group. During these meetings, we reconciled coding disagreements through group discussion and transcript review. We revised and expanded the initial codebook throughout the coding process. After completing coding, members of the research team met regularly to discuss the coded excerpts; identify themes representing caregivers' informational, educational, psychosocial, and accessibility needs; and identify exemplary quotes to represent each theme.

Results

Characteristics of Study Participants

From the EHR and claims data, we identified 54 potential study participants (ie, caregivers of patients who met the patient eligibility criteria) and mailed packets to them. Among these, 12 caregivers could not be reached by telephone, 17 were ineligible, and 8 declined participation. We scheduled interviews with the remaining 17 who were eligible and interested in participating. We were unable to conduct 1 interview because the patient with ADRD died before the scheduled interview. We were unable to conduct 1 second interview because the caregiver was not aware that the patient had an ADRD diagnosis, and the research team determined it would be difficult to have a meaningful conversation about the caregiver's experience caring for a person with ADRD. Therefore, we completed interviews with 15 caregivers (Table 1).

In the following sections, we present the informational, educational, psychosocial, and accessibility needs that family caregivers perceived would prompt their use of a program such as STAR-VTF. In addition, we present characteristics of STAR-VTF that caregivers perceived would address their needs (Table 2).



 Table 1. Characteristics of family caregivers and description of the caregiving situation (N=15).

Characteristic	Family caregivers	
Age (years), mean (SD)	72 (10)	
Female, n (%)	10 (67)	
Race, n (%)		
White	13 (87)	
American Indian or Alaska Native	1 (7)	
Asian	1 (7)	
Hispanic or Latino ethnicity, n (%)	0 (0)	
Education, n (%)		
Post-high school training other than college (vocational or technical)	2 (13)	
Some college	4 (27)	
College graduate	8 (53)	
Postgraduate	1 (7)	
Occupational status, n (%)		
Employed	3 (20)	
Unemployed	1 (7)	
Student	1 (7)	
Retired	10 (67)	
Income (US \$), n (%)		
\$20,000 to \$34,999	1 (7)	
\$35,000 to \$49,999	1 (7)	
\$50,000 to \$74,999	4 (27)	
\$75,000 to \$99,999	5 (30)	
\$100,000 to \$199,999	1 (7)	
\$200,000 or more	1 (7)	
Prefer not to answer	2 (13)	
Member of Kaiser Permanente Washington, n (%)	9 (60)	
Relationship to person with dementia, n (%)		
Spouse or partner	10 (67)	
Child	2 (13)	
Other family member	2 (13)	
Friend	1 (7)	
Lives with person with dementia, n (%)	15 (100)	
Duration in caregiving role (years), mean (SD) 5 (5)		
Caregiving hours per week, n (%)		
15 to 20	2 (13)	
21 to 24	1 (7)	
35 or more	12 (80)	

Family caregiver perceived needs	STAR-VTF ^a characteristics to address needs	
Information and education		
What BPSD ^b to expect	Providing education earlier in disease stage (prior to symptoms) about what BPSD a person with dementia could experience	
Tailored help on how to manage BPSD	Offering examples of problem-solving strategies that could work for the particular BPSD caregiver is dealing with	
Psychosocial support		
Encouragement	Incorporating words of encouragement throughout training as caregiver learns to manage BPSD	
Coping with BPSD	Teaching caregivers strategies for managing their own frustrations with BPSD	
Supportive services	Connecting caregivers with vetted respite care and other supportive services, including caregiver support groups	
Accessibility		
Timing of program	Offering STAR-VTF to caregivers earlier in their roles as caregivers	
Modality of program delivery	Making STAR-VTF virtually accessible to provide convenient and timely help	
Time required to participate	Breaking up content into small chunks that caregivers could review as time and space permits	
Access to a designated provider	Having the same coach assigned to caregivers throughout duration of program	

^aSTAR-VTF: STAR-Caregivers Virtual Training and Follow-up.

^bBPSD: Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia.

Information and Education Needs

The idea of the health care organization offering a virtual training program for caregivers to learn to manage BPSD was largely appealing to caregivers. They discussed the importance of learning early what BPSD they could expect in the person with dementia as the disease progressed and receiving tailored help on how to manage BPSD.

Learning Early What BPSD to Expect

When the person with dementia was diagnosed, caregivers were only vaguely aware of BPSD that some people with dementia experience. One caregiver expressed this scenario as "going in blind." As the disease progressed, caregivers were startled to observe symptoms they did not anticipate, such as the person with dementia crying excessively. According to caregivers, health care providers did not provide sufficient warning of the personality and behavioral changes they might observe in the person with dementia. These changes became a source of deep frustration for caregivers, as they neither expected nor felt prepared to manage them. In response to the idea of STAR-VTF, one caregiver explained why it would be valuable to incorporate education earlier in the disease stage (prior to symptoms) about what BPSD a person with dementia could experience:

I can see where caregivers will just fall apart with some of these behaviors if you don't know what's coming. And it's not that I have anything against the doctors. They don't have time. Maybe they don't even know, but they don't have time to really prepare you for what you're taking on. But that's what caregivers need to be told from the beginning. Are you going to be caring for your husband or, you know, your parent? Here's a program to help you, to help you

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24965/
```

RenderX

strategize through these difficult behaviors that might lie ahead for you. I think that really appeals to me and needs to be said in the very beginning, not when you're extremely desperate.

Caregivers also explained that knowing BPSD could occur and worsen as the disease progressed would help them to plan medical procedures (eg, elective surgery) before it became too challenging for the person with dementia to comply. In addition, it would help caregivers plan home modifications to ensure a safe environment for the person with dementia.

Receiving Tailored Help on How to Manage BPSD

After viewing prototypes of STAR-VTF, caregivers recognized the usefulness of learning problem-solving strategies that they could then apply to any challenging symptom. However, caregivers stressed their need to also receive tailored advice for problem-solving specific BPSD. For example, one caregiver suggested adding a search feature to STAR-VTF to find targeted advice on how to solve particular symptoms:

Right now, it's very general, okay? So, this is how you—this is what process you go through to solve issues. And the better you get at that process, the better you are at solving the issues, right? That come up in your day-to-day lives. But if you have a specific issue that is kind of quirky or way off in right field...Is there a backup situation where you can look something up? So that could be added on to this program. Once they [caregivers] go through the basic training.

A factor driving the suggestion to include tailored advice within STAR-VTF was caregivers' desire to quickly address a challenging symptom. Some caregivers described feeling

"desperate" when the person with dementia was experiencing BPSD. While caregivers recognized the value of going through the trial-and-error, problem-solving process that STAR-VTF teaches, they also perceived the amount of time required to go through this process as a limitation:

It's not something that, okay, we can spend the next week and a half going over this and trying...It's something—you need something, like, within an hour type of deal...that's what I found more often when we had serious concerns or questions, you know, I would go online and search other people having the same exact circumstances and how did they handle it and what worked and what didn't work.

In those difficult moments, caregivers desired to know specific strategies to try immediately to improve the situation. Thus, according to caregivers, STAR-VTF could be improved by incorporating a combination of teaching general problem solving and offering examples of strategies that could work for particular BPSD as they arise.

Psychosocial Support Needs

Caregivers discussed their psychosocial needs and how they envisioned STAR-VTF to support them. In particular, caregivers described a need to receive encouragement, learn how to cope with BPSD, and connect with supportive services.

Encouragement When Learning to Manage BPSD

Through educational materials, family members and friends, other family caregivers of people with dementia, and their own experience, some caregivers had identified successful strategies for managing particular BPSD. For example, at the suggestion of her daughter, one caregiver used a whiteboard to write answers to questions the person with dementia asked repeatedly so that the caregiver could point to the whiteboard instead of having to constantly repeat herself. Nonetheless, the process of identifying successful strategies was hard. They were discouraged when strategies that worked for other caregivers in managing a particular symptom did not work for them. They were also discouraged when strategies that had worked for them in the past were no longer effective. Consequently, caregivers underscored the importance of STAR-VTF offering encouragement during the process of learning to manage challenging symptoms:

Caregivers carry around a lot of guilt because they want to be perfect. We love our mates. We love whoever we're caring for. We want to do it right. What worked last week doesn't necessarily work this week. So, if a solution that worked last week doesn't work, then persevere. I would say that. Persevere for another solution... Caregivers need to be assured that no one solution is going to be perfect for everyone. But to persevere, because there is something out there that will work.

Assuring caregivers that what worked for one isn't necessarily going to work for another. Because as a caregiver, you so often have people say to you, "oh, yeah, well, so-and-so did this and had no problem"...So, I guess caregivers need to be assured

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24965/
```

that if something doesn't work, it doesn't mean that they are a failure; it just means try—here are some other things to do.

Caregivers expressed differences in opinion on how this type of encouragement could be embedded within STAR-VTF. Some suggested the STAR-VTF self-guided modules could display words of encouragement throughout the training and tailor these messages based on caregivers' responses to interactive exercises. Others felt that only a human could express this empathy. One caregiver stated:

It's that personal relationship of somebody understanding where you are and, you know, patting you on the shoulder and saying that must be really tough. And I don't know how you convey that the same way on a website.

Coping With BPSD

Symptoms of people with dementia that caregivers described as particularly challenging were insomnia, asking repetitive questions, and having trouble getting to the toilet. Caregivers described their frustration with not understanding why the BPSD were happening and how they could handle them. When asked how they envisioned STAR-VTF would provide support, a theme that resonated with many caregivers was teaching strategies for managing their own frustrations with BPSD. One caregiver suggested that STAR-VTF put more emphasis on reducing the caregiver's frustration rather than reducing the challenging symptom in the person with dementia:

So, you said something about helping reduce the challenging behaviors? If you phrase it like that, it makes it sound like that's something that can be fixed. And maybe then what happens if it doesn't change? I just, you know, maybe the emphasis could be on how you deal with the challenges in a way that's less frustrating for both you and the patient as opposed to reducing the challenging behavior.

According to caregivers, health care providers treating the person with dementia did not offer support to help caregivers cope with the frustration of BPSD. Caregivers wanted health care providers to acknowledge their challenging situation and direct them to supportive services. One caregiver said that for 4 months, a neurologist was trying different medications to treat her husband's insomnia and other behavior symptoms. Of this time, she stated:

Those are four months where I needed someone, and I didn't have anybody to talk to. And I think if caregivers, for instance, were told by their doctors—and we are part of Kaiser—it would be wonderful to have them say there's help for you. I needed someone to tell me this is a very challenging job. And it's not that I wasn't aware. Because I have a brother who took care of his wife with Alzheimer's, and, you know, I knew all that, but I needed a doctor to tell me this is really difficult. There's help for you. And there's this program [STAR-VTF]

What motivated caregivers to improve their own mental health and well-being was a perception that if they felt better

Ramirez et al

emotionally, they would be better able to provide care to the person with dementia. As one caregiver put it:

My goal is to keep her here at home as best I can. And if I break down, then you've got two to take care of.

Supportive Services

Throughout the different stages of dementia, caregivers reported taking it upon themselves to seek education and supportive services. In the early stages, caregivers described a desire to gain a better understanding of dementia and its progression. One caregiver described how invaluable it had been for her to read books and academic articles on the topic. After viewing prototypes of STAR-VTF, the caregiver suggested adding more content that explained what dementia is and providing additional reading materials:

I thought that there ought to be definitions and some sort of information on what dementia is and Alzheimer's is, the differences. Not a great deal of difference, but just a—that sort of thing for me would be important. Books to read, you know.

In the middle and later stages of the disease, caregivers described a need to learn what respite services were available to provide short-term breaks from caregiving. Caregivers expressed an interest in both in-home services and adult day care programs. However, according to caregivers, finding trustworthy service providers was difficult. Some caregivers talked about negative experiences with service providers they had identified online. Caregivers strongly desired for the health care organization to vet respite care programs and guide caregivers on how to choose a program that was right for their unique situation. One caregiver suggested that the role of the STAR-VTF coach include connecting caregivers with respite care and other supportive services:

I know one of my things coming up is that I'm going to need to have in-home assistance, and it's for short term—maybe it's just a daycare that I need to take him to but where are they, who they are, if we could have resources that we could look at. Thinking this will meet this need, this will meet that need, and at least give you someone [in STAR-VTF] to access and say, "Hi, I'm so-and-so and this is my situation. Can you help me?"

Throughout their caregiving journey, caregivers described a desire to learn about and join a caregiver support group. Caregivers who had joined a support group stated that it was helpful to share their stories with other caregivers and get advice on various aspects of caregiving. They were interested in the health care organization helping caregivers to connect with support groups for family caregivers of people with dementia. For example, one caregiver described an online support group she participated in regularly and suggested that STAR-VTF inform caregivers about it:

I've been in touch with an online group...that is designed for people who are dealing with caregiving of those with Alzheimer's. And they allow you to post any kind of question you have, any kind of

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24965/

circumstance you found yourself in, and see what kind of feedback others can give you. And it's really an excellent resource...Sharing information of what they have experienced and how they dealt with it to give you ideas...And so, with your program [STAR-VTF], I don't know if you have a place where you're going to link to other possible resources. This [online caregiver support group] would be a strong resource to link to.

The internet was a major source of information for most caregivers. However, they often found the amount of information online to be overwhelming. Furthermore, despite the vast amount of information online from different types of sources, caregivers desired a single source ("one-stop shop") of comprehensive and high-quality information. To that end, caregivers envisioned that STAR-VTF would consolidate educational materials and information on the availability of supportive services. Caregivers could then rely on and turn regularly to STAR-VTF as a major source of information, knowing that it came from the health care organization, which caregivers unanimously perceived as trustworthy.

Accessibility Needs

Caregivers discussed needs related to the accessibility of STAR-VTF, including the timing of offering the program to caregivers, modality of program delivery, time required to participate, and inclusion of a designated provider.

Timing of Program

When asked whether they could envision using STAR-VTF, caregivers answered affirmatively but expressed a desire for the program to be offered earlier in their role as caregivers for multiple reasons. As described above, caregivers suggested providing information about BPSD before the person with dementia begins experiencing symptoms and before caregivers begin trying their own strategies for challenging symptoms. These caregivers perceived that STAR-VTF would have been more useful to them when symptoms first began appearing:

This [STAR-VTF] would be key to get into people's hands at the earliest possible time. Because beyond that, then somebody—I mean, like we've already—we learned by trial and error how to do exactly what you're saying to do in this program.

Having this [STAR-VTF] as something to help you adjust early on and not have to learn on your own is definitely a plus...because we have already kind of figured out some plans and realized certain things. And our own private research got us to where we are, you know. And, of course, I mean, obviously, we talked to docs a few times, but we were already on a pathway of controlling behaviors, in other words. When she got into stage 3, we had a pretty good handle on things by then—but this [STAR-VTF] would have definitely helped when we first got her five years ago.

Another reason why caregivers suggested that STAR-VTF be offered earlier is so the STAR-VTF coach could be with them from the start. According to caregivers, the ideal scenario would

be for the coach to get to know each caregiver and their caregiving situation over time. Caregivers could then trust the coach's advice, knowing that it was informed by an in-depth understanding of their unique situation. One caregiver indicated that she would be reluctant to trust a coach whom she had met only in the later stages of her husband's disease:

If I'm really going to put my trust in this program, I would probably have to start at the beginning. I don't think if I jumped in in the middle or towards the end, I would feel like, well, they [the coach] didn't know about this earlier on, and so maybe the information they're giving me now isn't considering what happened. But I think if you probably started right from the start, like he was diagnosed today and so you said go onto this online program and we could help you, I think you could grow with the program and I think develop a pretty good trust.

Thus, while the reasons that drove preferences for the timing of the program differed among caregivers, the consensus was that STAR-VTF would be a valuable support if it were offered early in their caregiving experience.

Modality of Program Delivery

The virtual aspect of STAR-VTF was appealing to the majority of caregivers, including those who did not consider themselves to be technologically savvy. The latter group underscored their need for a user-friendly design, particularly so they could easily locate and navigate the STAR-VTF website, recover from errors, adjust the text size, and receive technical assistance. Caregivers perceived that participating in a virtual program from home would be more convenient than a program requiring in-person attendance at a health care facility. According to caregivers, the latter would necessitate finding someone to care for the person with dementia or having the person with dementia accompany them to the in-person visit. For some caregivers, neither of these options would be practical. Hiring professional care would be costly and taking the person with dementia to a health care facility would be challenging. For one caregiver, virtual participation was the most attractive aspect of STAR-VTF, given the difficulty of getting her mother to accompany her on an in-person visit:

That's one of the problems we have is it's almost impossible to get her out of the house, you know, she gets so upset, you know, going to the doctor...So, I can see—that's where I would see the most important part about it [STAR-VTF] being online is you can get that help at home.

There was also a perception among caregivers that a virtual program would result in more timely help compared with the delays they sometimes experienced when seeking help from the health care team through traditional modalities. As one caregiver described, as long as a device was available to access the STAR-VTF website, caregivers would have help at their fingertips. She went on to say:

You wouldn't have to call a doctor to get answers...It's there when you're having those feelings and they're very frustrating feelings and you don't

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24965/
```

know what to do...If you're at the end of your rope and you don't have an answer, you can immediately sit down at your computer or your tablet or with your phone and get in there and it's like, I'm frustrated. Let's see why. Yeah, that's the behavior that he's doing. It affects me this way. Let's figure out what we can do about it. It's having this—it's right there. It's here at the house. It's not, you know, something that I have to make—I spend so much time on the phone waiting...over 35 minutes on the phone waiting to speak to the neurologist's nurse the other day.

Caregivers hoped that STAR-VTF would enable them to access help the moment they experienced a need instead of having to wait to speak to a member of the health care team on the phone or in person. (Some caregivers reported a 2- to 3-month wait time for a clinic visit with a specialist.) All caregivers owned at least one device (eg, smartphone, tablet, laptop, desktop computer) they could use to participate in a virtual training program.

Time Required to Participate

Even with a virtual program, caregivers were concerned about the limited amount of time and space they had to devote to STAR-VTF. The vast majority of study participants provided care to the person with dementia for 35 hours or more per week (Table 1). Caregivers said the person with dementia would likely make it difficult for them to concentrate for long stretches of time on the STAR-VTF training materials. When asked to elaborate, caregivers used expressions such as "needy," "constantly interrupts me about things," and "requires a lot of attention" to describe the person with dementia. One caregiver explained what she would need to be able to fully engage with the STAR-VTF online content:

I would need privacy and to be away. I couldn't be in the same room with my husband [with dementia] who was giving me grief or being demanding or unpleasant or whatever. So, I think for me to use the program, I would have to be in a place where I could presume I have some privacy and some time, and it requires the concentration to be able to focus on it and not being distracted by other things, I think.

To facilitate their use of STAR-VTF under these circumstances, caregivers suggested that the online content be broken up into small chunks that they could review as time and space permitted. Caregivers also suggested having the ability to pause a module, if needed, and then be able to pick up where they left off when they returned to it later.

Having Access to a Designated Provider

Of the aspects of STAR-VTF that we described using prototypes, of notable interest to caregivers was the availability of a coach to provide support beyond the self-directed online materials. Caregivers described an unmet need to have access to a designated health care professional they could turn to for help when they were experiencing difficulties with BPSD. According to caregivers, people with dementia receive care from multiple health care providers within the same practice area, depending on appointment availability. For example, one

XSL•FO RenderX

caregiver described how his wife with dementia had recently visited 3 different primary care providers, all at different health care facilities. While these providers were, "real nice, really good, and really helpful," the caregiver desired a single provider who had direct knowledge of their clinical and caregiving situation instead of a provider who "doesn't have any idea except what they see in the medical record." Thus, if caregivers were to participate in STAR-VTF, it mattered considerably that the same coach be assigned to them throughout the duration of the program. Caregivers described being in extremely stressful situations that sometimes resulted in them losing their temper, becoming angry, and yelling at the person with dementia. These would be the types of situations caregivers would want to share with the STAR-VTF coach, simply to vent but also to receive help.

However, caregivers need to trust the coach to feel comfortable sharing openly and honestly about the caregiving situation. Caregivers explained that trust would develop only with time and repeated interactions with the same person. In response to a question about whether caregivers would be willing to share with the coach their responses to interactive exercises within the self-directed online materials, one answered yes but only if it were consistently the same coach with whom they had a trusting relationship:

Yes. Here we're talking about a coach that I've been working with on and on and on because I'm working on the program, right? So, I have developed trust with the coach. So, yes, I would talk to her about that. But, I would be a little hesitant if the coach was brand new, I didn't know her, I didn't have any experience with her, and then maybe one week this one comes, but next week she can't come so a substitute comes and, I mean, I know they're both qualified, but you don't know the second person and you don't know whether the trust is there as much as with the first person.

In addition to having access to a designated STAR-VTF coach, caregivers discussed a desire for this person to have extensive practice experience working with people with dementia and their family caregivers. This qualification would help caregivers trust the information provided by the coach.

Discussion

Principal Findings

We found that family caregivers of people with dementia were interested in the idea of a virtual training program for learning to manage BPSD. Caregivers in our study reported that health care providers did not provide adequate education in the early stages of the disease about the types of personality and behavioral symptoms that can affect people with dementia. When the person with dementia began experiencing BPSD, it was unexpected and frustrating for caregivers, since they felt unprepared to manage the symptoms. For this reason, caregivers expressed a strong desire for the health care organization to offer programs such as STAR-VTF much sooner. When we interviewed them, many caregivers were reflecting on their extensive experience with BPSD, leading them to recommend STAR-VTF for those with less experience.

Furthermore, the virtual aspect of the training program appealed to nearly all caregivers in our study. Caregivers were interested in virtual training because of the convenience of receiving help from home and a perception that a virtual program would result in more timely help compared with traditional service modalities (eg, face-to-face visits, calling consulting nurse service). Given caregivers' limited time and privacy for reviewing the STAR-VTF training materials, they suggested breaking up the content into small chunks that they could review as time and space permitted. Finally, caregivers desired continuity by having the same STAR-VTF coach assigned to them throughout the program duration. Collectively, our findings provide a better understanding of the type of support that caregivers need to manage BPSD. Our results indicate that caregivers perceived that features of STAR-VTF could address their needs.

Based on our findings, which were collected during the intervention design process, we improved STAR-VTF for testing in our pragmatic randomized trial [10]. We incorporated a feature in the STAR-VTF modules that enables caregivers to pause the training and continue later from that point. Multiple members of the research team iteratively reviewed the modules in a testing environment and identified usability issues to address prior to trial recruitment. During the trial, we will collect and monitor structured responses from caregivers after their completion of each module to assess perceived usability and usefulness. Furthermore, we gave each STAR-VTF coach a designated panel of caregivers to promote continuity of support. STAR-VTF coaches were trained on the importance of expressing empathy and offering encouragement during difficult times, helping caregivers to problem solve specific behavioral symptoms, referring caregivers to KPWA community resource specialists to help them find supportive services (eg, respite care), and helping caregivers learn how to use their electronic devices to access the STAR-VTF training materials. We were unable to address caregivers' preference to offer STAR-VTF earlier. Since caregiver outcomes are not tracked within the EHR, we currently have no pragmatic alternatives to using a prescription for an antipsychotic medication as a signal for when a caregiver needs help managing behavioral symptoms and could benefit from participating in STAR-VTF. New research is needed on earlier identification of caregivers who are experiencing problem behaviors in people with ADRD.

Comparison With Previous Work

While family caregivers may not provide much assistance to people with dementia in the early stages of disease, Whitlatch and Orsulic-Jeras [14] argue that this is a critical time for family caregivers to obtain information and education about the disease, symptoms, and progression. In our study, caregivers believed they would have benefited from education about BPSD much earlier. This finding is consistent with research by Boots et al [15], which reported that retrospectively, family caregivers of patients with late-stage disease did not believe they had sufficient knowledge in the early stages about the manifestations of dementia. Furthermore, while health care providers are an important and trusted source of information for family caregivers

of people with dementia [16], our participants reported that they did not provide sufficient information about the personality and behavior changes that people with dementia can experience. Complementary to our findings, Peterson et al [17] reported that the perception among caregivers was that health care providers offer little to no useful information about dementia and caregiving. In surveys, caregivers also report that their need for information on what to expect as dementia progresses is not met by health care providers [18,19].

STAR-VTF could be offered earlier, before the person with dementia begins experiencing changes in their behavior, as caregivers in our study suggested. For example, caregivers could about activators-behaviors-consequences learn the problem-solving strategy in advance before they need to apply it. Wald et al [20] observed that family caregivers of people with dementia requested that information about a variety of topics (including BPSD and its management) be provided at the time of diagnosis rather than when the need arose. However, in a study examining the acceptability of structured discussions about future care during the early stages of dementia, Orsulic-Jeras et al [21] found that dyads of a family caregiver and person with dementia perceived one of the major drawbacks of the program was discussing topics that did not apply to their current situation. For example, study participants stated that they did not currently have "those conditions" and were not currently experiencing problems. Thus, a compromise for STAR-VTF timing could be to first offer caregivers program components that are most relevant in the early stages of the disease (eg, realistic expectations about dementia and possible BPSD) and reserve components that are narrowly focused on problem solving for later stages when the person with dementia begins experiencing BPSD. How health care organizations can identify the optimal point at which caregiver needs for BPSD management begin to arise and thus offer the problem-solving components of STAR-VTF is a critical topic requiring future research. An important consideration is not offering the program too early, when caregivers deem the training irrelevant, but not waiting until the situation has escalated to the point of requiring antipsychotic medications.

The COVID-19 pandemic has substantially increased interest in virtual health services. We conducted interviews in the summer and fall of 2019, prior to the pandemic and the rapid shift to virtual services. At that time, most caregivers in our study perceived the virtual aspect of STAR-VTF as an attractive feature. After viewing low-fidelity protypes of STAR-VTF, caregivers noted the potential convenience of accessing support virtually and receiving timely help. We note that our study sample was predominantly White and highly educated, representing US groups with the highest internet usage. Of White adults, 92% use the internet (compared to 85% and 86% of Black and Latino adults, respectively), and 98% of college-educated adults use the internet (compared to 71% of adults with less than a high school education) [22]. All caregivers in our study had internet access at home and owned devices (eg, laptop, desktop) that would be required for participation in a virtual training program. A systematic review of internet-based interventions to support family caregivers of people with dementia reports that, among family caregivers with high digital literacy and internet access, such interventions produce beneficial impacts on caregiver depression, anxiety, and burden [23].

Limitations

Our study has limitations worth noting. First, we used a dispensed prescription for an antipsychotic medication as a proxy for identifying family caregivers dealing with BPSD in the person with dementia. This inclusion criterion likely biased our study sample toward caregivers caring for a person in the later stages of dementia when BPSD are most prevalent. Their needs for help in managing BPSD and their perception of the potential usefulness of STAR-VTF could differ from caregivers who are caring for a person in the earlier stages of dementia. However, the experiences of family caregivers in our study made them especially knowledgeable about family caregiver needs regarding BPSD management throughout the disease trajectory. Second, our sample was of KPWA members living in 3 western Washington counties that included the Seattle metropolitan area. As a qualitative study, we did not aim for generalizability [24]; however, we note that our findings represent the perspectives of a limited group. KPWA members are predominantly White and highly educated, so 13 of 15 (87%) participants were White and none were Latino. Our experience suggests that Latino KPWA members may be less likely than non-Latino White members to be prescribed antipsychotic medications. Future research needs to explore this hypothesis.

Conclusions

Our findings contribute new knowledge about family caregivers' views on participating in a virtual training program for the management of BPSD. Family caregivers needed information about BPSD and help in managing it, and they stated that STAR-VTF had the potential to directly address these needs. Furthermore, caregivers were attracted to the convenience of accessing the training virtually. They felt that a virtual training program would be more beneficial if it were offered early in their caregiving experience. Accordingly, our findings shed light on the need for future research to identify the optimal point at which to offer STAR-VTF. Offering the program too early risks providing training that is irrelevant to caregivers' current situation, while offering it too late risks providing training after caregivers have already spent significant effort problem solving challenging behaviors on their own. Overall, our findings provide evidence that family caregivers would likely accept a program such as STAR-VTF focused on BPSD management that is offered entirely virtually.

Acknowledgments

This project was supported by grant number K12HS026369 from the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the Agency for Healthcare

XSL•FC RenderX
Research and Quality. This project was also funded in part by the National Institute on Aging grant STAR Caregivers – Virtual Training and Follow-up (1R01AG061926-01, RBP).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Storyboards used during interviews with caregivers. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 416 KB - aging v4i1e24965 app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

An example of a low-fidelity prototype used during interviews with caregivers. [PPTX File , 4155 KB - aging_v4i1e24965_app2.pptx]

References

- 1. Heron M. National Vital Statistics Reports Volume 68, Number 6, June 24, 2019, Deaths: Leading Causes for 2017. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/index.htm</u> [accessed 2020-07-02]
- Matthews KA, Xu W, Gaglioti AH, Holt JB, Croft JB, Mack D, et al. Racial and ethnic estimates of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias in the United States (2015-2060) in adults aged ≥65 years. Alzheimers Dement 2019 Jan;15(1):17-24 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.06.3063] [Medline: 30243772]
- 3. Cerejeira J, Lagarto L, Mukaetova-Ladinska EB. Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. Front Neurol 2012;3:73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fneur.2012.00073] [Medline: 22586419]
- 4. Schulz R, Beach SR. Caregiving as a Risk Factor for Mortality. JAMA 1999 Dec 15;282(23):2215. [doi: 10.1001/jama.282.23.2215] [Medline: 25996397]
- 5. Schulz R, Martire LM. Family Caregiving of Persons With Dementia: Prevalence, Health Effects, and Support Strategies. Am J Geriatric Psychiatry 2004 May;12(3):240-249. [doi: <u>10.1097/00019442-200405000-00002</u>]
- Teri L, McCurry S, Logsdon R, Gibbons L. Training community consultants to help family members improve dementia care: a randomized controlled trial. Gerontologist 2005 Dec;45(6):802-811. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/45.6.802</u>] [Medline: <u>16326662</u>]
- Mittelman MS, Bartels SJ. Translating research into practice: case study of a community-based dementia caregiver intervention. Health Aff (Millwood) 2014 Apr;33(4):587-595 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2013.1334] [Medline: 24711319]
- Teri L, McKenzie G, Logsdon R, McCurry S, Bollin S, Mead J, et al. Translation of two evidence-based programs for training families to improve care of persons with dementia. Gerontologist 2012 Aug;52(4):452-459 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnr132] [Medline: 22247431]
- Morrison K, Winter L, Gitlin LN. Recruiting Community-Based Dementia Patients and Caregivers in a Nonpharmacologic Randomized Trial: What Works and How Much Does It Cost? J Appl Gerontol 2016 Jul;35(7):788-800 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0733464814532012] [Medline: 24799354]
- 10. STAR Caregivers Virtual Training and Follow-up (STAR-C-VTF) NCT04271046. ClinicalTrials.gov. URL: <u>https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04271046?id=NCT04271046&draw=2&rank=1</u> [accessed 2021-01-27]
- Lyon AR, Munson SA, Renn BN, Atkins DC, Pullmann MD, Friedman E, et al. Use of Human-Centered Design to Improve Implementation of Evidence-Based Psychotherapies in Low-Resource Communities: Protocol for Studies Applying a Framework to Assess Usability. JMIR Res Protoc 2019 Oct 09;8(10):e14990 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14990] [Medline: 31599736]
- Or CKL, Karsh B, Severtson DJ, Burke LJ, Brown RL, Brennan PF. Factors affecting home care patients' acceptance of a web-based interactive self-management technology. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2011;18(1):51-59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/jamia.2010.007336] [Medline: 21131605]
- Fagherazzi G, Goetzinger C, Rashid M, Aguayo G, Huiart L. Digital Health Strategies to Fight COVID-19 Worldwide: Challenges, Recommendations, and a Call for Papers. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 16;22(6):e19284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19284] [Medline: 32501804]
- Whitlatch CJ, Orsulic-Jeras S. Meeting the Informational, Educational, and Psychosocial Support Needs of Persons Living With Dementia and Their Family Caregivers. Gerontologist 2018 Jan 18;58(Suppl 1):S58-S73. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gnx162</u>] [Medline: <u>29361068</u>]
- Boots LMM, Wolfs CAG, Verhey FRJ, Kempen GIJM, de VME. Qualitative study on needs and wishes of early-stage dementia caregivers: the paradox between needing and accepting help. Int Psychogeriatr 2015 Jun;27(6):927-936. [doi: 10.1017/S1041610214002804] [Medline: 25566686]
- 16. Wackerbarth SB, Johnson MMS. Essential information and support needs of family caregivers. Patient Educ Couns 2002 Jun;47(2):95-100. [doi: 10.1016/s0738-3991(01)00194-x] [Medline: 12191532]

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24965/
```

- Peterson K, Hahn H, Lee AJ, Madison CA, Atri A. In the Information Age, do dementia caregivers get the information they need? Semi-structured interviews to determine informal caregivers' education needs, barriers, and preferences. BMC Geriatr 2016 Sep 23;16(1):164 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-016-0338-7] [Medline: 27662829]
- 18. Holroyd S, Turnbull Q, Wolf AM. What are patients and their families told about the diagnosis of dementia? Results of a family survey. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2002 Mar;17(3):218-221. [doi: <u>10.1002/gps.552</u>] [Medline: <u>11921148</u>]
- 19. Alzheimer's Disease Study: Communication Gaps Between Primary Care Physicians and Caregivers. Alzheimer's Association. 2001. URL: <u>https://www.alz.org/media/documents/communication-gap-r.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-08-18]
- 20. Wald C, Fahy M, Walker Z, Livingston G. What to tell dementia caregivers--the rule of threes. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2003 Apr;18(4):313-317. [doi: <u>10.1002/gps.828</u>] [Medline: <u>12673607</u>]
- Orsulic-Jeras S, Whitlatch CJ, Szabo SM, Shelton EG, Johnson J. The SHARE program for dementia: Implementation of an early-stage dyadic care-planning intervention. Dementia (London) 2019 Jan;18(1):360-379. [doi: 10.1177/1471301216673455] [Medline: 27738110]
- 22. Internet/Broadband Fact Sheet. Pew Research Center. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/</u> internet-broadband/#find-out-more [accessed 2021-01-27]
- 23. Hopwood J, Walker N, McDonagh L, Rait G, Walters K, Iliffe S, et al. Internet-Based Interventions Aimed at Supporting Family Caregivers of People With Dementia: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 12;20(6):e216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9548] [Medline: 29895512]
- 24. Tolley E, Ulin P, Mack N, Robinson E, Succop S. Putting It Into Words: Reporting Qualitative Research Results in Scientific Journals and Reports Objectives. In: Qualitative Methods in Public Health: A Field Guide for Applied Research. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; 2016.

Abbreviations

ADRD: Alzheimer disease and related dementias BPSD: behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia EHR: electronic health record ICD-9-CM: International Classification of Diseases Ninth Revision—Clinical Modification KPWA: Kaiser Permanente Washington STAR-C: STAR-Caregivers STAR-VTF: STAR-Caregivers Virtual Training and Follow-up

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 12.10.20; peer-reviewed by C Hemingway, I Wilson; comments to author 03.11.20; revised version received 17.11.20; accepted 18.01.21; published 10.02.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ramirez M, Duran MC, Pabiniak CJ, Hansen KE, Kelley A, Ralston JD, McCurry SM, Teri L, Penfold RB Family Caregiver Needs and Preferences for Virtual Training to Manage Behavioral and Psychological Symptoms of Dementia: Interview Study JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e24965 URL: <u>http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24965/</u> doi:10.2196/24965 PMID:<u>33565984</u>

©Magaly Ramirez, Miriana C Duran, Chester J Pabiniak, Kelly E Hansen, Ann Kelley, James D Ralston, Susan M McCurry, Linda Teri, Robert B Penfold. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 10.02.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Attitudes Toward Technology and Use of Fall Alert Wearables in Caregiving: Survey Study

Deborah Vollmer Dahlke^{1,2*}, MPA, DPH; Shinduk Lee^{1*}, DPH; Matthew Lee Smith^{1*}, MPH, PhD; Tiffany Shubert^{3*}, MPT, PhD; Stephen Popovich^{1,4*}; Marcia G Ory^{1*}, MPH, PhD

¹Texas A&M Center for Population Health and Aging, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, United States

²DVD Associates, LLC, Austin, TX, United States

³Shubert Consulting, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

⁴Clairvoyant Networks, Austin, TX, United States

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Deborah Vollmer Dahlke, MPA, DPH DVD Associates, LLC 8402 Silver Mountain CV Austin, TX, 78737 United States Phone: 1 512 699 4493 Email: <u>deborahvd@gmail.com</u>

Abstract

Background: Wearable technology for fall alerts among older adult care recipients is one of the more frequently studied areas of technology, given the concerning consequences of falls among this population. Falls are quite prevalent in later life. While there is a growing amount of literature on older adults' acceptance of technology, less is known about how caregivers' attitudes toward technology can impact care recipients' use of such technology.

Objective: The objective of our study was to examine associations between caregivers' attitudes toward technology for caregiving and care recipients' use of fall alert wearables.

Methods: This study examined data collected with an online survey from 626 caregivers for adults 50 years and older. Adapted from the technology acceptance model, a structural equation model tested the following prespecified hypotheses: (1) higher perceived usefulness of technologies for caregiving would predict higher perceived value of and greater interest in technologies for caregiving; (2) higher perceived value of technologies for caregiving would predict greater use of fall alert wearables among care recipients. Additionally, we included demographic factors (eg, caregivers' and care recipients' ages) and caregiving context (eg, caregiver type and caregiving situation) as important predictors of care recipients' use of fall alert wearables.

Results: Of 626 total respondents, 548 (87.5%) with all valid responses were included in this study. Among care recipients, 28% used fall alert wearables. The final model had a good to fair model fit: a confirmatory factor index of 0.93, a standardized root mean square residual of 0.049, and root mean square error of approximation of 0.066. Caregivers' perceived usefulness of technology was positively associated with their attitudes toward using technology in caregiving (b=.70, P<.001) and interest in using technology for caregiving (b=.22, P=.003). Greater perceived value of using technology in caregiving predicted greater interest in using technology for caregiving (b=.65, P<.001). Greater interest in using technology for caregiving was associated with greater likelihood of care recipients using fall alert wearables (b=.27, P<.001). The caregiver type had the strongest inverse relationship with care recipients' use of fall alert wearables (unpaid vs paid caregiver) (b=-.33, P<.001).

Conclusions: This study underscores the importance of caregivers' attitudes in care recipients' technology use for falls management. Raising awareness and improving perception about technologies for caregiving may help caregivers and care recipients adopt and better utilize technologies that can promote independence and enhance safety.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e23381) doi:10.2196/23381

KEYWORDS

wearables; falls alert technology; falls; caregivers; care recipients

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23381/



Introduction

By 2035, adults 65 years and older in the United States are projected to outnumber children (under 18 years), mostly due to the continued aging of the Baby Boomer generation [1]. The proportion of older adults aged 65 years and older will increase from approximately 1 in 7 today to approximately 1 in 5 in 2030, when nearly all Baby Boomers will be of typical retirement age [2]. The majority of older adults will need long-term services and support during their lifetime [3]. The rapid growth of the oldest population (ie, those 85 years and older), individuals who tend to have more health conditions and disabilities, will compound the need for care with most requiring some level of care by either paid or unpaid caregivers [4].

According to the American Association of Retired Persons 2020 Report: Caregiving in America [4], caregivers report that the adults who receive care (care recipients) have more comorbid conditions that require care for medical and support than was reported by caregivers in 2015. Increasingly, unpaid caregivers are turning to assistive intelligent technology and wearables for assistance and support in caregiving [4]. Wearable technology is a category of electronic devices that are worn as accessories, embedded in clothing, implanted in the user's body, or even tattooed on the skin. Wearables can be powered by microprocessors to send and receive data via cellular networks and the internet [5-7]. Our review of recent literature on technology and caregiving offered multiple examples of digital technology adoption by caregivers and care recipients in the realms of education, care recipient data collection, sensors and monitoring, clinical care delivery, and social support [4,6,8-12]. While these studies [4,6,8-12] document the broad array of categories of digital and technology development, limited information is available about factors influencing care recipients' technology adoption.

Wearable technology for fall alerts among older adult care recipients is one of the more frequently studied areas of technology, given the concerning consequences of falls among this population. Falls are quite prevalent in later life; approximately 1 in 4 community-dwelling older adults fall each year, and 20% of falls result in injury [13]. The consequences of falls can trigger a downward trajectory of dependence among older adults and can result in increased health care emergency room visits and hospitalization, staggering health care costs, and premature death [13-15]. Research suggests that caregivers are increasingly interested in purchasing and using wearable and other monitoring technology to help reduce caregiver burdens and allow older adults to remain independent in their own homes [9]. A recent literature review by Stavropoulos et al [10] included reviews of systematic reviews and case studies, including studies in which the aims were to assess if the caregiver was more comfortable due to the care recipient use of the wearable and if the care recipient felt more independent [10-12,16,17].

In recent years, falls have become viewed as preventable with evidence-based programs helping older adults prevent and better manage risk factors associated with falling [18]. Concurrently, technology tools are being developed to help older adults and

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23381/
```

XSL•FO

Vollmer Dahlke et al

their caregivers predict and prevent falls [18]. Of particular interest is the growing market for fall alert systems, which are intended to help older adults reduce fear of falling and stay independent by ensuring that help will be available in the event of a fall. There is now a plethora of medical alert systems with fall detection, and while there are market comparisons and a growing amount of literature on older adults' acceptance of technology, less is known about how caregivers' attitudes toward technology can impact care recipients' use of such technology [6,8-12,16,17,19,20].

The objective of this paper is to better understand associations between caregivers' attitudes toward technology for caregiving and care recipients' use of fall alert wearables.

Based on an adapted framework of the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) [21,22], we constructed a structural equation model to test the following hypotheses: (1) higher perceived usefulness of technologies for caregiving would predict higher perceived value of and greater interest in technologies for caregiving; (2) higher perceived value of technologies for caregiving would predict greater interest in technologies for caregiving; and (3) greater interest in technologies for caregiving would predict greater use of fall alert wearables among care recipients.

We further based our analyses on specific demographic factors and caregiving contexts available from the data in our survey. In addition, our analyses were based on the following subhypotheses, supported in the literature: (1) younger age among caregivers would predict greater perceived usefulness, perceived value, and interest in using technology; (2) more demanding caregiving situations such as longer caregiving hours and dementia among care recipients would increase caregivers' interest in technology; (3) older age among care recipients would predict greater health care needs and fall risks, hence more need for and use of fall alert-related technology [22,23]; and (4) use of or preference for using family (ie, unpaid) caregivers is most likely associated with economic status (ie, the ability to pay for caregivers) and the availability of unpaid caregivers as well as care recipients' health conditions [23,24]. Correlates that predict the use of paid versus unpaid caregivers may also influence the use of fall alert technologies. Thus, we also examined whether care recipients' use of fall alert wearables would be associated with caregiver type (paid or unpaid).

Methods

Model Construction

For this study, we adapted a validated model of technology acceptance by users in organizations, based on the TAM and an updated version (TAM2) [21,22], to guide the development of the survey instrument and data analyses to identify factors influencing caregivers' and care recipients' use and perceptions of technologies associated with caregiving. A meta-analysis of 88 studies in different fields [25] indicated that TAM is "a powerful and robust predictive model" to understand technology acceptance of users in various contexts. Davis [26] originally empirically validated TAM to explain users' willingness to use new technologies in organizations. In 2015, Marangunić and

Granić [27] stated that TAM "has evolved to become the key model in understanding the predictors of human behavior toward potential acceptance or rejection of the technology."

In this study, we adapted TAM and TAM2 to build and test a framework (Figure 1) that includes factors regarding caregivers' perceptions about how useful and valuable technologies might be in their caregiving activities. The key constructs of TAM and TAM2, perceived usefulness, attitudes toward using technology, intention to use, and usage behaviors were adapted to caregivers' perceived usefulness, perceived value of

technology, interests in using technology, and care recipients' use of technology, respectively. Attitudes toward a behavior consists of personal evaluation of the specified behavior [27]. In the adapted model, attitudes toward using technology was adapted to perceived value of using technology in caregiving. Figure 1 illustrates our adaptation of the TAM2 model with its 3 key constructs (caregiver's perceived usefulness, perceived value, and interest in using the technology) and other factors that potentially may directly or indirectly influence care recipients' use of fall alert wearables.

Figure 1. Initially hypothesized model predicting care recipient's use of fall alert wearables. CG: caregiver; CR: care recipient.



Data Source and Study Participants

This study used a cross-sectional online survey collected from 626 paid and unpaid caregivers for adults 50 years and older. The caregivers were recruited through an internet panel (Qualtrics XM) in November 2019. Survey respondents were eligible to be included in this study if they were aged 18 years or older, were either paid or unpaid, and provided at least 8 hours of care per week for at least one person who was over 50 years of age and who lived in a home environment. The recruited sample was targeted to resemble the population distribution across 4 US regions (eg, northwest: 17.2%; midwest: 20.9%; west: 23.8%; south: 38.1%) based on 2018 census data [28]. In addition to quotas by regions, quota sampling was predetermined for gender (approximately 75% female and 25% male), age (at least 50% of the sample 50 years and older), and race (maximum 60% White) to account for the known demographic characteristics of caregivers for middle-aged and older adults in the United States [4]. The survey design and study implementation were submitted to the Texas A&M University institutional review board and received approval for exemption (IRB2019-1128M).

Variables

Caregiver's perceived usefulness of technologies in caregiving was measured using 6 items on the extent technology helps with (1) reducing the caregiving burden in the future; (2) enabling the care recipient to live more independently; (3) enabling caregiver to have a better quality of life; (4) improving the caregiver's relationship with their care recipient; (5) improving communication with the care recipient's family and friends; and (6) improving communications with the care recipient's health care team. Each item was measured on a 0-to-100-point slider, with higher scores indicating greater perceived usefulness. For the 6 items, Cronbach α =.92. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure was 0.89, and the Bartlett test of sphericity $(\chi^2_{15}=2458.77, P<.001)$ suggested that the data were appropriate for factor analysis. Exploratory factor analysis showed that the 6 items adequately loaded onto one construct (eg, scree plot and eigenvalues). Average variance extracted was 0.67 indicating that the construct sufficiently explains the item variances.

Caregiver's attitudes toward various safety-related technology for caregiving was assessed by asking perceived value of (1) watches and wearables that enable emergency calls and provide easy to use communications with family members; (2) cameras

and alerts to make the house safe; (3) wearable technology to track care recipient health conditions (eg, breathing, pulse, and blood pressure); (4) watches and wearable sensors to monitor and send emergency alerts about falls; (5) watches and sensors that provide care recipient's location; and (6) wearables and sensors that alert if care recipients are at risk for falls. The survey respondents rated perceived value of each technology on a 0-to-100-point slider, with higher scores indicating greater perceived value of the technology in caregiving. For the 6 items, Cronbach α was .91. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin was 0.90, and Bartlett test of sphericity was statistically significant ($\chi^2_{15}=2130.27$, *P*<.001). Exploratory factor analysis showed that the 6 items adequately loaded onto one construct. The level of variance captured by the construct was considered acceptable with average variance extracted of 0.64.

Two items were used to measure caregiver's interest in using technology for tracking their care recipient's location and providing alerts if their care recipient is at risk for a fall. The valid response range for the 2 items was 0 to 100 points, using a slider with higher scores indicating greater interests in using the technology. The Spearman-Brown reliability estimate for the 2 items was 0.75.

The online survey collected sociodemographic characteristics of caregivers and caregiving context, as well as the caregiver's oldest care recipient's age, dementia diagnosis status, and use of fall alert wearables (eg, pendant or other wearable to alert others that a fall has occurred). Sociodemographic characteristics of caregivers included age in years, gender, race/ethnicity, place of residence (rural vs urban), education (associate degree or less education vs bachelor degree or higher education), employment status (employed for wages or self-employed vs other), previous year's household income (<US \$50,000 vs \geq \$50,000), and financial stress (ie, "In general, how do your finances usually work out at the end of the month? Do you find that you usually:

end up with some money left over/have just enough money to make ends meet/not have enough money to make ends meet?"). Self-reported zip codes were approximated to the census tract-based rural-urban commuting area codes [29]. Caregiving-related information included caregiving type (informal or unpaid vs formal or paid) for the oldest care recipient and the number of weekly hours of caregiving for the oldest care recipient.

Statistical Analyses

Characteristics of the study's caregivers, their care recipients, and caregiving contexts, as well as caregivers' attitudes toward using technology in caregiving, were described using mean and standard deviation or frequency and percentage. Independent group comparison (eg, 2-tailed independent t test or chi-square test) was used to compare each described characteristic by care recipient's use of fall alert wearables. Next, a structural equation model was performed to test the hypothesized model (Figure 1). Goodness of fit was determined using confirmatory factor index (CFI), root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), and standardized root mean square residual (SRMR)-good to fair was defined as CFI>0.90, RMSEA<0.08, and SRMR<0.08. Modification indices were also reviewed to explore potential model improvements. Figure 2 shows the final model used in this study. All statistical analyses were performed using SAS (version 9.4, SAS Institute) and with only included the caregivers who had valid data on all variables used in the structural equation model (548/626, 87.5%). Given potential differences between paid and unpaid caregivers, the independent group comparison was conducted to compare each described characteristic by caregivers' paid status (Multimedia Appendix 1), and the hypothesized model (after excluding caregiver payment status) was tested separately among the paid (116/548, 21.2%) and unpaid (432/548, 78.8%) caregivers (Multimedia Appendix 2 and Multimedia Appendix 3).



Figure 2. Revised model predicting care recipient's use of falls alert wearables. CG: caregiver; CR: care recipient. *P<.05; **P<.001.



Results

Study Population

Table 1 describes the characteristics of the caregivers and care recipients and the caregiving context. The mean age of the caregivers was 58.1 (SD 14.1) years, and the majority were females (417/547, 76.2%), non-Hispanic White (354/545, 65.0%), from an urban area (500/547, 91.4%) and had some college or higher educational attainment (420/548, 76.6%). Over 43% (237/548) were employed for wages or self-employed, and slightly more than half (279/548) had a total household income less than \$50,000 in 2018. Approximately 55% (296/542) of caregivers reported some level of financial stress (ie, having just enough money to make ends meet or not having enough money to make ends meet). The mean age of care recipients was 74.5 (SD 11.93) years, and 23.4% (128/548) of caregivers reported their care recipient was diagnosed with dementia. The majority of the caregivers lived with the care recipient (311/548, 56.8%), were unpaid for the care or assistance they provided to their care recipients (432/548, 78.8%), and a reported weekly average of 37.5 (SD 28.98) hours providing care.

Fewer than 28% (153/548) of the study's care recipients used a fall alert wearable. In a bivariate analyses comparing caregivers for those who do not use fall alert wearables to those who do use fall alert wearables found that the caregivers of those who used fall alert wearables were significantly younger (P < .001), less likely to be non-Hispanic White (P = .005), and under financial stress (P=.003). They were also more likely to be employed for wages or self-employed (P < .001). Furthermore, the care recipients who used fall alert wearables were significantly older (P<.001) and more likely to have dementia (P=.01) than those not using fall alert wearables. Caregivers of those who used fall alert wearables reported fewer weekly hours of caregiving (P=.002) and were also significantly less likely to be an unpaid caregiver (P < .001) or to live with the care recipient (P<.001). Caregivers of care recipients using fall alert wearables had significantly greater perceived usefulness (P<.001), perceived value (P<.001), and interest (P<.001) in using technology in caregiving than caregivers of those not using fall alert wearables.



Vollmer Dahlke et al

Fable 1.	Characteristics of	f the study responden	s and caregiving contex	t and caregivers' attitud	les toward using technology in	caregiving.
----------	--------------------	-----------------------	-------------------------	---------------------------	--------------------------------	-------------

Age (years), mean (SD) $58.1 (14.07)$ $53.2 (16.58)$ $59.8 (12.90)$ <001 Gender, n (%).71Female $417 (76.2)$ $115 (75.2)$ $302 (76.6)$ Male $131 (23.8)$ $38 (24.8)$ $93 (23.4)$ Race/ethnicity, n (%)Non-Hispanic White $354 (65.0)$ $82 (53.6)$ $272 (69.4)$ Non-Hispanic Black $93 (17.1)$ $38 (24.8)$ $55 (14.0)$ Non-Hispanic Asian $35 (64)$ $10 (6.5)$ $25 (6.4)$ Non-Hispanic other races $9(1.7)$ $2 (1.3)$ $7 (1.8)$ Hispanic $128 (23.4)$ $35 (22.9)$ $93 (23.5)$ Some college or higher $128 (23.4)$ $35 (22.9)$ $93 (23.5)$ Some college or higher $237 (43.2)$ $96 (62.7)$ $141 (35.7)$ Employed for wages, not self-employed $237 (43.2)$ $96 (62.7)$ $141 (35.7)$ Household income, n(%)Kes than US \$50,000 $297 (50.9)$ $76 (49.7)$ $203 (51.4)$ More than US \$50,000 $209 (49.1)$ $77 (50.3)$ $192 (48.6)$
ferale17(76.2)15(75.2)302(76.6)Male13(23.8)3624.8)93(23.4)Rot-Hispanic Witten31(23.8)36(25.6)372(69.4)Non-Hispanic Minite354 (65.0)82(53.6)272 (69.4)Non-Hispanic Mathen354 (65.0)38 (24.8)55 (14.0)Non-Hispanic Mathen36 (0.4)10 (6.5)25 (6.4)Non-Hispanic Mathen91.7)21.3)31 (8.4)Non-Hispanic Mathen91.7)21.3)31 (8.4)Hispanic54 (9.9)21.3)31 (8.4)Hispanic128 (23.4)35 (22.9)31 (3.5)Hispanic Mathen128 (23.4)35 (22.9)30 (21.5)Some college on higher128 (23.4)18 (77.1)30 (26.5)Mathene128 (23.4)18 (77.1)30 (26.5)Hispanic Mathene128 (23.4)16 (27.2)141 (35.7)Hispanic Mathene13 (58.2)57.33.3)254 (64.3)Hispanic Mathene270 (50.9)76.49.7)20.3 (51.4)Hispanic Mathene270 (50.9)76.49.7)12 (8.6)Mathene29.90.1076.90.1012 (8.6)Hispanic Mathene29.90.1076.90.1012 (8.6)Mathene29.90.1076.90.1012 (8.6)Mathene29.90.1076.90.1012 (8.6)Mathene29.90.1076.90.1012 (8.6)Mathene29.90.1076.90.1012 (8.6)Mathene29.90.1076.90.1012 (8.6)Mathene29.90.10 <td< td=""></td<>
Female417 (76.2)115 (75.2)302 (76.6)Male131 (23.8)362 (43.8)93 (23.4) Ferritritry full 312 (35.8)362 (53.6)272 (69.4)Non-Hispanic Mine554 (65.0)38 (24.8)55 (14.0)Non-Hispanic Maka30 (71.1)38 (24.8)55 (14.0)Non-Hispanic Mata91 (73.0)10 (65.7)25 (64.0)Non-Hispanic Mata91 (73.0)21 (33.7)71.8)Non-Hispanic Mata92 (33.4)35 (22.9)30 (32.5)Highschool orlower128 (23.4)35 (22.9)93 (23.5)Mata129 (76.6)148 (77.1)302 (76.5)Mata129 (76.6)148 (77.1)302 (76.5)Mata131 (58.8)57 (37.3)24 (43.3)Highschool orlower27 (50.9)76 (49.7)141 (35.7)Mata131 (58.8)76 (49.7)141 (35.7)Mata131 (58.8)76 (49.7)120 (31.6)Mata131 (58.9)131 (58.9)131 (58.9)Mata131 (58.9)131 (58.9)1
Male 131 (23.8) 38 (24.8) 93 (23.4) Reverting N(*) Non-Hispanic White 354 (65.0) 82 (53.6) 272 (69.4) Non-Hispanic Mhite 93 (17.1) 38 (24.8) 55 (14.0) Non-Hispanic Black 93 (73.1) 36 (24.8) 25 (64.0) Non-Hispanic other races 91 (7) 21 (13.7) 25 (64.0) Mipanic 54 (9.9) 21 (13.7) 38 (84.8) 38 (84.8) Hispanic other races 91 (7) 21 (13.7) 31 (83.6) 36 (7) Mipanic 54 (9.9) 21 (13.7) 31 (84.9) 36 (23.5) Full 128 (23.4) 35 (22.9) 93 (23.5) 302 (76.5) Some college on higher 128 (23.4) 188 (77.1) 302 (76.5) 401 Mipsphere full 128 (23.4) 188 (73.1) 302 (76.5) 401 Mipsphere full 128 (23.4) 188 (73.1) 302 (76.5) 401 Mipsphere full 128 (23.4) 188 (73.1) 302 (76.5) 401 Mipsphere full 128 (23.4) 188 (73.1) 302 (76.5) 401 Mipsphere fu
Non-Hispanic White354 (65.0)82 (53.6)272 (69.4)Non-Hispanic Black93 (17.1)38 (24.8)55 (14.0)Non-Hispanic Asian35 (64.0)10 (65.0)25 (64.0)Non-Hispanic other races91 (7.0)2 (1.3)71.8)Hispanic54 (9.9)21 (13.7)33 (8.4)Etwitter Hort128 (23.4)35 (22.9)93 (23.5)Migh school or lower128 (23.4)118 (77.1)30 (26.5)Migh school or lower127 (43.2)18 (77.1)30 (26.5)Imployed for wages or self-employed31 (56.8)57 (37.3)254 (64.3)Migh school or lower219 (50.9)76 (49.7)124 (35.7)Imployed for wages, or self-employed31 (56.8)76 (37.3)254 (64.3)Migh school or lower29 (50.9)76 (49.7)124 (36.7)Imployed for wages, or self-employed20 (50.9)76 (37.3)20 (51.4)Migh school or lower20 (50.9)76 (49.7)124 (36.7)Imployed for wages, or self-employee20 (50.9)76 (30.9)Imployed for wages, or self-employee20 (50.9)76 (49.7)Imployed for wages, or self-employee20 (50.9)76 (50.9)Imployed for wages, or self-employee20 (50.9)20 (50.9)Imployed for wages, or self-employee20 (50.9)20 (50.9)
Non-Hispanic White 354 (65.0) 82 (53.6) 72 (69.4) Non-Hispanic Black 93 (17.1) 38 (24.8) 55 (14.0) Non-Hispanic Asian 35 (6.4) 10 (6.5) 25 (6.4) Non-Hispanic Oher races 9 (1.7) 2 (1.3) 7 (1.8) Hispanic 54 (9.9) 21 (13.7) 33 (8.4) Eturation Level, n(%) 128 (23.4) 35 (22.9) 93 (23.5) Aigh school or lower 420 (76.6) 118 (77.1) 302 (76.5) Some college or higher 23 (74.3.2) 96 (62.7) 141 (35.7) Employed for wages, not self-employed 131 (56.8) 57 (37.3) 254 (64.3) More than US \$50,000 299 (50.9) 76 (49.7) 203 (51.4) More than US \$50,000 299 (50.9) 76 (49.7) 192 (48.6) More than US \$50,000 299 (50.9) 76 (49.7) 192 (48.6)
Non-Hispanic Black 93 (17.1) 38 (24.8) 55 (14.0) Non-Hispanic Asian 35 (6.4) 10 (6.5) 25 (6.4) Non-Hispanic Other races 9 (1.7) 2 (1.3) 7 (1.8) Hispanic 54 (9.9) 21 (13.7) 33 (8.4) Etwatter 54 (9.2) 21 (13.7) 30 (23.5) High school or lower 420 (76.6) 18 (77.1) 302 (76.5) Some college or higher 420 (76.6) 18 (77.1) 302 (76.5) Employent status, n(%) 13 (73.2) 96 (62.7) 314 (35.7) Imployed for wages, or self-employed 317 (43.2) 96 (62.7) 141 (35.7) Less than US \$50,000 279 (50.9) 76 (49.7) 254 (64.3) Less than US \$50,000 29 (95.0) 76 (49.7) 203 (51.4) More than US \$50,000 209 (49.1) 70 (50.3) 192 (48.6)
Non-Hispanic Asian 35 (6.4) 10 (6.5) 25 (6.4) Non-Hispanic other aces 9 (1.7) 2 (1.3) 7 (1.8) Hispanic 54 (9.9) 21 (13.7) 33 (8.4) Eturation level, n(%) 128 (23.4) 35 (22.9) 93 (23.5) Migh school or lower 420 (76.6) 18 (77.1) 302 (76.5) Some college or higher 420 (76.6) 18 (77.1) 302 (76.5) Employent status, n(%) 12 (32.3) 66 (62.7) 141 (35.7) Mon apployed for wages, or self-employed 311 (56.8) 57 (37.3) 254 (64.3) Less than US \$50,000 29 (90.9) 76 (92.7) 120 (51.4) More than US \$50,000 209 (91.1) 70 (50.3) 120 (80.6) More than US \$50,000 209 (91.1) 70 (50.3) 120 (80.6)
Non-Hispanic other races 9 (1.7) 2 (1.3) 7 (1.8) Hispanic 5 (9.9) 21 (13.7) 33 (8.4) Etturation level, n (%) 128 (23.4) 35 (22.9) 93 (23.5) Some college or higher 420 (76.6) 118 (77.1) 302 (76.5) Some college or higher 420 (76.6) 118 (77.1) 302 (76.5) Etturation level, n (%) 57 (43.2) 96 (62.7) 141 (35.7) Imployed for wages, not self-employed 311 (56.8) 57 (37.3) 254 (64.3) Etturation level, n (%) 57 (50.3) 203 (51.4) 72 Imployed for wages, not self-employed 269 (9.1) 76 (9.2) 102 (86.6) More than US \$50,000 269 (9.1) 70 (50.3) 120 (48.6) More than US \$50,000 269 (9.1) 70 (50.3) 120 (48.6)
Hispanic 54 (9.9) 21 (13.7) 33 (8.4) E E
Eduction level, n (%) .87 High school or lower .128 (23.4) .5 (22.9) .93 (23.5) Some college or higher .420 (76.6) .118 (77.1) .302 (76.5) Employment status, n (%)
High school or lower 128 (23.4) 35 (22.9) 93 (23.5) Some college or higher 420 (76.6) 118 (77.1) 302 (76.5) Employent status, n (%) <.001
Some college or higher 420 (76.6) 118 (77.1) 302 (76.5) Employment status, n (%) <.001
Employment status, n (%) <.001
Employed for wages or self-employed 237 (43.2) 96 (62.7) 141 (35.7) Not employed for wages, not self-employed 311 (56.8) 57 (37.3) 254 (64.3) Fitter set of the se
Not employed for wages, not self-employed 311 (56.8) 57 (37.3) 254 (64.3) Household income, n (%) .72 Less than US \$50,000 279 (50.9) 76 (49.7) 203 (51.4) More than US \$50,000 269 (49.1) 77 (50.3) 192 (48.6) Financial stress, n (%) .003
Household income, n (%) .72 Less than US \$50,000 279 (50.9) 76 (49.7) 203 (51.4) More than US \$50,000 269 (49.1) 77 (50.3) 192 (48.6) Financial stress, n (%) .003
Less than US \$50,000 279 (50.9) 76 (49.7) 203 (51.4) More than US \$50,000 269 (49.1) 77 (50.3) 192 (48.6) Financial stress, n (%) .003
More than US \$50,000 269 (49.1) 77 (50.3) 192 (48.6) Financial stress, n (%) .003
Financial stress, n (%) .003
End up with some money left over246 (45.4)79 (52.3)167 (42.7)
Have just enough money to make ends meet 212 (39.1) 61 (40.4) 151 (38.6)
Not have enough money to make ends meet 84 (15.5) 11 (7.3) 73 (18.7)
Residence , n (%) .29
Rural 47 (8.6) 10 (6.5) 37 (9.4)
Urban 500 (91.4) 143 (93.5) 357 (90.6)
Care recipient
Age (years), mean (SD)74.5 (11.93)77.2 (12.21)73.5 (11.95)<.001
Having dementia, n (%)
Yes 128 (23.4) 47 (30.7) 81 (20.5)
No 420 (76.6) 106 (69.3) 314 (79.5)
Caregiving context
Paid for caregiving <.001
Paid caregiver116 (21.2)68 (44.4)48 (12.2)
Unpaid caregiver 432 (78.8) 85 (55.6) 347 (87.8)
Weekly hours of caregiving ^b , mean (SD) 37.5 (28.98) 31.3 (23.83) 39.3 (30.00) .002
Living with the care recipient, n (%) <.001
Yes 311 (56.8) 53 (34.6) 258 (65.3)
No 237 (43.2) 100 (65.4) 137 (34.7)
Caregivers' attitudes ^c , mean (SD)
Perceived usefulness 58.3 (25.57) 68.2 (21.94) 54.5 (25.86) <.001

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23381/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Aging 2021 | vol. 4 | iss. 1 |e23381 | p.80 (page number not for citation purposes)

Characteristic	All (N=548)	Care recipients using fall alert wearables (n=153)	Care recipients not using fall alert wearables (n=395)	P value ^a
Perceived value	63.5 (27.22)	73.6 (20.48)	59.5 (28.48)	<.001
Interest	59.2 (30.40)	72.6 (26.02)	54.0 (30.40)	<.001

^aResults from unadjusted independent group comparison between the group, in which care recipients use fall alert wearables, and another group, in which care recipients do not use fall alert wearables.

^bTotal weekly hours of caregiving was capped at 100 hours.

^cValues ranged from 0 to 100, with a higher value indicating greater perceived usefulness, greater perceived value, or more interest in using technology in caregiving.

Model Fit and Refinement

Goodness of fit, of the model shown in Figure 1, indicated good-to-fair model fit (CFI 0.93, SRMR 0.049, RMSEA 0.067). All hypothesized paths were statistically significant, except for the paths from age to perceived value (P=.73) and interests (P=.15) in technology in caregiving. Removing these 2 statistically insignificant paths did not change the direction or statistical significance of other paths in the model, and only minimal changes in the parameter estimates were observed, although the second model, shown in Figure 2, goodness-of-fit remained good-to-fair (CFI 0.93, SRMR 0.049, RMSEA 0.066).

Path Coefficients

Figure 2 presents the standardized path coefficients of the final structural equation model. Caregivers' perceived usefulness of technology was positively associated with their attitudes toward using technology in caregiving (b=.70, P<.001) and interests in using technology for caregiving (b=.22, P=.003). Greater perceived value of using technology for caregiving predicted greater interests in using technology for caregiving (b=.65, P<.001). Greater interests in using technology for caregiving was associated with greater likelihood of care recipients using

fall alert wearables (b=.27, P<.001). Younger age of caregivers predicted greater perceived usefulness (b=-.14, P<.001). Care recipients of unpaid caregivers were less likely to use fall alert wearables (b=-.33, P<.001) than care recipients of paid caregivers. Fewer caregiving hours (b=-.07, P=.03) and presence of dementia among care recipients (b=.12, P<.001) predicted greater interests in using technology for caregiving. Care recipients' age was positively associated with the use of fall alert wearables (b=.11, P=.004).

Table 2 presents direct and indirect effects of caregivers' age and attitudes and caregiving context on care recipients' use of fall alert wearables. In terms of total effects, caregivers' interests in using technology for caregiving had the strongest positive effects on care recipients' use of fall alert wearables (b=.27, P<.001), followed by caregivers' perceived usefulness of technology in caregiving (b=.18, P<.001), and caregiver's attitudes toward using technology in caregiving (b=.17, P<.001). The strongest inverse relationship was with caregiver type (unpaid vs paid caregiver) (b=-.33, P<.001). While the observed total effects were statistically significant, the magnitudes of the relationship tended to be weaker for hours of caregiving (b=-.02, P=.046), caregiver's age (b=-.03, P=.003), and care recipient having dementia (b=.03, P<.001).

Table 2. Direct, indirect, and total effects of each predictor on care recipient's use of fall alert wearables.

Variable	Direct effects		Indirect effects		Total effects	
	b ^a (SE)	P value	b (SE)	P value	b (SE)	P value
Caregivers' perceived usefulness of technology in caregiving	0	N/A ^b	.18 (0.03)	<.001	.18 (0.03)	<.001
Caregivers' attitudes toward using technology in caregiving	0	N/A	.17 (0.03)	<.001	.17 (0.03)	<.001
Caregivers' interests in using technology in caregiving	.27 (0.04)	<.001	0	N/A	.27 (0.04)	<.001
Caregivers' age	0	N/A	03 (0.009)	.003	03 (0.009)	.003
Unpaid caregiver (vs paid caregiver)	33 (0.04)	<.001	0	N/A	33 (0.04)	<.001
Hours of caregiving	0	N/A	02 (0.01)	.046	02 (0.01)	.046
Care recipient having dementia	0	N/A	.03 (0.01)	<.001	.03 (0.01)	<.001
Care recipients' age	.11 (0.04)	.004	0	N/A	.11 (0.04)	.004

^aStandardized estimates.

^bN/A: not applicable.

Paid and Unpaid Caregivers

As shown in Table 1, nearly 79% (432/548) of the caregivers were unpaid. Multimedia Appendix 1 shows the comparison of caregiver and care recipient's characteristics based on caregivers' paid status. Compared to unpaid caregivers, paid

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23381/

caregivers were younger (48.0 years vs 60.8 years, P<.001); less likely to be non-Hispanic White (P<.001), having some college or higher educational attainment (P<.001), and living with the care recipients (P<.001); and more likely to be employed (P<.001). The oldest care recipients of paid caregivers were more likely to have dementia than the oldest care recipients

of unpaid caregivers (P<0.001). There were statistically significant differences in the self-reported financial stress among paid and unpaid caregivers (P=.034). While there were 38.3% (44/115) and 49.6% (57/115) of paid caregivers having some money left over and having just enough money to make ends meet, respectively; there were 47.3% (202/427) and 36.3% (155/427) of unpaid caregivers having some money left over and having just enough money to make ends meet, respectively. Paid caregivers reported significantly greater perceived usefulness (P=.002) and interests (P=.004) in using technology in caregiving than caregivers of those not using fall alert wearables.

The model fit among paid caregiver was fair (CFI 0.93, SRMR 0.076, and RMSEA 0.062) and was comparable to the comprehensive model (CFI 0.93, SRMR 0.049, and RMSEA 0.066). The 3 prespecified hypotheses remained statistically significance, and corresponding path coefficients were comparable to the comprehensive model (Multimedia Appendix 2 shows the model among paid caregivers and Figure 2 shows the comprehensive model). Paid caregivers' perceived usefulness of technology in caregiving was positively associated with perceived value of (b=.67, P<.001) and interest in (b=.36, P=.02) technology for caregiving. Higher perceived value of technology for caregiving was predicted greater interest in technologies for caregiving (b=.65, P<.001); and greater interest in technologies for caregiving predicted greater use of fall alert wearables among care recipients (b=.21, P=.02). None of the 4 subhypotheses remained statistically significant among paid caregivers.

The model fit among unpaid caregivers was good to fair (CFI 0.93, SRMR 0.051, and RMSEA 0.069) and was comparable to that of the comprehensive model (CFI 0.93, SRMR 0.049, and RMSEA 0.066). All path coefficients remained statistically significant, and path coefficients were comparable to the comprehensive model (Multimedia Appendix 3 shows the model among unpaid caregivers and Figure 2 shows the comprehensive model). Unpaid caregivers' perceived usefulness of technology was positively associated with their attitudes toward using technology in caregiving (b=.71, P<.001) and interests in using technology for caregiving (b=.17, P=.03). Greater perceived value of using technology in caregiving predicted greater interests in using technology for caregiving (b=.67, P<.001). Greater interests in using technology for caregiving was associated with greater likelihood of care recipients using fall alert wearables (b=.31, P<.001). Younger age of unpaid caregivers predicted greater perceived usefulness (b=-.13, P=.005). Fewer caregiving hours (b=-.09, P=.02) and presence of dementia among care recipients (b=.13, P<.001) predicted greater interests in using technology for caregiving. Care recipients' age was positively associated with the use of fall alert wearables (b=.11, P=.02).

For both paid and unpaid caregivers, caregiver's interest in using technology for caregiving had the strongest positive effects on care recipient's use of fall alert wearables (b=.21, P=.023 in paid caregivers; and b=.31, P=.028 in unpaid caregivers), followed by other attitudinal variables. Estimated total effects of caregiver's perceived usefulness of technology in caregiving was b=.16 (P=.032) in paid caregivers and b=.20 (P<.001) in unpaid caregivers; and estimated total effects of caregiver's

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23381/

XSL•FC

attitudes toward using technology in caregiving was b=.13 (*P*=.036) in paid caregivers and b=.21 (*P*<.001) among unpaid caregivers.

Discussion

Principal Findings

From our analyses, we have demonstrated that the adapted TAM2 concepts of caregivers provide support for our hypotheses about care recipients' use of fall alert wearables, which is reflective of previous literature [12,20-25,30]. Our model demonstrated that both high perceived usefulness and value of technology for caregiving was associated with greater interest in technologies for caregiving and that greater interest in technology for caregiving was predictive of greater use of fall alert wearables among care recipients, although only 28% (153/548) of our study's care recipients used fall alerts. While statistically significant, our results suggested that younger age among caregivers was among the less powerful predictors of perceived use, attention and interest in technology for caregiving.

Our results demonstrated that the strongest predictor of care recipients' use of fall alert wearable was the type of caregiver and that care recipients with paid caregivers were more likely to use this type of technology than care recipients with unpaid caregivers. While not expected, this may reflect the scenario where the path of caregiving for older adults typically begins with a family member or unpaid caregiver who lives in close proximity to the care recipient and provides human monitoring. Concerns for falls often results in investment in fall alert wearables for older adults living independently [9].

Our subhypothesis that more demanding caregiving situations, including longer hours of caregiving and instances of dementia among care recipients, was partially supported in this study. As hypothesized, dementia among care recipients positively predicts their use of fall alert wearables. However, contrary to our hypothesis, fewer caregiving hours was associated with care recipient's use of fall alert wearables. A potential interpretation may be that caregivers providing fewer hours of care could be more inclined to use wearables to compensate for longer durations of nonsupervised time. According to the subgroup analyses based on caregiver's payment status, the statistical significance of the subhypotheses are likely to be largely driven by unpaid care recipients, who constituted almost 79% (432/548) of the total analytic sample. While caregiver's attitude toward technology in caregiving were significantly associated with care recipient's use of fall alert wearables in both paid and unpaid caregivers, caregivers' and care recipients' age, and caregiving situations were significantly associated with care recipients' use of fall alert wearables only among unpaid caregiver participants. The smaller sample size of paid caregivers may have limited the statistical power of the model. Another potential explanation is the differential involvement of paid and unpaid caregivers in caregiving decisions [29].

There is relatively little research that examines how caregivers and their care recipients (either paid or unpaid) actually use fall alert technology in their everyday lives or how such experiences

may affect their safety and well-being. The little research that exists is limited in scale, often focused on care recipients with dementia and on cross-sectional interview methodologies focused on the adoption of the wearable fall alert technology [12,31-38]. Limited attention is typically given to how caregivers and their care recipients use wearable fall alert technology as their care and support needs change over time. In contrast, a study by van Heek et al [39] provided an empirical examination of caregivers' acceptance of assistive technologies. However, van Heek et al [39] focused on design perspectives including gathering of data, data access, and storage duration, as well as perceived benefits and barriers, in order to integrate caregivers' perspectives into design of technologies. Our results align with those of other recent studies [38-46] showing that there is a greater likelihood for adoption and use of fall alert wearables among care recipients with dementia, which is assumedly negotiated by the caregiver as a result of care recipient incapacity.

Limitations

There were some limitations to our study. First, our caregiver population in the panel-based survey may not be representative of the caregiver population across the United States, despite our best efforts. While we have used quota sampling to match the distribution of key characteristics (eg, geographical region, age, gender, and race), this online sample excludes caregivers without access to internet and related technology (eg, computer, smartphone, or tablets). We assume that respondents were more willing to sign up to participate because they are comfortable with technology. Thus, caregivers who do have online access but are not as comfortable with technology may have elected not to participate. We also excluded caregivers who might have had online access but who had limited English proficiency. While we asked participants to self-identify as either paid or unpaid, there was no way to tell if there were subsets of unpaid caregivers who received some sort of stipend or benefit. With

our cross-sectional design, it was not possible to draw conclusions about the causality between attitudes, caregiving contexts, and use of fall alert wearables. Additionally, the proposed model is limited by lack of potential factors, such as perceived ease of use for specific technology, fall history, and interpersonal relationships between caregivers and care recipients. In addition, the care recipients' use of fall alert wearables were proxy-reported by caregivers, a further study using direct observation or self-reported measure by care recipients could supplement the proxy-reported evidence. More information on the types of technology and how the specific technologies are used would help establish circumstantial data to set out recommendations for practice and policy. Future research using in-depth interviews with caregivers to explore the nuances of technology adoption would be instructive for understanding more about the context driving our quantitative research findings. Despite these limitations, we believe our data and analyses provide important new information on how caregivers' attitudes and values about technology influence adoption about the use of fall alert wearables for the protection and safety of their care recipients.

Conclusion

With this study, we have taken a small step in addressing the knowledge gap about how caregiver attitudes affect adoption of assistive intelligent technology such as wearable fall alert technologies in caregiving, but much remains to be learned. With the growth of the aging population over the forthcoming years, and the anticipated rise of the occurrence of falls and related injuries based on the increasing numbers of older Americans, the caregiving workforce will benefit from advanced and effective technologies used in caregiving. It will continue to be crucial for public health researchers to keep pace with the advances of technology and maintain an advocacy role for both caretakers and care recipients in the adoption and use of technology to support their health and wellbeing.

Acknowledgments

We thank all of the caregivers who participated in our online survey which formed the basis of this research. The caregiver survey was funded by contributions from DVD Associates LLC, Clairvoyant Networks Inc, and The Texas A&M Center for Population Health and Aging.

Conflicts of Interest

DVD was employed by DVD Associates LLC and is an editor for JMIR Cancer. SP is employed by Clairvoyant Networks Inc. The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Characteristics of the study respondents based on caregivers' paid status. [DOCX File , 21 KB - aging v4i1e23381 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Revised model predicting paid care recipient's use of fall alert wearables. [DOCX File , 138 KB - aging_v4i1e23381_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23381/

Revised model predicting unpaid care recipient's use of fall alert wearables. [DOCX File , 138 KB - aging_v4i1e23381_app3.docx]

References

- 1. 65 and older population grows rapidly as baby boomers age. United States Census Bureau. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/newsroom/press-releases/2020/65-older-population-grows.html</u> [accessed 2020-07-25]
- 2. The next four decades: the older population in the United States: 2010 to 2050 population estimates and projections. United States Census Bureau. 2010. URL: <u>https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/livable-communities/old-learn/demographics/</u> the-next-four-decades-the-older-population-in-the-united-states-2010-2050-aarp.pdf
- 3. Johnson RW. What is the lifetime risk of needing and receiving long-term services and supports? Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation. Washington, DC; 2019 Apr 04. URL: <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/</u><u>what-lifetime-risk-needing-and-receiving-long-term-services-and-supports</u>
- 4. Caregiving in the United States 2020. AARP. 2020 May. URL: <u>https://www.aarp.org/ppi/info-2020/</u> caregiving-in-the-united-states.html [accessed 2020-06-23]
- 5. Hays A. What is wearable technology? Investopedia. 2020 May 11. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/y6zz7469</u> [accessed 2020-07-25]
- Baig M, Afifi S, GholamHosseini H, Mirza FA. A systematic review of wearable sensors and IoT-based monitoring applications for older adults - a focus on ageing population and independent living. J Med Syst 2019 Jun 15;43(8):233. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-019-1365-7] [Medline: 31203472]
- Montesinos L, Castaldo R, Pecchia L. Wearable inertial sensors for fall risk assessment and prediction in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 2018 Mar;26(3):573-582. [doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2017.2771383] [Medline: 29522401]
- Dai B, Larnyo E, Tetteh EA, Aboagye AK, Musah AAI. Factors affecting caregivers' acceptance of the use of wearable devices by patients with dementia: an extension of the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology model. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2020;35:1533317519883493 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1533317519883493] [Medline: 31679390]
- Schulz R, Beach SR, Matthews JT, Courtney K, De Vito Dabbs A, Mecca LP. Caregivers' willingness to pay for technologies to support caregiving. Gerontologist 2016 Oct;56(5):817-829 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnv033] [Medline: 26035899]
- Stavropoulos T, Papastergiou A, Mpaltadoros L, Nikolopoulos S, Kompatsiaris I. IoT wearable sensors and devices in elderly care: a literature review. Sensors (Basel) 2020 May 16;20(10) [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3390/s20102826</u>] [Medline: <u>32429331</u>]
- 11. Aljehani SS, Alhazmi RA, Aloufi SS, Aljehani BD, Abdulrahman R. iCare: applying IoT technology for monitoring Alzheimer's patients. 2018 Presented at: 1st International Conference on Computer Applications & Information Security (ICCAIS); April 4-6; Riyadh, Saudi Arabia p. 1-6.
- 12. Wang J, Carroll D, Peck M, Myneni S, Gong Y. Mobile and wearable technology needs for aging in place: perspectives from older adults and their caregivers and providers. Stud Health Technol Inform 2016;225:486-490. [Medline: 27332248]
- 13. Important facts about falls. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/</u> homeandrecreationalsafety/falls/adultfalls.html [accessed 2020-07-28]
- Cheng M, Chang S. Frailty as a risk factor for falls among community dwelling people: evidence from a meta-analysis. J Nurs Scholarsh 2017 Sep;49(5):529-536. [doi: <u>10.1111/jnu.12322</u>] [Medline: <u>28755453</u>]
- 15. 2019 Falls Prevention Awareness Day impact report. National Council on Aging. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.ncoa.org/</u> resources/2019-falls-prevention-awareness-day-impact-report/ [accessed 2020-07-28]
- Pot A, Willemse BM, Horjus S. A pilot study on the use of tracking technology: feasibility, acceptability, and benefits for people in early stages of dementia and their informal caregivers. Aging Ment Health 2012;16(1):127-134. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2011.596810] [Medline: 21780960]
- 17. Sun R, Sosnoff JJ. Novel sensing technology in fall risk assessment in older adults: a systematic review. BMC Geriatr 2018 Jan 16;18(1):14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-018-0706-6] [Medline: 29338695]
- Frieson CW, Tan MP, Ory MG, Smith ML. Editorial: evidence-based practices to reduce falls and fall-related injuries among older adults. Front Public Health 2018;6:222. [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2018.00222] [Medline: 30186826]
- 19. Roberts C. How to choose a medical alert system. Consumer Reports. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.consumerreports.org/</u> medical-alert-systems/how-to-choose-a-medical-alert-system/ [accessed 2020-07-28]
- 20. Vollmer Dahlke D, Ory MG. Emerging issues of intelligent assistive technology use among people with dementia and their caregivers: a U.S. perspective. Front Public Health 2020;8:191. [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00191] [Medline: 32528920]
- 21. Venkatesh V, Davis FD. A model of the antecedents of perceived ease of use: development and test. Decision Sci 1996 Sep;27(3):451-481. [doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5915.1996.tb01822.x]
- 22. Venkatesh V, Davis FD. A theoretical extension of the technology acceptance model: four longitudinal field studies. Manage Sci 2000 Feb;46(2):186-204. [doi: 10.1287/mnsc.46.2.186.11926]

- Tsertsidis A, Kolkowska E, Hedström K. Factors influencing seniors' acceptance of technology for ageing in place in the post-implementation stage: a literature review. Int J Med Inform 2019 Sep;129:324-333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.06.027] [Medline: <u>31445274</u>]
- 24. Ortiz Barrios M, Nugent C, Cleland I, Donnelly M, Verikas A. Selecting the most suitable classification algorithm for supporting assistive technology adoption for people with dementia: a multicriteria framework. J Multi-Criteria Decision Analysis 2019 Jul 03;27(1-2):20-38. [doi: 10.1002/mcda.1678]
- 25. King W, He J. A meta-analysis of the technology acceptance model. Inf Manage 2006 Sep;43(6):740-755. [doi: 10.1016/j.im.2006.05.003]
- 26. Davis F, Venkatesh V. A critical assessment of potential measurement biases in the technology acceptance model: three experiments. Int J Hum-Comput Stud 1996 Jul;45(1):19-45. [doi: <u>10.1006/ijhc.1996.0040</u>]
- 27. Marangunić N, Granić A. Technology acceptance model: a literature review from 1986 to 2013. Univ Access Inf Soc 2014 Feb 16;14(1):81-95. [doi: 10.1007/s10209-014-0348-1]
- 28. United states growth by region. United States Census Bureau. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/popclock/data_tables.</u> <u>php?component=growth</u> [accessed 2020-07-28]
- 29. Rural-urban commuting area codes. United States Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/y2oakra7</u> [accessed 2020-07-25]
- 30. Chaurasia P, McClean SI, Nugent CD, Cleland I, Zhang S, Donnelly MP, et al. Modelling assistive technology adoption for people with dementia. J Biomed Inform 2016 Oct;63:235-248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2016.08.021] [Medline: 27586863]
- Kataoka-Yahiro M, Davis J, Ka'opua LS, Sy A. Sociodemographic characteristics and preferences for family (informal) and formal caregiver help with ADLs. Home Health Care Manage Pract 2018 Oct 08;31(2):120-127. [doi: 10.1177/1084822318801811]
- Walker E, Cao Y, Edles PA, Acuna J, Sligh-Conway C, Krause JS. Racial-ethnic variations in paid and unpaid caregiving: findings among persons with traumatic spinal cord injury. Disabil Health J 2015 Oct;8(4):527-534. [doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2015.04.004] [Medline: 26129842]
- 33. Caregiving in the U.S. AARP. 2015. URL: <u>https://www.aarp.org/content/dam/aarp/ppi/2015/</u> <u>caregiving-in-the-united-states-2015-report-revised.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-07-25]
- 34. Wang J. Mobile and connected health technologies for older adults aging in place. J Gerontol Nurs 2018 Jun 01;44(6):3-5. [doi: 10.3928/00989134-20180509-01] [Medline: 29846735]
- Lapierre N, Neubauer N, Miguel-Cruz A, Rios Rincon A, Liu L, Rousseau J. The state of knowledge on technologies and their use for fall detection: a scoping review. Int J Med Inform 2018 Mar;111:58-71. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.12.015</u>] [Medline: <u>29425635</u>]
- Reckrey J, Geduldig ET, Lindquist LA, Morrison RS, Boerner K, Federman AD, et al. Paid caregiver communication with homebound older adults, their families, and the health care team. Gerontologist 2020 May 15;60(4):745-753. [doi: 10.1093/geront/gnz067] [Medline: 31112604]
- 37. Chi N, Demiris G. A systematic review of telehealth tools and interventions to support family caregivers. J Telemed Telecare 2015 Jan;21(1):37-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1357633X14562734] [Medline: 25475220]
- Lindeman D, Kim KK, Gladstone C, Apesoa-Varano EC. Technology and caregiving: emerging interventions and directions for research. Gerontologist 2020 Feb 14;60(Suppl 1):S41-S49 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gnz178</u>] [Medline: <u>32057082</u>]
- 39. van Heek J, Ziefle M, Himmel S. Caregivers' perspectives on ambient assisted living technologies in professional care contexts. 2018 Presented at: 4th International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Ageing Well and e-Health; March 22-23; Funchal, Madeira, Portugal p. 37-48. [doi: 10.5220/0006691400370048]
- Deeken F, Rezo A, Hinz M, Discher R, Rapp MA. Evaluation of technology-based interventions for informal caregivers of patients with dementia-a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry 2019 Apr;27(4):426-445. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jagp.2018.12.003</u>] [Medline: <u>30642650</u>]
- Kolasinska A, Quadrio G, Gaggi O, Palazzi CE. Technology and aging: users' preferences in wearable sensor networks. 2018 Presented at: Goodtechs '18: International Conference on Smart Objects and Technologies for Social Good; November 28-30; Bologna, Italy p. 77-81.
- 42. Snyder MM, Dringus LP, Schladen MM, Ronald C, Elizabeth O. Remote monitoring technologies in dementia care: an interpretative phenomenological analysis of family caregivers' experiences. Qualitative Rep 2020;25(5):1233-1252.
- 43. Hopwood J, Walker N, McDonagh L, Rait G, Walters K, Iliffe S, et al. Internet-based interventions aimed at supporting family caregivers of people with dementia: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 12;20(6):e216 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9548] [Medline: 29895512]
- 44. Ienca M, Wangmo T, Jotterand F, Kressig R, Elger B. Ethical design of intelligent assistive technologies for dementia: a descriptive review. Sci Eng Ethics 2018 Aug;24(4):1035-1055. [doi: 10.1007/s11948-017-9976-1] [Medline: 28940133]
- 45. Holthe T, Jentoft R, Arntzen C, Thorsen K. Benefits and burdens: family caregivers' experiences of assistive technology (AT) in everyday life with persons with young-onset dementia (YOD). Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2018 Nov;13(8):754-762. [doi: 10.1080/17483107.2017.1373151] [Medline: 28891356]

46. Kaenampornpan M, Khai ND, Kawattikul K. Wearable computing for dementia patients. In: Meesad P, Sodsee S, editors. Recent Advances in Information and Communication Technology 2020. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2020:21-30.

Abbreviations

CFI: confirmatory factor index **RMSEA:** root mean square error of approximation **SRMR:** standardized root mean square residual **TAM:** Technology Acceptance Model

Edited by J Wang; submitted 10.08.20; peer-reviewed by V Yank, H Wang; comments to author 27.09.20; revised version received 18.10.20; accepted 09.11.20; published 27.01.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Vollmer Dahlke D, Lee S, Smith ML, Shubert T, Popovich S, Ory MG Attitudes Toward Technology and Use of Fall Alert Wearables in Caregiving: Survey Study JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e23381 URL: <u>http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23381/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/23381</u> PMID:<u>33502320</u>

©Deborah Vollmer Dahlke, Shinduk Lee, Matthew Lee Smith, Tiffany Shubert, Stephen Popovich, Marcia G Ory. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 27.01.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Providing Medical Information to Older Adults in a Web-Based Environment: Systematic Review

Bianca McLean¹; Nazia Hossain², MD; Valentina Donison³, BSc, MN; Mikaela Gray⁴, MI; Sara Durbano⁵, MSc, RKin; Kristen Haase⁶, BSc, MA, PhD, RN; Shabbir Muhammad Husayn Alibhai⁷, MSc, MD; Martine Puts³, PhD, RN

⁵University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁶School of Nursing, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

⁷Department of Medicine, Institute for Health Policy, Management and Evaluation, University of Toronto, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Martine Puts, PhD, RN Lawrence S Bloomberg Faculty of Nursing University of Toronto 155 College Street Suite 130 Toronto, ON Canada Phone: 1 4169786059 Email: <u>martine.puts@utoronto.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Cancer is a disease that predominantly affects older adults, and several organizations recommend the completion of a geriatric assessment to help with cancer treatment decision-making. Owing to a shortage of geriatric teams and the vast number of older adults diagnosed with cancer each year, a web-based geriatric assessment may improve access to geriatric assessment for older adults. We systematically reviewed the literature to obtain the latest evidence for the design of our web-based geriatric assessment tool Comprehensive Health Assessment for My Plan.

Objective: This review aimed to probe the following questions: what is the impact of providing health test results to older adults in a web-based environment without the presence of a health care provider for patient-centered outcomes, including satisfaction, perceived harm, empowerment, quality of life, and health care use (eg, hospitalization, physician visits, emergency room visits, and costs), and what recommendations do older adults and developers have for designing future apps or websites for older adults?

Methods: This systematic review was guided by the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis) statement. Studies were limited to publications in English that examined a web-based tool that provided test results to older adults (aged \geq 65 years) without the presence of a health care provider. A health sciences librarian performed the search on November 29, 2019, on the following electronic databases: MEDLINE, Embase, CINAHL, PsycINFO, and the Cochrane Library. The quality of the included studies was assessed using the Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool Version 2018. The findings are summarized narratively and in tabular format.

Results: A total of 26,898 titles and abstracts were screened by 2 independent reviewers, of which 94 studies were selected for a full-text review, and 9 studies were included in this review. There were only 2 randomized controlled trials of high quality that explored the effects of receiving health care results on the web via eHealth tools for older adults or provided evidence-based recommendations for designing such tools. Older adults were generally satisfied with receiving screening results via eHealth tools, and several studies suggested that receiving health screening results electronically improved participants' quality of life. However, user interfaces that were not designed with older adults in mind and older adults' lack of confidence in navigating eHealth tools proved challenging to eHealth uptake and use. All 9 studies included in this systematic review made recommendations on how to design eHealth tools that are intuitive and useful for older adults.

¹Michael G DeGroote School of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

²Department of Internal Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

³Lawrence S Bloomberg Faculty of Nursing, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

⁴Gerstein Science Information Centre, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Conclusions: eHealth tools should incorporate specific elements to ensure usability for older adults. However, more research is required to fully elucidate the impact of receiving screening and results via eHealth tools without the presence of a health care provider for patient-centered outcomes in this target population.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e24092) doi:10.2196/24092

KEYWORDS

eHealth; systematic review; geriatric assessment; geriatric oncology

Introduction

Background

For older adults with cancer, several organizations recommend the completion of a geriatric assessment to help with cancer treatment decision-making [1,2]. A geriatric assessment consists of several questionnaires and tests that assess the medical, social, and psychological functioning of older adults to determine what interventions could be implemented to optimize their health and well-being [3]. However, owing to the shortage of geriatric teams and the large number of older adults diagnosed with cancer each year, access to a geriatric assessment remains to be limited. A web-based geriatric assessment may improve access for older adults. Although a few web-based geriatric assessment tools have been developed [4-6], these tools do not provide older adults with their test results without a health care provider being present. In addition, these tools would not increase access to a geriatric assessment because they still require the input of health care professionals, who are currently in low supply and high demand. Our overarching aim is to review the literature to develop a web-based geriatric assessment, the Comprehensive Health Assessment for My Plan (CHAMP), which will provide test results directly to older adults and help triage patients who are in greater need of geriatric consultation. To best design the CHAMP tool, we were interested in understanding the impact of receiving health test results in a web-based environment without the presence of a health care provider on older adults. We were also interested in consolidating the recommendations made by older adults and website developers for designing web-based tools for older adults. Therefore, we systematically reviewed the literature to obtain the latest evidence to inform the future design of our CHAMP tool.

As older adults with multiple comorbidities make up an increasing proportion of the population, there is a growing focus on equipping these patients with the tools needed to manage their own health. The aim is to provide patients with a sense of control over their medical conditions and decrease health care utilization [7]. Older patients particularly value the ability to manage their health independently at home, and minimizing reliance on health care resources, such as emergency rooms and inpatient units, is therefore an important outcome measure [8-10]. One strategy to meet these needs is the development of web-based health management tools that can be linked to patients' eHealth records and accessed from personal devices (such as smartphones, tablets, and laptops). A wide variety of eHealth tools have been developed [5-7,11]). For example, some enable patients to view results of laboratory and imaging tests [11], whereas others provide customized health care advice or allow patients to communicate directly with members of their

RenderX

health care team [12]. Web-based tools have also been developed for the management of specific medical conditions such as cardiovascular disease [13] and diabetes [14]. The adoption of these resources was found to improve patient outcomes in these studies. In a small study of 169 computer users aged 50 years and older, Zettel-Wattson and Tsukerman [15] discovered that 90% of participants found patient portals helpful for managing their health and 80% felt that portals gave them control over their health. A systematic review by Ferreira et al [16] showed that providing patients access to their electronic medical records improved patient understanding of their disease and helped break down barriers in the physician-patient relationship.

Despite the number of eHealth tools and their potential to enhance patient care, barriers exist to widespread adoption, especially among patients older than 65 years. Previous studies have cited concerns about privacy and security, lack of access to technology, low computer literacy, high computer anxiety, complex user interfaces, and concerns about losing face time with health care providers as key factors that prevent older adults from routinely using eHealth management systems [7,17-20]. Disparities in uptake have also been found based on age group, ethnicity, education level, and physical and cognitive abilities [7,18,21].

Studies have varied in their conclusions about optimal eHealth tool design, and few have offered specific recommendations to address these barriers. Some authors suggest that complete medical records, medication lists, test results, and condition-specific health advice are consistently appreciated by patients accessing web-based portals [15,17,22]. Khan et al [23] studied perceptions of a medication management system and found that participants enjoy visual representations of data but would also like accompanying text descriptions to fully understand their meaning. Furthermore, some patients desire the ability to receive appointment reminders, refill medications, or communicate with health care professionals through secure messaging. However, the impact of various designs on patient-centered outcomes remains to be fully explored [24].

Objectives

To best design the CHAMP tool to deliver geriatric assessment results to older adults with cancer, our review questions were as follows:

1. What is the impact of websites and apps providing health test results to older adults in a web-based environment without the presence of a health care provider for patient-centered outcomes such as satisfaction, empowerment, quality of life, and health care use (eg,

hospitalization, physician visits, emergency room visits, and costs)?

2. What recommendations do older adults and developers have for designing future apps or websites for older adults?

We were most interested in understanding the impact of receiving health care screening and test results in the electronic environment on patient-centered outcomes such as satisfaction, empowerment, and quality of life compared with cancer-specific outcomes such as progression-free survival because we expect that the results of this literature review will be applicable to the care of older adults in many other fields of medicine, not just oncology. Furthermore, in geriatric oncology, factors other than progression-free survival and other cancer-specific outcomes are of substantial importance. Quality of life, overall functioning, and health care use have become increasingly important from the patient's viewpoint. Hence, it is both of service to the patients that we care for, and to other providers of care for older adults to understand the impact of receiving health results in a web-based environment from the patient perspective [25,26].

Methods

Review Methodology

We used systematic review methodology according to the Cochrane Handbook [27] and guided by the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) statement [28].

Search Methods

Database searches were conducted by a health sciences librarian (MG) in Ovid MEDLINE, Ovid Embase, EBSCO CINAHL Plus with Full Text, Ovid PsycINFO, and the Cochrane Library using the Wiley interface. A combination of database-specific subject headings and text word searches was used to search for concepts included in our population intervention comparator outcomes search with publication date limits applied to identify articles published in the last 10 years. Keywords included "telehealth," "eHealth" or "mHealth" or "mobile health" or "digital health" or "telecommunications" or "electronic mail" or "cell phone" or "smartphone" or "Internet" or "Mobile Applications," "older adults," and "aged." Although a geriatric assessment is not the same as a patient portal (the former is a health assessment, whereas the latter is a web-based shared medical record), we expanded the search to include portals to identify any studies that looked at the impact of providing test

results web-based on older adults' health outcomes. The results of this search were imported with other search results. Published filters were applied to limit the publication type to randomized controlled trials (RCTs) [29-32]. See Multimedia Appendix 1 for the MEDLINE search. The searches were run on November 29, 2019, and the search period was from January 1, 2009, to November 29, 2019. The search period was limited to 2009 onward to ensure that any apps and website or design recommendations would still be relevant as eHealth is a rapidly developing field. Publications in English were eligible for inclusion. Reference lists of included studies were reviewed to identify any additional relevant studies.

Papers were included if the following criteria were met:

- Included a population of older adults (aged above 65 years or the mean or median age in the study population was above 65 years, or if younger, subgroup analysis of those above 65 years was reported)
- Included an intervention in which older adults received results of health screening or tests completed in a web-based environment or eHealth (not including live chats with nurses, therapists, or doctors to go over test results)
- Compared the intervention to receiving the results of tests or screening in person from a health care provider or had no control group
- Focused on the following intervention outcomes: (1) patient-centered outcomes such as satisfaction, perceived harm, anxiety, depression, distress, empowerment, and quality of life; (2) health care use (eg, hospitalization, physician visits, emergency room visits, and costs); and (3) patient understanding of instructions of the tool used or provided recommendations on how to design eHealth tools for older adults

Study Selection

We included studies through a two-step process (see Figure 1 for our PRISMA flowchart). First, abstracts and titles were screened by two independent reviewers. Then, all potentially relevant full-text articles were reviewed for study inclusion by two independent reviewers. We used the Covidence software [33] to facilitate the study selection process. In case of disagreements, a third reviewer reviewed the abstract or full text, and a consensus decision was made whether to include or exclude the study.



Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses) flowchart for study selection.



Data Abstraction

We used standardized data collection forms developed by the research team using Excel. Data were abstracted by two reviewers independently and compared. The information that was abstracted included characteristics of the study population, study design details, details of the intervention (app or website), the methodology used to develop the app or website, details on the app or website, the impact of receiving web-based results for patients (on the aforementioned patient-centered outcomes), and details on the analyses used. For papers referring to a published study protocol, we obtained the study protocol paper to obtain the full methodological details of the study. After data abstraction, we had the missing information from all 9 studies. We contacted the authors of all the studies via email to inquire about missing information, and authors of 4 studies responded. As the studies were heterogeneous in design, intervention delivered, and outcome measures used, we summarized the abstracted data qualitatively because a meta-analysis was not possible.

Quality Assessment

We assessed the quality of the included studies using the Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT) version 2018 [34-36]. MMAT is a quality assessment instrument that is useful for assessing qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods studies. We noticed that several studies included a qualitative component (eg,

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24092
```

RenderX

multimethods and mixed methods studies); therefore, we chose to use MMAT over Cochrane Risk of Bias tool, which is not able to review these qualitative components. We used MMAT to review study quality, but we did not exclude any study based on the score as our aim was to understand all the evidence that was available and use that for our development of a web-based geriatric assessment.

Data Analysis

We summarized the results using a narrative descriptive synthesizing approach. A pooled analysis was not conducted because of heterogeneity in study inclusion criteria, interventions, and outcomes.

Results

Description of Included Studies

Of the 9 studies included in this review, 4 were qualitative studies [37-40], 2 were RCTs [41,42], 2 were mixed methods studies [43,44], and 1 was a quasi-experimental controlled study [45]. Overall, 8 studies were conducted in the United States [37-42,44,45], whereas 1 was a multinational study conducted in Western Europe [43]. All 9 studies included in this systematic review were published between 2015 and 2019. The sample size of the studies ranged considerably, with qualitative studies ranging from 24 to 44 participants [37-40] and the RCTs ranging from 50 to 272 participants [41-43]. The mixed methods study

deliver condition-specific (eg, cancer, cardiovascular disease)

interventions [37,43], 1 study tested a user interface for a home

health website [40], 1 tested a web-based decision aid [42], and

1 tested a theory-based patient portal training program [41]. A

summary of the characteristics of each study included in this

systematic review is shown in Table 1.

ranged from 88 (47 for the focus group and 41 for the pilot trial) [43] to 123 participants (23 for the focus group and 100 for the phone survey) [44], whereas the quasi-experimental study had 200 participants [45]. In addition, 4 studies evaluated the attitudes and experiences of older adults with patient portals [38,39,44,45], 2 studies tested web-based apps developed to

 Table 1. Description of the included studies.

Study (refer- ence)	Study design	Location	Sample size; population	Average age (years)	Female (%)	Sampling	Intervention app or tool	Analysis
Alpert et al (2016) [39]	Qualitative	United States	31 patient inter- views; 2 focus groups of 13 health care pro- fessionals	Not reported (range 18- 79)	58	Convenience	My preventa- tive care patient portal	Critical incident technique
Baier et al (2015) [40]	Qualitative	United States	13 home health consumers; 28 case managers	71% ≥65 years; mean not reported	85	Convenience	Home health web-based app user interface	Content analy- sis
Irizarry et al (2017) [44]	Mixed methods	United States	100 older adults in phone sur- vey, 23 in focus group	Focus group: 73; phone survey: 77	Focus group: 52.2%; phone sur- vey: 46.2%	Convenience	Patient portal	Thematic analy- sis, Kruskal Wallis rank test, chi-square test
Jongstra et al (2017) [43]	Pilot RCT ^a	Western Europe	41 older adults with elevated CVD ^b risk	69	56	Random	Web-based app (HATICE) for older adults with CVD risk	Descriptive sta- tistical analysis
Loh et al (2018) [37]	Qualitative	United States	18 older adults with malignan- cy; 13 care- givers	Patient: 77; caregiver: 70	Patient: 17; caregiver: 92	Convenience	TouchStream app to deliver geriatric oncolo- gy interventions	Conventional content analysis
Nahm et al (2019) [41]	RCT	United States	272 older adults with chronic disease	70	70.2	Convenience	Theory-based patient portal e- learning pro- gram	Linear mixed model, <i>t</i> test, chi-square test
Portz et al (2019) [38]	Qualitative	United States	24 older adults with chronic disease	78	71	Stratified	Kaiser perma- nente col- orado's patient portal—my health manager	Theoretical analysis based on the technolo- gy acceptance model
Smallwood et al (2017) [42]	Pilot RCT	United States	50 older women with BMD ^c indi- cating osteope- nia or osteoporo- sis	Median 79 years; mean not reported	100	Stratified	Decision aid within patient portal for osteo- porosis	ANOVA, <i>t</i> test, chi-square test
Toscos et al (2016) [45]	Quasi-experi- mental con- trolled	United States	200 patients with significant CAD ^d	Average age not reported; 58% older than 66 years	27.5	Not reported	Personal health record	Linear regres- sion, <i>t</i> test, Cochran-Man- tel-Haenszel test

^aRCT: randomized controlled trial.

^bCVD: cardiovascular disease.

^cBMD: bone mineral density.

^dCAD: coronary artery disease.

Quality of Studies Included

The application of MMAT to each study included in this review is shown in Multimedia Appendix 2. Overall, there were no studies of high quality that looked at the effect of web-based screening without the presence of a health care provider on older

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24092
```

RenderX

adults or evidence-based eHealth design. Most studies that were included had small sample sizes [42-44] and used convenience sampling [37,39-41,44], thereby increasing the risk of selection bias. We were unable to determine if the outcome assessors were blinded in all RCTs [41,42], and we were unsure how randomization was performed in one of the RCTs [42]. In half

of the qualitative studies included in this systematic review, we were unable to determine if there was coherence between the qualitative data source, analysis, and interpretation [37,40].

The results of our systematic review are stated in the order of our aims. First, we review our findings on how receiving health screening in a web-based environment affects satisfaction, perceived harm, quality of life, and health care utilization by older adults. Second, we consolidate evidence-based recommendations on how to design eHealth tools that are useful and engaging for older adults.

Objective 1: Effects of Health Screening in a Web-Based Environment

A total of 7 studies in this review evaluated the effects of receiving health screening tests or results in a web-based environment without the presence of a health care provider on older adult participants' satisfaction (n=6), perceived harm (n=5), and quality of life (n=5) [37-39,41,42,44,45]. No studies included in this review reported on the effect of eHealth tools

on health care use by older adults. The main findings of these studies are shown in Table 2. Screening results from eHealth tools were generally well received by older adults, but several studies suggested that older adults felt anxious about using new technology [37,38,41,44]. In total, 63% of patients in the study by Loh et al [37] found the TouchStream health app, used to deliver geriatric interventions to older adults with cancer, enjoyable to use. A total of 20 participants (87%) in the study by Irizarry et al [44] felt that patient portals were generally useful. Five physicians (56%) in the study by Alpert et al [39] suggested that the investigated patient portal improved patient empowerment. Participants in the study by Portz et al [38] indicated that the Kaiser Permanente patient portal improved patient-provider communication and saved patients time and money. Older women with osteoporosis felt more prepared to make treatment decisions after using the web-based decision-making tool designed and studied by Smallwood et al [42]. Most participants in the same study [42] were able to complete the web-based decision aid, although 5 participants (17%) entered the information incorrectly.

Table 2. Effects of receiving health information in web-based environment for older adults.

Study	Satisfaction	Perceived harm	Quality of life	Health care use
Alpert et al (2016) [39]	Patients found the portal useful for instant- ly accessing medical information. This feature accounted for more than half of the positive incidents recorded. Patients appreciated receiving laboratory test	A total of 11% of negative inci- dents were because of patients having difficulty interpreting labo- ratory test results. Patients were concerned when information was incorrect or not updated. There were more negative incidents (n=82, 72.6%) than positive inci- dents (n=31, 27.4%)	Physicians (n=5, 56%) suggested that the portal made patients feel empowered	NS ^a
Irizarry et al (2017) [44]	A total of 87% (n=20) of participants generally felt that the patient portal was useful. Participants with both low and high health literacy expressed interest in portal training. Participants who had experienced chronic illness praised the convenience of web-based laboratory results	57% of participants (n=13) had anxiety and frustrations about us- ing technology because of their perceived lack of technological skills. This caused them to rely on family members to use the patient portal	NS	NS
Loh et al (2018) [37]	Most patients (n=10, 63%) and caregivers (n=8, 73%) enjoyed using the eHealth app to connect with their care providers and manage their health. Most patients or caregivers found the health app easy to use	One patient (6%) suggested that the app may be difficult for some- one with less experience using technology	25% (4/16) of patients commented that the app would be most useful for patients living alone	NS
Nahm et al (2019) [41]	NS	NS	Patient portal training improved user health decision-making, patient- provider communication, and eHealth literacy. At 4 months after patient portal training, changes in self-efficacy (P =.02) and patient portal usage (P =.03) were signifi- cant	NS
Portz et al (2019) [38]	Users suggested the patient portal was useful for accessing health information and communicating with their health care providers	Users were anxious that program updates would cause the portal to become unfamiliar or too difficult to use	Users believed the patient portal saved them time and money	NS
Smallwood et al (2017) [42]	Participants were able to complete the web-based decision aid with minimal assistance. Subjects who used the decision aid compared with those who did not use it felt more prepared to make decisions about their treatment (P <.001)	Some patients (n=5, 17.2%) incor- rectly entered information into the decision tool	NS	NS
Toscos et al (2016) [45]	The mean activation of participants was of the highest possible level (level 4) throughout the study	NS	Patient activation was higher in portal users, but not statistically significant. Portal users showed health improvements at 12 months in HbA _{1c} ^b , LDL ^c , SBP ^d , and DBP ^e , but only HbA _{1c} (-0.19 ; $P=.005$) was statistically significant. BMI was unchanged throughout the study	NS

^aNS: not studied.

^bHbA_{1c}: glycated hemoglobin A1c.

^cLDL: low-density lipoprotein.

^dSBP: spontaneous bacterial peritonitis.

^eDBP: diastolic blood pressure.

Although participants were generally positive about the use of eHealth to receive screening or test results, several studies noted that older adults reported feeling anxious about using eHealth technology [38,39,44]. Participants—especially those with low

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24092

XSL•FO RenderX health literacy—felt afraid to make mistakes because of their lack of technological experience. Many of these patients commented that computer use was not common in their working environment, which accounted for their lack of experience.

These participants often avoided technology use altogether and preferred a family member accessing their patient portal on their behalf [44]. Participants in the study by Portz et al [38] noted specific anxiety about program updates to eHealth tools that made eHealth tools difficult to use after patients had learned and were comfortable with the tools. Difficulty in interpreting and applying laboratory results was also a concern among older eHealth users [39]. However, several studies noted that patients still enjoyed being able to view their laboratory results on the web [38,39].

Despite computer anxiety being common among this population, many older adults, including those with low health literacy, were still interested in learning how to use a patient portal [44]. Patient portal training may be an important solution to low confidence that prevents many older adults from utilizing patient portals. Nahm et al [41] conducted an RCT and found that a theory-based patient portal e-learning program resulted in statistically significant improvements in patient portal self-efficacy, health decision-making, patient-provider communication, and eHealth literacy 3 weeks after portal training. Patient portal self-efficacy remained significantly higher in the intervention group at 4 months [41]. Participants from several studies recommended providing an instructional video or detailed written instructions to aid platform navigation [40,43]. Participants with both high and low health literacy felt that task-based training programs were a valuable but underutilized tool to increase confidence and knowledge on how to navigate eHealth tools [44].

Objective 2: Designing eHealth Tools for Older Adults

All 9 studies included in this review provided recommendations on how to develop eHealth tools that are intuitive, useful, and engaging for older adults. The specific recommendations can be divided into 3 basic categories: (1) user interface (how the participant interacts with the eHealth tool), (2) functionality (what the participant wants the eHealth tool to do), and (3) information included (what the participant wants the eHealth tool to say). A summary of the recommendations can be found in Table 3.

Table 3. Older adult and investigator recommendations for eHealth tools.

Theme and study Older adult recommendation		Investigator recommendation			
User interface					
Alpert et al (2016) [39]	Write information as bulleted listsDictionary to look up challenging terminology	 Create an interactive user interface Use images that represent the information being presented Use motivational voice, not passive voice 			
Baier et al (2015) [40]	 If the page requires scrolling to view all the content, add a pop-up to remind the user to scroll down Allow users the option to increase font size Results and health information should be easily printed The web-based apps should be optimized for mobile devices 	 Avoid writing in all caps Use serif fonts Use contrasting colors to enhance readability Provide prompts for functions Write at a sixth-grade reading level, limit technical language Include definitions for medical terms Directly label graphs Limit comparisons with 3-4 points 			
Jongstra et al (2017) [43]	 Use language that focuses on health rather than disease Log-in passwords should not be complicated Include interactive features Health information should be easily printed 	 Use large font size Use simple and consistent layout with large buttons Use images and distinct colors to facilitate page navigation Include audio option 			
Loh et al (2018) [37]	N/A ^a	 Ensure reliable internet access Provide stylus for touchscreen devices Provide a list of voice options if audio included Optimize the app for mobile phones and tablets Ensure screen brightness, font and color are easily readable 			
Portz et al (2019) [38]	• Use larger font and contrasting colors	N/A			
Smallwood et al (2017) [42]	N/A	• Automatic entry of patient's lab scores to decrease incorrect information			
Functionality					
Alpert et al (2016) [39]	 Ability to communicate with the physician regarding information received on the portal Seamless and intuitive password retrieval 	• Ability for physician to confirm if their patient viewed or understood the information provided to them			
Baier et al (2015) [40]	• Add detailed instructions at the beginning of the eHealth tool to help users learn how to navigate the tool	N/A			
Irizarry et al (2017) [44]	• Include task-based training to help users understand how to navigate the different features of the patient portal	 Integrate the patient portal with in-person clinical encounters Allow personnel to edit missing or inaccurate information in the patient portal 			
Jongstra et al (2017) [43]	 Provide a way for patients to ask questions about navigating the online platform Include an instructional video to aid in platform navigation 	• Include games, goal setting, automated messages among other interactive features to motivate eHealth use			
Loh et al (2018) [37]	• Participants found functions including appointments, medications, nutrition, and exercise reminders helpful	 If symptom reporting is included, ensure that feedback is provided on reported symptoms Provide digital activity tracker when exercise interven- tion is recommended Incorporate nonmedical functions such as social activ- ities, jokes, games, etc 			
Nahm et al (2018) [41]	N/A	• Implement patient portal training for older adults			



Theme and study	Older adult recommendation	Investigator recommendation
Portz et al (2019) [38]	• Participants were interested in using e-visits and chat functions with providers	• Portal designers should consider including functions that integrate eHealth with physical clinic visits
Information included		
Alpert et al (2016) [39]	 Include personalized, not generic health information Patients appreciated receiving laboratory results but sometimes had difficulty interpreting them 	N/A
Jongstra et al (2017) [43]	• Provide practical and reliable health information	N/A
Loh et al (2018) [37]	N/A	• Tailor interventions and activities to the individual
Toscos et al (2016) [45]	N/A	• Apply a user-centered design approach to tailor the portal to the specific population that it is designed for

^aN/A: not applicable.

User Interface

A total of 7 studies made recommendations regarding how to design a user interface that is accommodating for older adults [37-40,42,43]. Most of the design recommendations suggested how to develop platforms that are easier to read and navigate. Recommendations included using a simple layout with large font, contrasting colors, and images that relate to the content [37-40]. Participants also wanted the technology to work seamlessly, with uncomplicated log-in, the ability to print information, and the ability to use the tool on smartphones and tablets [37,40,43]. Participants not only focused on the visuals and layout but also the tone, with recommendations for eHealth tools to use language that is motivating and positive and focuses on health rather than disease [39,43]. Finally, several studies recommended using an interface that is interactive to engage the user and encourage them to continue using the eHealth tool [39,43].

Functionality

A total of 7 studies identified functions that participants found most useful to be included in an eHealth tool [37-41,43,44]. A common suggestion among older adults was to include detailed instructions within the eHealth tool [20,40,43,44]. Several suggestions were given as to how instructions should be included. Participants in the study by Baier et al [40] recommended detailed written instructions accessible within the eHealth tool. Participants in the study by Irizarry et al [44] suggested that task-based training was most helpful for learning how to navigate the tool. Alternatively, instructional videos and communication methods that allowed participants to ask questions about navigating the platform were recommended by participants in the study by Jongstra et al [43].

Both authors and participants of 3 studies commented that the eHealth tool should be integrated with the in-person clinical environment [38,39,44]. Participants commonly cited the ability to communicate with their physician through the eHealth tool as an enjoyable and useful feature [38,39]. Physicians generally felt that the patient portal empowered patients, but they wanted the ability to confirm if their patient viewed and understood the information provided to them via the eHealth tool [39]. Portz

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24092

RenderX

et al [38] suggested using face to face or phone time to encourage portal use in patients.

Finally, 2 studies recommended including fun, interactive features such as games, jokes, social activities, or automated motivational messages to promote tool use and make the tool more enjoyable for older adults [37,43].

Information Included

A total of 4 studies made recommendations regarding which information older adults found most useful to include in an eHealth tool [37,39,43,45]. Two studies found that personalized health information is more useful and engaging for older adults than generic health information [37,39]. Toscos et al [45] suggested that applying a user-centered design approach to the development of eHealth tools may promote the inclusion of information that is more tailored to older adults. Participants also wanted practical and reliable health information included in the eHealth tool [43].

Discussion

Principal Findings

The aims of this systematic review were two-fold. First, we were interested in understanding how receiving health screening in a web-based environment without the presence of a health care provider affects satisfaction, perceived harm, quality of life, and health care use by older adults. Second, we were interested in consolidating evidence-based recommendations on how to design eHealth tools that are useful and engaging for older adults. We found that older adults generally had positive experiences with receiving test results via eHealth tools, and numerous features have been suggested to enhance patients' web-based experiences. Although much literature is available on the impact of eHealth tools for younger patients, older adults represent a unique subgroup of patients whose needs differ greatly [46-48]. To the best of our knowledge, there are currently no systematic reviews on the effects of receiving health screening or results via eHealth tools either on older adults' health care satisfaction, perceived harms, quality of life, or health care use or on the optimal design for eHealth tools for older adults. It is important to understand the unique experiences

of older adults because they are often less proficient with technology than younger patients are and may require different supports [49]. As a rapidly growing population of health care consumers, older adults are positioned to benefit greatly from the use of eHealth tools if these tools are designed in ways that are attractive to older adults.

From the 9 studies included in our review, several key themes emerged. Multiple studies noted that while older adults were generally optimistic about eHealth tools, lack of technology experience and fear of failure were barriers to use [37,38,44]. Both older adults and researchers recommended detailed instructions and comprehensive training to improve older adults' confidence in using eHealth tools [40,41,43,44]. Although it is encouraging that most older adults found receiving screening tests and results via eHealth to be useful, there is currently not enough research available to draw conclusions on the impact of receiving test results in a web-based environment without the presence of health care providers on older adult satisfaction, perceived harm, and quality of life. The possible harms of providing older adults with screening results via eHealth tools are anxiety caused by technology use, confusion among older adults who may be unable to interpret their results, and disparity caused by those who are less likely to benefit from eHealth tools because of low technology or health literacy. We were unable to find any information on the effect of eHealth screening tools on older adult health care utilization and hence cannot recognize any trends or draw any conclusion on health care use.

There were substantial recommendations from the studies included in this systematic review on how to design eHealth tools for older adults. A user interface that is accessible and intuitive to older adults is imperative for promoting tool uptake and use and was the most commonly made recommendation provided by older adults. Further recommendations included ensuring that the layout and text used in the tool is accessible to users with vision or hearing impairments and is logical to those with less technological experience. Furthermore, eHealth tools should be enjoyable for older adults to use. Designing a tool that includes interactive features, uses a positive tone, and ensures a seamless technological experience creates an environment that promotes eHealth tool uptake.

To promote eHealth use among older adults, the tools must provide functions and content that are useful for older adults. Participants emphasized the importance of integrating the eHealth tools with the physical clinic environment by facilitating communication with their physicians. Older adults suggested that personalized information, interventions, and activities were more useful and engaging than generic recommendations.

How Does This Compare With the Literature?

Although there are several systematic reviews that investigate the effect of eHealth tools on healthy aging outcomes such as physical activity, diet, and psychological well-being [50-52], we were unable to find a systematic review that investigated the effects of receiving screening results without the presence of health care providers in older adults. Furthermore, we were unable to find a systematic review that consolidated evidence-based recommendations for designing eHealth tools for older adults. Kampmeijer et al [53] completed a systematic

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24092
```

review on the use of eHealth tools in health promotion and primary prevention for older adults. Similar to our findings, Kampmeijer et al [53] found that usability and accessibility were important facilitating factors in older adults' use of eHealth tools [53]. Buyl et al [52] completed a systematic review on the effect of eHealth interventions on healthy aging outcomes such as physical activity, psychological well-being, and overall health. Similar to our study, Buyl et al [52] were unable to draw conclusions on most health-related outcomes as they also found the quality of studies to vary considerably and the certainty of evidence to be low. However, Buyl et al [52] found that eHealth tool use improved older adults' physical activity. Strengthening digital competency was a critical component of encouraging eHealth tool use among older adults, which is similar to our finding that older adults desire training programs to feel confident in using eHealth tools. However, our study differs from those by Buyl et al [52] and Kampmeijer et al [53] because both studies investigated eHealth tools that encouraged physical activity, psychological well-being, and primary prevention strategies for older adults, whereas we investigated tools that provided screening results to older adults without health care providers present. Furthermore, Narasimha et al [54] completed a systematic review of the optimal design of telemedicine for older adults. Encouragingly, the authors found that older adults were generally positive about their experience with telehealth, although a lack of confidence with technology and physical impairments (for example, hearing difficulty) proved to be a challenge. These results are similar to our findings that although older adults are optimistic and willing to use eHealth tools, designing tools that accommodate common physical impairments and include training are important for user confidence and uptake. Our systematic review is different from Narasimha et al [54] because we investigated evidence-based recommendations for developing eHealth tools, not telemedicine.

Limitations

After removing duplicate and irrelevant papers, a small number of studies were used for our final analysis, which limits the generalizability of our findings. Although many titles and abstracts were found, we applied the RCT filter as we were interested in studies that examined the intervention ideally to a comparator group. However, few studies used an RCT design, and 4 studies used a qualitative design. By applying the RCT filter, it is possible that we may have missed additional qualitative studies. However, the gold standard for evaluating interventions is the RCT design, and these studies, including quasi-experimental studies, would have been identified in our search. Furthermore, most of the studies used convenience sampling to recruit participants, which introduces significant selection bias. In addition, the studies often had small sample sizes of less than 100 patients. These limitations further constrain the applicability of the results to larger and more diverse populations. Finally, many studies did not look at the sustainability of portal use, or the duration of follow-up was not reported. Therefore, it is unclear if any benefits that were identified are sustained over a significant period.

XSL•FO RenderX

Implications

Our findings suggest that although older adults are generally satisfied with receiving screening tests and results via eHealth tools, improper design, and lack of confidence with technology are common barriers to use in this population. Patients and caregivers should initially receive basic training on how to use eHealth tools to mitigate patient concerns (eg, about complex user interfaces) and minimize the impact of low computer literacy. To optimize the usability of eHealth tools, they should include customizable features (such as alerts, medication reminders, and appointment scheduling) as well as easy-to-read displays (eg, with large fonts and contrasting colors). In addition, eHealth tools should be integrated with physical clinic visits to facilitate communication between patients and their health care providers. By incorporating these features routinely into the design of patient portals, older adults will be more likely to embrace technology that can potentially improve their health. However, our review demonstrates that the literature on this topic remains sparse, and there is a need to further study the effects of eHealth tools on important patient-centered outcomes such as satisfaction, perceived harm, quality of life, and health care use. Older patients highly value the ability to remain at home, and avoiding emergency room visits and hospitalizations, making this an important outcome to consider in research involving older adults [8-10].

The findings from this systematic review will aid in the design of our CHAMP tool for older adults with cancer. Notably, one aim of this systematic review was to understand the impact of receiving test results in a web-based environment without the presence of health care providers on older adults. Although older adults generally appreciated receiving their results on the web, several studies noted that older adults desired the option to review their results with a health care professional. This supports our proposed CHAMP tool in which patients will use the tool to receive health care recommendations specific to their needs. Patients who are in high need of geriatric interventions will be identified and triaged to see a geriatrician. Those who are determined to have a low need for geriatric support will receive evidence-based recommendations determined by their unique health care needs and goals. These patients may also use the findings and recommendations of the CHAMP tool in discussions with their primary practitioner or oncologist. Hence, both low- and high-risk patients have the option to review and discuss the findings from the CHAMP eHealth tool with a health care professional.

The abundance of design recommendations made by older adults in the studies included in this systematic review will aid us in designing the CHAMP tool in a way that is most intuitive for older adults. Several design recommendations such as goal setting, live chat functions, and interactive games are more suited toward eHealth tools that are meant to be used longitudinally, whereas the CHAMP tool will be a one-time eHealth screening tool. However, these recommendations are still useful for researchers designing longitudinal eHealth tools for older adults.

Recommendations for Future Research

The development and use of eHealth tools among older adults are an understudied area with an opportunity for more learning, particularly given the growing uptake of eHealth tools by older adults [55]. Currently, there is not enough research available to draw conclusions about the impact of receiving test results on the web on outcomes such as satisfaction, perceived harms, quality of life, and health care use for older adults. Future studies should investigate these outcomes in controlled trials that examine the impact of receiving test results on the web without a health care provider present. Future studies should also use random sampling methods that allow for greater generalization of the results. Finally, we were unable to find any research on the long-term implications of eHealth tools on the health and well-being of older adults or on health care use. Future studies should incorporate long-term follow-up and include health care use as an outcome to understand the extent of the benefits of eHealth tools.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by a grant from the Academic Health Sciences Centres Innovation Fund of the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care. MP is supported by a Canada Research Chair in the Care of the Frail Older Adults.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 MEDLINE search. [DOCX File, 16 KB - aging_v4i1e24092_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Quality assessment of included studies assessed with the Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool. [DOCX File , 15 KB - aging v4i1e24092 app2.docx]

References



- 1. Mohile SG, Dale W, Somerfield MR, Schonberg MA, Boyd CM, Burhenn PS, et al. Practical assessment and management of vulnerabilities in older patients receiving chemotherapy: ASCO guideline for geriatric oncology. J Clin Oncol 2018 Aug 01;36(22):2326-2347 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.78.8687] [Medline: 29782209]
- Wildiers H, Heeren P, Puts M, Topinkova E, Janssen-Heijnen ML, Extermann M, et al. International Society of Geriatric Oncology consensus on geriatric assessment in older patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 2014 Aug 20;32(24):2595-2603 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JCO.2013.54.8347] [Medline: 25071125]
- 3. Reuben DB, Fishman LK, McNabney M, Wolde-Tsadik G. Looking inside the black box of comprehensive geriatric assessment: a classification system for problems, recommendations, and implementation strategies. J Am Geriatr Soc 1996 Jul;44(7):835-838. [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1996.tb03744.x] [Medline: 8675935]
- 4. McCleary NJ, Wigler D, Berry D, Sato K, Abrams T, Chan J, et al. Feasibility of computer-based self-administered cancer-specific geriatric assessment in older patients with gastrointestinal malignancy. Oncologist 2013;18(1):64-72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2012-0241] [Medline: 23287880]
- Hurria A, Akiba C, Kim J, Mitani D, Loscalzo M, Katheria V, et al. Reliability, validity, and feasibility of a computer-based geriatric assessment for older adults with cancer. J Oncol Pract 2016 Dec;12(12):e1025-e1034 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1200/JOP.2016.013136] [Medline: 27624950]
- Shahrokni A, Tin A, Downey RJ, Strong V, Mahmoudzadeh S, Boparai MK, et al. Electronic rapid fitness assessment: a novel tool for preoperative evaluation of the geriatric oncology patient. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2017 Feb;15(2):172-179 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2017.0018] [Medline: 28188187]
- 7. Sakaguchi-Tang DK, Bosold AL, Choi YK, Turner AM. Patient portal use and experience among older adults: systematic review. JMIR Med Inform 2017 Oct 16;5(4):e38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.8092] [Medline: 29038093]
- 8. Akpan A, Roberts C, Bandeen-Roche K, Batty B, Bausewein C, Bell D, et al. Standard set of health outcome measures for older persons. BMC Geriatr 2018 Feb 02;18(1):36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-017-0701-3] [Medline: 29394887]
- 9. Fleming MO, Haney TT. An imperative: patient-centered care for our aging population. Ochsner J 2013;13(2):190-193 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23789003]
- Mason NR, Sox HC, Whitlock EP. A patient-centered approach to comparative effectiveness research focused on older adults: lessons from the patient-centered outcomes research institute. J Am Geriatr Soc 2019 Jan;67(1):21-28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.15655] [Medline: 30586155]
- 11. My HealtheVet. 2016 May 17. URL: <u>https://www.myhealth.va.gov/mhv-portal-web/home</u> [accessed 2021-01-27]
- Ancker JS, Witteman HO, Hafeez B, Provencher T, Van de Graaf M, Wei E. The invisible work of personal health information management among people with multiple chronic conditions: qualitative interview study among patients and providers. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jun 04;17(6):e137 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4381] [Medline: 26043709]
- Widmer RJ, Collins NM, Collins CS, West CP, Lerman LO, Lerman A. Digital health interventions for the prevention of cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Mayo Clin Proc 2015 Apr;90(4):469-480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2014.12.026] [Medline: 25841251]
- El-Gayar O, Timsina P, Nawar N, Eid W. A systematic review of IT for diabetes self-management: are we there yet? Int J Med Inform 2013 Aug;82(8):637-652. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2013.05.006</u>] [Medline: <u>23792137</u>]
- 15. Zettel-Watson L, Tsukerman D. Adoption of online health management tools among healthy older adults: an exploratory study. Health Informatics J 2016 Jun;22(2):171-183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1460458214544047] [Medline: 25149210]
- Ferreira A, Correia A, Silva A, Corte A, Pinto A, Saavedra A, et al. Why facilitate patient access to medical records. Stud Health Technol Inform 2007;127:77-90. [Medline: <u>17901601</u>]
- Latulipe C, Gatto A, Nguyen HT, Miller DP, Quandt SA, Bertoni AG, et al. Design considerations for patient portal adoption by low-income, older adults. Proc SIGCHI Conf Hum Factor Comput Syst 2015 Apr;2015:3859-3868 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/2702123.2702392] [Medline: 27077140]
- 18. Lober WB, Zierler B, Herbaugh A, Shinstrom SE, Stolyar A, Kim EH, et al. Barriers to the use of a personal health record by an elderly population. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2006:514-518 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>17238394</u>]
- Turner AM, Osterhage K, Hartzler A, Joe J, Lin L, Kanagat N, et al. Use of patient portals for personal health information management: the older adult perspective. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2015;2015:1234-1241 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26958263]
- 20. Nahm ES, Sagherian K, Zhu S. Use of patient portals in older adults: a comparison of three samples. Stud Health Technol Inform 2016;225:354-358. [Medline: 27332221]
- Smith SG, O'Conor R, Aitken W, Curtis LM, Wolf MS, Goel MS. Disparities in registration and use of an online patient portal among older adults: findings from the LitCog cohort. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2015 Jul;22(4):888-895 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv025] [Medline: 25914099]
- 22. Montelius E, Astrand B, Hovstadius B, Petersson G. Individuals appreciate having their medication record on the web: a survey of attitudes to a national pharmacy register. J Med Internet Res 2008 Nov 11;10(4):e35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1022] [Medline: 19000978]
- 23. Aalbers T, Baars M, Rikkert MO. Designing a personal health application for older adults to manage medications. In: Proceedings of the 1st ACM International Health Informatics Symposium. 2010 Presented at: ACM International Health Informatics Symposium; November, 2010; Arlington Virginia USA. [doi: 10.1145/1882992.1883124]

- 24. Goldzweig CL, Orshansky G, Paige NM, Towfigh AA, Haggstrom DA, Miake-Lye I, et al. Electronic patient portals: evidence on health outcomes, satisfaction, efficiency, and attitudes: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med 2013 Nov 19;159(10):677-687. [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-159-10-201311190-00006] [Medline: 24247673]
- Laine C, Davidoff F. Patient-centered medicine. A professional evolution. J Am Med Assoc 1996 Jan 10;275(2):152-156. [Medline: <u>8531314</u>]
- 26. Schulkes KJ, Nguyen C, van den Bos F, Hamaker ME, van Elden LJ. Patient-centered outcome measures in lung cancer trials. Lung 2016 Aug;194(4):647-652. [doi: 10.1007/s00408-016-9903-2] [Medline: 27287676]
- 27. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. URL: <u>https://training.cochrane.org/</u> <u>cochrane-handbook-systematic-reviews-interventions</u> [accessed 2021-01-27]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009 Jul 21;6(7):e1000097 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097] [Medline: 19621072]
- 29. The Cochrane Collaboration. Technical Supplement to Chapter 4: Searching for and selecting studies. In: Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6. United Kingdom: Cochrane Training; 2019.
- Eady AM, Wilczynski NL, Haynes RB. PsycINFO search strategies identified methodologically sound therapy studies and review articles for use by clinicians and researchers. J Clin Epidemiol 2008 Jan;61(1):34-40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2006.09.016] [Medline: 18083460]
- 31. Glanville J, Dooley G, Wisniewski S, Foxlee R, Noel-Storr A. Development of a search filter to identify reports of controlled clinical trials within CINAHL Plus. Health Info Libr J 2019 Mar;36(1):73-90. [doi: 10.1111/hir.12251] [Medline: 30737884]
- 32. Wong SS, Wilczynski NL, Haynes RB. Developing optimal search strategies for detecting clinically sound treatment studies in EMBASE. J Med Libr Assoc 2006 Jan;94(1):41-47 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>16404468</u>]
- 33. Better systematic review management. Covidence. URL: <u>https://www.covidence.org/</u> [accessed 2021-01-27]
- Hong QN, Gonzalez-Reyes A, Pluye P. Improving the usefulness of a tool for appraising the quality of qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods studies, the Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT). J Eval Clin Pract 2018 Jun;24(3):459-467. [doi: 10.1111/jep.12884] [Medline: 29464873]
- 35. Hong QN, Pluye P, Fàbregues S, Bartlett G, Boardman F, Cargo M, et al. Improving the content validity of the mixed methods appraisal tool: a modified e-Delphi study. J Clin Epidemiol 2019 Jul;111:49-59.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2019.03.008] [Medline: 30905698]
- 36. Pace R, Pluye P, Bartlett G, Macaulay AC, Salsberg J, Jagosh J, et al. Testing the reliability and efficiency of the pilot Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT) for systematic mixed studies review. Int J Nurs Stud 2012 Jan;49(1):47-53. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2011.07.002] [Medline: 21835406]
- 37. Loh KP, Ramsdale E, Culakova E, Mendler JH, Liesveld JL, O'Dwyer KM, et al. Novel mHealth app to deliver geriatric assessment-driven interventions for older adults with cancer: pilot feasibility and usability study. JMIR Cancer 2018 Oct 29;4(2):e10296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10296] [Medline: 30373733]
- 38. Portz JD, Bayliss EA, Bull S, Boxer RS, Bekelman DB, Gleason K, et al. Using the technology acceptance model to explore user experience, intent to use, and use behavior of a patient portal among older adults with multiple chronic conditions: descriptive qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2019 Apr 08;21(4):e11604 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11604] [Medline: 30958272]
- Alpert JM, Krist AH, Aycock RA, Kreps GL. Applying multiple methods to comprehensively evaluate a patient portal's effectiveness to convey information to patients. J Med Internet Res 2016 May 17;18(5):e112 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5451] [Medline: 27188953]
- 40. Baier RR, Cooper E, Wysocki A, Gravenstein S, Clark M. Using qualitative methods to create a home health web application user interface for patients with low computer proficiency. EGEMS (Wash DC) 2015;3(2):1166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.13063/2327-9214.1166] [Medline: 26290893]
- Nahm ES, Zhu S, Bellantoni M, Keldsen L, Russomanno V, Rietschel M, et al. The effects of a theory-based patient portal e-learning program for older adults with chronic illnesses. Telemed J E Health 2019 Oct;25(10):940-951 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2018.0184] [Medline: 30431393]
- Smallwood AJ, Schapira MM, Fedders M, Neuner JM. A pilot randomized controlled trial of a decision aid with tailored fracture risk tool delivered via a patient portal. Osteoporos Int 2017 Feb;28(2):567-576. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00198-016-3767-4</u>] [Medline: <u>27647529</u>]
- 43. Jongstra S, Beishuizen C, Andrieu S, Barbera M, van Dorp M, van de Groep B, et al. Development and validation of an interactive internet platform for older people: the healthy ageing through internet counselling in the elderly study. Telemed J E Health 2017 Feb;23(2):96-104. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2016.0066] [Medline: 27463120]
- 44. Irizarry T, Shoemake J, Nilsen ML, Czaja S, Beach S, DeVito Dabbs A. Patient portals as a tool for health care engagement: a mixed-method study of older adults with varying levels of health literacy and prior patient portal use. J Med Internet Res 2017 Mar 30;19(3):e99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7099] [Medline: 28360022]
- 45. Toscos T, Daley C, Heral L, Doshi R, Chen YC, Eckert GJ, et al. Impact of electronic personal health record use on engagement and intermediate health outcomes among cardiac patients: a quasi-experimental study. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 Jan;23(1):119-128. [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv164] [Medline: 26912538]

- Whitehead L, Seaton P. The effectiveness of self-management mobile phone and tablet apps in long-term condition management: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2016 May 16;18(5):e97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4883] [Medline: 27185295]
- Ross J, Stevenson F, Lau R, Murray E. Factors that influence the implementation of e-health: a systematic review of systematic reviews (an update). Implement Sci 2016 Oct 26;11(1):146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-016-0510-7] [Medline: 27782832]
- de la Torre-Díez I, López-Coronado M, Vaca C, Aguado JS, de Castro C. Cost-utility and cost-effectiveness studies of telemedicine, electronic, and mobile health systems in the literature: a systematic review. Telemed J E Health 2015 Feb;21(2):81-85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2014.0053] [Medline: 25474190]
- 49. Levine DM, Lipsitz SR, Linder JA. Trends in seniors' use of digital health technology in the United States, 2011-2014. J Am Med Assoc 2016 Aug 02;316(5):538-540. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.9124] [Medline: 27483069]
- 50. Aalbers T, Baars MA, Rikkert MG. Characteristics of effective internet-mediated interventions to change lifestyle in people aged 50 and older: a systematic review. Ageing Res Rev 2011 Sep;10(4):487-497. [doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2011.05.001] [Medline: 21628005]
- 51. Robbins TD, Lim Choi Keung SN, Arvanitis TN. E-health for active ageing; A systematic review. Maturitas 2018 Aug;114:34-40. [doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2018.05.008] [Medline: 29907244]
- 52. Buyl R, Beogo I, Fobelets M, Deletroz C, Van Landuyt P, Dequanter S, et al. e-Health interventions for healthy aging: a systematic review. Syst Rev 2020 Jun 03;9(1):128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13643-020-01385-8] [Medline: 32493515]
- Kampmeijer R, Pavlova M, Tambor M, Golinowska S, Groot W. The use of e-health and m-health tools in health promotion and primary prevention among older adults: a systematic literature review. BMC Health Serv Res 2016 Sep 05;16 Suppl 5:290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1522-3] [Medline: 27608677]
- 54. Narasimha S, Madathil KC, Agnisarman S, Rogers H, Welch B, Ashok A, et al. Designing telemedicine systems for geriatric patients: a review of the usability studies. Telemed J E Health 2017 Jun;23(6):459-472. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2016.0178</u>] [Medline: <u>27875667</u>]
- 55. Tech Adoption Climbs Among Older Adults. Pew Research Center. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2017/05/</u> 17/tech-adoption-climbs-among-older-adults/ [accessed 2021-01-27]

Abbreviations

CHAMP: Comprehensive Health Assessment for My Plan mHealth: mobile health MMAT: Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses RCT: randomized controlled trial

Edited by J Wang; submitted 03.09.20; peer-reviewed by T Risling, A Kapoor; comments to author 24.11.20; revised version received 10.12.20; accepted 06.01.21; published 09.02.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> McLean B, Hossain N, Donison V, Gray M, Durbano S, Haase K, Alibhai SMH, Puts M Providing Medical Information to Older Adults in a Web-Based Environment: Systematic Review JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e24092 URL: <u>https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e24092</u> doi:<u>10.2196/24092</u> PMID:<u>33560228</u>

©Bianca McLean, Nazia Hossain, Valentina Donison, Mikaela Gray, Sara Durbano, Kristen Haase, Shabbir Muhammad Husayn Alibhai, Martine Puts. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 09.02.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Impact of Social Media on Health-Related Outcomes Among Older Adults in Singapore: Qualitative Study

Madeline Han¹, BSocSci; Xin Yi Tan², BSocSci, MPH; Rachael Lee¹, BPsych; Jeong Kyu Lee², BS, MA, PhD; Rathi Mahendran^{1,3}, MBBS, MMed, MMEd

¹Department of Psychological Medicine, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

²Saw Swee Hock School of Public Health, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

³Academic Development Department, Duke-NUS Medical School, Singapore, Singapore

Corresponding Author:

Rathi Mahendran, MBBS, MMed, MMEd Department of Psychological Medicine Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine National University of Singapore 1E Kent Ridge Road, NUHS Tower Block, Level 9 Singapore, 119228 Singapore Phone: 65 67723893 Email: pcmrathi@nus.edu.sg

Abstract

Background: The worldwide spread of digitalization has led to the harnessing of technology to improve health outcomes. Paying attention to older adults' social needs via social media is one way to promote healthy aging. Although 56% of older adults are smartphone users, little is known about their use patterns of social media.

Objective: This exploratory study aims to determine the experiences of social media apps' use among older adults in Singapore and understand their perceptions of its impact on health-related outcomes.

Methods: This study used a qualitative research design with an interpretative approach. Using maximum variation purposive sampling, normal aging older adults (N=16) who were aged between 60 and 80 years and experienced in the use of internet-enabled technology were recruited from an existing community study. Semistructured, in-depth interviews were conducted. Employing a thematic analysis, interviews were transcribed verbatim and analyzed for codes inductively.

Results: The following themes and subthemes were identified as key moderators of older adults' experiences on social media apps: (1) personal attitudes: participants were encouraged to use social media due to the increased accessibility, which enabled the ease of contact, but perceptions that the quality of interactions was compromised and its associated risks reduced their use; and (2) social influences: the desire to bond with co-users and the availability of support increased use. In addition, use of social media apps was perceived to positively impact health through its ability to keep older adults cognitively engaged, improve health communication, and increase social connectedness. However, opinions remained mixed on older adults' vulnerability to social media addiction.

Conclusions: Personal and social contexts determine older adults' social media use. This study's findings provide practical insights into how social media can be deployed to improve health-related outcomes in older adults.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e23826) doi:10.2196/23826

KEYWORDS

aging; social media; health; qualitative research; communication; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

Technological advances provide opportunities to meet the social needs of older adults and to educate and empower them on health-related matters. Social media refers to internet-based platforms that use an electronic means of communication to enable social interactions via the consumption, generation, sharing, and exchange of ideas and content by users within their virtual communities [1]. It includes social messaging apps (eg, WhatsApp), social networking sites (SNSs, eg, Facebook), and media-sharing apps (eg, Instagram). These platforms yield benefits over traditional communication modalities, such as telephones and regular text messaging, as real-time updates and communications are not bound by geographical distances [2]. The audiovisual functionalities of social media permit the sharing of pictures, videos, and audio recordings, which trigger the realism of depicted activities and increase feelings of being socially present [3]. In addition, the level of interactivity offered on SNSs is positively associated with greater social bonding with family members [4].

The internet is a preferred source of health information for older internet users [5,6], rendering it a potential tool to improve health communications for older adults. Health blogs and online support groups on SNSs could serve as useful resources for disease management in older adults [7,8], psychological well-being [9], and cognitive functioning [10,11]. However, there is limited research investigating the potential negative health impact of social media among older adults.

The feasibility of social media as a health promotion tool depends on the acceptance of technology. The traditional view is that a digital divide exists [12], with older adults typically being slower than younger adults in adopting new technology. Although research suggests that functional limitations such as cognitive impairment limit capacities to adapt to new technology, older adults are more likely to adopt the technology if they are personally interested and willing to invest in the effort to learn and use the technology [13-15], possess beliefs in self-efficacy [16], and are socially motivated to engage in intergenerational communication with family members [4,13,17]. Fears of privacy breaches [13,14,17,18], a lack of confidence [15,19], and perceptions that web-based communication is trivial [18,19] are some barriers to social media use. These findings indicate that social media use largely hinges on older adults' own attitudes and beliefs, implying an artifactual digital divide that can potentially be overcome.

Objectives

One of the ways to access social media is the use of social media apps on smartphones. In Singapore, approximately 56% of those aged 60 years and above are smartphone users; 73% have used it to access internet-enabled platforms, including social media apps [20]. Furthermore, Singapore has actively pushed to become a *Smart Nation* with several initiatives to increase information technology literacy in seniors, including short courses to promote skills learning (eg, operating a smartphone)

and becoming *social media–savvy* [21]. From a public health perspective, with the growing adoption of smartphones and Singapore's move toward a *Smart Nation*, it appears that social media apps could be tapped on as useful platforms to promote health-related outcomes among older adults. An understanding of older adults' perceptions of social media apps could also enable us to evaluate the utility of social media apps as health promotion tools in this age group.

However, despite the potential offered by social media apps, there seems to be scarce literature investigating older adults' perceptions and attitudes specifically toward social media apps. Although a previous local study examined smartphone adoption and identified generally positive attitudes toward smartphone use among older adults [22], it is unclear whether smartphone use encompasses use of social media apps. Furthermore, much of the current research focuses on attitudes toward either SNSs only (eg, Facebook) [17] or technology acceptance in general [13]. Hence, this study seeks to extend the literature by (1) exploring the experiences of older adults in Singapore in their use of social media apps in enabling interactions and (2) understanding their perceptions of how social media app use influences health-related outcomes. As this was an exploratory study, no a priori hypotheses were made.

Methods

Study Design and Sampling

This study employed a qualitative research design with an interpretative approach. The study sample was recruited from the Community Health and Intergenerational (CHI) study of community-living older adults aged 60 years and above in Singapore [23]. The CHI study is an existing 3-year cohort study that aims to comprehensively investigate health profiles of 1000 older adults by looking at the biological, psychological, and social factors associated with the aging process [23].

The following inclusion criteria were established: (1) age between 60 and 80 years, (2) normal aging (established in neuropsychological tests in the CHI study), and (3) experience with use of internet-enabled technology (determined by smartphone ownership and ability to operate it). In addition to the above, maximum variation purposive sampling was used to ensure diversity of views and opinions. To this end, key participants from different genders, age groups, language of communication, and living arrangements were selected from the list of eligible participants who met the inclusion criteria.

Procedure

Written informed consent was obtained from all participants. At the start of each interview, participants were asked to list the social media apps they used and indicate the frequency of use of each app (to quantify use patterns). Semistructured, in-depth interviews were conducted with an interview guide (Textbox 1), which was developed from a systematic review of factors found to influence technology adoption to support aging-in-place [24]. Participants also answered additional questions on their social media use and its impact on health.



Textbox 1. Interview guide (factors and examples of interview questions).

Concerns	regarding	technology	and benefits	of technology
Concerns	reguianing	teennoio5,	und benefitto	or teennology

• "Can you give me an example of a benefit/drawback of social media?"

Need for technology

- "What made you decide to start using social media?"
- "What do you use social media for?"
- "(For low-frequency users) Why do you feel that social media is not important to you?"

Available alternatives to technology

- "What are the differences between social media apps and traditional communication platforms?"
- "If there is no social media, how do you think your communication would be like?"

Social influences

• "How do your friends/family members feel about your social media usage?"

Impact of social media use on health

- "In your opinion, do you feel that social media has any direct or indirect impact on health?"
- "Can you give me some examples of a time when you felt that social media affected your health?"

Interviews were conducted by a single trained interviewer in either English or Mandarin and were audio recorded. Participants were free to respond in colloquial speech [25]. Data analysis was conducted concurrently with the interviews, and recruitment ceased when thematic saturation was reached with 16 participants (S01 to S16). Interviews lasted approximately 1 hour and 2 minutes (SD 13.4 minutes) and were conducted between February and May 2019. Ethics approval was granted by the National University of Singapore Institutional Review Board (S-18-379).

Data Analysis

Interviews were transcribed verbatim. To mitigate reporting bias on time spent on social media, transcripts were further examined for details of older adults' use patterns before categorizing into low, average, and high. A thematic analysis with an inductive approach was used to identify and categorize codes using the QSR NVivo 12 software [26]. The transcripts were coded line by line. Two coders were involved in data coding and analysis. To increase inter-rater reliability, one coder coded 5 random transcripts, whereas another coded the rest. The coders then discussed the preliminary codes, subthemes, and key themes that emerged and resolved discrepancies to ensure coherence in the interpretation of the themes. Transcripts were reread, and coding ceased when further analyses did not produce new codes. Two interviews conducted in Mandarin were translated directly to English by an independent research assistant proficient in both languages. These transcripts were cross-checked to ensure that there were no discrepancies and that nuances in communication were captured appropriately.

Results

Overview

A total of 16 participants participated in this study. Table 1 summarizes the sociodemographic information of the participants. All participants used multiple social media apps. Of the 16 participants, 100% (16/16) used Facebook and WhatsApp, 69% (11/16) used YouTube, 31% (5/16) used Twitter, and 25% (4/16) used Instagram. Participants were categorized into low-, average-, and high-frequency social media app users based on the time spent on social media apps per day and their use patterns. Among the 16 participants, 31% (5/16) were low-frequency users (spends <1 hour on social media apps per day and uses social media apps on the move), 44% (7/16) were average-frequency users (spends at least 1 hour on social media apps per day and uses social media apps on the move), and 25% (4/16) participants were high-frequency users (spends at least 1 hour on social media apps per day and sets aside dedicated times to use social media apps).



Table 1. Sociodemographic data of participants (N=16) and the distribution of social media use by sociodemographic groups.

Characteristics	Total sample (N=16), n (%)	Social media us	e per characteristic		
		Low, n (%)	Average, n (%)	High, n (%)	
Gender					
Female	8 (50)	2 (25)	3 (38)	3 (38)	
Male	8 (50)	1 (13)	4 (50)	3 (38)	
Age group (years) ^a					
60-69	12 (75)	4 (33)	7 (58)	1 (8)	
70-79	4 (25)	1 (25)	N/A ^b	3 (75)	
Language of communication ^c					
English	14 (88)	5 (36)	5 (36)	4 (29)	
Mandarin	2 (13)	N/A	2 (100)	N/A	
Housing type					
1-2 room public housing	3 (19)	2 (67)	N/A	1 (33)	
3, 4, or 5 room public housing	4 (25)	1 (25)	2 (50)	1 (25)	
Executive apartment or maisonette	2 (13)	1 (50)	N/A	1 (50)	
Private housing	7 (44)	1 (14)	5 (71)	1 (14)	

^aMean age 66.19 years (SD 5.69).

^bN/A: not applicable.

^cMean schooling 15 years (SD 3.41).

The findings revealed 2 main issues related to social media apps' use among older adults. First, we found that social media apps' use among participants was moderated by personal attitudes and social influences. Second, participants perceived social media apps' use as both positive and negative influences on health-related outcomes.

Social Media Use Moderators

Two major themes were found to be key moderators of participants' social media apps' use: (1) personal attitudes and (2) social influences. Each theme was further divided into subthemes, representing factors that determined the frequency of social media apps' use (Table 2).

Table 2. Overview of themes and subthemes: older adults' experience in their use of social media apps.

Theme		
	Increases use	Reduces use
Personal attitudes	• Accessibility in enabling ease of contact	Compromised quality of communicationPerceptions of risks
Social influences	The desire to bondAvailability of support	N/A ^a

^aN/A: not applicable.

Theme 1: Personal Attitudes

Accessibility in Enabling Ease of Contact

All 16 participants unanimously agreed that with the advent of social media, initiating contact with peers and loved ones and group communications is easier compared with the past when they only relied on traditional modes of communication, such as text messaging and phone calls:

In my parents' time, he (father) had to make an effort to call his friends,...somebody must organize for them to meet. Whereas now with WhatsApp, it's just a touch of the phone! [S02]

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23826/
```

RenderX

As most social media apps have no cap on use and are free to use, it encouraged more liberal and frequent contact. Participants expressed an overt preference for them:

Some people call in must pay. So they tend to have the phobia there that you call me, they dare not talk long. [S13]

Compromised Quality of Communication

Some participants (n=3), however, perceived the quality of communication over social media to be compromised. It did not afford the same kind of emotional intimacy, such as "the feeling of the other person" that face-to-face interactions provide

(S16). Even traditional communication tools, such as phone calls, were perceived as "more personal" (S13).

Ironically, the ease of contact led participants to perceive web-based interactions as brief and superficial in nature:

You want to wish people, you just put a picture then "happy birthday"—there is no contact, nothing. I'd rather call the person. The sincerity is not there. [S06]

Insofar as a willingness to share, social media provides unfiltered access to the personal moments of one's lives in real time. Some participants (n=6) perceived such communication to be trivial and excessive, noting that it "takes up a lot of the person who has to look at it, but may not be interesting enough" (S16). Describing them to be "active in a very senile way" (S12), some participants (n=3) expressed their annoyance at peers who exhibited such tendencies and actively avoided their content when surfing social media:

I have this friend; she would upload all her photos on her Facebook. Full 80 photos..., what is the purpose? I wouldn't bother to look through. [S11]

Perceptions of Risks

As new adopters of digital technology, several participants (n=11) stated that they are vulnerable to risks, as social media permits unfettered access to others whose intentions remain unknown. Participants pointedly refrained from self-disclosure on social media and took precautions to avoid posting self-identifying details:

I always tell them not to do too much (posting of personal photos), there are people who edit and put funny things inside. [S13]

Yet, while exercising caution in their posting habits and being selective in who they added to their networks, participants remained undeterred by security risks, as they "enjoy reading other people things on Facebook." Moreover, S11 highlighted the importance of context in allaying these fears. The knowledge that Singapore is a relatively safe and crime-free country meant that she did not perceive being *open* on social media as a threat:

Privacy to me, there is nothing to fear. Singapore is safe-lah. If I were in [name of country], I wouldn't dare to be so active. [S11]

Theme 2: Social Influences

Two main social influences shape older adults' experiences on social media apps: (1) the desire to bond with co-users and (2) the availability of support from their social network.

The Desire to Bond

All participants (n=16) cited keeping up with others as the primary motivation in their social media use. Older adults saw its adoption as an opportunity to bridge the intergenerational communication gap and to bond with younger family members:

Because I see the children using, I just want to link with my grandchildren. [S14]

Even for participants who were minimally active in their use by choice, they raised a caveat that despite their aversion, they valued the access granted by these platforms to be more involved in their family's lives:

Another motivation is like my friends say there are things that my children are doing but I don't know. I better get on to see what they are doing. [S08]

Availability of Support

Participants reported the availability of different sources of support as motivation to use social media. These included family members (n=5) and peers (n=6). For example, when encountering difficulties with social media, participants would enlist the help of younger members of their social networks deemed to be "more knowledgeable" (S03). One participant credited her proficiency in social media use to being "lucky to have children"; she could easily learn by simply "ask(ing) them and they will tell me and teach me" (S11). The converse view was validated by S08, who cited the lack of support from her "less than encouraging" children as a reason for her lack of presence on these apps:

My children will only say, nobody teach me how to do it. Because of that, I'm still not on it.

As with family, peer influence was important in shaping older adults' experiences. Digitally literate peers were usually the first point of contact for participants to learn about new social media apps:

Normally is friend recommend—my group of friends say, we use this app, so I will use. [S01]

Participants exhibited greater willingness to use apps introduced by these peers and judged their recommendations as safe. As S01 explained, "Should be they (peers) won't harm you-lah." Often, these peers were the *go-to* people when participants needed help with the apps, if their children were too *impatient* or *fast* for them to follow. This support was emphasized by S07, who noted that although his own family members were "quite discouraging" when he attempted to grasp the use of Facebook, his colleagues rendered assistance to him and helped to "start (an account) for him."

Novice peers were equally important in facilitating social media use. S13 explained that the support she received from her peers while learning together in a group setting had a positive effect on her emotional well-being:

It helps me in that I'm not the only one that my grandchildren are not helping, I always have to go to friends, I'm not the only one. You don't feel neglected. [S13]

Perceived Influence on Health-Related Outcomes

Participants perceived social media apps' use as both a health benefit and a health threat. Specifically, social media use was perceived to bring about positive outcomes, as it keeps older adults cognitively engaged, improves health communication, and increases social connectedness. Opinions remained mixed on whether social media addiction was perceived as a potential health threat among older adults.

Theme 1: Cognitive Engagement

Social media use allowed older adults to remain cognitively engaged. Some participants noted that social media use provided an avenue for them to acquire new skills and keep cognitively engaged postretirement (n=11), whereas others noted that social media use helped them to maintain their language skills (n=2).

Although it was daunting to grasp new knowledge and learn to use multiple functions, participants reported being motivated to learn more and sign up for courses. They viewed these learning opportunities as helping them stay "alert" (S13), such that "they won't go senile and get dementia" (S05). Older adults perceive user-generated content on social media apps as a means to compensate for the lack of cognitive engagement as they transit into retirement. For instance, S03 described the experience of posting photos on Instagram as a way to "see your creativity" with his photography skills. Beyond developing technical expertise, the spread of fake news and misinformation on social media hones older adults' abilities to judge the credibility of its content:

You know how to differentiate whether good or bad. Not all news give(s) you the correct information, so you're more sharp of that. [S03]

Other participants cited concerns over their linguistic abilities post retirement and viewed social media posting as a way to "sharpen the brain," such that "the spelling, the use of words will not be dropped off from your memory" with old age (S08).

S12 credited social media use to provide an outlet for him to articulate his opinions on news topics, which allowed him to practice his writing and thinking skills:

Being able to even write things every day. How you construct a sentence, how you convey an idea...it should help with your cognitive ability.

However, S12 highlighted that those who "are the type who just forward" may not be cognitively engaged if thinking is not involved.

All participants (n=16) acknowledged that they used social media as an alternative news source. As S08 explained, social media is an additional channel to receive up-to-date news, more than what she would have been exposed to via traditional media:

It does get me into reading more than what I'm already reading or watching.

Theme 2: Health Communication

Participants agreed that social media increased their accessibility to a wealth of health knowledge. This ranged from common health information on nutrition (n=4), complementary and alternative medicine (n=6), or advice that advocates engagement in behavior (eg, special exercise techniques) to prevent age-related decline (n=2):

They give you like what (health food) to eat more, what fruits are good, bad..., like "oh eat more ginger." [S01]

Participants particularly appreciated the access to individuals who they saw as unofficial health experts and perceived health information from these sources to be more valuable than those from their own clinicians. As S14 remarked:

All doctor(s) want you to pay money one.

However, some participants (n=2) acknowledged that with the ease of posting on social media, information circulating on social media is largely unfiltered and can be *contradictory*. The experience of trying to discern the legitimate sources of health information was *confusing* for some, and they explained the following:

For every information they share, the video says it's good, there's another one that says it's not good. [S12]

A few participants (n=5) opined that as older adults, they are cognizant of this and are "mature enough not to fall into the trap." (S02). Some (n=3) attempted to cross-check with other news sources, such as other media platforms, to establish its veracity:

Sometimes I go YouTube to check whether true or not. [S01]

One participant regarded traditional news media as a source of scientific authority and used it as a heuristic in deciding on what they read was believable:

When I see on TV the news is correct. But other news like Panadol, they say don't take because can cause what, I won't forward. Because I didn't see in the news. [S13]

Theme 3: Social Connectedness

S02 opined that in the past when the quality of information and communications technology (ICT) was weaker, opportunities to socialize tended to diminish with age because it was difficult to sustain interactions on a regular basis. In contrast, with social media, the ease of contact meant that its frequency will consequently increase, enabling tangible opportunities for interactions and allowing relationships to withstand time:

Look at my mother, she retired not into social media, her world became smaller and smaller. I think when I reach 80, I would have a wider base because of social media. [S02]

Moreover, older adults appreciated that they were able to harness the power of social media to improve or expand existing social networks (n=9). A core feature of SNSs is that they aid the discovery of lost contacts, and few participants (n=7) reported becoming reacquainted with individuals they had previously lost touch with. Recounting an episode where she reconnected with some ex-classmates from an old photo that was posted on a Facebook alumni page, S01 noted:

I feel good. It's just to get to know my own friends, some maybe pass away already, or they have been doing well. I just want to know their well-being only.

Importantly, this initial contact facilitates offline interactions as well. S11 related:

...through Facebook, I got connected to my school friends (from [name of country]). We managed to meet up and have a reunion!

However, S06 felt that the increased reliance on web-mediated interactions worsened the quality of relationships in real life:

People get so distant. Social media doesn't help you to be a social person, it gets you more onto a machine.

Theme 4: Addiction

Participants were divided on whether social media addiction was a consequence of its use. One participant reasoned that as older adults grew up in an era where the use of technology was less integral to everyday life, older adults would be less dependent on social media and did not perceive addiction to be a problem for their age group:

They don't have this habit from young. They picked up the knowledge only in the later stage. So it is something extra, rather than essential. [S09]

Others (n=4) felt that due to their life experiences, older adults are more likely to be more "disciplined" and "aware" of the frequency of use of their smartphones as compared with youths (S02). As such, they are better able to manage the time spent on social media more effectively.

Nonetheless, with the wide variety of social media apps and the wealth of information and functions each offer, some participants (n=4) noted that new users could become deeply captivated by social media to the extent that they may be inclined to overuse it. As S05 explained:

Those who start to explore, go deep into it.

Other participants (n=4) reasoned that with postretirement, the amount of leisure time at older adults' disposal significantly increased, allowing them to spend more time on other activities. These participants found themselves vulnerable to the allure of social media:

At one stage, I was doing this too much. Older people, especially when you are free you see. So, you tend to answer, do this. [S13]

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study extends prior work by investigating older adults' perceptions of social media in Singapore, with a particular focus on social media apps' use. Consistent with existing literature, older adults' social media use depends on personal and social contexts [13]. Despite perceived security threats, personal contexts such as personal attitudes and accessibility to communications encouraged social media use. In addition, older adults reported the desire to bond and support from others as motivations for using social media.

Of particular interest to our study are the health-related outcomes brought about by social media use. The remainder of this discussion, thus, focuses on these outcomes and the accompanying consequences. The utility of social media in health promotion for older adults, particularly in the area of healthy aging, was also evaluated.

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23826/

Social Media and Health-Related Outcomes

Cognitive Engagement

In this study, the role of cognition in influencing social media use was apparent—social media provided an avenue for older adults to remain cognitively engaged, while reducing their fears of future cognitive deficits. Other studies have also found that the acquisition of technical skills through social media use was associated with better neuropsychological test scores among novice older users [10,11]. Some have posited that an association exists between sociality and cognition, such that interacting with others improves cognitive functioning due to the multiple inferential processes involved [27,28]. The increased frequency of contact enabled by social media could be a possible mediating factor between sociality and cognition.

Improved Health Communication

Social media can be used for health communication purposes owing to its wide reach and availability of different sources of information. Interestingly, although one could obtain health information from formal sources such as physicians and health institutions, older adults appreciated the ability to acquire health information from informal sources via social media, such as individuals they deem as unofficial health experts. This highlights the importance of social relations in health communication—older adults are more likely to seek and obtain health information from individuals with whom they are socially connected (including both web-based and offline relations), compared with those who they have no connections with (eg, formal health sources). With the ability to connect to informal health sources via multiple channels, health communication is enhanced with social media use.

Although there is increased access to health information, those provided by informal sources may not be scientifically accurate, rendering the evaluation of their legitimacy challenging [29]. In addition, the sensationalism of health news [30] and the brevity of social media news increase the likelihood of readers receiving false information from them. Older adults are often vulnerable to web-based scams, and those aged above 65 years have been found to be 7 times as likely to share fake news than younger users [31]. Although older adults are aware of the need to establish the veracity of news encountered on social media, their strategies in doing so may be questionable. This suggests the need for further interventions to foster digital literacy skills among older adults to help them better evaluate health news. Different strategies, such as face-to-face classes and blended learning workshops [32,33], could be adopted to teach digital literacy skills to older adults.

Increased Social Contact and Connectedness

This study indicates that the accessibility of social media in enabling communication and its consequent increase in social contact present a means to preserve dispersed social relationships as older adults transit into retirement. Additional social contact could enrich the quality of social relationships and enhance emotional well-being, as evidenced by studies that found that SNS use was associated with perceptions of feeling valued and supported through their social networks and deriving greater satisfaction with life [34,35].
However, an increase in social contact may not necessarily translate to social connectedness. This is dependent on the motivations behind social media use: whether engagement with others is motivated by the *reward* of prospective social ties or by the desire to avoid the negative feelings associated with social isolation [36]. For the former, social media strengthens relationships and increases social connectedness. For the latter, time spent on social media is seen as time spent away from real-life interactions, which are perceived to generate greater value [36]. Moreover, if efforts made to initiate web-based contact with other co-users are not reciprocated, the effectiveness of social media in improving social connectivity may be limited [37].

The varying views of the value of web-based social interactions suggest that social media supplements, rather than replaces the need for offline, face-to-face interactions. As can be seen from our findings, those with positive social media experiences emphasized the ease of facilitating offline interactions (eg, reunions with acquaintances or meet-ups with their social circles) as a key benefit of social media. Thus, for social media use to be meaningful, web-based interactions should be positive; rewarding; and present opportunities for fostering additional offline, face-to-face interactions. Beyond encouraging social media use, future intervention programs should also aim to provide more opportunities for older adults to connect with others through offline interactions.

Risk of Addiction

Social media addiction, characterized by its excessive use and lack of self-control over use habits, is a potential health concern. Although little has been elucidated for older adults, a Norwegian study reported that approximately 1% of those aged 60 to 74 years were found to be at risk for internet addiction [38]. The prevalence of internet and social media addiction is expected to rise with the rapid spread of digitalization today. Considering this, the findings of this study that some older adults perceive themselves as invulnerable to social media addiction and the possibility of excessive social media use due to an increase in leisure time postretirement warrant concerns.

Social Media and Healthy Aging

Potential in Reducing Social Isolation and Loneliness

Older adults are often at a high risk of social isolation, as their social networks begin to shrink. In Singapore, 73.4% of older adults are at least at a moderate risk of social isolation [39]. Furthermore, social isolation is associated with poorer health and cognitive outcomes such as increased mortality and multimorbidity risks [40] and increased risk of developing dementia [41]. Thus, social isolation is a public health concern.

Older adults with physical disabilities are at an even higher risk of social isolation. Nonambulant individuals are physically limited in the range of social activities they can engage in [42], whereas those with hearing disorders may deliberately choose to socially withdraw due to potential difficulties in verbal communication [43]. For these individuals, social media may be an effective tool to facilitate social interactions and contact, as they will not be bounded by physical spaces or abilities. Previous studies have cited the successful use of internet training

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23826/
```

and access in reducing social isolation [44-46], suggesting the possibility of tapping on digital technologies and platforms for potential interventions. Future research could explore how social media could be used to ameliorate social isolation among older adults, especially those with physical disabilities.

Although often conflated, social isolation and loneliness are 2 different states. The former is a quantitative measure of social network sizes, whereas the latter is the subjective feeling of being socially isolated. In Singapore, even among older adults deemed to be at low risk of social isolation, 44.7% were *sometimes lonely* or *mostly lonely* [39], highlighting the different social needs of these 2 groups. At present, evidence supporting the effectiveness of social media in reducing loneliness remains mixed [47,48]. Furthermore, the greater visibility into the lives of their contacts afforded by the increased access on social media may abet upward social comparison and intensify feelings of loneliness [49]. Future research could be directed toward elucidating how lonely older adults perceive social media use, to determine its utility in meeting their social needs.

Support for Learning

It is crucial to ensure a conducive learning environment (with instrumental support) for older adults. The formation of peer learning communities could prove to be beneficial, where social media literate older adults could be engaged as volunteers to support novice users in their learning on using social media. The utility of peer learning in seniors is well documented [50-52]. Specifically, in the area of ICT, even the most proficient seniors would have encountered similar experiences in their initial forays into social media and would thus be better positioned to advise new users on the knowledge of social media apps than the younger generation [53]. Venues such as senior activity centers could be tapped upon to facilitate these group sessions.

Role in Successful Aging

According to Rowe and Kahn [54], successful aging comprises 3 components: maintenance of physical and cognitive functioning, delayed onset of diseases and disability, and continued engagement in social relations and meaningful activities. Although cognitive and physiological deficits experienced in older adulthood are results of age and genetic predispositions, modifiable extrinsic factors such as lifestyle habits play a part as well. Social media use could, therefore, act as modifiable factors and potentially promote successful aging by providing older adults an avenue for cognitive engagement, while facilitating meaningful web-based and offline social interactions at the same time [54]. Moreover, as older adults value the importance of contributing back to society [55], the aforementioned recommendation allows older adults to remain engaged in meaningful activities when they volunteer to assist their peers on social media navigation.

Strengths and Limitations

One of the strengths of this study was the strong rapport the interviewer had with all participants. Consequently, participants were comfortable throughout the interviews, were forthcoming about their experiences, and did not hesitate to share their personal struggles with social media apps. This ensured the

XSL•FO RenderX

credibility of the data. Having a second coder outside of the study team also enhanced the confirmability of the findings. The use of maximum variation purposive sampling provided diverse views. Older adults were well represented across gender, age groups, living arrangements, and language of communication. Importantly, the study included non-novice users whose social media use was low. This was in contrast with existing qualitative research on ICT use, where they predominantly focused on novice users and the barriers faced toward technology adoption [19,56,57]. Our study, thus, allowed for a wider consideration of barriers across different user groups. Barriers faced by non-novice users are likely to be different from novice users, and both groups should not be conflated together.

The findings of our study may have limited transferability due to the inherent characteristics of the sample. Participants in this sample are more highly educated, having received 15 years of education on average. This demographic profile was to be expected, as participants had relatively high educational attainment in the original CHI study. The findings of this study should be interpreted in consideration of this limitation. Furthermore, using smartphone ownership as an inclusion criterion could limit this sample to only affluent participants, as older adults tend to view smartphone ownership as a status symbol [22]. Although this possibility was mitigated with the inclusion of participants residing in 1-and 2-room housing flats, further research could be conducted specifically on older adults with lower income and education levels.

Conclusions

The study examined the social media experiences of older adults in Singapore as well as their perceptions of social media in promoting health-related outcomes. Our findings showed that the decision to use social media is dependent on personal and social contexts, and the various socialization experiences suggest that social media benefits do not apply to everyone. Nonetheless, our findings highlight multiple health benefits that could be achieved with social media, such as cognitive engagement, improved health communications, and increase in social connectedness. Health care professionals, researchers, or nonprofit organizations interested in delivering health-related information could look into using social media as a potential psychosocial intervention for older adults. Furthermore, for older adults who express keen interest in learning to use social media, every effort should be directed toward providing the necessary infrastructure to navigate the pitfalls of social media effectively.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank all the participants for agreeing to participate in the study. XT would also like to thank her CHI study colleagues NS, PQ, JC, and AP for assisting with the recruitment of participants. This work was supported by Research Donations from Kwan Im Thong Hood Cho Temple and Lee Kim Tah Holdings Pte Ltd, under the Mind Science Centre, Department of Psychological Medicine, National University of Singapore.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Kaplan AM, Haenlein M. Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of social media. Bus Horiz 2010 Jan;53(1):59-68. [doi: 10.1016/j.bushor.2009.09.003]
- Hogeboom DL, McDermott RJ, Perrin KM, Osman H, Bell-Ellison BA. Internet use and social networking among middle aged and older adults. Educ Gerontol 2010 Jan 5;36(2):93-111. [doi: <u>10.1080/03601270903058507</u>]
- 3. Sundar SS. The MAIN model: a heuristic approach to understanding technology effects on credibility. In: Metzger MJ, Flanagin AJ, editors. Digital Media, Youth, and Credibility. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press; 2008:73-100.
- 4. Jung EH, Sundar SS. Senior citizens on Facebook: how do they interact and why? Comput Hum Behav 2016 Aug;61:27-35. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.02.080]
- 5. Modahl M, Tompsett L, Moorhead T. Doctors, patients & social media. QuantiaMD. 2011. URL: <u>http://www.quantiamd.com/</u> <u>q-qcp/social_media.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-07-01]
- Medlock S, Eslami S, Askari M, Arts DL, Sent D, de Rooij SE, et al. Health information-seeking behavior of seniors who use the internet: a survey. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan 8;17(1):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3749] [Medline: 25574815]
- Miller EA, Pole A. Diagnosis blog: checking up on health blogs in the blogosphere. Am J Public Health 2010 Aug;100(8):1514-1519. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2009.175125] [Medline: 20558802]
- Bender JL, Jimenez-Marroquin M, Jadad AR. Seeking support on facebook: a content analysis of breast cancer groups. J Med Internet Res 2011 Feb 4;13(1):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1560] [Medline: 21371990]
- 9. Zhou J. Improving older people's life satisfaction via social networking site use: evidence from China. Australas J Ageing 2018 Mar;37(1):E23-E28. [doi: 10.1111/ajag.12499] [Medline: 29388297]
- Myhre JW, Mehl MR, Glisky EL. Cognitive benefits of online social networking for healthy older adults. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2017 Sep 1;72(5):752-760. [doi: <u>10.1093/geronb/gbw025</u>] [Medline: <u>26984523</u>]

- Quinn K. Cognitive effects of social media use: a case of older adults. Soc Media Soc 2018 Jul 19;4(3):205630511878720. [doi: <u>10.1177/2056305118787203</u>]
- 12. Toh EM. The Big Read: Feeling Lost in a Digital World, Some Elderly Shun Technology. Today. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.todayonline.com/singapore/big-read-feeling-lost-digital-world-some-elderly-shun-technology</u> [accessed 2019-06-21]
- Peek ST, Luijkx KG, Rijnaard MD, Nieboer ME, van der Voort CS, Aarts S, et al. Older adults' reasons for using technology while aging in place. Gerontology 2016;62(2):226-237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000430949] [Medline: 26044243]
- 14. Wang S, Bolling K, Mao W, Reichstadt J, Jeste D, Kim H, et al. Technology to support aging in place: older adults' perspectives. Healthcare (Basel) 2019 Apr 10;7(2):- [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/healthcare7020060] [Medline: 30974780]
- Vaportzis E, Clausen MG, Gow AJ. Older adults perceptions of technology and barriers to interacting with tablet computers: a focus group study. Front Psychol 2017 Oct 4;8:1687 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01687] [Medline: 29071004]
- Czaja SJ, Charness N, Fisk AD, Hertzog C, Nair SN, Rogers WA, et al. Factors predicting the use of technology: findings from the Center for Research and Education on Aging and Technology Enhancement (CREATE). Psychol Aging 2006 Jun;21(2):333-352 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.21.2.333] [Medline: 16768579]
- 17. Nef T, Ganea RL, Müri RM, Mosimann UP. Social networking sites and older users a systematic review. Int Psychogeriatr 2013 Jul;25(7):1041-1053. [doi: 10.1017/S1041610213000355] [Medline: 23552297]
- 18. Jung EH, Walden J, Johnson AC, Sundar SS. Social networking in the aging context: Why older adults use or avoid Facebook. Telematics Informatics 2017 Nov;34(7):1071-1080. [doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2017.04.015]
- Lehtinen V, Näsänen J, Sarvas R. "A little silly and empty-headed" older adults' understandings of social networking sites. Proceedings of the 23rd British HCI Group Annual Conference on People and Computers: Celebrating People and Technology; Cambridge, United Kingdom: BCS Learning & Development Ltd; 2009 Presented at: People and Computers XXIII Celebrating People and Technology (HCI); 1-5 September 2009; Cambridge. [doi: <u>10.14236/ewic/hci2009.6</u>]
- 20. Infocomm Media Development Authority. Annual survey on infocomm usage in households and by individuals for 2017. Singapore: Infocomm Media Development Authority; 2018. URL: <u>https://www.imda.gov.sg/-/media/Imda/Files/</u> <u>Industry-Development/Fact-and-Figures/Infocomm-Survey-Reports/HH2017-Survey.pdf</u> [accessed 2019-07-02]
- 21. Council for Third Age. Short Courses. National Silver Academy. URL: <u>https://www.nsa.org.sg/allcourses.php</u> [accessed 2019-07-04]
- 22. Pang N, Zhang X, Vu S, Foo S. Smartphone use by older adults in Singapore. Gerontechnology 2014;13(2):270-270. [doi: 10.4017/gt.2014.13.02.324.00]
- Lee RZ, Yu J, Rawtaer I, Allen PF, Bao Z, Feng L, et al. CHI study: protocol for an observational cohort study on ageing and mental health in community-dwelling older adults. BMJ Open 2020 May 4;10(5):e035003 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-035003] [Medline: 32371513]
- 24. Peek ST, Wouters EJ, van Hoof J, Luijkx KG, Boeije HR, Vrijhoef HJM. Factors influencing acceptance of technology for aging in place: a systematic review. Int J Med Inform 2014 Apr;83(4):235-248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.01.004] [Medline: 24529817]
- 25. Leimgruber J. Singapore English: Structure, Variation, and Usage. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 2013.
- 26. NVivo qualitative data analysis software.: QSR International Pty Ltd URL: <u>https://www.qsrinternational.com/</u> <u>nvivo-qualitative-data-analysis-software/about/nvivo</u>
- Ybarra O, Burnstein E, Winkielman P, Keller MC, Manis M, Chan E, et al. Mental exercising through simple socializing: social interaction promotes general cognitive functioning. Pers Soc Psychol Bull 2008 Feb;34(2):248-259. [doi: 10.1177/0146167207310454] [Medline: 18212333]
- James BD, Wilson RS, Barnes LL, Bennett DA. Late-life social activity and cognitive decline in old age. J Int Neuropsychol Soc 2011 Nov;17(6):998-1005 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/S1355617711000531] [Medline: 22040898]
- 29. Madathil KC, Rivera-Rodriguez AJ, Greenstein JS, Gramopadhye AK. Healthcare information on YouTube: a systematic review. Health Informatics J 2015 Sep;21(3):173-194. [doi: <u>10.1177/1460458213512220</u>] [Medline: <u>24670899</u>]
- Bomlitz LJ, Brezis M. Misrepresentation of health risks by mass media. J Public Health (Oxf) 2008 Jun;30(2):202-204 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pubmed/fdn009] [Medline: 18281322]
- 31. Guess A, Nagler J, Tucker J. Less than you think: prevalence and predictors of fake news dissemination on Facebook. Sci Adv 2019 Jan;5(1):eaau4586 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aau4586] [Medline: 30662946]
- 32. Seo H, Erba J, Altschwager D, Geana M. Evidence-based digital literacy class for older, low-income African-American adults. Journal of Applied Communication Research 2019 Mar 11;47(2):130-152. [doi: 10.1080/00909882.2019.1587176]
- Martínez-Alcalá CI, Rosales-Lagarde A, Alonso-Lavernia MD, Ramírez-Salvador J, Jiménez-Rodríguez B, Cepeda-Rebollar RM, et al. Digital inclusion in older adults: a comparison between face-to-face and blended digital literacy workshops. Front. ICT 2018 Aug 28;5. [doi: 10.3389/fict.2018.00021]
- 34. Silva FL, De Marchi AC, Scortegagna SA. Facebook as a social support environment for older adults. Univ Psychol 2018 Jul 6;17(3):1-11. [doi: <u>10.11144/javeriana.upsy.17-3.fsse</u>]
- 35. Grieve R, Indian M, Witteveen K, Anne Tolan G, Marrington J. Face-to-face or Facebook: can social connectedness be derived online? Comput Hum Behav 2013 May;29(3):604-609. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.11.017]

- 36. Ahn D, Shin D. Is the social use of media for seeking connectedness or for avoiding social isolation? Mechanisms underlying media use and subjective well-being. Comput Hum Behav 2013 Nov;29(6):2453-2462. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.12.022]
- Karimi A, Neustaedter C. From high connectivity to social isolation: communication practices of older adults in the digital age. New York: Association for Computing Machinery; 2012 Presented at: Proceedings of the ACM 2012 conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work Companion; February 2012; Seattle. [doi: 10.1145/2141512.2141559]
- Bakken IJ, Wenzel HG, Götestam KG, Johansson A, Oren A. Internet addiction among Norwegian adults: a stratified probability sample study. Scand J Psychol 2009 Apr;50(2):121-127. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1467-9450.2008.00685.x</u>] [Medline: 18826420]
- Chan A, Raman P, Ma S, Malhotra R. Loneliness and all-cause mortality in community-dwelling elderly Singaporeans. DemRes 2015 Jun 3;32:1361-1382. [doi: <u>10.4054/demres.2015.32.49</u>]
- 40. Holt-Lunstad J, Smith TB, Baker M, Harris T, Stephenson D. Loneliness and social isolation as risk factors for mortality: a meta-analytic review. Perspect Psychol Sci 2015 Mar;10(2):227-237. [doi: 10.1177/1745691614568352] [Medline: 25910392]
- Fratiglioni L, Wang HX, Ericsson K, Maytan M, Winblad B. Influence of social network on occurrence of dementia: a community-based longitudinal study. Lancet 2000 Apr 15;355(9212):1315-1319. [doi: <u>10.1016/S0140-6736(00)02113-9</u>] [Medline: <u>10776744</u>]
- 42. Victor CR, Scrambler SJ, Bowling A, Bond J. The prevalence of, and risk factors for, loneliness in later life: a survey of older people in Great Britain. Ageing Soc 2005 Apr 22;25(6):357-375. [doi: 10.1017/s0144686x04003332]
- 43. Mick P, Kawachi I, Lin FR. The association between hearing loss and social isolation in older adults. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2014 Mar;150(3):378-384. [doi: 10.1177/0194599813518021] [Medline: 24384545]
- 44. White H, McConnell E, Clipp E, Branch LG, Sloane R, Pieper C, et al. A randomized controlled trial of the psychosocial impact of providing internet training and access to older adults. Aging Ment Health 2002 Aug;6(3):213-221. [doi: 10.1080/13607860220142422] [Medline: 12217089]
- 45. Slegers K, van Boxtel MPJ, Jolles J. Effects of computer training and internet usage on the well-being and quality of life of older adults: a randomized, controlled study. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci 2008 May;63(3):P176-P184. [Medline: 18559683]
- 46. Fokkema T, Knipscheer K. Escape loneliness by going digital: a quantitative and qualitative evaluation of a Dutch experiment in using ECT to overcome loneliness among older adults. Aging Ment Health 2007 Sep;11(5):496-504. [doi: 10.1080/13607860701366129] [Medline: 17882587]
- 47. Wang Y, Matz-Costa C, Miller J, Carr DC, Kohlbacher F. Uses and gratifications sought from mobile phones and loneliness among japanese midlife and older adults: a mediation analysis. Innov Aging 2018 Sep;2(3):igy027 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/geroni/igy027] [Medline: 30480146]
- 48. Pittman M, Reich B. Social media and loneliness: Why an Instagram picture may be worth more than a thousand Twitter words. Computers in Human Behavior 2016 Sep;62:155-167. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.084</u>]
- 49. Chou HG, Edge N. 'They are happier and having better lives than I am': the impact of using Facebook on perceptions of others' lives. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2012 Feb;15(2):117-121. [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2011.0324] [Medline: 22165917]
- 50. Clark F, Heller A, Rafman C, Walker J. Peer learning: A popular model for seniors education. Educ Gerontol 1997 Jan;23(8):751-762. [doi: 10.1080/0360127970230801]
- 51. Buonocore S, Sussman-Skalka C. Project insights: an evaluation of a community vision education project for older adults. Educational Gerontology 2002 Apr;28(4):289-299. [doi: 10.1080/036012702753590406]
- 52. Peel NM, Warburton J. Using senior volunteers as peer educators: what is the evidence of effectiveness in falls prevention? Australas J Ageing 2009 Mar;28(1):7-11. [doi: 10.1111/j.1741-6612.2008.00320.x] [Medline: 19243369]
- 53. Xie B. Information technology education for older adults as a continuing peer-learning process: a Chinese case study. Educational Gerontology 2007 Apr 16;33(5):429-450. [doi: 10.1080/03601270701252872]
- 54. Rowe JW, Kahn RL. Successful aging. Gerontologist 1997 Aug;37(4):433-440. [Medline: 9279031]
- 55. Mathews M, Straughan PT. Results from the perception and attitudes towards ageing and seniors survey (2013/2014). Research Collection School of Social Sciences (Paper 2220) 2014.
- 56. Xie B, Watkins I, Golbeck J, Huang M. Understanding and changing older adults' perceptions and learning of social media. Educ Gerontol 2012 Apr 1;38(4):282-296 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/03601277.2010.544580] [Medline: 22639483]
- 57. Pfeil U, Zaphiris P, Wilson S. Older adults' perceptions and experiences of online social support. Interacting Computers 2009 Jul;21(3):159-172. [doi: 10.1016/j.intcom.2008.12.001]

Abbreviations

CHI: Community Health and Intergenerational **ICT:** information and communications technology **SNS:** social networking site

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23826/
```

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 25.08.20; peer-reviewed by W Tang, A Ghenai; comments to author 18.11.20; revised version received 13.01.21; accepted 18.01.21; published 17.02.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Han M, Tan XY, Lee R, Lee JK, Mahendran R Impact of Social Media on Health-Related Outcomes Among Older Adults in Singapore: Qualitative Study JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e23826 URL: http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23826/ doi:10.2196/23826 PMID:33595437

©Madeline Han, Xin Yi Tan, Rachael Lee, Jeong Kyu Lee, Rathi Mahendran. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 17.02.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Technology-Assisted Home Care for People With Dementia and Their Relatives: Scoping Review

Sarah Palmdorf¹, MSc; Anna Lea Stark², MSc; Stephan Nadolny^{3,4}, MSc; Gerrit Eliaß⁵, MA; Christoph Karlheim⁵, PhD; Stefan H Kreisel⁶, MD, MSc; Tristan Gruschka⁷, MA; Eva Trompetter⁶, MSc; Christoph Dockweiler², Prof Dr

⁷Faculty of Social Studies, Bielefeld University of Applied Sciences, Bielefeld, Germany

Corresponding Author:

Christoph Dockweiler, Prof Dr Centre for ePublic Health Research School of Public Health Bielefeld University Universitätsstraße 25 Bielefeld, 33615 Germany Phone: 49 521106437 Email: christoph.dockweiler@uni-bielefeld.de

Abstract

Background: Assistive technologies for people with dementia and their relatives have the potential to ensure, improve, and facilitate home care and thereby enhance the health of the people caring or being cared for. The number and diversity of technologies and research have continuously increased over the past few decades. As a result, the research field has become complex.

Objective: The goal of this scoping review was to provide an overview of the research on technology-assisted home care for people with dementia and their relatives in order to guide further research and technology development.

Methods: A scoping review was conducted following a published framework and by searching 4 databases (MEDLINE, CINAHL, PsycInfo, and CENTRAL) for studies published between 2013 and 2018. We included qualitative and quantitative studies in English or German focusing on technologies that support people with dementia or their informal carers in the home care setting. Studies that targeted exclusively people with mild cognitive impairment, delirium, or health professionals were excluded as well as studies that solely consisted of assessments without implication for the people with dementia or their relatives and prototype developments. We mapped the research field regarding study design, study aim, setting, sample size, technology type, and technology aim, and we report relative and absolute frequencies.

Results: From an initial 5328 records, we included 175 studies. We identified a variety of technology types including computers, telephones, smartphones, televisions, gaming consoles, monitoring devices, ambient assisted living, and robots. Assistive technologies were most commonly used by people with dementia (77/175, 44.0%), followed by relatives (68/175, 38.9%), and both target groups (30/175, 17.1%). Their most frequent goals were to enable or improve care, provide therapy, or positively influence symptoms of people with dementia (eg, disorientation). The greatest proportions of studies were case studies and case series (72/175, 41.1%) and randomized controlled trials (44/175, 25.1%). The majority of studies reported small sample sizes of between 1 and 50 participants (122/175, 69.7%). Furthermore, most of the studies analyzed the effectiveness (85/233, 36.5%) of the technology, while others targeted feasibility or usability or were explorative.

Conclusions: This review demonstrated the variety of technologies that support people with dementia and their relatives in the home care setting. Whereas this diversity provides the opportunity for needs-oriented technical solutions that fit individual care

¹Institute for Educational and Health-care Research in the Health Sector, Bielefeld University of Applied Sciences, Bielefeld, Germany

²Centre for ePublic Health Research, School of Public Health, Bielefeld University, Bielefeld, Germany

³Institute for History and Ethics of Medicine, Interdisciplinary Center for Health Sciences, Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Halle, Germany ⁴Nursing Science Staff Unit, Franziskus-Hospital Harderberg, Niels-Stensen-Kliniken, Georgsmarienhütte, Germany

⁵Innovation & Research, Executive Department, Evangelisches Klinikum Bethel, University Hospital OWL – Campus Bielefeld-Bethel, Bielefeld, Germany

⁶Division of Geriatric Psychiatry, Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Evangelisches Klinikum Bethel, University Hospital OWL – Campus Bielefeld-Bethel, Bielefeld, Germany

arrangements, it complicates the choice of the right technology. Therefore, research on the users' informational needs is required. Moreover, there is a need for larger studies on the technologies' effectiveness that could contribute to a higher acceptance and thus to a transition of technologies from research into the daily lives of people with dementia and their relatives.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e25307) doi:10.2196/25307

KEYWORDS

dementia; home care; assistive technologies; scoping review

Introduction

About 50 million people worldwide suffer from dementia, and there are almost 10 million new cases every year [1]. Dementia is an umbrella term that describes a syndrome, usually of a chronic nature, in which there is a disorder of several higher cortical functions: memory, thinking, orientation, language, judgment, and learning [2]. Due to the disease, people with dementia are restricted in their activities of daily life. Furthermore, the prevalence of challenging behaviors such as anxiety, hallucinations, delusions, or disinhibition is high [3-5]. Over the course of the disease, different needs for support occur. These needs range from assistance with activities of daily living (eg, personal hygiene), psychosocial support (eg, coping with the disease), and help with disorientation [6]. Nevertheless, people with dementia want to live at home as long as possible [7,8], and moving to a new environment (eg, long-term care) increases confusion, disorientation, and behavioral symptoms [9,10]. Home care is mostly provided by relatives, which can result in conflicts between the support needs and requirements of those affected and the available resources of the informal caregivers. Relatives often feel obliged [11] and have a high burden of care [12,13]. This causes tension in the family system and a feeling of being overwhelmed. As a result, the quality of care cannot be maintained, and even a move to a long-term care setting is necessary [14].

Assistive technologies can potentially maintain and support home care arrangements and consequently avoid or postpone residential care [15,16]. They have various aims, such as supporting communication [17-19], providing timely education or therapy for people with dementia and their relatives [20,21], offering assistance with daily activities (eg, cooking) [22], or reducing disease-related risks (eg, getting lost) [23]. Thereby, they encourage independence and social inclusion [15,16,24]. On the other hand, a recent study did not demonstrate a significant reduction in caregiver burden, anxiety, and depression in a large study population [25]. The evidence therefore does not seem to be clear. Barriers to the use of assistive technologies included perceptions of the high cost of formal assistive technologies; dilemmas regarding the timing and stage of technology use; and a lack of information and support from formal health and social care services about access, sources, timing, and options for use [26].

With regard to the different support domains, there is a wide diversity of assistive technologies, ranging from simple applications to complex multicomponent technologies. Assistive technologies can be defined as technological devices aimed "(...) to maintain or improve an individual's functioning and independence to facilitate participation and to enhance overall

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25307/
```

well-being" [27]. Research and development in this field has increased significantly in recent years due to technological progress, increasing demand and research funding [28]. However, the research area is very confusing due to the large number of different technologies with varying degrees of development for different target groups as well as various objectives of these technologies. We therefore conducted a scoping review to provide an overview of existing research on assistive technologies for people with dementia and their families in the home setting, guided by the research question: What types of assistive technologies are described in the current scientific literature for people with dementia and family carers to support care in the home setting?

Methods

We conducted a scoping review following the steps described by Arksey and O'Malley [29] with an extension by Levac et al [30]. The steps include (1) formulating the research question; (2) identifying relevant studies; (3) selecting relevant studies; (4) charting the data; (5) collating, summarizing, and reporting results; and (6) consultation. We did not publish a protocol for this review and used PRISMA-ScR (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews) for reporting of this review [31].

Eligibility Criteria

We included publications with qualitative or quantitative study designs focusing on technologies supporting people with dementia or their informal caregivers in the home care setting published between January 2013 and October 2018 in the German or English language. The time restriction of 5 years prior to the search date was chosen due to the rapid and significant changes that are made in the digital sector. We included studies conducted in day care centers and nursing homes because some of the technologies tested in these settings are also described as suitable for use in the home setting.

We excluded studies targeting people with mild cognitive impairment or delirium only as well as studies on electronic aids (eg, electric wheelchair) or technologies for the sole purpose of dementia assessment or diagnostics without any implication for the home care of people with dementia. Additionally, we excluded studies on technologies that are exclusively used by health professionals. We also excluded studies that only reported on technical aspects or parts of a technology (eg, interfaces or prototypes) as well as systematic reviews and study protocols.

Search Process

We searched the databases MEDLINE, CINAHL, PsycInfo, and CENTRAL up to October 2018. To develop the search

strategy, the review team brainstormed potentially important search terms, scoped relevant studies for controlled vocabulary, and searched the MeSH browser for relevant MeSH terms mapped to uncontrolled vocabulary. The search strategy was reviewed internally via the Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies (PRESS) guideline [32]. Two review authors (AS, SP) independently screened titles, abstracts, and full texts for inclusion. In cases of uncertainty, a third author (SN) was consulted.

Data Extraction and Critical Appraisal

Two study authors (AS, SP) extracted the following study characteristics using a standardized data extraction sheet and resolving differences by discussion: authors, year of publication, study design, study aim, country, setting, sample size, name of technology, type of technology, and aim of technology.

We did not perform a standardized critical appraisal of the included studies with, for example, the Cochrane Risk of Bias tool, since our goals were to give an overview and map out topics.

Synthesis

Figure 1. PRISMA flowchart.

We report the results in a structured and narrative synthesis, graphically, and in tabular form. Therefore, we grouped the studies' technologies thematically and mapped out the study designs, technology groups, and goals of the studies. Additionally, we compared the settings, target groups, and sample sizes. The trends in publication numbers as well as the inclusion of the target groups were analyzed. We report the results with descriptive statistics in absolute and relative frequencies. A brief report on the nonformalized consultation process by means of expert discussions at 2 conferences is incorporated in the discussion.

Results

The database search identified 5328 titles. After abstract and full-text screening, 158 publications describing 175 studies with a total of 10,167 participants were included. See the PRISMA flowchart [33] for the illustration of the search process (Figure 1) and the multimedia appendices for the studies' references (Multimedia Appendix 1) and study details (Multimedia Appendices 2-4). The divergent number of studies and articles can be explained by the fact that several different case studies on different technologies are combined in 1 article. These studies. In addition, different studies, which varied in design, were described in 1 article.

In order to answer the question of existing assistive technologies to support people with dementia and their relatives, a diagram was created clustering the different types of technologies under investigation (Figure 2).





Figure 2. Relative frequencies of the types of technologies in the included studies (n=175).



About half of the studies (86/175, 49.1%) addressed different applications on computers, laptops, or tablets. Furthermore, robots (25/175, 14.3%) and telephone interventions (22/175, 12.6%) were frequently studied. Among robotic systems, PARO (PARO Robots US Inc, Itasca, IL) was the most commonly covered technology (10/175, 5.7%). Other technologies such as gaming consoles (1/175, 0.6%), apps on smartphones (4/175, 2.3%), ambient assisted living (8/175, 4.6%), and monitoring systems (12/175, 6.9%) were covered less frequently.

The studies can be classified according to different study characteristics. Focusing on the target group, technologies were primarily used by people with dementia (77/175, 44.0%), their relatives (68/175, 38.9%), or both target groups (30/175, 17.1%). With regard to the technology groups presented, most of the studies in which robots were tested were conducted with people with dementia (23/25, 92%). Computer programs (16/20, 80%) and apps on tablets (9/11, 82%) were also tested most commonly with people with dementia. Telephone-based interventions (22/22, 100%), internet courses (9/9, 100%), special websites (9/9, 100%), and online social networking or support groups (8/10, 80%) were almost exclusively related to family carers. When both target groups were addressed, monitoring (7/30, 23%) and ambient assisted living systems (5/30, 17%) were examined more frequently.

With respect to the setting, 60.0% (105/175) of the studies were conducted at home, 20.0% (35/175) in nursing homes, 11.4% (20/175) in day care centers, and 5.1% (9/175) in more than one setting. Concerning the technology groups, more than two-thirds of the studies with robots were conducted in nursing homes (17/25, 68%). Telephone interventions (22/22, 100%), apps on computers (6/6, 100%), and monitoring systems (9/12, 75%) were tested exclusively or predominantly in the home setting. Computer programs were tested more frequently in day care centers (8/18, 44%) and nursing homes (5/18, 28%) than at home (3/18, 17%). Furthermore, almost all studies that focused on the relatives took place in the home environment (66/68, 97%), and studies focusing on both target groups were more likely to take place at home (19/30, 63%) than in nursing homes (8/30, 27%). People with dementia were most often studied in nursing homes (27/77, 35%). However, a similar proportion of this target group was assessed at home (20/77, 26%) and in day care centers (19/77, 25%).

Overall, the number of included publications per year was relatively stable over time, with a mean of 26 publications per year. The number varies between a minimum of 21 publications in 2016 and a maximum of 34 publications in 2017. Table 1 shows the number of publications per year and target group of the technical intervention.

Table 1.	Absolute	number o	of 1	publications l	hv '	publication [•]	vear (n=158)	
Table 1.	110501010	number	<i>J</i> 1	publications	U y	publication	your (<u>m=150</u>	٠

Target group	Publication year								
	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018			
People with dementia	10	10	10	5	17	11			
Caregivers	7	12	15	10	13	10			
Both people with dementia and caregivers	7	5	4	6	4	2			



There is a noticeable increase in the number of publications focusing on people with dementia between 2016 (n=5) and 2017 (n=17). Additionally, it becomes clear that the number of publications with the target group of relatives increases significantly from 2013 to 2015, and they represent the largest target group from 2014 to 2016. From 2017 onwards, this trend changed, and most interventions investigated assistive technologies for people with dementia. In 2018, the number of publications of these target groups is approximately the same (caregiver n=10; people with dementia n=11). Few of the studies focused on both target groups as users of technologies.

Regarding the number of participants, the majority of studies included 1 to 50 persons (1-10: 59/175, 33.7%; 11-50: 63/175, 36.0%). Table 2 shows the number of publications by the technologies' target group and sample size. In smaller studies with a maximum of 10 participants, the proportion of publications about people with dementia (38/59, 64%) was particularly high. In studies with 51 or more participants, the majority of studies focused on caregivers (51-100: 12/19, 63%; 101-200: 11/14, 79%; \geq 201: 9/16, 56%).

Table 2. Absolute number of publications by number of participants (n=175).

Target group	Number of categorized participants							
	1-10	11-50	51-100	101-200	≥201			
People with dementia	38	26	5	3	5			
Caregivers	10	24	12	11	9			
Both people with dementia and caregivers	11	13	2	0	2			

The assistive technologies were also investigated according to their study designs. Case studies represented 33.1% (58/175), 25.1% (44/175) were randomized controlled trials (RCTs), and 10.3% (18/175) were pre-post studies. Only a small proportion of the studies used case series (14/175, 8.0%), an exclusively qualitative design (14/175, 8.0%), a controlled trial (7/175, 4.0%), or a cross-sectional design (7/175, 4.0%). The remaining studies were classified as having "other" designs (13/175, 7.4%).

Grouping study designs by target groups, the largest percentage of studies focusing on patients with dementia used case studies (37/77, 48%). Subsequently, case series and RCTs represented the second largest proportion for this target group (11/77 each, 14%). Regarding the relatives, most studies used RCTs (30/68, 44%) and pre-post designs (14/68, 20.5%). When both target groups were investigated, case studies were mostly utilized (14/30, 47%). Case studies in general mainly consisted of people with dementia (37/58, 64%) or both target groups (14/58, 24%). In the qualitative studies, all target groups were examined with similar frequency (people with dementia and both groups: 5/14, 36%; relatives: 4/14, 29%).

When stratified by setting, in day care centers, mainly case studies and series were conducted (18/20, 90%). Case studies also accounted for half of the research in nursing homes (18/35, 51%). In contrast, the number of RCTs was highest in the home setting (35/105, 33.3%), followed by case studies and case series (29/105, 27.6%) as well as pre-post studies (15/105, 14.3%). In addition, most qualitative studies were conducted at home (10/14, 71%). Regarding the number of participants and study designs, 25% (11/44) of RCTs incorporated 11-50 people, and 30% (13/44) of RCTs incorporated each of 51-100 and \geq 201 persons. With respect to the technology group, most of the RCTs and controlled trials were performed with testing telephone interventions (18/51, 35%), robots (8/51, 16%), and internet courses (7/51, 14%). In the case studies and case series, applications on computers, tablets, and laptops (38/72, 53%) as well as robots (10/72, 14%) were examined most frequently.

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25307/

XSL•FO

The nature of assistive technologies is particularly determined by its purpose. For better comparability, 8 categories of technology aims were formed. As some technologies had multiple functions, they were assigned to more than 1 category in order not to simplify their complexity.

The largest proportion of technologies aimed to enable or support therapeutic or caring interventions (85/308, 27.6%). Therapeutic technology-supported interventions included online therapy for people with dementia or their caregivers [34-36] or art therapeutic interventions via a technical device (n=31) [37,38]. Care interventions sought to increase the safety of people with dementia, for example by detecting the danger of falling at an early stage (n=54). A specific example was the study by Bayen et al [39], which analyzed how continuous video monitoring and review of falls of individuals with dementia can support better quality of care. Abbate et al [40] used a wireless accelerometer and electroencephalograph logger integrated in a minimally invasive monitoring sensor system with the aim of detecting possible falls and their causes. Care interventions also included online training programs for relatives with the goal of improving caring by trying to facilitate everyday life (eg, dealing with people with dementia). The European project STAR offers caregivers of people with dementia (both formal and informal) online training in order to better understand the disease and provide higher quality care [41]. Furthermore, 25.3% (78/308) of the technologies aimed to positively influence the symptoms of people with dementia such as disorientation or fear. Other technologies have been used to increase the knowledge of people with dementia or their relatives, such as through special websites (34/308, 11.0%), to enable or improve communication (29/308, 9.4%; eg, by providing an easy-to-use interface that allows people with dementia to contact their relatives) [42], or to enhance the skills of people with dementia in particular (20/308, 6.5%). Skill improvement included abilities such as remembering, orientation, and movement. This involved games that increased cognitive performance [43] or interventions to improve mobility [44]. An equal share of technologies (12/308 each, 3.9%) wanted to support activities of daily life (eg, by

Palmdorf et al

guiding people with dementia in their activities [22,45]) or improve engagement (eg through entertaining games [46]). "Other aims" were described for 12.3% (38/308) of the technologies. Overall, the objectives of the technologies were very broad. Due to the high complexity of technologies and the poor reporting, categorization of technology aims can only be based on the information provided by the studies. Therefore, the categories cannot be clearly distinguished from each other. In this context, caring tends to be a superficial main category, as many authors merely state an improvement in care provision as an aim, without describing in detail what the intervention specifically addressed in terms of needs.

A large percentage of the studies aimed to investigate the effects of the technology, either in terms of demonstrating effectiveness (85/233, 36.5%) or, more generally, by evaluating the assistive technologies (23/233, 9.9%). With regard to factors influencing intervention effects, few of the studies had the goal of measuring acceptance (16/233, 6.9%) or usability (23/233, 9.9%). In order to gain a first or deeper insight into the possible modes of action of the technologies, the minority were labelled as exploratory (22/233, 9.4%) or feasibility studies (31/233, 13.3%).

The objective of analyzing effects was similarly high in all studies regardless of the target group (people with dementia: 42/100, 42.0%; relatives: 33/84, 39%). The effectiveness was tested especially in studies in day care centers (17/26, 65%). Furthermore, many of the case studies pursued this aim (27/80, 34%). Case studies often examined the feasibility (13/80, 16%) or usability (11/80, 14%), or they were used for exploration (8/80, 10%). Feasibility, in turn, was given as the aim of the study in both target groups equally frequently (people with dementia: 13/100, 13%; relatives: 11/84, 13%). Many of these feasibility studies investigated technical interventions on computers, tablets, or laptops (21/31, 68%).

Discussion

Overall, this scoping review gives a comprehensive overview of the current literature and shows the diversity of assistive technologies for people with dementia and their family caregivers. There is a comparable amount of studies focusing on people with dementia as well as their caregivers. On the one hand, this demonstrates the increased availability of assistive technologies for informal caregivers; on the other hand, this demonstrates recognition of family members and people with dementia as consumers.

Many of the studies had the aim of demonstrating the effectiveness of the technology, although most of them were case studies with small sample sizes. This indicates that many of the technologies were rather rudimentarily tested, and only a very limited number of findings about effects or feasibility has been established, resulting in low confidence in the results. However, this seems odd, as usually a lot of financial and personal resources have to be invested in the development of a technology. Consequently, it would be reasonable to test them adequately. However, we acknowledge that it is difficult, especially for profit-oriented companies, to scientifically test the effectiveness of their developed technologies due to potential conflicts of interest. Evidence for the effectiveness of

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25307/
```

XSL•FO

interventions through RCTs and controlled trials is more prevalent, although still limited, for telephones, robots, and internet courses. In total, a large proportion of studies was aimed at the technical evaluation, exploration, usability, or feasibility of an assistive technology. This indicates that many technologies for people with dementia and their informal carers are still in an early development stage. There is a need for larger studies of technologies' effectiveness. A broad evidence base about the benefits and risks of technologies for users is crucial to promote their acceptance and therefore achieve a transition of technologies from research into the daily lives of people with dementia and their relatives [47]. Successful technology arrangements were often characterized by pragmatic adaptation and combination of new with old equipment by the people with dementia or their caregivers [48,49].

We found heterogeneous technologies in our review. Telephone interventions have been frequently analyzed. A major advantage of telephone interventions is that there is no need to purchase expensive technologies because existing resources can be used. Furthermore, the technology is already known, used, and therefore accepted by the users. This could have the advantage, especially for people with dementia, that they could still use this technology in a later phase of the illness without being challenged with learning something new. Hence, use in everyday life seems more easily compared to other technologies. Internet courses are low-threshold interventions that can provide timely education for caregivers and reduce stress [50]. Additionally, they are relatively low-cost developments compared to, for example, a robotic system. Robots, by contrast, are complex technologies that can provide support in many ways (eg, socioemotional support, taking over household tasks, guiding actions, or recognizing and intervening in changing or dangerous situations). As we stated before, one robotic system, called PARO, has been of great interest for researchers. Studies using PARO were mostly placed in nursing homes or day care centers and evaluated its effectiveness. Reviews, which specifically analyzed robots for older people with and without dementia, found positive but not always significant effects on behavioral and emotional aspects, quality of life, and communication [51-53].

In a large number of interventions, both target groups were involved (eg, in order to individualize the interaction between the technology and people with dementia, their family chose photos, music, or videos [38]). Few of the technologies were designed to involve both target groups with the aim of supporting their interaction or communication [54]. This again shows the variety of application areas regarding assistive technologies for people with dementia and their family caregivers. To ensure that results are generalizable, we suggest that future reviews analyzing the effectiveness of assistive technologies focus on a group of technologies that are similar regarding their technical components, aims, and target groups.

Corresponding to the last step of the scoping review process model, the results of the scoping review were presented and discussed at 2 conferences in the form of a poster presentation and a lecture by experts in the field of health care research and practical care of people with dementia [55,56]. The main questions asked referred to the acceptance and adoption of the

technologies in the household. The topic of acceptance of the technologies is hardly represented in the studies. Studies referring to the fact that the users have accepted the technologies and integrated them into their households usually provided a detailed description of how this process took place and whether there were any facilitation efforts (eg, external support by the project team) or how the acceptance was determined. Studies that explicitly investigated acceptance measured the use of the technology, user attitude, user mood (eg, relaxed or joyful), or user satisfaction [37,57,58]. Cristancho-Lacroix et al [59] reported a lack of acceptance, which was measured using qualitative data. It remains unclear which specific aspects have a negative impact on acceptance. Few of the studies explicitly reported on challenges in using the technology or barriers to use [37]. Especially with the large number of case studies, we would have expected more detailed information regarding this issue. In addition, this information could be of importance in determining whether interventions can be recommended by health care professionals or so that people with dementia and their families can decide whether to use a technology. Based on the experts' comments, we conclude that more and in-depth evidence is needed about the user acceptance of such technologies. Studies should be based on relevant theories such as the unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) [60], in order to gain meaningful and valid results with regard to the implementation. Specific concepts like the non-adoption, abandonment, scale-up, spread, sustainability (NASSS) framework can be helpful to evaluate factors influencing the adoption of technologies in order to plan an effective implementation [61]. It also requires industry and service providers to take a user-centric approach to design and deployment [62]. People with dementia and their caregivers identified clear information pathways for assistive technologies as essential for both service providers and service commissioners [63].

Due to the exploratory nature of the scoping review, it has to be considered that studies may have been overlooked despite the broad search because of the restrictions in databases, languages, and period of time. Because of the broad research question and heterogeneous study situation, a more in-depth analysis of specific technologies was not suitable. Furthermore, studies whose results did not demonstrate acceptance or positive outcomes may not have been published (publication bias). A particular difficulty arose in extracting data from studies and classifying technologies due to the poor reporting of the studies. This was especially prevalent for the methodological approach of the studies, description of the users, and use of the assistive technologies. In contrast, these studies focused more on technical aspects of the technologies, such as the design of an interface or data streams of systems. We still included studies with a focus on technical aspects when they reported how the technology was tested, because that was of particular interest

in our review. In these cases, it was also more difficult to determine the purpose of the technology. Therefore, these were categorized based on the authors' explanations. A standardized description of the technologies using the CONSORT EHEALTH [64] or the TIDieR [65] checklist could contribute to a better understanding. In addition, the user group of people with dementia was insufficiently described in some cases. This refers to the existence of a concrete diagnosis of dementia and its testing, form of dementia, and symptoms of the disease, especially with regard to communication skills. Some participants were described as having dementia, but in the testing of cognitive abilities, they only showed limitations in the area of mild cognitive impairment. This makes it difficult to identify relevant studies and assess the transferability of study results.

Overall, there is great diversity in assistive technologies for people with dementia and their family caregivers. This becomes particularly clear when analyzing the different types of technologies and their purposes. One advantage of this diversity is that different technologies can address different problems and needs. Thus, the repertoire for the solution of these different problems is extended by technical interventions. This gives people with dementia, their relatives, and health care professionals more options for tailoring care arrangements to their needs. On the other hand, the diversity of technologies makes it more difficult for end users in particular to gain an overview of existing possibilities. This is especially true when technologies are developed for a broad group of users (eg, elderly people or people with cognitive disabilities). Here, it is even more complicated to decide on the appropriateness of the application of a specific assistive technology in a specific case. This results in the necessity of a user-oriented database to inform potential users about the available technologies. We recommend that the database includes various information of the technology, such as specific target group, aims, effectiveness, and user experiences. Therefore, an analysis of the users' informational needs would be beneficial. Furthermore, there is a major need for well-developed and tested interventions. This includes the measurement of not only (health) care outcomes but also feasibility and acceptability. Participatory design and development processes have to be implemented to fulfill the needs as well as acceptability, usability, and ethical issues of future users [23,66,67]. It is possible that case studies have remained at this level of research with no apparent follow-up projects because only low acceptance or effects have been identified. At the same time, there is a broad need for (1) technologies to assist people with dementia in several areas, (2) identification of the characteristics these technologies should have based on the users' needs, and (3) information on these technologies that is required by the users [68]. We believe that this scoping review can contribute to further guide research on assistive technologies for people with dementia and their family caregivers.

Acknowledgments

The scoping review is part of the TechV-D study (grant no. 005-1706-0014), which was funded by the Ministry of Culture and Science of North Rhine-Westphalia, Germany. We acknowledge support for the publication costs by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and the Open Access Publication Fund of Bielefeld University.

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25307/
```

XSL•FC

Authors' Contributions

CD and SP conceptualized the study. SN developed the search strategy and conducted the search. AS and SP conducted the screening, data extraction, and data analysis. SN was the third rater during the screening. CD and SP interpreted the data. SP wrote the first manuscript draft. AS, CD, CK, ET, GE, SK, SN, SP, and TG revised the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Search strategy for MEDLINE. [DOCX File , 12 KB - aging v4i1e25307 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Study details—people with dementia. [DOCX File, 64 KB - aging v4i1e25307 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Study details—informal carers. [DOCX File, 61 KB - aging v4i1e25307 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Study details—both target groups. [DOCX File , 39 KB - aging_v4i1e25307_app4.docx]

References

- 1. Global action plan on the public health response to dementia 2017 2025. World Health Organization. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/mental_health/neurology/dementia/action_plan_2017_2025/en/</u> [accessed 2020-12-28]
- Robinson L, Tang E, Taylor JP. Dementia: timely diagnosis and early intervention. BMJ 2015 Jun 16;350:h3029 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.h3029] [Medline: 26079686]
- 3. Deardorff WJ, Grossberg GT. Behavioral and psychological symptoms in Alzheimer's dementia and vascular dementia. Handb Clin Neurol 2019;165:5-32. [doi: 10.1016/b978-0-444-64012-3.00002-2] [Medline: 31727229]
- 4. Savva GM, Zaccai J, Matthews FE, Davidson JE, McKeith I, Brayne C, Medical Research Council Cognitive Function Ageing Study. Prevalence, correlates and course of behavioural and psychological symptoms of dementia in the population. Br J Psychiatry 2009 Mar;194(3):212-219 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.108.049619] [Medline: 19252147]
- van der Linde RM, Dening T, Stephan BCM, Prina AM, Evans E, Brayne C. Longitudinal course of behavioural and psychological symptoms of dementia: systematic review. Br J Psychiatry 2016 Nov;209(5):366-377 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.114.148403] [Medline: 27491532]
- van der Roest HG, Meiland FJM, Maroccini R, Comijs HC, Jonker C, Dröes RM. Subjective needs of people with dementia: a review of the literature. Int Psychogeriatr 2007 Jun;19(3):559-592. [doi: <u>10.1017/S1041610206004716</u>] [Medline: <u>17201993</u>]
- von Kutzleben M, Schmid W, Halek M, Holle B, Bartholomeyczik S. Community-dwelling persons with dementia: what do they need? What do they demand? What do they do? A systematic review on the subjective experiences of persons with dementia. Aging Ment Health 2012;16(3):378-390. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2011.614594] [Medline: 22250961]
- Wiles JL, Leibing A, Guberman N, Reeve J, Allen RES. The meaning of "aging in place" to older people. Gerontologist 2012 Jun;52(3):357-366. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gnr098</u>] [Medline: <u>21983126</u>]
- Helvik AS, Selbæk G, Šaltytė Benth J, Røen I, Bergh S. The course of neuropsychiatric symptoms in nursing home residents from admission to 30-month follow-up. PLoS ONE 2018 Oct 18;13(10):e0206147 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0206147] [Medline: <u>30335840</u>]
- 10. Sury L, Burns K, Brodaty H. Moving in: adjustment of people living with dementia going into a nursing home and their families. Int Psychogeriatr 2013 Jun;25(6):867-876. [doi: 10.1017/S1041610213000057] [Medline: 23425369]
- Greenwood N, Smith R. Motivations for being informal carers of people living with dementia: a systematic review of qualitative literature. BMC Geriatr 2019 Jun 17;19(1):169 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1186/s12877-019-1185-0</u>] [Medline: <u>31208351</u>]
- Alves LCDS, Monteiro DQ, Bento SR, Hayashi VD, Pelegrini LNDC, Vale FAC. Burnout syndrome in informal caregivers of older adults with dementia: A systematic review. Dement Neuropsychol 2019;13(4):415-421 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1590/1980-57642018dn13-040008] [Medline: 31844495]

http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25307/

- 13. Chiao CY, Wu HS, Hsiao CY. Caregiver burden for informal caregivers of patients with dementia: A systematic review. Int Nurs Rev 2015 Sep;62(3):340-350. [doi: 10.1111/inr.12194] [Medline: 26058542]
- Toot S, Swinson T, Devine M, Challis D, Orrell M. Causes of nursing home placement for older people with dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int Psychogeriatr 2017 Feb;29(2):195-208. [doi: <u>10.1017/S1041610216001654</u>] [Medline: <u>27806743</u>]
- 15. Abbott C. Defining assistive technologies a discussion. Jnl of Assistive Technologies 2007 Oct;1(1):6-9. [doi: 10.1108/17549450200700002]
- 16. Ienca M, Jotterand F, Vică C, Elger B. Social and Assistive Robotics in Dementia Care: Ethical Recommendations for Research and Practice. Int J of Soc Robotics 2016 Jun 22;8(4):565-573. [doi: 10.1007/s12369-016-0366-7]
- Moyle W, Jones CJ, Murfield JE, Thalib L, Beattie ERA, Shum DKH, et al. Use of a Robotic Seal as a Therapeutic Tool to Improve Dementia Symptoms: A Cluster-Randomized Controlled Trial. J Am Med Dir Assoc 2017 Sep 01;18(9):766-773 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2017.03.018] [Medline: 28780395]
- Mooney A, Beale N, Fried-Oken M. Group Communication Treatment for Individuals with PPA and Their Partners. Semin Speech Lang 2018 Jul;39(3):257-269. [doi: <u>10.1055/s-0038-1660784</u>] [Medline: <u>29933492</u>]
- 19. Ekström A, Ferm U, Samuelsson C. Digital communication support and Alzheimer's disease. Dementia (London) 2017 Aug;16(6):711-731. [doi: 10.1177/1471301215615456] [Medline: 26643684]
- 20. Blom MM, Zarit SH, Groot Zwaaftink RBM, Cuijpers P, Pot AM. Effectiveness of an Internet intervention for family caregivers of people with dementia: results of a randomized controlled trial. PLoS One 2015;10(2):e0116622 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116622] [Medline: 25679228]
- Boots LM, de Vugt ME, Kempen GI, Verhey FR. Effectiveness of a Blended Care Self-Management Program for Caregivers of People With Early-Stage Dementia (Partner in Balance): Randomized Controlled Trial. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jul 13;20(7):e10017 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10017] [Medline: 30006327]
- 22. Foloppe DA, Richard P, Yamaguchi T, Etcharry-Bouyx F, Allain P. The potential of virtual reality-based training to enhance the functional autonomy of Alzheimer's disease patients in cooking activities: A single case study. Neuropsychol Rehabil 2018 Jul;28(5):709-733. [doi: 10.1080/09602011.2015.1094394] [Medline: 26480838]
- Meiland F, Innes A, Mountain G, Robinson L, van der Roest H, García-Casal JA, et al. Technologies to Support Community-Dwelling Persons With Dementia: A Position Paper on Issues Regarding Development, Usability, Effectiveness and Cost-Effectiveness, Deployment, and Ethics. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol 2017 Jan 16;4(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/rehab.6376] [Medline: 28582262]
- 24. Bennett B, McDonald F, Beattie E, Carney T, Freckelton I, White B, et al. Assistive technologies for people with dementia: ethical considerations. Bull World Health Organ 2017 Nov 01;95(11):749-755 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/BLT.16.187484] [Medline: 29147055]
- 25. Davies A, Brini S, Hirani S, Gathercole R, Forsyth K, Henderson C, et al. The impact of assistive technology on burden and psychological well-being in informal caregivers of people with dementia (ATTILA Study). Alzheimers Dement (N Y) 2020;6(1):e12064 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/trc2.12064] [Medline: 33043107]
- 26. Gibson G, Dickinson C, Brittain K, Robinson L. The everyday use of assistive technology by people with dementia and their family carers: a qualitative study. BMC Geriatr 2015 Jul 24;15:89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-015-0091-3] [Medline: 26205957]
- 27. Assistive technology. World Health Organization. 2018 May 18. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/</u> assistive-technology [accessed 2020-12-28]
- Haux R, Koch S, Lovell NH, Marschollek M, Nakashima N, Wolf KH. Health-Enabling and Ambient Assistive Technologies: Past, Present, Future. Yearb Med Inform 2016 Jun 30;Suppl 1:S76-S91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15265/IYS-2016-s008] [Medline: 27362588]
- 29. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005 Feb;8(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- Levac D, Colquhoun H, O'Brien KK. Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. Implement Sci 2010 Sep 20;5:69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-5-69] [Medline: 20854677]
- Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and Explanation. Ann Intern Med 2018 Oct 02;169(7):467-473 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/M18-0850] [Medline: 30178033]
- McGowan J, Sampson M, Salzwedel DM, Cogo E, Foerster V, Lefebvre C. PRESS Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies: 2015 Guideline Statement. J Clin Epidemiol 2016 Jul;75:40-46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.01.021] [Medline: 27005575]
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, PRISMA Group. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. PLoS Med 2009 Jul 21;6(7):e1000097 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097</u>] [Medline: <u>19621072</u>]
- 34. Kerssens C, Kumar R, Adams AE, Knott CC, Matalenas L, Sanford JA, et al. Personalized technology to support older adults with and without cognitive impairment living at home. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2015 Feb;30(1):85-97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1533317514568338] [Medline: 25614507]

- Astell AJ, Smith SK, Potter S, Preston-Jones E. Computer Interactive Reminiscence and Conversation Aid groups-Delivering cognitive stimulation with technology. Alzheimers Dement (N Y) 2018;4:481-487 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.trci.2018.08.003] [Medline: 30258977]
- 36. Blom MM, Zarit SH, Groot Zwaaftink RBM, Cuijpers P, Pot AM. Effectiveness of an Internet intervention for family caregivers of people with dementia: results of a randomized controlled trial. PLoS One 2015;10(2):e0116622 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116622] [Medline: 25679228]
- Davison TE, Nayer K, Coxon S, de Bono A, Eppingstall B, Jeon Y, et al. A personalized multimedia device to treat agitated behavior and improve mood in people with dementia: A pilot study. Geriatr Nurs 2016;37(1):25-29. [doi: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2015.08.013] [Medline: 26412509]
- 38. Subramaniam P, Woods B. Digital life storybooks for people with dementia living in care homes: an evaluation. Clin Interv Aging 2016;11:1263-1276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/CIA.S111097] [Medline: 27698556]
- Bayen E, Jacquemot J, Netscher G, Agrawal P, Tabb Noyce L, Bayen A. Reduction in Fall Rate in Dementia Managed Care Through Video Incident Review: Pilot Study. J Med Internet Res 2017 Oct 17;19(10):e339 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8095] [Medline: 29042342]
- 40. Abbate S, Avvenuti M, Light J. Usability Study of a Wireless Monitoring System among Alzheimer's Disease Elderly Population. Int J Telemed Appl 2014;2014:617495 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2014/617495] [Medline: 24963289]
- 41. Boyd K, Nugent C, Donnelly M, Bond R, Sterritt R, Hartin P. An investigation into the usability of the STAR training and re-skilling website for carers of persons with dementia. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2014;2014:4139-4142. [doi: 10.1109/embc.2014.6944535] [Medline: 25570903]
- 42. Boman IL, Lundberg S, Starkhammar S, Nygård L. Exploring the usability of a videophone mock-up for persons with dementia and their significant others. BMC Geriatr 2014 Apr 16;14:49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-14-49] [Medline: 24739662]
- 43. Burdea G, Polistico K, Krishnamoorthy A, House G, Rethage D, Hundal J, et al. Feasibility study of the BrightBrainer[™] integrative cognitive rehabilitation system for elderly with dementia. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2015;10(5):421-432 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3109/17483107.2014.900575] [Medline: 24679074]
- 44. Padala KP, Padala PR, Lensing SY, Dennis RA, Bopp MM, Roberson PK, et al. Home-Based Exercise Program Improves Balance and Fear of Falling in Community-Dwelling Older Adults with Mild Alzheimer's Disease: A Pilot Study. J Alzheimers Dis 2017;59(2):565-574. [doi: 10.3233/JAD-170120] [Medline: 28655135]
- 45. Begum M, Wang R, Huq R, Mihailidis A. Performance of daily activities by older adults with dementia: the role of an assistive robot. IEEE Int Conf Rehabil Robot 2013 Jun;2013:6650405. [doi: <u>10.1109/ICORR.2013.6650405</u>] [Medline: <u>24187224</u>]
- 46. Cutler C, Hicks B, Innes A. Does Digital Gaming Enable Healthy Aging for Community-Dwelling People With Dementia? Games and Culture 2016 Jan 1;11(1-2):104-129. [doi: 10.1177/1555412015600580]
- 47. Harst L, Lantzsch H, Scheibe M. Theories Predicting End-User Acceptance of Telemedicine Use: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2019 May 21;21(5):e13117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13117] [Medline: 31115340]
- 48. Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Sugarhood P, Hinder S, Procter R, Stones R. What matters to older people with assisted living needs? A phenomenological analysis of the use and non-use of telehealth and telecare. Soc Sci Med 2013 Sep;93:86-94 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.05.036] [Medline: 23906125]
- 49. Gibson G, Dickinson C, Brittain K, Robinson L. Personalisation, customisation and bricolage: how people with dementia and their families make assistive technology work for them. Ageing Soc 2018 Jun 27;39(11):2502-2519. [doi: 10.1017/s0144686x18000661]
- 50. Kajiyama B, Thompson LW, Eto-Iwase T, Yamashita M, Di Mario J, Marian Tzuang Y, et al. Exploring the effectiveness of an internet-based program for reducing caregiver distress using the iCare Stress Management e-Training Program. Aging Ment Health 2013;17(5):544-554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2013.775641] [Medline: 23461355]
- Góngora Alonso S, Hamrioui S, de la Torre Díez I, Motta Cruz E, López-Coronado M, Franco M. Social Robots for People with Aging and Dementia: A Systematic Review of Literature. Telemed J E Health 2019 Jul;25(7):533-540. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2018.0051] [Medline: 30136901]
- Pu L, Moyle W, Jones C, Todorovic M. The Effectiveness of Social Robots for Older Adults: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Studies. Gerontologist 2019 Jan 09;59(1):e37-e51. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gny046</u>] [Medline: <u>29897445</u>]
- Shishehgar M, Kerr D, Blake J. The effectiveness of various robotic technologies in assisting older adults. Health Informatics J 2019 Sep;25(3):892-918 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1460458217729729] [Medline: 28927331]
- 54. Moyle W, Jones C, Cooke M, O'Dwyer S, Sung B, Drummond S. Connecting the person with dementia and family: a feasibility study of a telepresence robot. BMC Geriatr 2014 Jan 24;14:7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-14-7] [Medline: 24456417]
- 55. Palmdorf S, Müskens T, Karlheim C, Kreisel S, Nadolny S, Stark L, et al. Technische Möglichkeiten zur Unterstützung von Menschen mit einer Demenz und deren Angehörige im häuslichen Setting: ein Scoping Review. 2019 Presented at: 20th Annual Meeting of the German Network Evidence-Based Medicine; March 21-23, 2019; Berlin, Germany. [doi: 10.3205/19EBM037]

```
http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25307/
```

- 56. Palmdorf S, Müskens T, Stark L, Karlheim C, Kreisel S, Dockweiler C. Technikunterstützung bei Demenz zum Verbleib im privaten Haushalt. 2019 Presented at: XIV. Kongress der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Gerontopsychiatrie und -psychotherapie e.V. (DGGPP); May 15–17, 2019; Essen, Germany p. 19-20 URL: <u>https://dggpp-kongress.de/Programm/</u> DGGPP_Kongressband_2019.pdf
- 57. Bejan A, Gündogdu R, Butz K, Müller N, Kunze C, König P. Using multimedia information and communication technology (ICT) to provide added value to reminiscence therapy for people with dementia: Lessons learned from three field studies. Z Gerontol Geriatr 2018 Jan;51(1):9-15. [doi: 10.1007/s00391-017-1347-7] [Medline: 29218401]
- Cavallo F, Aquilano M, Arvati M. An ambient assisted living approach in designing domiciliary services combined with innovative technologies for patients with Alzheimer's disease: a case study. Am J Alzheimers Dis Other Demen 2015 Feb;30(1):69-77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1533317514539724] [Medline: 24951634]
- Cristancho-Lacroix V, Wrobel J, Cantegreil-Kallen I, Dub T, Rouquette A, Rigaud AS. A web-based psychoeducational program for informal caregivers of patients with Alzheimer's disease: a pilot randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2015 May 12;17(5):e117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3717] [Medline: 25967983]
- 60. Venkatesh V, Morris MG, Davis GB, Davis FD. User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View. MIS Q 2003 Sep;27(3):425-478. [doi: 10.2307/30036540]
- 61. Greenhalgh T, Wherton J, Papoutsi C, Lynch J, Hughes G, A'Court C, et al. Beyond Adoption: A New Framework for Theorizing and Evaluating Nonadoption, Abandonment, and Challenges to the Scale-Up, Spread, and Sustainability of Health and Care Technologies. J Med Internet Res 2017 Nov 01;19(11):e367 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8775] [Medline: 29092808]
- 62. Greenhalgh T, Procter R, Wherton J, Sugarhood P, Hinder S, Rouncefield M. What is quality in assisted living technology? The ARCHIE framework for effective telehealth and telecare services. BMC Med 2015 Apr 23;13(1):91 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0279-6] [Medline: 25902803]
- 63. Newton L, Dickinson C, Gibson G, Brittain K, Robinson L. Exploring the views of GPs, people with dementia and their carers on assistive technology: a qualitative study. BMJ Open 2016 May 13;6(5):e011132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011132] [Medline: 27178978]
- Eysenbach G, CONSORT-EHEALTH Group. CONSORT-EHEALTH: improving and standardizing evaluation reports of Web-based and mobile health interventions. J Med Internet Res 2011 Dec 31;13(4):e126 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1923] [Medline: 22209829]
- Hoffmann TC, Glasziou PP, Boutron I, Milne R, Perera R, Moher D, et al. Better reporting of interventions: template for intervention description and replication (TIDieR) checklist and guide. BMJ 2014 Mar 07;348:g1687. [doi: <u>10.1136/bmj.g1687</u>] [Medline: <u>24609605</u>]
- Ienca M, Fabrice J, Elger B, Caon M, Scoccia Pappagallo A, Kressig RW, et al. Intelligent Assistive Technology for Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias: A Systematic Review. J Alzheimers Dis 2017;56(4):1301-1340. [doi: 10.3233/JAD-161037] [Medline: 28222516]
- 67. Ienca M, Wangmo T, Jotterand F, Kressig RW, Elger B. Ethical Design of Intelligent Assistive Technologies for Dementia: A Descriptive Review. Sci Eng Ethics 2018 Aug;24(4):1035-1055. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11948-017-9976-1</u>] [Medline: <u>28940133</u>]
- 68. Hirt J, Burgstaller M, Zeller A, Beer T. Needs of people with dementia and their informal caregivers concerning assistive technologies. Pflege 2019;32(6):295-304 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1024/1012-5302/a000682] [Medline: 31288618]

Abbreviations

NASSS: non-adoption, abandonment, scale-up, spread, sustainability PRESS: Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies PRISMA-ScR: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews RCT: randomized controlled trial UTAUT: Unified theory of acceptance and use of technology

Edited by J Wang; submitted 28.10.20; peer-reviewed by M Ienca, G Gibson; comments to author 25.11.20; revised version received 09.12.20; accepted 12.12.20; published 20.01.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Palmdorf S, Stark AL, Nadolny S, Eliaβ G, Karlheim C, Kreisel SH, Gruschka T, Trompetter E, Dockweiler C Technology-Assisted Home Care for People With Dementia and Their Relatives: Scoping Review JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e25307 URL: <u>http://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e25307/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/25307</u> PMID:<u>33470935</u>



©Sarah Palmdorf, Anna Lea Stark, Stephan Nadolny, Gerrit Eliaß, Christoph Karlheim, Stefan H Kreisel, Tristan Gruschka, Eva Trompetter, Christoph Dockweiler. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 20.01.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Mobile Apps for Older Adults: Systematic Search and Evaluation Within Online Stores

Alexandra A Portenhauser¹, BSc; Yannik Terhorst^{1,2}, MSc; Dana Schultchen³, PhD; Lasse B Sander⁴, PhD; Michael D Denkinger⁵, MD, Prof Dr; Michael Stach⁶, MSc; Natalie Waldherr⁵, BA; Dhayana Dallmeier^{5,7}, MD, PhD; Harald Baumeister¹, PhD, Prof Dr; Eva-Maria Messner¹, PhD

Corresponding Author:

Eva-Maria Messner, PhD Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy Institute of Psychology and Education University of Ulm Lise-Meitner-Str. 16 Ulm Germany Phone: 49 73150 32802 Email: <u>eva-maria.messner@uni-ulm.de</u>

Abstract

Background: Through the increasingly aging population, the health care system is confronted with various challenges such as expanding health care costs. To manage these challenges, mobile apps may represent a cost-effective and low-threshold approach to support older adults.

Objective: This systematic review aimed to evaluate the quality, characteristics, as well as privacy and security measures of mobile apps for older adults in the European commercial app stores.

Methods: In the European Google Play and App Store, a web crawler systematically searched for mobile apps for older adults. The identified mobile apps were evaluated by two independent reviewers using the German version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale. A correlation between the user star rating and overall rating was calculated. An exploratory regression analysis was conducted to determine whether the obligation to pay fees predicted overall quality.

Results: In total, 83 of 1217 identified mobile apps were included in the analysis. Generally, the mobile apps for older adults were of moderate quality (mean 3.22 [SD 0.68]). Four mobile apps (5%) were evidence-based; 49% (41/83) had no security measures. The user star rating correlated significantly positively with the overall rating (r=.30, P=.01). Obligation to pay fees could not predict overall quality.

Conclusions: There is an extensive quality range within mobile apps for older adults, indicating deficits in terms of information quality, data protection, and security precautions, as well as a lack of evidence-based approaches. Central databases are needed to identify high-quality mobile apps.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e23313) doi:10.2196/23313

KEYWORDS mHealth; MARS; MARS-G; older adults; mobile apps; apps; aging



¹Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Institute of Psychology and Education, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany

²Department of Psychological Research Methods, Institute of Psychology and Education, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany

³Department of Clinical and Health Psychology, Institute of Psychology and Education, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany

⁴Department of Rehabilitation Psychology and Psychotherapy, Institute of Psychology, University of Freiburg, Freiburg im Breisgau, Germany

⁵Agaplesion Bethesda Clinic, Geriatric Research, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany

⁶Institute of Databases and Information Systems, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany

⁷Department of Epidemiology, Boston University School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States

Introduction

Demographic change continues worldwide [1]. Globally, the proportion of older adults, those aged 65 years and older [1,2], will increase more than 60% until the year 2030 [1]. In 2050, it is estimated that 1.6 billion people (16.7% of the total world population) will be age 65 years or older [1]. The global aging population poses a variety of challenges to health care systems and their sustainability, such as increasing costs and potential medical and social undersupply to older adults due to a lack of health care professionals in the future [3,4]. Moreover, older adults are confronted with challenges such as physical and cognitive functional impairments, changes in social relationships, socioeconomic status, and loneliness [5]. These age-related changes often have far-reaching effects on overall health, preservation of independence, and ability to participate socially [5]. Some older adults might need assistance in retaining an active and independent lifestyle, sustaining physical and mental performance, preventing physical and mental disorders, and maintaining an appropriate system of social support [3,6].

Mobile and internet technologies such as mobile apps offer possible approaches to increase the empowerment of older adults, support social activities, prevent cognitive and physical decline, decrease loneliness, and provide assistance in everyday activities [7-12]. Mobile apps could be innovative solutions to help older adults maintain independence and enable them to promote their health and functioning [8,9,13,14].

Mobile apps may offer many advantages for older adults to complement traditional health care behavior, as they can be cost-effective if implemented on a large scale and used independently of time and location [15,16]. Furthermore, they have the potential to simplify social and medical care, which could contribute to the promotion of social inclusion and support living at home on a longer term [8-10,17].

Nevertheless, uptake and acceptance of mobile apps by older adults are rather low [18]. This may stem from various risks of mobile app use and barriers to uptake, including concerns about the quality and benefits of mobile technologies, accuracy of provided information, fear of misdiagnosis, worries about data misuse and insecurity regarding data transmission, costs of use, qualification of the app developers, lack of evidence, and poor usability [18-23]. Also, older adults occasionally show a lack of perceived self-efficacy regarding mobile app use, which negatively influences uptake [16,18].

Smartphones have become an integral part of everyday life, even for older adults [24,25]. In 2017, 40% of Americans aged 65 years and older were using a smartphone [24]. Two years later, in 2019, 73% of Germans aged 60 to 69 years used a smartphone [26]. Many studies imply that due to the aging of the baby boomer generation, more older adults will use smartphones [18,27]. As a result, mobile apps could reach a large number of older adults in the future [18,27].

There are many mobile apps available in the app stores [28], but the quality of publicly available mobile apps for older adults has not been systematically evaluated so far. There is only one systematic review that reports the quality of publicly available

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23313
```

mobile apps for the promotion of balance in older adults, which concluded that mobile apps are of acceptable quality [29]. However, this review has a narrow scope as it only focused on improving balance in older adults through mobile apps, and there are presently no further systematic reviews of mobile apps for older adults available. Therefore, information about the quality, content, and data handling in mobile apps for older adults is not available to date.

Users can have problems identifying mobile apps that will effectively and safely support them in their health care [30]. This is mainly caused by the vast number of available mobile apps, opaque dynamics in the app stores, and the perceived lack of technical knowledge in older adults [30,31]. User star ratings from the app stores seem to be a questionable indicator for quality as they can originate from fictional persons and seem to be mostly determined by functionality and aesthetics [32,33].

To close this research gap, our study has systematically searched for mobile apps in the European app stores with a focus on older adults. Hence, their general characteristics, aims, methods, content, and quality were assessed using a multidimensional instrument, the German version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (MARS-G) [34,35]. To evaluate various acceptance barriers that discourage older adults from using a mobile app, this systematic review focuses on the following characteristics of mobile apps for older adults in the European commercial app stores:

- Privacy and security features
- Quality criteria based on the MARS-G (engagement, functionality, aesthetics, information)
- Correlation between the user star rating and the MARS-G overall rating
- Prediction of overall quality due to the obligation to pay fees

Methods

Study Design

The systematic review was based on the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA statement) according to Moher and colleagues [36], with discrepancies due to the characteristics of mobile apps (for details see Multimedia Appendix 1).

Search Strategy and Inclusion Criteria

A web crawler was used to systematically screen the European Google Play and App Store for eligible mobile apps with the search terms "old," "dementia," "memory," "mnemonic," "elderly," "senior," "maturity," "retiree," "seniority," and "aided recall." The search string to identify mobile apps for older adults resulted from findings of self-conducted focus groups with older adults, caretakers, and physicians followed by an expert discussion (EMM, LS, HB, MD, DD, and NW). The web crawler is a search engine that systematically searches the internet and country-specific app stores such as Google Play and the App Store for eligible mobile apps [37]. The search was conducted on February 5, 2019.

```
XSL•FO
```

All identified mobile apps were listed in a central database, and the first results were screened by the reviewers (AP, DS, MD, MS, LS, DD, and NW). The screening was conducted via an Access (Microsoft Corp) file. Every mobile app was screened by two reviewers. Disputes were discussed with a supervisor (EMM). To be included in this review, mobile apps had to meet the following inclusion criteria: (1) designed for older adults or older adults, their caregivers, and relatives; (2) available and downloadable in the official Google Play or the App Store; (3) in German or English (in accordance with the reviewers' language skills); (4) functional to enable an assessment (eg, no device problems); and (5) usable independently of other software (eg, software on smartwatches). Duplicates were automatically and manually excluded. Nonworking links were tried several times. The reviewers excluded mobile apps that did not meet the inclusion criteria according to the title, mobile app description, given images, or comments of mobile app users in the app stores in the first step.

On May 8 and 9, 2019, an additional manual search of mobile app recommendations in the app stores took place by a reviewer (AP) to identify further relevant mobile apps. This should ensure an up-to-date and comprehensive search for mobile apps. Additionally to the previous search terms, the following German and English search terms were used: "seniors," "older adults," "Alzheimers," "memory games," "retirement," "pills," "dementia," "memory," "senior health," and "emergency call." The search terms to identify mobile apps for older adults resulted from findings of self-conducted focus groups and were developed in an expert discussion (EMM, LS, HB, MD, DD, and NW). In addition to technical terms, relevant synonyms and alternatives used by end users were added to the extracted search terms [38]. These mobile apps were also reviewed for their entitlement to be included in the analysis.

For the MARS-G analysis, the mobile apps were downloaded and checked regarding the inclusion criteria and their functionality for the review (eg, no device problems). Technical problems were validated on at least two devices. The mobile apps were downloaded and installed either on an iPad mini (Apple Corp; model MK9N2FD/A; operating system 12.1), a MediaPad X2 (Huawei Device Co; model GEM-701L; operating system 5.0.1), or an iPhone 6 (Apple Corp; model A1586; operating system 12.2).

Data Collection Process

The quality assessment of the mobile apps was conducted by two independent reviewers (AP, DS, MD, MS, LS, DD, or NW) using the MARS-G [35]. Prior to the rating, the reviewers received standardized online training, which is publicly accessible and free of charge [39]. Each mobile app had been explored and used for at least 15 to 20 minutes to examine the functionality, content, and quality. The quality rating took about 30 minutes for each mobile app and was documented via an Access file. Reviews were completed on May 28, 2019. For quality assurance, interrater reliability was calculated. Rater agreement was examined by intraclass correlation (ICC) based on a 2-way mixed-effect model with absolute agreement. When the ICC was below a minimum value of .75 [40] or when there were disputes between the reviewers, a third reviewer was consulted [34,35].

Evaluation Tool

The MARS-G evaluation tool is a reliable and valid scale for the quality assessment of mobile apps [35,41]. The MARS-G shows a good to very good internal consistency for all subdimensions (ω =.72-.90) as well as for the overall score (ω =.82, 95% CI .76-.86) and a high ICC (2-way mixed ICC .84, 95% CI .82-.85) [35]. The correlations of the corresponding dimensions of the MARS and MARS-G range from *r*=.92-.98 [35].

General Characteristics

The classification page of the MARS-G was used to examine mobile app characteristics. It contains descriptive and technical information about the mobile app: (1) name, (2) platform, (3) content-related subcategory, (4) store link, (5) price, (6) user star rating, (7) aims, and (8) methods [34,35].

Data Protection and Security Precautions

The assessment of privacy and security features based on MARS-G is on a descriptive level (eg, availability of privacy policy, imprint). All features were assessed based on downloaded mobile apps, and only information that was disclosed within the mobile app or its description in the app stores was investigated.

Categorization

The categorization of mobile apps for older adults according to Cunha and colleagues [42] was used for the analysis to enable a classification independent of the app stores. This classification was developed using a methodological search in Google Play and the App Store for mobile apps designed to help older adults [42]. Table 1 lists the various categories with examples of content topics.



Portenhauser et al

Table 1.	Mobile app	categories for	older adults	with exemplary	topics	according to	Cunha et	: al [4	1 2].
----------	------------	----------------	--------------	----------------	--------	--------------	----------	---------	--------------

Categories	Exemplary topics			
Diagnostic	Cognitive impairments, physical and mental illnesses			
History	Monitoring of vital parameters such as blood pressure, and organization of daily activities			
Improve	Relaxation, speech-to-text, text-to-speech, risk assessment, magnifying glass, medication recognition, pictogram-to-speech, communication portals, and social networks			
Informative	Healthy living, education, and psychoeducation about mental and physical illnesses			
Interface	Mobile apps for conversion to a user-friendly interface			
Measurement	Physical activity, pedometer, and GPS tracking			
Protection	Drug reminder, help requests, and localization			
Simulation	Simulation of diseases, impairments, or appearance			
Trainer	Memory, relaxation, logical thinking, fitness, and cognitive speed			
Tutorial	Accident rehabilitation, sign language, improvement of self-esteem, and improvement of com- munication			

Quality Assessment

The multidimensional quality rating of the MARS-G includes 19 items on 4 different subdimensions, which are evaluated on a 5-point Likert scale (1=inadequate, 2=poor, 3=acceptable, 4=good, and 5=excellent): (1) engagement—5 items (entertainment, interest, individual adaptability, interactivity, target group); (2) functionality—4 items (performance, usability, navigation, motor and gestural design); (3) aesthetics—3 items (layout, graphics, visual appeal); and (4) information—7 items (accuracy of app description, goals, quality of information, quantity of information, quality of visual information, credibility, evidence base) [34,35].

Data Analyses

For the evaluation of the overall rating and quality, the total score was calculated from the 4 subdimensions [34]. The ratings of the reviewers were averaged for all calculations. Mean scores and standard deviations were calculated for the MARS-G overall rating and subdimensions.

Item 19 on the information subdimension was used to assess whether empirical studies were available for a mobile app. This item was investigated by searching the mobile app name in Google Scholar, PubMed, Google, and the developers' or providers' websites for existing efficacy and effectiveness studies [34].

Bivariate correlations between the user star rating and the MARS-G ratings were calculated. Also, bivariate correlations between the user star rating and the number of security and privacy measures were determined. The user star ratings were extracted from the app stores. The user star rating from Google Play and the App Store can be assigned on a scale of 1 to 5 stars and is displayed to mobile app seekers in the app stores as a

cumulative average of individual ratings [43]. Mean score and standard deviation were calculated for the user star rating.

To examine whether the obligation to pay fees is a predictor of overall quality, an exploratory regression analysis was conducted in which the predictor was dummy coded (1=obligation to pay fees, 0=no obligation to pay fees). Mobile apps that required an initial payment for use were defined as "obligation to pay fees." Mobile apps that were not priced at the time of purchase or had a free basic version were defined as "no obligation to pay fees" [44,45].

A *t* test for independent samples was used to check whether the mobile apps from the app stores differ regarding their MARS-G overall and subdimension mean value. For all analyses, an alpha level of 5% was defined [46]. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS Statistics 24 (IBM Corp) and R (R Foundation for Statistical Computing).

Results

Search

The web crawler identified 1154 mobile apps, of which 11.01% (127/1154) were found to be eligible by initial screening (Figure 1). Due to the unfulfilled inclusion criteria, 88.9% (1027/1154) of mobile apps were excluded. After the initial screening, 127 mobile apps were downloaded, of which 66.1% (84/127) did not meet the inclusion criteria (eg, duplicates, only for relatives and caregivers), leaving 33.9% (43/127) to be included in the MARS-G analysis. In an additional manual search, 63 mobile apps were detected, of which 37% (23/63) were excluded. In summary, 6.82% (83/1217) of mobile apps found were included in the analyses (for details on the included mobile apps see Multimedia Appendix 2).



Figure 1. Flowchart of the mobile app selection process.



General Characteristics

Of the mobile apps, 64% (53/83) were from Google Play and 36% (30/83) were from the App Store. There were no significant mean differences in the MARS-G overall rating between mobile apps from different stores (t_{81} =1.399, *P*=.17). Furthermore, there were no significant mean differences in the individual subdimensions of the MARS-G rating for mobile apps from different app stores (for all calculations *P*>.05). Most of the mobile apps were free of charge (73/83, 88%); 12% (10/83) were priced. The average price was €0.75 (SD 2.76), ranging from €0 to €18.99 (US \$0 to \$23.32). The 69 existing user ratings from the app stores had an average score of 4.15 (SD

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23313
```

RenderX

0.70). Of the mobile apps, 37% (31/83) were designed for prevention, 41% (34/83) for treatment, 31% (26/83) for rehabilitation, 27% (22/83) for aftercare, and 60% (50/83) for assistance in everyday life. Multiple naming of fields of application for one mobile app was possible. A total of 31% (26/83) were developed and published by a legitimate source (such as a nonprofit organization or university). None of the mobile apps were developed with the help of competitive government or research funding.

On average, the mobile apps for older adults had 3.36 (SD 1.79) aims, with a maximum of one mobile app having 8 aims. Most common aims were improvement of well-being (54/83, 65%), entertainment (39/83, 47%), reduction of stress (37/83, 45%),

and reduction of anxiety (29/83, 35%). Aims classified under other aims (23/83, 28%) included, for example, disease education (2/83, 2%) and screening for Alzheimer disease (3/83, 4%). Figure 2 provides an overview of the frequency of aims in mobile apps for older adults.

Figure 2. Frequency of objectives of mobile apps for older adults. Multiple naming of objectives for one mobile app was possible. Data are given for n=83 mobile apps.



On average, the mobile apps used 2.88 (SD 1.81) methods. The number varied from 1 to 9 methods. The most common methods were monitoring and tracking (26/83, 31%), data collection and measurement, feedback, and gamification (each 25/83, 30%) as well as information and education and tips and advice (each 23/83, 28%). Some mobile apps included memory, reminder, amplifier (16/83, 19%), strategies, skills, training (12/83, 14%) and resource orientation (11/83, 13%). Only a few mobile apps included physical exercises (7/83, 8%), mindfulness and gratefulness, and tailored interventions (each 5/83, 6%),

acceptance, pursuing own goals and relaxation exercises (each 3/83, 4%), and traditional medicine (2/83, 2%) or alternative medical intervention elements and exposition (each 1/83, 1%). Methods classified under other methods (23/83, 28%) included, for example, personalization (7/83, 8%), social networking features (4/83, 5%), and emergency button and contacts (1/83, 1%). None of the mobile apps included serious games, breathing exercises, hypnotherapy or EMDR. Figure 3 illustrates the frequencies of used methods in mobile apps for older adults.



Portenhauser et al

Figure 3. Frequency of methods used in mobile apps for older adults. Multiple naming of different methods in one mobile app was possible. Data are given for n=83 mobile apps.



Data Protection and Security Precautions

The average number of security and privacy measures was 2.07 (SD 2.76). Of the included mobile apps, 49% (41/83) had no data protection precautions. Most frequently (30/83, 36%), a

contact, contact person, or imprint was given. Only in 7% (6/83) emergency functions were available; 5% (4/83) provided data transmission security. Table 2 provides an overview of all data protection precautions in the mobile apps.



Table 2. Privacy and security measures found in mobile apps.

Data protection precaution	Value ^a , n (%)
Allows password use	22 (27)
Requires a log-in	20 (24)
Has a privacy statement	28 (34)
Requires active confirmation of a consent form	14 (17)
Information on dealing with the data	14 (17)
Notes on financing/conflict of interest	14 (17)
Contact/contact person/imprint	30 (36)
Data transmission security	4 (5)
Emergency functions available	6 (7)
Security strategies for mobile phone loss	20 (24)
Other security strategies	0 (0)

^aMultiple naming of different data protection precautions for one mobile app are possible.

Categorization

According to the categorization of Cunha and colleagues [42], a majority (31/83, 37%) of the mobile apps could be classified as trainer. Overall, 16% (13/83) were classified as protection, 11% (9/83) as interface, 10% (8/83) as informative, and 7% (6/83) as improve. Only a few mobile apps were found in the categories measurement (2/83, 2%), history (4/83, 5%), and diagnostic and tutorial (each 5/83, 6%). None of the mobile apps could be classified as simulation. The best overall quality was found for the categories measurement (mean 3.77 [SD 0.15]), diagnostic (mean 3.67 [SD 0.75]), and trainer (mean 3.28 [SD 0.82]). However, overall quality for categories informative (mean 3.18 [SD 0.59]), improve (mean 3.13 [SD 0.59]), interface (mean 2.86 [SD 0.44]), and history (mean 2.82 [SD 0.97]) was poor to moderate.

Quality Assessment

The overall rating showed an excellent level of interrater reliability (2-way mixed ICC .97, 95% CI .97-.98). According to Portney and Watkins [47], the interrater reliabilities of the MARS-G subdimensions were excellent (ICC .91-.99). The overall quality of the mobile apps for older adults was moderate, with a mean quality of 3.22 (SD 0.68). The subscale engagement was moderate (mean 3.25 [SD 0.82]), functionality good (mean 3.99 [SD 0.59]), aesthetics moderate to good (mean 3.60 [SD 0.85]), and information quality poor (mean 2.02 [SD 1.10]). Figure 4 shows a graphical representation of the distribution of ratings for overall quality and individual subdimensions.

Significant positive bivariate correlations were found between overall rating and subdimensions (r=.68–.85, P<.001). A correlation table is presented in Table 3.



Figure 4. Graphical representation of the distribution of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (German version) overall rating, and the four subdimensions. The median, the interquartile distance as well as the range and outliners were given (n=83 mobile apps).

Characteristics	MARS-G ^a									
	Engagement	P value	Function- ality	P value	Aesthetics	P value	Informa- tion	P value	Overall rat- ing	P value
MARS-G	·			•		•			-	
Engagement	b	_	_	_	—	_	_	—	_	_
Functionality	.52	<.001	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_
Aesthetics	.62	<.001	.54	<.001	_	_	_	_	_	_
Information	.55	<.001	.33	.002	.58	<.001	_	_	_	_
Overall rating	.83	<.001	.68	<.001	.85	<.001	.83	<.001	_	_
User star rating ^c	.27	.03	.11	.38	.19	.13	.32	.01	.30	.01

Table 3. Correlations between the mean values of the four MARS-G subdimensions, overall rating and user star rating.

^aMARS-G: German version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale.

^bNot applicable.

^cCorrelations were calculated with 69 mobile apps since the user star rating was missing for 14 apps.

Quality Rating on Evidence

Four (5%) mobile apps were evidence-based. For Lumosity [48,49] and NeuroNation [50], various efficacy studies, mainly for the web-based versions, in the form of randomized controlled trials with different participant groups (eg, age, health status, ethnicity) exist. These studies suggest significant improvements in different cognitive performances as processing speed or short-term memory due to training with these mobile apps. However, only a few studies met the minimal standards of a randomized controlled trial (eg, random assignment of participants) [51]. For MindMate and Constant Therapy, a

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23313
```

RenderX

significantly positive difference in therapeutic success could be shown compared with conventional or no training in older adults with cognitive impairments [52,53].

Association Between User Star Rating and Quality of Mobile Apps

The user star rating and overall rating correlated significantly positively with r=.30 (P=.01). Furthermore, there was a significant positive relationship between the user star rating and the subdimensions engagement (r=.27, P=.03) and information (r=.32, P=.01). The user star rating did not correlate significantly with the number of security and privacy measures (r=.09,

P=.49). The correlations were calculated with n=69 mobile apps since the user star rating was missing for 14 apps.

Exploratory Regression Analysis

There were no bivariate correlations between the overall rating or the four subdimensions and the obligation to pay fees (P>.05). The obligation to pay fees had no predictive value for overall quality (β =.07, $F_{1,81}$ =0.098, P=.75, adjusted R^2 =.01%).

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this study, we systematically examined the quality of 83 mobile apps for older adults in the European commercial app stores using a reliable and valid rating instrument. Furthermore, we assessed general characteristics, aims, methods, content, and privacy and security measures of the mobile apps for older adults. In general, the mobile apps were of moderate quality with a wide range of quality ratings. This result is in line with findings from other systematic mobile app reviews using the MARS [29,54-56]. The pattern of high functionality and low information quality of the mobile apps for older adults is in accordance with other MARS studies [55,57]. However, previous research on mobile apps for older adults implies a low functionality of these [17]. This result might point out the improvement of mobile app functionality over the past years.

The generally low information quality with a wide range is also in line with the results of other systematic reviews [38,55]. The included mobile apps often did not refer to the authors or sources of information, and the actuality and correctness of the information were not guaranteed. The decreased information quality is associated with various risks for mobile app users, mainly because misinformation can result in incorrect self-diagnosis and adverse health decisions in prevention, health promotion, and treatment [58,59].

Moreover, users are confronted with data and security issues, as 49% of the mobile apps contained no security or data protection measures, and those that do exist lack clarity. The literature implies that concerns about the lack of data protection measures represent an essential usage barrier for older adults [18,21]. Sunyaev and colleagues [60] suggested that mobile apps used in health care systems contain highly sensitive data and should, therefore, be subject to particularly strict data protection guidelines. In their assessment of mobile apps that provide health advice, they found that only 30.5% of mobile apps had privacy policies, of which two-thirds did not specifically address the content of the mobile apps, but commercial rights, distribution rights, or third-party rights [60]. This indicates a lack of transparent reporting on how mobile apps handle personal and health-related data. Therefore, the risk that the data can be evaluated, merged with other data, or passed on to third parties without the mobile app users' knowledge is given [61,62]. Even if mobile apps had a privacy policy, many mobile apps transmitted data services provided by Facebook or Google [63]. In particular, mobile apps that offer interface and protection should guarantee the privacy and security of data transmission. However, compliance with these guidelines is currently not ensured.

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23313

Furthermore, the efficacy and effectiveness of mobile apps for older adults are poorly examined [64]. Only 5% of mobile apps had evidence for their efficacy [48-50]. This small number is in line with the results of some systematic health-related mobile app reviews [38,56,65]. The limited emergence of evidence-based mobile apps can partly be explained by the fact that the evaluation methods for health interventions, such as randomized controlled trials, are time-consuming and cost-intensive [66,67]. Also, most mobile apps in this study, as well as mobile apps for other target groups, came from private sector companies without scientific background on the specific context [55,68-70]. Many mobile apps developed by universities and research projects do not enter the mobile app market or are not included in the top rankings due to lower download rates [68,71]. Interdisciplinary cooperation between health care providers, health insurance companies, and researchers would be essential to reach older adults in need who might benefit from a high-quality mobile app.

Top-ranked mobile apps often have a high user star rating, which is discussed as an indicator of mobile app quality [72]. This study found a moderate positive correlation between user star rating and overall rating as well as the subdimensions engagement and information, which is in accordance with some systematic reviews [73] but not with others [32,57]. These results indicate that engagement and information quality might play an essential role in the rating of mobile apps by older adults. The facets of the MARS subdimension engagement, such as entertainment, individual adaptability, interactivity, and target group specificity, are cited as essential principles for the development of mobile apps for older adults and have been associated with the effectiveness of health interventions in several studies [64,74-77]. In previous studies, users were described selecting mobile apps according to the quality of the aesthetics and functionality, which could not be replicated in this study [33,78]. Mobile apps for older adults might be thoroughly checked regarding their content and quality before older adults use them. However, there was no correlation between the user star rating and the number of data security measures, which suggests that the user star rating is not an indicator of data protection and privacy and vice versa. Furthermore, user star ratings could originate from fictitious persons, and each person could apply a different focus of evaluation (eg appearance, usability) [79]. Besides, user star ratings from app stores could refer to previous versions of a mobile app, which does not guarantee that the mobile app is up to date and may cause distortions due to evaluations of different versions [43]. Therefore, the user star rating does only seem to be a limited orientation aid for the selection of a mobile app. Other strategies for selecting a mobile app should be considered.

According to our results, the obligation to pay fees did not predict mobile app quality. In previous studies, it was partly implied that paid mobile apps are more credible, trustworthy, and recommendable and are more likely to promote users' health and well-being [57,80]. Other studies could also not find an association between the obligation to pay fees and mobile app quality [32,69]. Since the cost of mobile app use represents an important barrier for the uptake of mobile technologies as mobile

XSL•FO RenderX

apps by older adults [18,21], it is beneficial that there are no significant differences in quality.

Most mobile apps could be assigned to the trainer category. Training mobile apps such as fitness and cognitive exercises for the prevention of neurodegenerative diseases as well as social media mobile apps are mostly used by older adults [18,81]. In previous studies, mobile health interventions for older adults containing preventive training and mechanisms for behavioral changes, self-management of chronic diseases, and social inclusion have had a positive effect on self-confidence, health, performance, and general well-being of older adults [10,76,82-85]. In this study, most of the mobile apps were designed to support the daily lives of older adults (eg, entertainment and family connectivity) as well as for rehabilitation and treatment of diseases (eg, symptom tracking and medication). Thereby, most of the mobile apps focused on methods such as monitoring and tracking, feedback, data collection and measurement, information and education, or gamification. Various studies implied the importance of these methods for the effectiveness of mobile apps, use behavior and adherence, interaction, and motivation in the use of mobile apps by older adults [10,68,76-78, 86-88].

Strengths and Limitations

One strength of this study is the use of traditional systematic review methodology, such as systematic search, independent screening, and quality evaluation of the included mobile apps on a reliable scale. The multidimensional MARS-G enabled an objective, reliable, and valid rating [35,41]. The categorization, according to Cunha et al [42], made it possible to classify the mobile apps specifically for older adults independently of the app stores. Also, the additional manual exploration of mobile apps in the app stores ensured an up-to-date and comprehensive search. In this way, a realistic search for mobile apps by older adults and their relatives could be simulated. The use of nonprofessional and technical terms made it possible to cover a wide range of mobile apps in the search terms.

However, due to the high frequency of new and further developments as well as the continuous technological progress of the mobile app market [58], this study shows a current snapshot of the quality of mobile apps for older adults. Some of the included mobile apps may no longer be downloadable, their content may have changed, new versions could be available, or new mobile apps may have been developed during the publication of this study, therefore reducing the actuality of this rating.

Another limitation is the country-specific search for mobile apps in the German and British app stores. Different mobile apps are offered in various countries since the selection of countries in which a mobile app is available is determined by the developers [89]. This could limit the generalizability of the results of our study [90].

Furthermore, mobile apps were not tested for a longer time, as in days or weeks. Therefore, some aspects of the mobile apps may not have been detected, and some errors may have remained hidden. Additionally, we assessed privacy and security measures on a descriptive level, and the included data is based on information within the mobile apps and description in the app stores. Future studies should conduct an in-depth analysis of privacy and security measures in mobile apps for older adults (eg, analyzing if they transmit data using services provided by Facebook or Google) [63].

Scientific and Practical Implications

Since the user star rating is invalid to assess mobile app quality, publicly available expert mobile app ratings could help older adults as well as their relatives, caregivers, and health care professionals (eg, physicians) to select a high-quality mobile app. Publicly available MARS ratings by experts on a wide range of health topics on databases like Psyberguide and mHAD [71] could assist in informed health care decisions.

In the future, efficacy and effectiveness studies should be implemented for mobile apps. At present, there is a lack of high-quality studies that prove the long-term benefit, effectiveness, and safety of mobile app use for older adults [64,74]. In connection with efficacy and effectiveness studies, it could also be investigated which functions and properties of mobile apps have a particularly positive and long-term effect on the use of mobile apps by older adults. Based on this data, new evidence-based and effective mobile apps could be developed. Also, mobile apps whose effectiveness could be proven could be translated into other languages. Moreover, older adults should be involved as part of participative research in developing a new mobile app [91]. Taking end users into account increases the usability, uptake, and effectiveness of interventions [92]. After developing a new mobile app, it is essential to invest time in training tools, in-person training, user manuals, and support hotlines regarding the use of mobile app, as many older adults want to receive technical and social support for the installation, exploration, and learning of a mobile app [16,74,93-95]. Only making mobile apps available in the app stores will fail to optimize their use by older adults [96].

Promotion measures as reimbursement of costs of mobile apps with proven effectiveness through health care providers and targeted information campaigns on existing high-quality mobile apps for older adults and their relatives could help them to integrate high-quality mobile apps into their daily lives [93,97].

Conclusion

The potential inherent in mobile apps to support a healthy, active, and safe life for older adults has not yet been sufficiently explored. The study was able to indicate that currently available mobile apps for older adults are on average of moderate overall quality. In particular, deficiencies could be found in information quality, evidence-based approach, data protection, and security measures. However, some mobile apps were of high quality, were based on evidence, and had sufficient data protection, and therefore, could provide suitable support. The user star rating and the obligation to pay fees did not provide valid orientation aids. Annually conducted reviews and publicly available expert mobile app ratings could help older adults and their relatives as well as caregivers to select a high-quality mobile app.



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to the thank Jiaxi Lin, Rüdiger Pryss, Robin Kraft, Pascal Damasch, and Philipp Dörzenbach for their support in the development of the search engine and their support in the mHAD project. We also thank Milena Engelke for her assisting in the screening of the mobile apps.

Authors' Contributions

EMM, YT, LS, and HB developed the study design. AP, DS, MD, LS, MS, NW, and DD collected the data. AP, EMM, and YT ran the statistical evaluations. AP and EMM wrote the first draft of the article. All authors contributed to the current version of the article and have approved the final paper.

Conflicts of Interest

EMM, YT, LS, and HB developed, and run the German Mobile Health App Database project (MHAD). The MHAD is a self-funded project at Ulm University with no commercial interests. LS, HB and EMM received payments for talks and workshops in the context of e-mental-health. LS reported receiving personal fees from Psychotherapy Training Institutes and Clinics outside the submitted work. This does not alter our adherence to JMIR policies on sharing data and materials. All other authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses 2009 checklist. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 153 KB - aging_v4i1e23313_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Included mobile apps with name, store, developer, version, price, user star rating, Mobile Application Rating Scale, German version (MARS-G), subdimensions and overall rating sorted by MARS-G overall rating. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 164 KB - aging_v4i1e23313_app2.pdf]

References

- 1. He W, Goodkind D, Kowal P. An Aging World: 2015. Washington: Department of Health and Human Services National Institutes of Health; 2016.
- 2. Yochim B, Woodhead E. Psychology of Aging: A Biopsychosocial Perspective. Heidelberg: Springer; 2017.
- 3. Robert Koch Institut. Health in Germany 2015. Berlin: Robert Koch Institut; 2015.
- Blüher S, Kuhlmey A. Demographischer Wandel, Altern und Gesundheit [Demographic change, ageing, and health]. In: Richter R, Hurrelmann M, editors. Soziologie von Gesundheit und Krankheit [Sociology of Health and Disease]. Wiesbaden: Springer Verlag; 2016.
- 5. Godde B, Olk B, Voelcker-Rehage C. Einführung Gerontopsychologie [Introduction to Gerontopsychology]. München: utb; 2016.
- Lang F, Rupprecht R. Interventionsrelevante Konzepte der lebenslangen Entwicklung [Intervention relevant concepts of lifelong development]. In: Wahl W, Tesch-Römer C, Ziegelmann J, editors. Angew Gerontol—Interv für ein gutes Altern 100 Schlüsselbegriffen [Angew Gerontol-Interv for Aging Well—100 Key Words]. Stuttgart: Kohlhammer Verlag; 2012:66-71.
- 7. Dupuis K, Tsotsos LE. Technology for remote health monitoring in an older population: a role for mobile devices. Multimodal Technol Interact 2018 Jul 27;2(3):1-7. [doi: 10.3390/mti2030043]
- Helbostad JL, Vereijken B, Becker C, Todd C, Taraldsen K, Pijnappels M, et al. Mobile health applications to promote active and healthy ageing. Sensors (Basel) 2017 Mar 18;17(3):622 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s17030622] [Medline: 28335475]
- 9. Rocha NP, dos Santos MR, Cerqueira M, Queirós A. Mobile health to support ageing in place: a systematic review of reviews and meta-analyses. Int J E-Health Med Commun 2019;10(3):1-21. [doi: 10.4018/ijehmc.2019070101]
- 10. Goumopoulos C, Papa I, Stavrianos A. Development and evaluation of a mobile application suite for enhancing the social inclusion and well-being of seniors. Informatics 2017 Jun 22;4(3):15. [doi: <u>10.3390/informatics4030015</u>]
- 11. Garvelink MM, Agbadjé TT, Freitas A, Bergeron L, Petitjean T, Dugas M, et al. Improving a web-based tool to support older adults to stay independent at home: qualitative study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jul 22;8(7):e16979 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16979] [Medline: 32412908]
- 12. Banskota S, Healy M, Goldberg EM. 15 smartphone apps for older adults to use while in isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic. West J Emerg Med 2020 Apr 14;21(3):514-525 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5811/westjem.2020.4.47372] [Medline: 32302279]

- Joosen P, Piette D, Buekers J, Taelman J, Berckmans D, De Boever P. A smartphone-based solution to monitor daily physical activity in a care home. J Telemed Telecare 2019 Dec;25(10):611-622. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633X18790170</u>] [Medline: <u>30068250</u>]
- 14. Boateng G, Batsis JA, Proctor P, Halter R, Kotz D. GeriActive: wearable app for monitoring and encouraging physical activity among older adults. 2018 Presented at: IEEE 15th International Conference on Wearable and Implantable Body Sensor Networks; 2018; Las Vegas p. 46-49. [doi: 10.1109/bsn.2018.8329655]
- 15. Wang A, An N, Lu X, Chen H, Li C, Levkoff S. A classification scheme for analyzing mobile apps used to prevent and manage disease in late life. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014;2(1):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.2877] [Medline: 25098687]
- Kuerbis A, Mulliken A, Muench F, Moore A, Gardner D. Older adults and mobile technology: factors that enhance and inhibit utilization in the context of behavioral health. Ment Health Addict Res 2017;2(2):1-11. [doi: 10.15761/MHAR.1000136]
- Wildenbos GA, Jaspers MWM, Schijven MP, Dusseljee-Peute LW. Mobile health for older adult patients: using an aging barriers framework to classify usability problems. Int J Med Inform 2019 Dec;124:68-77 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.01.006] [Medline: 30784429]
- Rasche P, Wille M, Bröhl C, Theis S, Schäfer K, Knobe M, et al. Prevalence of health app use among older adults in germany: national survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 23;6(1):e26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8619] [Medline: 29362211]
- 19. Czaja S, Boot W, Charness N, Rogers W. Designing for Older Adults. Washington: CRC Press; 2019.
- 20. Hoque R, Sorwar G. Understanding factors influencing the adoption of mHealth by the elderly: an extension of the UTAUT model. Int J Med Inform 2017 May;101:75-84. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.02.002] [Medline: 28347450]
- Kruse CS, Mileski M, Moreno J. Mobile health solutions for the aging population: a systematic narrative analysis. J Telemed Telecare 2017 Jun;23(4):439-451. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633X16649790</u>] [Medline: <u>27255207</u>]
- 22. Lee C, Coughlin JF. PERSPECTIVE: Older adults' adoption of technology: an integrated approach to identifying determinants and barriers. J Prod Innov Manag 2014 Jun 03;32(5):747-759. [doi: <u>10.1111/jpim.12176</u>]
- 23. Vassli LT, Farshchian BA. Acceptance of health-related ICT among elderly people living in the community: a systematic review of qualitative evidence. Int J Hum Comput Interact 2017 May 30;34(2):99-116. [doi: 10.1080/10447318.2017.1328024]
- 24. Anderson M, Perrin A. Technology use among seniors. Washington: Pew Research Center for Internet & Technology; 2017 May 17. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/wp-content/uploads/sites/9/2017/05/PI_2017.05.</u> 17_Older-Americans-Tech_FINAL.pdf [accessed 2020-12-23]
- 25. Rosales A, Fernández-Ardèvol M. Smartphone usage diversity among older people. In: Sayago S, editor. Perspectives on Human-Computer Interaction Research With Older People. Cham: Springer; 2019:51-66.
- 26. VuMA (Arbeitsgemeinschaft Verbrauchs- und Medienanalyse). Percentage of smartphone users in Germany by age group in 2019. VuMA (Arbeitsgemeinschaft Verbrauchs- und Medienanalyse). 2019. URL: <u>https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/</u>studie/459963/umfrage/anteil-der-smartphone-nutzer-in-deutschland-nach-altersgruppe/ [accessed 2021-01-05]
- Berenguer A, Goncalves J, Hosio S, Ferreira D, Anagnostopoulos T, Kostakos V. Are smartphones ubiquitous? An in-depth survey of smartphone adoption by seniors. IEEE Consum Electron Mag 2017 Jan;6(1):104-110. [doi: 10.1109/mce.2016.2614524]
- 28. Appfigures, VentureBeat. Number of apps available in leading app stores as of 3rd quarter 2020. Appfigures. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/276623/number-of-apps-available-in-leading-app-stores/</u> <u>#:~:text=What% 20are% 20the% 20biggest% 20app,million% 20available% 20apps% 20for% 20iOS</u> [accessed 2021-01-05]
- Reyes A, Qin P, Brown CA. A standardized review of smartphone applications to promote balance for older adults. Disability Rehabil 2016 Nov 20;40(6):690-696. [doi: 10.1080/09638288.2016.1250124]
- 30. Rossmann C, Krömer N. mHealth in der medizinischen Versorgung, Prävention und Gesundheitsförderung [mHealth in medical care, prevention and health promotion]. In: Fischer F, Krämer A, editors. eHealth Deutschl. Heidelberg: Springer; 2016:441-456.
- 31. Mohadisdudis HM, Ali NM. A study of smartphone usage and barriers among the elderly. 2014 Presented at: 3rd International Conference on User Science and Engineering (i-USEr); 2014; Shah Alam p. 109-114. [doi: 10.1109/iuser.2014.7002686]
- Bardus M, van Beurden SB, Smith JR, Abraham C. A review and content analysis of engagement, functionality, aesthetics, information quality, and change techniques in the most popular commercial apps for weight management. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016;13(1):35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-016-0359-9] [Medline: 26964880]
- 33. Armstrong S. Which app should I use? BMJ 2015 Sep 09;351:h4597. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.h4597] [Medline: 26353800]
- Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Zelenko O, Tjondronegoro D, Mani M. Mobile app rating scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3422] [Medline: 25760773]
- 35. Messner EM, Terhorst Y, Barke A, Baumeister H, Stoyanov S, Hides L, et al. The German version of the Mobile App Rating Scale (MARS-G): development and validation study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Mar 27;8(3):e14479 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14479] [Medline: 32217504]

- Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. Syst Rev 2015 Jan 01;20:148-160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/2046-4053-4-1] [Medline: 25554246]
- 37. Stach M, Kraft R, Probst T, Messner EM, Terhorst Y, Baumeister H, et al. Mobile health app database: a repository for quality ratings of mHealth apps. 2020 Presented at: 2020 IEEE 33rd International Symposium on Computer-Based Medical Systems; 2020; Rochester p. 427-432. [doi: 10.1109/cbms49503.2020.00087]
- 38. Terhorst Y, Rathner EM, Baumeister H, Sander L. ["Help from the App Store?" A systematic review and evaluation of apps for depression]. Verhaltenstherapie 2018 May 8;28(2):101-112. [doi: 10.1159/000481692]
- 39. Messner EM. Mobile Anwendungen Rating Skala (MARS-German). 2017. URL: <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=5vwMiCWC0Sc [accessed 2019-05-20]
- 40. Fleiss J. Design and Analysis of Clinical Experiments. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons; 2011.
- 41. Terhorst Y, Philippi P, Sander LB, Schultchen D, Paganini S, Bardus M, et al. Validation of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (MARS). PLoS ONE 2020 Nov 2;15(11):e0241480. [doi: <u>10.1371/journal.pone.0241480</u>]
- 42. Cunha A, Cunha E, Peres E, Trigueiros P. Helping older people: is there an app for that? Procedia Comput Sci 2016;100:118-127. [doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2016.09.131]
- 43. Mojica Ruiz IJ, Nagappan M, Adams B, Berger T, Dienst S, Hassan AE. Examining the rating system used in mobile app stores. IEEE Softw 2016 Nov;33(6):86-92. [doi: 10.1109/ms.2015.56]
- 44. Santo K, Richtering SS, Chalmers J, Thiagalingam A, Chow CK, Redfern J. Mobile phone apps to improve medication adherence: a systematic stepwise process to identify high-quality apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Dec 02;4(4):e132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.6742] [Medline: 27913373]
- 45. Saborido R, Khomh F, Antoniol G, Gueheneuc YG. Comprehension of ads-supported and paid android applications: are they different? 2017 Presented at: 2017 IEEE/ACM 25th International Conference on Program Comprehension; 2017; Buenos Aires p. 143-153. [doi: 10.1109/icpc.2017.25]
- 46. Zar JH. Significance testing of the Spearman rank correlation coefficient. J Am Stat Assoc 1972 Sep;67(339):578-580. [doi: <u>10.1080/01621459.1972.10481251</u>]
- 47. Portney L, Watkins M. Foundations of Clinical Research: Applications to Practice. Upper Saddle River: Pearson/Prentice Hall; 2009.
- 48. Deran YR, Miin SJ, Uduwela VU, Yang EWG, Prabaharan KR. The effect of brain training game (Lumosity) on cognitive functions (memory, concentration and reaction time) to private medical college student in Malaysia: randomized controlled trial (RCT). Int J Biomed Clin Sci 2020;5:1-4.
- 49. Toril P, Reales JM, Mayas J, Ballesteros S. Video game training enhances visuospatial working memory and episodic memory in older adults. Front Hum Neurosci 2016 May;10:206. [doi: <u>10.3389/fnhum.2016.00206</u>] [Medline: <u>27199723</u>]
- 50. Strobach T, Huestegge L. Evaluating the effectiveness of commercial brain game training with working-memory tasks. J Cogn Enhanc 2017 Nov 20;1(4):539-558. [doi: 10.1007/s41465-017-0053-0]
- 51. Bainbridge K, Mayer RE. Shining the light of research on Lumosity. J Cogn Enhanc 2017 Oct 3;2(1):43-62. [doi: 10.1007/s41465-017-0040-5]
- 52. Des Roches CA, Balachandran I, Ascenso EM, Tripodis Y, Kiran S. Effectiveness of an impairment-based individualized rehabilitation program using an iPad-based software platform. Front Hum Neurosci 2015 Jan;8:1015 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2014.01015] [Medline: 25601831]
- 53. McGoldrick C, Crawford S, Evans JJ. MindMate: a single case experimental design study of a reminder system for people with dementia. Neuropsychol Rehabil 2019 Aug 20;31(1):18-38. [doi: <u>10.1080/09602011.2019.1653936</u>]
- Choi SK, Yelton B, Ezeanya VK, Kannaley K, Friedman DB. Review of the content and quality of mobile applications about Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. J Appl Gerontol 2020 Jun;39(6):601-608 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0733464818790187] [Medline: 30049239]
- 55. Salazar A, de Sola H, Failde I, Moral-Munoz JA. Measuring the quality of mobile apps for the management of pain: systematic search and evaluation using the Mobile App Rating Scale. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Oct 25;6(10):e10718 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10718] [Medline: 30361196]
- 56. Sander LB, Schorndanner J, Terhorst Y, Spanhel K, Pryss R, Baumeister H, et al. 'Help for trauma from the app stores?' A systematic review and standardised rating of apps for Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). Eur J Psychotraumatol 2020 Jan 09;11(1):1701788. [doi: 10.1080/20008198.2019.1701788]
- 57. Machado GC, Pinheiro MB, Lee H, Ahmed OH, Hendrick P, Williams C, et al. Smartphone apps for the self-management of low back pain: a systematic review. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2016 Dec;30(6):1098-1109. [doi: 10.1016/j.berh.2017.04.002]
- 58. Albrecht UV. Chancen und Risiken von Gesundheits-Apps [Opportunities and risks of health apps]. Recht & Netz 2018;1:417-430. [doi: 10.5771/9783845293288-417] [Medline: 978-3-8487-5127-3]
- 59. Gigerenzer G, Schlegel-Matthies K, Wagner G. Digitale Welt und Gesundheit: eHealth und mHealth-Chancen und Risiken der Digitalisierung im Gesundheitsbereich [Digital World and health: eHealth and mHealth opportunities and risks of digitalisation in the health sector]. Berlin: VRV Sachverständigenrat für Verbraucherfragen; 2016.

- 60. Sunyaev A, Dehling T, Taylor PL, Mandl KD. Availability and quality of mobile health app privacy policies. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2015 Apr;22(e1):e28-e33. [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2013-002605] [Medline: 25147247]
- 61. Bhuyan S, Kim H, Isehunwa OO, Kumar N, Bhatt J, Wyant DK, et al. Privacy and security issues in mobile health: current research and future directions. Health Policy Technol 2017 Jun;6(2):188-191. [doi: 10.1016/j.hlpt.2017.01.004]
- 62. Martínez-Pérez B, de la Torre-Díez I, López-Coronado M. Privacy and security in mobile health apps: a review and recommendations. J Med Syst 2015 Jan;39(1):181. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-014-0181-3] [Medline: 25486895]
- 63. Huckvale K, Torous J, Larsen ME. Assessment of the data sharing and privacy practices of smartphone apps for depression and smoking cessation. JAMA Netw Open 2019 Apr 05;2(4):e192542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.2542] [Medline: 31002321]
- 64. Healy P. An evaluation of mobile applications for improving health in older adults: a review of the literature. Pegasus Rev UCF Undergrad Res J 2019;10.
- 65. Knitza J, Tascilar K, Messner EM, Meyer M, Vossen D, Pulla A, et al. German mobile apps in rheumatology: review and analysis using the Mobile Application Rating Scale (MARS). JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Aug 05;7(8):e14991 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14991] [Medline: 31381501]
- 66. Glasgow RE, Lichtenstein E, Marcus AC. Why don't we see more translation of health promotion research to practice? Rethinking the efficacy-to-effectiveness transition. Am J Public Health 2003 Aug;93(8):1261-1267. [Medline: <u>12893608</u>]
- 67. Mohr DC, Cheung K, Schueller SM, Hendricks BC, Duan N. Continuous evaluation of evolving behavioral intervention technologies. Am J Prev Med 2013 Oct;45(4):517-523 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2013.06.006] [Medline: 24050429]
- 68. Albrecht UV, Höhn M, von Jan U. Kapitel 2. Gesundheits-Apps und Markt. [Chapter 2. Health apps and market]. In: Albrecht UV, editor. CHARISMHA. Hannover: Medizinische Hochschule; 2016:62-82.
- 69. Nicholas J, Larsen ME, Proudfoot J, Christensen H. Mobile apps for bipolar disorder: a systematic review of features and content quality. J Med Internet Res 2015;17(8):e198 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4581] [Medline: 26283290]
- 70. Tabi K, Randhawa AS, Choi F, Mithani Z, Albers F, Schnieder M, et al. Mobile apps for medication management: review and analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Sep 11;7(9):e13608 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13608] [Medline: 31512580]
- 71. Neary M, Schueller SM. State of the field of mental health apps. Cogn Behav Pract 2018 Mar;25:531-537. [doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2018.01.002]
- 72. Sigg S, Lagerspetz E, Peltonen E, Nurmi P, Tarkoma S. Sovereignty of the apps: there's more to relevance than downloads. ArXiv Preprint posted online November 29, 2016. [FREE Full text]
- 73. Schoeppe S, Alley S, Rebar AL, Hayman M, Bray NA, Van Lippevelde W, et al. Apps to improve diet, physical activity and sedentary behaviour in children and adolescents: a review of quality, features and behaviour change techniques. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2017 Jun 24;14(1):83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0538-3] [Medline: 28646889]
- 74. Quinn CC, Staub S, Barr E, Gruber-Baldini A. Mobile support for older adults and their caregivers: dyad usability study. JMIR Aging 2019 May 23;2(1):e12276 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12276] [Medline: 31518271]
- 75. Wildenbos GA, Peute L, Jaspers M. Aging barriers influencing mobile health usability for older adults: a literature based framework (MOLD-US). Int J Med Inform 2018 Jun;114:66-75. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2018.03.012] [Medline: 29673606]
- 76. Changizi M, Kaveh MH. Effectiveness of the mHealth technology in improvement of healthy behaviors in an elderly population: a systematic review. Mhealth 2017;3:51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2017.08.06] [Medline: 29430455]
- 77. Zhao J, Freeman B, Li M. Can mobile phone apps influence people's health behavior change? An evidence review. J Med Internet Res 2016 Oct 31;18(11):e287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5692] [Medline: 27806926]
- 78. Harman M, Jia Y, Zhang Y. App store mining and analysis: MSR for app stores. 2012 Presented at: 9th IEEE Working Conference on Mining Software Repositories; 2012; Zurich p. 108-111. [doi: <u>10.1109/msr.2012.6224306</u>]
- 79. Kuehnhausen M, Frost V. Trusting smartphone apps? To install or not to install, that is the question. 2013 Presented at: IEEE International Multi-Disciplinary Conference on Cognitive Methods in Situation Awareness and Decision Support (CogSIMA); 2013; San Diego p. 30-37. [doi: 10.1109/cogsima.2013.6523820]
- 80. West JH, Hall PC, Hanson CL, Barnes MD, Giraud-Carrier C, Barrett J. There's an app for that: content analysis of paid health and fitness apps. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(3):e72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1977] [Medline: 22584372]
- 81. Krebs P, Duncan DT. Health app use among US mobile phone owners: a national survey. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015;3(4):e101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4924] [Medline: 26537656]
- Elavsky S, Knapova L, Klocek A, Smahel D. Mobile health interventions for physical activity, sedentary behavior, and sleep in adults aged 50 years and older: a systematic literature review. J Aging Phys Act 2019;27(4):565-593. [doi: 10.1123/japa.2017-0410]
- 83. Yasini M, Marchand G. Adoption and use of a mobile health application in older adults for cognitive stimulation. Stud Heal Technol Inf 2016;221:13-17. [doi: 10.3233/978-1-61499-633-0-13]
- 84. Yerrakalva D, Yerrakalva D, Hajna S, Griffin S. Effects of mobile health app interventions on sedentary time, physical activity, and fitness in older adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2019 Nov 28;21(11):e14343 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14343] [Medline: 31778121]

- Oh SJ, Seo S, Lee JH, Song MJ, Shin MS. Effects of smartphone-based memory training for older adults with subjective memory complaints: a randomized controlled trial. Aging Ment Health 2018 Apr;22(4):526-534. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2016.1274373] [Medline: 28071929]
- 86. Gao C, Zhou L, Liu Z, Wang H, Bowers B. Mobile application for diabetes self-management in China: do they fit for older adults? Int J Med Inform 2017 Dec;101:68-74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.02.005] [Medline: 28347449]
- 87. Lee C, Lee K, Lee D. Mobile healthcare applications and gamification for sustained health maintenance. Sustainability 2017 May 08;9(5):772. [doi: 10.3390/su9050772]
- 88. Langener S, Ratz T, Lippke S. User-centered digital health application development to promote healthy ageing. Digit Gesundh Wie Digit Medien zur Unterstützung der Gesundh eingesetzt Werd 2018:23-29.
- 89. The secrets to app success on Google Play. Google Inc. 2016. URL: <u>https://commondatastorage.googleapis.com/</u> androiddevelopers/shareables/distribute/secrets_play/v2/web/secrets_to_app_success_v2_en.pdf [accessed 2019-08-16]
- 90. Grundy QH, Wang Z, Bero LA. Challenges in assessing mobile health app quality: a systematic review of prevalent and innovative methods. Am J Prev Med 2016 Dec;51(6):1051-1059. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.07.009] [Medline: 27659122]
- 91. Isaković M, Sedlar U, Volk M, Bešter J. Usability pitfalls of diabetes mHealth apps for the elderly. J Diabetes Res 2016;2016:1604609 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2016/1604609] [Medline: 27034957]
- 92. de Beurs D, van Bruinessen I, Noordman J, Friele R, van Dulmen S. Active involvement of end users when developing web-based mental health interventions. Front Psychiatry 2017 May 03;8:72. [doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2017.00072]
- 93. Portz JD, Fruhauf C, Bull S, Boxer RS, Bekelman DB, Casillas A, et al. "Call a teenager. That's what I do!" Grandchildren help older adults use new technologies: qualitative study. JMIR Aging 2019 Jun 06;2(1):e13713 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13713] [Medline: 31518274]
- 94. Merkel S, Hess M. The use of internet-based health and care services by elderly people in Europe and the importance of the country context: multilevel study. JMIR Aging 2020 Jun 03;3(1):e15491 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15491] [Medline: 32490837]
- 95. Vaportzis E, Giatsi Clausen M, Gow AJ. Older adults experiences of learning to use tablet computers: a mixed methods study. Front Psychol 2018 Sep 3;9:1631. [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01631]
- 96. Gilbert BJ, Goodman E, Chadda A, Hatfield D, Forman DE, Panch T. The role of mobile health in elderly populations. Curr Geri Rep 2015 Aug 21;4(4):347-352. [doi: 10.1007/s13670-015-0145-6]
- 97. Guo Y, Yang F, Hu F, Li W, Ruggiano N, Lee HY. Existing mobile phone apps for self-care management of people with Alzheimer disease and related dementias: systematic analysis. JMIR Aging 2020 Jan 24;3(1):e15290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15290] [Medline: 32012045]

Abbreviations

ICC: intraclass correlation MARS-G: Mobile Application Rating Scale, German version PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses

Edited by J Wang; submitted 07.08.20; peer-reviewed by P Rasche, A Gulliver; comments to author 15.09.20; revised version received 10.11.20; accepted 13.11.20; published 19.02.21.

Please cite as:

Portenhauser AA, Terhorst Y, Schultchen D, Sander LB, Denkinger MD, Stach M, Waldherr N, Dallmeier D, Baumeister H, Messner EM

Mobile Apps for Older Adults: Systematic Search and Evaluation Within Online Stores JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e23313 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e23313 doi:10.2196/23313 PMID:33605884

©Alexandra A Portenhauser, Yannik Terhorst, Dana Schultchen, Lasse B Sander, Michael D Denkinger, Michael Stach, Natalie Waldherr, Dhayana Dallmeier, Harald Baumeister, Eva-Maria Messner. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 19.02.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

A New Tool for Detecting COVID-19 Psychological Burden Among Postacute and Long-term Care Residents (Mood-5 Scale): Observational Study

William E Mansbach¹, PhD; Ryan A Mace¹, PhD; Melissa A Tanner¹, PhD

Mansbach Health Tools, LLC, Simpsonville, MD, United States

Corresponding Author: William E Mansbach, PhD Mansbach Health Tools, LLC PO Box 307 Simpsonville, MD, 21150 United States Phone: 1 4438967409 Email: wmansbach@thebcat.com

Abstract

Background: Older adults are at high risk for developing serious somatic and psychological symptoms associated with COVID-19. Currently available instruments may not be sensitive to the concerns about COVID-19 in postacute and long-term care and their applications in telehealth remain to be clarified.

Objective: We investigated the psychometric properties of the Mood-5 Scale (M5) as a rapid self-assessment of the COVID-19 psychological burden among postacute and long-term care residents.

Methods: Residents (N=131), aged 50 years and above, from 20 postacute and long-term care facilities in Maryland, USA, were evaluated in-person or via telehealth (43/131, 32.8%) across a 4-week period (May 11 to June 5, 2020) during the COVID-19 pandemic. The COVID-19 psychological burden experienced by the residents was rated by geriatric psychologists who independently reviewed their clinical documentation. Psychometric analyses were performed on the M5 in relation to psychological tests, COVID-19 psychological burden, and diagnostic data collected during the evaluation.

Results: The M5 demonstrated acceptable internal consistency (Cronbach α =.77). M5 scores were not confounded by demographic variables or telehealth administration (*P*>.08). Convergent validity for the M5 was established via positive associations with anxiety (*r*=0.56, *P*<.001) and depressive (*r*=0.49, *P*<.001) symptoms. An M5 cutoff score of 3 demonstrated strong sensitivity (0.92) and adequate specificity (0.75) for identifying COVID-19 psychological distress among postacute and long-term care residents (area under the curve of 0.89, positive predictive value=0.79, negative predictive value=0.91).

Conclusions: The M5 is a reliable and valid tool for self-assessment of mood that can help identify postacute and long-term care residents with significant psychological burden associated with COVID-19. It can be completed in less than 1 minute and is appropriate for use in both in-person and virtual visits.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e26340) doi:10.2196/26340

KEYWORDS

nursing homes; long-term care; COVID-19; depression; stress; coping; burden; mental health; elderly; older adults; risk; telehealth; self-assessment; scale; mood

Introduction

The base rates of depression and anxiety are high among postacute and long-term care (PA/LTC) residents. Approximately one-third of all residents in PA/LTC facilities experience significant depressive symptoms [1,2], whereas an estimated 5%-10% experience anxiety-related disorders [3,4]. These numbers are significantly higher among residents referred

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e26340

RenderX

for neurocognitive evaluations. For instance, in a sample of PA/LTC residents referred for evaluation of mood and/or cognitive symptoms, 55% met the criteria for a major depressive episode, and 36.6% met the criteria for generalized anxiety disorder [5]. Although we found no studies investigating the psychological burden associated with COVID-19 in PA/LTC settings, there is evidence suggesting that the pandemic has contributed to an increase in mental health concerns. In a

community sample, the American Psychiatric Association found that 36% of Americans reported that COVID-19 has had a significant impact on their mental health, and 48% reported feeling anxious about potentially contracting the infection [6]. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention has issued a warning that people over the age of 65 years, those with serious underlying medical conditions [7,8], and those living in residential care settings are at the highest risk for developing severe illness from COVID-19; therefore, it is expected that these groups experience an increased psychological burden, placing them at a considerable risk of the development or exacerbation of psychiatric symptoms.

To our knowledge, evidence supporting a rapid mood screening tool that can be used to capture psychological burden associated with COVID-19 is currently lacking. Rapid screening is especially critical in the context of COVID-19. Under normal circumstances, health care providers are highly limited for the time that they can spend on assessments, particularly for co-occurring medical conditions [9,10]. Time is even more limited when the duration and extent of face-to-face encounters is capped to prevent the spread of infection, and competition for resources restricts the duration of virtual visits. This almost rules out the use of multiple measures or instruments that require more than 2 minutes of the providers' time to administer. The measures of depression and anxiety that are most commonly used in PA/LTC settings, including the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) [11] and the Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item (GAD-7) scale [12], assess depression or anxiety but not both. Moreover, formal anxiety screening is not required in PA/LTC settings. The Geriatric Depression Scale-Short Form [13] is a mood instrument developed specifically for older adults, but it has limited psychometric properties and double the number of items in the PHQ-9 [14].

In this study, we developed and validated the Mood-5 Scale (M5) to address barriers to its practical use in the context of COVID-19 by minimizing administration time, allowing for self-administration, and combining the assessment of depression and anxiety. The scale is an adapted version of the Brief Anxiety and Depression Scale (BADS), a screening tool that assesses both depressive and anxiety symptoms and is widely used by

health care professionals in PA/LTC settings [5]. The M5 was designed so that it can be (1) self-administered by residents in PA/LTC settings for a variety of conditions, ranging from normal cognitive functioning to mild dementia; (2) completed in less than 1 minute; and (3) completed as part of an in-person or telehealth visit, which is particularly relevant in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. We hypothesized that the M5 will be able to rapidly identify COVID-19–associated psychological burden, as well as clinical anxiety and depression.

Methods

Participants and Procedures

Residents (N=131) aged 50 years and above from 20 PA/LTC facilities in Maryland, USA, were evaluated by a behavioral health interdisciplinary team comprising 10 psychologists, 1 psychiatrist, and 10 nurse practitioners via in-person or telehealth visits. Data were collected across a 4-week period during the COVID-19 pandemic (ie, May 11 to June 6, 2020) to obtain a snapshot of the possible psychological burden during the pandemic, with the intention of sharing actionable information with the providers who care for PA/LTC residents. The relatively small sample size reflects the effort to fast-track the research process and maximize impact in the context of the current COVID-19 pandemic. Institutional approval was obtained from each PA/LTC facility, and all residents or their responsible parties completed a consent agreement. Furthermore, all residents were deidentified for the analysis. M5 items were derived from the standard evaluation procedures so that the residents experienced no additional burden through its administration. A battery of psychological tests, including the M5, BADS [5], and the Brief Cognitive Assessment Tool (BCAT) [15], was administered as part of the usual evaluation. The International Classification of Diseases 10th Revision (ICD-10) [16] and Clinical Dementia Rating Scale [17] were used to assign psychiatric diagnoses and dementia stages, respectively. Residents were excluded from the study analyses if they had incomplete M5 data, moderate-to-severe dementia, or were aged below 50 years. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the study sample are presented in Table 1.



Table 1. Select demographics and clinical characteristics (N=131).

Variable	Value, n (%)							
Age (years), mean (SD)	76.12 (11.05)							
Gender								
Female	69 (52.67)							
Male	62 (47.33)							
Race								
White	110 (83.97)							
Black	14 (10.69)							
Other	4 (3.05)							
Missing	3 (2.29)							
Marital status								
Single	23 (17.56)							
Married	14 (10.69)							
Widowed	52 (39.69)							
Separated	6 (4.58)							
Divorced	34 (25.95)							
Missing	2 (1.53)							
Education (years completed)								
≤11	18 (13.74)							
12	55 (41.98)							
13-15	22 (16.79)							
16	17 (12.98)							
≥17	14 (10.69)							
Missing	5 (3.82)							
Facility								
Skilled nursing	87 (66.41)							
Assisted living	44 (33.59)							
Cognitive level								
No dementia	10 (7.63)							
MCI ^a	67 (51.15)							
Mild dementia	54 (41.12)							
Telehealth delivery	43 (31.82)							
COVID-19 distress	67 (51.15)							

^aMCI: mild cognitive impairment.

Measures

RenderX

Development of the M5

The M5 was adapted from BADS, which was chosen because it measures depression and anxiety factors separately, is used widely in PA/LTC settings, and has strong psychometric properties. Two items each from the depression and anxiety factors of BADS were selected for inclusion in the M5. A fifth item was added to address somatic or cognitive features. A panel of experts comprising 3 geriatric psychologists, 1 psychiatrist, and 2 PA/LTC medical directors vetted the instrument before data collection.

For standardized administration, residents were instructed as follows: "Think about how you have been feeling during the past month as you answer the following five questions. Please answer: 'no'=0, 'somewhat'=1, or 'yes'=2." The M5 items were written as follows:

- 1. Have you lost interest in activities that you had found pleasurable?
- 2. Do you worry about things more than usual?


- 3. For at least two consecutive days, have you felt depressed, hopeless, or down?
- 4. Are you feeling nervous, anxious, or "wound up" much of the time?
- 5. Are you experiencing fatigue, headaches, stomach upset, or memory problems?

Multimedia Appendix 1 presents the M5 items and standardized scoring instructions.

COVID-19 Psychological Burden

The outcome binary variable "COVID-19 psychological burden" was based on a geriatric psychologist's independent review of the behavioral health providers' clinical documentation. While completing the medical records of PA/LTC residents, health care professionals were required to directly ask the patient whether they were experiencing psychological symptoms *associated* with fear of contracting COVID-19 and/or social distancing precautions to reduce disease transmission. An affirmative score was assigned if the documentation supported that the resident was queried about the COVID-19 psychological burden and the resident made direct statements about experiencing increased anxiety or depressive symptoms associated with COVID-19 or if the health care professional observed increased anxiety or depression associated with COVID-19.

Validity Measures

The convergent and discriminant validity of the M5 were evaluated using the BADS and BCAT, respectively. The BADS is an 8-item mood questionnaire designed to identify anxiety and depression (score range 0-16) among older adults. The

 Table 2. Descriptive statistics of the various study measures used.

BCAT is a 21-item, multi-domain cognitive instrument (score range 0-21) that distinguishes among normal cognition, mild cognitive impairment, and dementia [15,18].

Statistical Analysis

Analyses were performed in R (version 3.6.1; R Core Team) [19] using RStudio (version 1.2.5019; RStudio Team) software [20]. Descriptive statistics were used to report demographics, clinical characteristics, and study measures. Pearson correlations, independent sample *t* tests, and analysis of variance were performed to investigate the relationship between these variables and the M5. Cronbach α was used to estimate internal consistency. Receiver operator characteristic curve analyses examined the ability of the M5 to identify COVID-19 psychological burden. Despite the compressed data collection period, the sample size was sufficient for preliminary reliability [21,22]. Residents with missing study measures were removed pairwise to maximize the use of available M5 data.

Results

Preanalysis

Table 2 reports descriptive statistics for the M5 and validity measures. M5 scores were not associated with gender, race, marital status, education, or provider discipline (P>.05). Residents in skilled nursing settings (87/131, 66.4%) reported higher M5 scores than residents in assisted living settings (diff=1.73; 95% CI 0.29-3.18; P=.01). Younger age was associated with higher M5 scores (r=-0.19, P=.03). M5 scores did not differ as a function of telehealth (43/131, 32.8%) or in-person evaluations (diff=0.08; 95% CI -0.97 to 1.13; P=.88).

Study measure	n (%)	Mean (SD)	Minimum	Maximum	Skewness	Kurtosis
M5 ^a	131 (100)	3.60 (2.86)	0	10	0.57	-0.59
BCAT ^b	70 (53.4)	34.61 (6.38)	22	46	-0.05	-1.02
BADS ^c AF ^d	110 (83.9)	2.70 (1.78)	0	6	0.47	-0.75
BADS DF ^e	110 (83.9)	3.31 (3.01)	0	10	0.68	-0.59

^aM5: Mood-5 Scale.

^bBCAT: Brief Cognitive Assessment Tool.

^cBADS: Brief Anxiety and Depression Scale.

^dAF: Anxiety Factor of BADS.

^eDF: Depression Factor of BADS.

Psychometric Analyses

The M5 demonstrated acceptable internal consistency (Cronbach α =.77, 95% CI 0.71-0.83). Item-level statistics for the M5 are presented in Table S1 of Multimedia Appendix 1. Convergent validity for the M5 was established via positive and moderate

associations with anxiety (r=0.56, P<.001) and depressive (r=0.49, P<.001) symptoms on the BADS (Table 3). Discriminant validity was confirmed for the M5 by negligible relationship with cognitive functions on the BCAT (r=0.17, P=0.15).



Measure	M5 ^a	BCAT ^b	BADS ^c AF ^d	BADS DF ^e
M5				
r	1	0.17	0.49	0.56
P value	f	.15	<.001	<.001
BCAT				
r	0.17	1	0.03	0.23
P value	.15	_	.81	.06
BADS AF				
r	0.49	0.03	1	0.52
P value	<.001	.81	_	<.001
BADS DF				
r	0.56	0.23	0.52	1
<i>P</i> value	<.001	.06	<.001	_

^aM5: Mood-5 Scale.

^bBCAT: Brief Cognitive Assessment Tool.

^cBADS: Brief Anxiety and Depression Scale.

^dAF: Anxiety Factor of BADS.

^eDF: Depression Factor of BADS.

^fNot applicable.

Residents with generalized anxiety disorder or anxiety disorder due to a known physiological condition reported significantly higher M5 scores (41/131, 31.3%) than the remaining residents without anxiety diagnoses (diff=1.94; 95% CI –0.92 to 2.95; t_{129} =3.78; *P*<.001). The effect size for this difference was medium (Cohen *d*=0.71; 95% CI 0.33-1.09).

Residents with moderate or severe recurrent major depressive disorder (without psychotic symptoms) reported significantly higher M5 scores (22/131, 16.8%) than the remaining residents without these depression diagnoses (diff=3.65; 95% CI 2.49-4.82; t_{129} =6.21; *P*<.001). The effect size for this difference was large (Cohen *d*=1.45; 95% CI 0.96-1.95).

COVID-19 Psychological Distress

An M5 cutoff score of 3 (ie, scores \geq 3) maximized the product of sensitivity (0.92) and specificity (0.75) for detecting COVID-19 psychological distress among PA/LTC residents (positive predictive value=0.79, negative predictive value=0.91). Area under the curve was 0.89 (95% CI 0.83-0.95), and 16% (21/131) of the residents were incorrectly classified (16 false positive and 5 false negative). Table 4 presents the properties for alternative M5 cutoff scores. Figure 1 illustrates the M5 receiver operative characteristic curve.

Cutoff score	Value (95% CI)						
	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV ^a	NPV ^b			
2	1.00 (0.93, 1.00)	0.56 (0.43-0.68)	0.71 (0.60-0.79)	1.00 (0.88-1.00)			
3	$0.93 (0.83 - 0.97)^c$	0.75 (0.62-0.85)	0.79 (0.69-0.87)	0.91 (0.79-0.96)			
4	0.78 (0.65-0.87)	0.84 (0.73-0.92)	0.84 (0.72-0.92)	0.78 (.66-0.87)			

^aPPV: positive predictive value.

^bNPV: negative predictive value.

^cItalicized values in the table indicate the M5 cutoff scores with the optimal product of sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value for identifying COVID-19 psychological distress.



Mansbach et al

Figure 1. Receiver operating characteristics and area under the curve (AUC) were calculated from sensitivity and (1–specificity) values for the Mood-5 Scale for identifying COVID-19 psychological distress among older adults.



Discussion

Our findings support the reliability and validity of the M5 as a mood scale that can identify PA/LTC residents with COVID-19 psychological burden. The M5 is a reliable and valid mood scale that can be completed rapidly, is appropriate for in-person or virtual visits, and can be self-administered. It can be facilitated by a staff member or completed by a resident prior to or during a visit with a health care professional. Given its brevity, the M5 fits easily into an attending physician's assessment toolbox and can provide real-time information to guide the management of psychiatric medications. This may help rightsize psychotropic use, especially for PA/LTC settings wherein behavioral health specialists are lacking. We recommend a cutoff score of 3 (ie, scores ≥ 3) to identify those residents who are more psychologically vulnerable and may benefit from a formal mood evaluation. We selected a M5 cutoff score that emphasized sensitivity to identify residents who would benefit from specific counseling to address concerns about COVID-19. Such concerns could be associated with contracting the infection, reduced opportunities for meaningful engagement due to social distancing, and concerns about the health of loved ones.

Our study has several strengths, including (1) our use of the ICD-10 and the Clinical Dementia Rating scale for diagnoses, (2) determination of the COVID-19 psychological burden by an independent review performed by a geriatric psychologist, (3) feedback on the M5 from attending physicians and medical directors, and (4) a selection of widely used validity measures (eg, BCAT and BADS) developed specifically for PA/LTC settings. Owing to the urgency to develop a scale that could be

applied to PA/LTC residents during the current COVID-19 pandemic, our sample size was relatively small. This is partly mitigated by the inclusion of residents from multiple settings. The next steps for our study should involve cross-validation, collecting additional data to investigate psychological burden over time as the prevalence of confirmed COVID-19 cases decline, and investigating the psychological burden and associated M5 scores assigned by health care professionals and staff who care for PA/LTC residents. The primary focus of this study was to establish a clinically relevant cutoff score for the M5. Future studies should compare the psychometric properties of the M5 to separate measures of anxiety and depression commonly used in PA/LTC settings, such as the GAD-7 and PHQ-9.

The most immediate implication of this study is that widespread deployment of the M5 in PA/LTC settings can identify residents who are at a higher risk for experiencing COVID-19-related psychological burden and facilitate timely intervention. However, the M5 has potential utility beyond its ability to identify residents with an increased psychological burden associated with COVID-19. For nursing homes, incorporating the M5 into standard screening practices would redress a shortcoming in the current Minimum Data Set (MDS 3.0), which mandates a depression screening but does not include an instrument sensitive to anxiety symptoms. The M5 is sensitive to both depressive and anxiety symptoms. The use of instruments that are sensitive to both anxiety and depression could help reduce rehospitalizations [23], thereby improving some quality measures. Finally, use of the M5 during postacute care can provide a mood baseline that can be used to track mood symptoms postdischarge, thus improving care transitions.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the health care professionals of CounterPoint Health Services for their assistance with data collection.

Conflicts of Interest

The corresponding author (WEM) has ownership rights of the Mood-5 Scale. RAM is partially employed by Mansbach Health Tools, LLC. The authors report no other conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Item-level statistics for the M5. [DOCX File, 15 KB - aging_v4i1e26340_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Parmelee PA, Katz IR, Lawton MP. Depression among institutionalized aged: assessment and prevalence estimation. J Gerontol 1989 Jan;44(1):M22-M29. [doi: 10.1093/geronj/44.1.m22] [Medline: 2783434]
- 2. Wagenaar D, Colenda CC, Kreft M, Sawade J, Gardiner J, Poverejan E. Treating depression in nursing homes: practice guidelines in the real world. J Am Osteopath Assoc 2003 Oct;103(10):465-469. [Medline: <u>14620080</u>]
- Beekman ATF, Bremmer MA, Deeg DJH, Van Balkom AJLM, Smit JH, De Beurs E, et al. Anxiety disorders in later life: a report from the longitudinal aging study Amsterdam. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 1998 Oct;13(10):717-726. [doi: 10.1002/(sici)1099-1166(1998100)13:10<717::aid-gps857>3.0.co;2-m]
- Creighton AS, Davison TE, Kissane DW. The prevalence of anxiety among older adults in nursing homes and other residential aged care facilities: a systematic review. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry 2016 Jun;31(6):555-566. [doi: <u>10.1002/gps.4378</u>] [Medline: <u>26552603</u>]
- Mansbach WE, Mace RA, Clark KM. The Brief Anxiety and Depression Scale (BADS): a new instrument for detecting anxiety and depression in long-term care residents. Int Psychogeriatr 2014 Nov 18;27(4):673-681. [doi: 10.1017/s1041610214002397]
- New Poll: COVID-19 Impacting Mental Well-Being: Americans Feeling Anxious, Especially for Loved Ones; Older Adults are Less Anxious. American Psychiatric Association - News Releases. 2020 May 20. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/2x6me2fk</u> [accessed 2020-07-02]
- People at Increased Risk and Other People Who Need to Take Extra Precautions. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention - COVID-19. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/people-at-increased-risk.html</u> [accessed 2020-07-02]
- 8. People Who Live in a Nursing Home or Long-Term Care Facility. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention COVID-19. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/need-extra-precautions/people-in-nursing-homes.html</u> [accessed 2020-07-02]
- 9. Yarnall KSH, Pollak KI, Østbye T, Krause KM, Michener JL. Primary care: is there enough time for prevention? Am J Public Health 2003 Apr;93(4):635-641. [doi: <u>10.2105/ajph.93.4.635</u>] [Medline: <u>12660210</u>]
- Østbye T, Yarnall KSH, Krause KM, Pollak KI, Gradison M, Michener JL. Is there time for management of patients with chronic diseases in primary care? Ann Fam Med 2005;3(3):209-214 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1370/afm.310</u>] [Medline: <u>15928223</u>]
- 11. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 2001 Sep;16(9):606-613 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x] [Medline: 11556941]
- 12. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med 2006 May 22;166(10):1092-1097. [doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092] [Medline: 16717171]
- Yesavage JA, Brink T, Rose TL, Lum O, Huang V, Adey M, et al. Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. J Psychiatr Res 1982;17(1):37-49. [doi: <u>10.1016/0022-3956(82)90033-4</u>] [Medline: <u>7183759</u>]
- 14. Chiang KS, Green KE, Cox EO. Rasch analysis of the Geriatric Depression Scale-Short Form. Gerontologist 2009 Apr 27;49(2):262-275. [doi: <u>10.1093/geront/gnp018</u>] [Medline: <u>19363020</u>]
- Mansbach WE, MacDougall EE, Rosenzweig AS. The Brief Cognitive Assessment Tool (BCAT): a new test emphasizing contextual memory, executive functions, attentional capacity, and the prediction of instrumental activities of daily living. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol 2012 Feb;34(2):183-194. [doi: <u>10.1080/13803395.2011.630649</u>] [Medline: <u>22149477</u>]
- 16. ICD-10: international statistical classification of diseases and related health problems: tenth revision, 2nd ed. World Health Organization. 2004. URL: <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/42980</u> [accessed 2021-03-02]
- 17. Morris JC. Clinical dementia rating: a reliable and valid diagnostic and staging measure for dementia of the Alzheimer type. Int Psychogeriatr 1997;9(S1):173-176. [doi: 10.1017/s1041610297004870] [Medline: 9447441]

- 18. Mansbach WE, Mace RA, Clark KM. Differentiating levels of cognitive functioning: a comparison of the Brief Interview for Mental Status (BIMS) and the Brief Cognitive Assessment Tool (BCAT) in a nursing home sample. Aging Ment Health 2014 Sep 31;18(7):921-928. [doi: 10.1080/13607863.2014.899971] [Medline: 24679128]
- 19. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Core Team.: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2017. URL: <u>https://www.r-project.org/</u> [accessed 2021-03-05]
- 20. Integrated Development for R. RStudio; 2016. URL: <u>http://www.rstudio.com/</u> [accessed 2021-03-05]
- Bujang MA, Omar ED, Baharum NA. A review on sample size determination for Cronbach's alpha test: a simple guide for researchers. Malays J Med Sci 2018 Nov 28;25(6):85-99 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.21315/mjms2018.25.6.9] [Medline: 30914882]
- 22. Bujang MA, Baharum N. Sample size guideline for correlation analysis. WJSSR 2016 Mar 10;3(1):37. [doi: 10.22158/wjssr.v3n1p37]
- Prina AM, Cosco TD, Dening T, Beekman A, Brayne C, Huisman M. The association between depressive symptoms in the community, non-psychiatric hospital admission and hospital outcomes: a systematic review. J Psychosom Res 2015 Jan;78(1):25-33 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2014.11.002] [Medline: 25466985]

Abbreviations

BADS: Brief Anxiety and Depression Scale
BCAT: Brief Cognitive Assessment Tool
GAD-7: Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item
ICD-10: International Classification of Diseases 10th Revision
M5: Mood-5 Scale
PA/LTC: Post-acute and long-term care
PHQ-9: Patient Health Questionnaire

Edited by J Wang; submitted 07.12.20; peer-reviewed by L Costantini, P Tonn; comments to author 20.02.21; revised version received 26.02.21; accepted 28.02.21; published 10.03.21. <u>Please cite as:</u> Mansbach WE, Mace RA, Tanner MA A New Tool for Detecting COVID-19 Psychological Burden Among Postacute and Long-term Care Residents (Mood-5 Scale): Observational Study JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e26340 URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e26340 doi:10.2196/26340 PMID:33640866

©William E Mansbach, Ryan A Mace, Melissa A Tanner. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 10.03.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Understanding Technology Preferences and Requirements for Health Information Technologies Designed to Improve and Maintain the Mental Health and Well-Being of Older Adults: Participatory Design Study

Haley M LaMonica¹, BSc, MA, PhD, ABPP-CN; Tracey A Davenport¹, BA (Hons), eMBA; Anna E Roberts¹, BAppSc, MExSc, MBMSc; Ian B Hickie¹, AM, MD, FRANZCP, FASSA

Brain and Mind Centre, The University of Sydney, Camperdown, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Haley M LaMonica, BSc, MA, PhD, ABPP-CN Brain and Mind Centre The University of Sydney 88 Mallett Street Camperdown, 2050 Australia Phone: 61 426955658 Email: haley.lamonica@sydney.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Worldwide, the population is aging rapidly; therefore, there is a growing interest in strategies to support and maintain health and well-being in later life. Although familiarity with technology and digital literacy are increasing among this group, some older adults still lack confidence in their ability to use web-based technologies. In addition, age-related changes in cognition, vision, hearing, and perception may be barriers to adoption and highlight the need for digital tools developed specifically to meet the unique needs of older adults.

Objective: The aim of this study is to understand the use of technology by older adults in general and identify the potential barriers to and facilitators of the adoption of health information technologies (HITs) to support the health and well-being of older adults to facilitate implementation and promote user uptake. In addition, this study aims to co-design and configure the InnoWell Platform, a digital tool designed to facilitate better outcomes for people seeking mental health services, to meet the needs of adults 50 years and older and their supportive others (eg, family members, caregivers) to ensure the accessibility, engagement, and appropriateness of the technology.

Methods: Participants were adults 50 years and older and those who self-identified as a supportive other (eg, family member, caregiver). Participants were invited to participate in a 3-hour participatory design workshop using a variety of methods, including prompted discussion, creation of descriptive artifacts, and group-based development of user journeys.

Results: Four participatory design workshops were conducted, including a total of 21 participants, each attending a single workshop. Technology use was prevalent, with a preference indicated for smartphones and computers. Factors facilitating the adoption of HITs included personalization of content and functionality to meet and be responsive to a consumer's needs, access to up-to-date information from reputable sources, and integration with standard care practices to support the relationship with health professionals. Concerns regarding data privacy and security were the primary barriers to the use of technology to support mental health and well-being.

Conclusions: Although HITs have the potential to improve access to cost-effective and low-intensity interventions at scale for improving and maintaining mental health and well-being, several strategies may improve the uptake and efficacy of technologies by the older adult community, including the use of co-design methodologies to ensure usability, acceptability, and appropriateness of the technology; support in using and understanding the clinical applications of the technology by a digital navigator; and ready availability of education and training materials.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e21461) doi:10.2196/21461



aging; mental health; technology; mobile phone; community-based participatory research; health care reform; stakeholder participation

Introduction

Strategies for Healthy Aging

The global population is aging rapidly. Within the next 40 years in Australia, for example, one-third of the population will be aged 50-65 years and a further quarter will be 65 years and older [1]. The economy will require a level of productivity from these people not previously seen. As such, there is a growing interest in strategies for supporting and maintaining health and well-being in later life to improve the social and economic participation of older adults to meet the demands of an aging society [2]. Efforts aimed at optimizing mental health and well-being are important contributors to achieving this mission.

Internet Use Among Older Adults

The international literature indicates that approximately two-thirds of adults aged 65 years and older report internet use [3,4], and these older adults also represent the fastest-growing group of internet users [5]. Thus, using health information technologies (HITs) for mental health screening, intervention delivery, and routine outcome monitoring will be an increasingly viable option for older adults globally. The increase in internet use among this population has spurred a growing interest in the development and implementation of HITs for improved health and well-being for older adults [6-8].

HITs

HITs are being developed rapidly for improving the delivery of mental health care for both consumers and health professionals and for facilitating improved self-management of care [9]. To that end, HITs have been shown to be effective for the management and treatment of symptoms in a range of mental health and medical conditions, including depression [10-12], diabetes [13], weight loss [14], problematic alcohol use [15], sleep [16], exercise [17], and social connectedness [18]. Barring some exceptions, including a diet diary app for older adults with age-related macular degeneration [19], few HITs have been designed specifically with older adults in mind. As such, this represents a largely untapped market for potential web-based tools to improve the health and well-being of older adults.

Importantly, in a study of older adults (N=221) presenting to a specialized memory clinic for concerns regarding new-onset cognitive decline and/or mood symptoms, most participants (198/209, 94.6%) reported that they would find it useful to be able to access a website designed to support healthy aging, including physical health and cognition, self-management of existing conditions, and routine tracking of changes in health outcomes over time. Similarly, most respondents also reported interest in a website designed to specifically measure mood-related concerns and changes (172/206, 83.5%) [20]. Despite having interest in and motivation to use HITs to improve their health and well-being [20,21], some older adults still lack confidence in their ability to use web-based technologies [22,23]. It has been demonstrated that older adults will only

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21461

adopt new technologies when their apparent usefulness and usability outweigh concerns related to technological complexity and decreased social connection [24]. In light of these factors and age-related changes in cognition, vision, hearing, and perception, it is critical that HITs be tailored to the older adult community, taking into consideration their unique needs as users.

Participatory Design

Using strategies to enhance community and consumer acceptability, usability and engagement with HITs is a priority in the health, medical, and research sectors internationally [25,26]. To this end, co-design methodologies, including participatory design and user testing, are widely recognized as key to ensuring the quality, usability, and acceptability of HITs for specific user groups-in this case, older adults. Research has shown that the active participation of all stakeholders throughout the design of technical systems and services helps ensure that the end product meets the needs of its intended user base, improves usability, and increases engagement of all individuals [27-29]. Importantly, there is an emerging evidence base reflecting the benefits of co-design with older adults, including those with dementia, and their family and caregivers, to enable strengths-based, person-centered care [30,31]. Our research team's established co-design methodologies explicitly position users as empowered participants in all stages from design and development through to implementation and impact evaluation [28,29,32,33].

The InnoWell Platform

In 2017, the Australian Government Department of Health and InnoWell Pty Ltd (a joint venture between the University of Sydney and PwC, Australia) entered into a 3-year funding agreement to deliver Project Synergy (2017-2020), a series of collaborative research trials with the specific purpose of co-designing and implementing innovative HIT solutions, including the InnoWell Platform, to enable improved mental health service delivery in Australia, facilitating better outcomes for people with lived experience, supportive others, health professionals, and service providers [9]. As described in detail by Davenport et al [34], the co-designed InnoWell Platform was developed through Project Synergy (by InnoWell) to collect information from multiple sources to formulate a comprehensive understanding of a consumer's needs and to monitor their progress over time. These sources comprise web-based, self-reported questionnaires assessing a range of health domains (ie, psychological distress, suicidal thoughts and/or behaviors, daily functioning, depressed mood, cognition, sleep-wake cycle, social connectedness) from both consumers and their health professionals and objective behavioral data collected via third-party integrations (eg, Fitbit trackers). The multifaceted and multidimensional assessment results are designed to be understandable directly by consumers and to be reviewed in collaboration with their health professional to promote shared decision making and collaborative care and to facilitate routine

XSL•FO

outcome monitoring, clinical review, and coordinated care to ensure that all consumers receive the right care first time.

Objectives

We now aim to customize and configure the InnoWell Platform to meet the needs of an older age group (50 years and older) and their supportive others (eg, family members, caregivers) to ensure the accessibility, engagement, and appropriateness of the technology. We defined *older adults* as those aged 50 years and older as this aligns with our own previous work investigating technology use and preferences among this group [20]. Furthermore, the age of 50 years relates to the onset of disorders in later life [35] and the identified age range during which it is recommended to address risk factors (ie, cardiovascular disease, obesity, diabetes) known to undermine healthy aging [36]. Furthermore, we seek to understand the potential barriers and facilitators of HIT use for older adults to better identify and understand ways to promote adoption and facilitate successful implementation.

Methods

Participants

This study aimed to recruit up to 50 participants, including a combination of older adults and their supportive others. The inclusion criteria for participation in the study required participants to be aged 50 years and older or self-identify as a supportive other (eg, family member, caregiver), to be proficient in English, and to have completed the required informed consent process.

Recruitment Strategies

This study was advertised through the University of Sydney's Brain and Mind Centre, including through active research clinics working with older adults and via nongovernmental (ie, Dementia Australia) and private organizations (ie, InnoWell) associated with the Brain and Mind Centre. The recruitment strategy included the use of postcards and A3/A4 posters in both paper-based and digital forms, depending on the preference of the advertising site (eg, poster displays, postcards at reception, posting the digital advertisements on the research sites and social media pages).

To avoid any perceived coercion, recruitment was passive such that a potential participant needed to contact the senior research health professional (HL) who, only on a potential participant's request, then forwarded the study Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form. All participants were provided with detailed information about the study both before attending a participatory design workshop and again on arrival at the workshop. At the beginning of each workshop, the facilitators provided the participants with an opportunity to ask questions and clarify details of the research before providing written informed consent. Potential participants were reminded that participation was entirely voluntary and that if they agreed to participate, they could withdraw their consent at any time without being required to provide any reasons and with no impact on their relationship with the University of Sydney, the Brain and Mind Centre, InnoWell, or the participating clinics through which they were recruited.

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21461
```

 $XSI \bullet FC$

Participatory Design Workshops

A series of 4 group-based workshops of approximately 3-hour duration, each with up to 10 participants, were conducted with older adult stakeholders to discover, evaluate, and prototype acceptable design solutions for the InnoWell Platform. These sessions involved an iterative knowledge translation process so that initially generated ideas can be further developed (and fed back on) by participants in subsequent workshops (Multimedia Appendix 1 presents a sample agenda). All workshops were coordinated by 2 facilitators (one of whom was a health professional) and a scribe was present to take detailed notes. Two facilitators were considered important; the first facilitator guided the research questions and session plan, and the second facilitator ensured that all participants' voices were heard within the workshop.

As in our previous co-design research [29], the facilitators used a variety of methods within the workshops, including prompted discussion, prototyping, creation of descriptive artifacts, and group-based development of user journeys (a series of steps illustrating how an individual might interact with the prototype). It is important to note that the InnoWell Platform is being designed and developed iteratively; therefore, although a version of the InnoWell Platform has been built, the participants were not exposed to the technology as part of the workshops to avoid bias in their thinking. As such, a blue sky approach (ie, brainstorming without limitations or practical constraints) was used for prototyping to ensure that the necessary features and functionality that may be unique to the older adult community were captured. On the basis of previous studies exploring the use of technology for health-related purposes by older adults [4,24,37,38], a number of critical areas were explored, including (1) preferred devices, (2) common uses of technology, (3) use of technology to support health and well-being, (4) features or functionality that promote user engagement, (5) interest in and preferences for digital health services, and (6) concerns related to data privacy and confidentiality.

Data Analysis

Interpretation of the qualitative data from the workshops, including scribe notes and artifacts, followed established thematic techniques [39]. All raw data were reviewed and checked across all participants by a senior research health professional (HL), and a coding framework outlining all key concepts was developed. Data were coded in NVivo 12 software (QSR International) using this framework. The coding followed an established iterative process of reading, coding, and exploring the pattern and content of coded data, followed by reflection and discussion. Similarities and differences in opinion were examined, and differences were dealt with through discussion to reach consensus. Coding was conducted initially by the senior research health professional (HL) and a randomly selected subsample of 10% was checked for inter-rater reliability by a research officer (AR); agreement was substantial (κ =0.631) [40]. In alignment with the topics explored in the participatory design workshops, themes were then organized as follows: (1) preferred device; (2) well-being as a concept; (3) barriers to and facilitators of technology use generally; and (4) barriers to and facilitators of technology use to support mental health and

"YouTube extreme

app

for

most frequently referenced device (Textbox 1) for several

my phone is always on...used for a lot of functional

things—news, transport, a lot of informational things.

I read the paper on my phone. [Workshop 2]

I use notes a lot for writing poetry. [Workshop 4] Computers were also referenced frequently as a preferred device

because of the diversity of available functionality, such as

sports...puts you in places you've never been...online shopping,"

"use it for music composition and practice," and "love using

Tablets were largely referenced in relation to games and ease

of access to information (ie, news, politics, sports). However,

there was an indication that *smartphones*, *tablets*, and *computers*

were used interchangeably for the purpose of accessing the

It's all the same to me... if I'm out it's the phone, at

Participants also referenced the use of apps and e-tools both in

relation to entertainment, for example, Spotify for "access to

music...listen to podcasts" (Workshop 1) and to support health

meditation...keeping in contact with kids through various apps" (Workshop 3); "Lumosity...I had to wean myself off it...I was

becoming competitive with it and couldn't get to sleep"

(Workshop 3); and "family history and that's a real brain teaser

to follow different leads...it's very complex and good for the

"Headspace

home it's the tablet or phone. [Workshop 4]

including

YouTube...added value for my work" (all from Workshop 1).

...to stay connected. [Workshop 4]

"creative work...music...Photoshop,"

internet, with 1 participant noting:

well-being,

brain" (Workshop 3).

and

reported reasons:

[Workshop 1]

well-being, including a prototype of the InnoWell Platform configured for older adults. All themes were checked against each other and back to the original data to ensure that all relevant references had been collated. This process resulted in a thematic framework that was internally coherent and consistent.

Ethics

This research study was approved by the University of Sydney's Human Research Ethics Committee (Project No. 2019/172).

Results

Demographics

A total of 4 participatory design workshops (all 3 hours in duration) were held between September and November 2019. The aim of each workshop was to actively engage the older adult community in discussions about how technology may be used to promote mental health and maintain well-being. A total of 21 adults (43% female) aged 50 years and older attended the workshops, 2 of whom also identified as supportive others. All participants attended only one workshop. Although the sample size was smaller than planned, the richness of the data and the consistency of the themes indicated that we had reached saturation. To ensure participant confidentiality, further demographic details were not collected as part of this study. No participants expressed concern about or experienced any distress in any of the workshops.

Technology Preferences

When asked What is your favorite piece of technology, participants reported a range of preferences, including computers, tablets, eBook readers, basic mobile phones, wearables, and televisions. However, the smartphone was the

Textbox 1. Codes related to technology preferences theme (63 references).

Preferred devices used by older adults include:

- Smartphone (18 references)
- Computer (15 references)
- Apps and e-tools (10 references)
- Tablet (9 references)
- Basic mobile phone (3 references)
- eBook readers (3 references)
- Wearables (3 references)
- Television (2 references)

Well-Being

As shown in Textbox 2, two primary themes emerged from the discussions about well-being, with *concepts* being referenced more frequently than *strategies*. In relation to the former, references to *health and functional capacity* were the most common. Participants consistently characterized well-being as a holistic combination of mental and physical health, with one stating:

It's not just the absence of sickness but capacity to do what you want with your body, such as reach maximum heart rate...the presence of strength...feeling good. [Workshop 3]

There were also several references to *self-awareness and acceptance*, noting that well-being relates to "*relationship to yourself or with others*" (Workshop 1) *and "my own state of mind"* (Workshop 2); *well-being* was conceptualized as being "*personal to you...for example, someone immobile for life could still have well-being*" (Workshop 3).



Although referenced less frequently, participants indicated that well-being also relates to *safety* (ie, "*feeling good and feeling safe*" [Workshop 3]), *social connectedness* (ie, "*connection to people*" [Workshop 1]), *and resilience or the ability to "move through"* (*Workshop 3*) *challenging events*. Although there was consensus as to the conceptualization of well-being, some participants indicated that the term had become a *buzz word* (*Workshop 2*) used for *marketing purposes*. In addition, it was noted that well-being can be negatively impacted by *stigma*, as 1 participant stated:

Those who struggle most with stigma are those with mental health issues...frustrated by telling their story over and over. [Workshop 3]

Several strategies to promote or maintain well-being were referenced with similar frequency, including *leisure activities*,

Textbox 2. Codes related to well-being theme (48 references).

Concepts (37 references)

- Health and functional capacity (15 references)
- Self-awareness and acceptance (10 references)
- Marketing purposes (3 references)
- Social connectedness (3 references)
- Resilience (2 references)
- Safety (2 references)

Strategies (11 references)

- Leisure activities (3 references)
- Diet and exercise (2 references)
- Information and tips (2 references)
- Self-reliance (2 references)
- Social connectedness (2 references)

Barriers to and Facilitators of Technology Use

When discussing the use and impact of technology in daily life, two primary themes emerged—*barriers and facilitators* (Textbox 3), with the latter being referenced with greater frequency. In particular, *social connectedness* was one of the primary ways in which participants were making use of technology, with participants commenting:

Technology is my communication...email and text are important for me to keep in touch. [Workshop 2]

It's a huge difference to me with three children who live in the US. [Workshop 3]

Skype/FaceTime with family makes you feel connected. [Workshop 3]

It creates easier, less formal contact with friends. [Workshop 3]

Interestingly, the potential for technology to drive *social disconnection and miscommunication* was noted as a potential barrier as a participant stated:

such as a break from work (Workshop 2) and a massage (Workshop 3) and diet and exercise (Workshop 2). Although some participants referenced the importance of social connectedness (Workshop 2), others indicated a need for self-reliance, noting:

I'd manage it myself, wouldn't want to burden other people. [Workshop 2]

Finally, there were mixed responses regarding the value of *information and tips*, with 1 participant noting:

A friend who worked in arthritis research used to send me information and I trusted it. [Workshop 2]

Another stated:

I wouldn't be interested in daily tips. [Workshop 2]

It worries me that young people don't know a life without a screen...they don't know how to connect without an app. [Workshop 3]

One participant questioned:

Why don't you just call...there can be miscommunication with texting. [Workshop 1]

Furthermore, it was also agreed that connecting via technology is *not equivalent to in-person*. One participant commented:

I know I can do it on the computer, but I enjoy the contact...it's having a human element. [Workshop 3]

Another stated:

If I can do it as a video, then I can see my grandchildren...but I can't have a hug. [Workshop 3]

Games, such as "Word with Friends...Candy Crush...Bridge" (*Workshop 4*) and "Spider Solitaire" (Workshop 4) and *information and new learning* were also frequent uses of technology, including references to websites related to news and travel and "YouTube...gives you video tutorials" (*Workshop*

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21461
```

1). Although participants indicated that the *ease of access* to information was a facilitator to technology use, noting, "You can't beat Wikipedia for instant information about anything" (*Workshop 1*), it was also highlighted that this *changes the way we think*. For example, in relation to the consumption of media, one participant stated:

The way I read and get information now is much more snapshot rather than long form journalism. [Workshop 1]

Another participant noted:

Problem-solving is lacking as you can just tap on a screen and get information...they don't question whether it's the right information. [Workshop 3]

In relation to the latter, participants indicated that the *credibility of the source* was important when using the internet or web-based tools. Information produced by the government, reputable health organizations, universities and academics, and individuals with higher degrees or qualifications were more likely to be perceived as trustworthy and reliable. At the same time, however, the potential for *miscommunication and limited detail* was referenced, with some skepticism expressed about news sources, including:

We're in the age of misinformation, they don't want us to know the truth. [Workshop 1]

If you can get someone to click on a headline, that's more valuable than relating it to the article. [Workshop 1]

In addition, 1 participant referenced *security concerns* in relation to web-based data sharing, stating:

Anything on the Internet I just don't really trust, I don't want to put my information of any kind out there. [Workshop 2]

The potential *anxiety-provoking* nature of technology was referenced, albeit infrequently, with a participant commenting:

My older friends get anxious if something goes wrong and they don't know how to fix it...they aren't feeling confident. [Workshop 3]

Digital literacy was characterized as a skill:

You have to learn it, like anything else. [Workshop 3]

Finally, work requirements were noted as a driver of technology use, whereas *lack of interest* was a barrier.

Textbox 3. Codes related to barriers and facilitators to technology use theme (63 references).

Bar	riers (28 references)
•	Changes the way we think (9 references)
•	Misinformation and limited detail (8 references)
•	Social disconnection and miscommunication (4 references)
•	Not equivalent to in-person (3 references)
•	Anxiety (2 references)
•	Lack of interest (1 reference)
•	Security concerns (1 reference)
Fac	ilitators (35 references)

- Social connectedness (13 references)
- Games (6 references)
- Information and new learning (6 references)
- Credibility of the source (4 references)
- Ease of access (4 references)
- Work requirements (2 references)

HIT Use

As shown in Textbox 4, *barriers* and *facilitators* again emerged as the primary themes when discussing the use of technology specifically for health-related purposes and co-designing a prototype of the InnoWell Platform for older adults. Access to *information* was the primary facilitator referenced, in relation to being able either to *read up on a problem and present that to doctors (Workshop 1)* or *to go back to the internet to take the time to review and be critical of information* discussed in an appointment with a health professional (*Workshop 1*). Although HITs are *not equivalent to in-person care*, that is,

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21461
```

"Need face-to-face to establish trust for subsequent phone or emails...you feel you know the person" (*Workshop 1*), it was noted that they provide improved *access to care*. For example, the convenience, that is, "face-to-face is best, but over the phone is convenient" (*Workshop 1*) and anonymity afforded by technology may "be a good thing for people suffering mental health...if it was face-to-face or someone they knew they would be less likely to do it at all" (*Workshop 3*). Whether the technology was *endorsed by a health professional* or *endorsed by a family member or friend* were noted facilitators of HIT adoption and engagement, with participants indicating they

would use it if "recommended...by my doctor" (*Workshop 2*) or "a certain friend or family member" (*Workshop 2*).

It was recognized that the ability for technologies to be *integrated with health care* increases the transparency in care:

...the doctor used to just have it, now you have it on your computer...you have all your health information at your fingertips. [Workshop 4]

In addition, it affords the opportunity for *coordinated care*, allowing shared information between treating health professionals. One participant stated:

I see it as a total package, it's just part of your wellbeing. My different medical people should know if I have a heart issue or if I'm seeing a psychologist. [Workshop 2]

As a caveat, *ownership and personal choice with data* provides consumers with the option "to decide who can see what and which doctors have access" (*Workshop 4*). Security concerns were referenced as the primary barrier to HIT use, with concerns noted to include "once your email is connected, essentially hackers could get a lot" (*Workshop 4*), "not getting jobs…not getting insurance" (*Workshop 3*), and "people will target you with products based on information gathered" (*Workshop 3*).

From a technical perspective, *user experience and customization* were referenced as facilitators of use. *Data tracking* was also

an attractive feature, including the ability to track physical activity and weight loss using apps such as MyFitnessPal and via wearables (ie, *Fitbit*). In addition, *competition* is a potential driver for technology use. For example, 1 participant commented:

...subscribed to Lumosity for about a year...it was lots of fun...tried to improve my score to be in the top percentile for my age group. [Workshop 2]

However, the *potential for misuse* was also identified as "over-notifications could feel like bullying" (*Workshop 1*) or result in an "obsession with the data" by users (*Workshop 1*). *Data entry and tracking requirements* were also viewed as a potential barrier to use, as it "might be another stressor for some people" (*Workshop 3*), particularly "once they are unwell" (*Workshop 3*).

Although not raised as a personal concern by any of the participants, limitations in *digital literacy* was referenced as a potential barrier as it was noted that:

...technology is not usable by a lot people in my generation...at the moment there is a generational *cut-off*. [Workshop 4]

In addition, *lack of interest* in HITs, including how they work, may also reduce uptake.



Textbox 4. Codes related to technology use to support health and well-being theme (308 references).

Barriers (57 references)

- Security concerns (18 references)
- Lacks credibility of health professional (10 references)
- Not equivalent to in-person care (10 references)
- Potential for data misuse (9 references)
- Data entry and tracking requirements (8 references)
- Lack of interest (7 references)
- Digital literacy (1 reference)

Facilitators (59 references)

- Information (13 references)
- Data tracking (10 references)
- Access to care (8 references)
- Endorsed by health professionals (7 references)
- Coordinated care (5 references)
- Integrated with health care (5 references)
- User experience and customization (3 references)
- Ownership and personal choice with data (3 references)
- Competition (3 references)
- Endorsed by a family member or a friend (2 references)

Prototype features and functions for a digital platform customized for older adults (192 references)

- Barriers (34 references)
 - Impersonal and social disconnection (5 references)
 - Lacks credibility of health professional (5 references)
 - Privacy and security risks (5 references)
 - Competition (4 references)
 - Limitations and potential errors (4 references)
 - Anxiety about seeking help (2 references)
 - Digital literacy (2 references)
 - Generic information (2 references)
 - Misinterpretation of information (2 references)
 - Requirements for use (2 references)
- Facilitators (158 references)
 - Personalization (32 references)
 - Information and resources (15 references)
 - Interoperability and data tracking (13 references)
 - Credible source or endorsed by health professional (12 references)
 - Interaction with health system (12 references)
 - Prevention and risk reduction (11 references)
 - Access (10 references)
 - Recommendations and interventions (10 references)
 - Anonymity (8 references)
 - Goal setting (6 references)

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21461

- Personal data record (6 references)
- Education and training (5 references)
- Empowering (5 references)
- Social connection and support (5 references)
- Diagnosis (2 references)
- Supportive other functionality (2 references)
- User experience and design (2 references)

Prototyping the InnoWell Platform for Older Adults

Building on the foundation of their experiences with health care systems and technology generally and HITs specifically, participants co-designed a prototype of the InnoWell Platform for older adults, identifying features and functionality that would be *barriers* to and *facilitators* of adoption and implementation. Importantly, facilitators were referenced far more frequently than barriers, potentially reflecting the interest in and increasing use of technologies to support health and well-being. The primary driver for use was *personalization* (ie, a tool that is designed to meet a consumer's requirements and that responds to the data entered by a consumer to meet a consumer's needs) as participants noted:

I can see a clear use...someone wakes up and feels bad or experiences a new symptom...they go on this software and it give them some triage to start with. [Workshop 1]

...questions about you and your situation...sends you off to areas of the site that could be useful. [Workshop 3]

It could be like a referral service to send you in the right direction. [Workshop 3]

Interoperability (ie, the ability of the digital tool to exchange information with other technologies such as apps and wearables) and *data tracking* were identified as factors that may facilitate *personalization*. For example, one participant stated they would:

be able to input data about my arthritis, pain levels, tracking what's happening with my fingers...I assume it would give me lots of information, things to do...take some ownership of my tracking. [Workshop 2]

Interestingly, the need for personalization was coupled with a desire for *anonymity*. It was suggested that the user "could create a username" (*Workshop 1*), with participants agreeing that "the information going in is so sensitive that I would only do it anonymously" (*Workshop 1*). Furthermore, the ability to store health information in a *personal data record*, that is, "it knows all my background" (*Workshop 3*) was valued by participants. However, it is important to note that *privacy and security risks* were frequently referenced barriers as cybersecurity was characterized as "an arms race…people employed in security are constantly trying to stay in front of the hackers" (*Workshop 1*).

The ability to find up to date *information and resources* was also referenced as a facilitator of use—a place to ask "those

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21461
```

silly questions you just can't ask in an intimidating environment" (*Workshop 2*) and gain better understanding of "what to tell your [general practitioner] GP...teaching you the things you need to tell your specialist" (*Workshop 2*). However, there was some concern that the *misinterpretation of information* might be a barrier, recognizing a "risk of creating a device that leads people to self-diagnosing" (*Workshop 2*) and that *generic information* may not have much benefit if it is "not personalised" (*Workshop 3*) and "only answers a silly little thing" (*Workshop 3*).

Participants wanted there to be an interaction with health care, potentially as a "referral to a specialist" (Workshop 1), a way to "fast track the system...direct you to service" (Workshop 1), or a tool to enhance the care provided by a health professional, that is, "If I brought it in and showed it to her, she'd probably work collaboratively with me." [Workshop 21). Recommendations and interventions were also a desired feature, with ideas including "interventions to do balance exercises" (Workshop 1), "video training about how to do a guided [meditation] session" (Workshop 3), and "virtual group sessions" (Workshop 3). However, the potential for error was cited as it was recognized that there is an inherent "risk with assuming that feeding information in means the outcomes will be right" (Workshop 1). Figure 1 reflects one participant's conceptualization of how he or she might use this type of tool. By inputting information about current symptoms and desired services or activities, the digital tool would then provide tailored recommendations.

Participants indicated that they would be more likely to use this type of tool if it came from a credible source or was endorsed by health professionals, highlighting the need for the content to be "developed by an organisation that is already trusted" (Workshop 2). Similarly, a digital tool was viewed to lack the credibility of a health professional, thereby potentially preventing use as participants were not interested in "replacing GPs or specialists" (Workshop 2). The potential for a digital tool to be impersonal was also referenced as a barrier, particularly for older adults who "could be more isolated...need someone that cares...the connection is still important" (Workshop 1). Figure 2 presents a hypothesized user journey created by participants, highlighting the way in which they would use the prototype of the digital tool, including the information that they would input to personalize the results, the manner in which a health professional could make use of that information to coordinate care, and the support provided via the digital tool.

Although there was minimal reference to the need for the tool to be able to provide a user with a *diagnosis*, participants reported an interest in *prevention and risk reduction* or "something that would keep me away from the doctor…preventative but also health generative…keeps you healthy and active" (*Workshop 1*). Goal setting was a potential motivator of use, with participants noting that users "would establish goals after going through a level of entering information" (*Workshop 1*) and recognizing that "goals could change as you go through" (*Workshop 1*). On the other hand, *competition* was referenced as "demotivating…don't want people to fail and say I won't look at that again" (*Workshop 1*) and "a huge problem…a goal isn't a goal unless there's a success or failure measured" (*Workshop 1*).

It was widely recognized that a digital tool has the potential to improve *access* to health care, particularly for individuals in remote areas where "distance becomes a disability" (*Workshop*

Figure 1. App prototype of a digital tool to support health and well-being.

1), helping "people not feel isolated when they are physically isolated" (Workshop 2). Empowering users was also referenced as an important component, with a need for a strength-based approach because "older people are told you can't do that anymore...celebrate what they are doing" (Workshop 1). Although referenced infrequently, participants indicated that they were more likely to use a digital tool that had a good user experience and design. Furthermore, it was recommended that users would benefit from education and training resources, "information on how to use it -a tutorial or mind map...give people an idea of what kind of help they could get" (Workshop 3). This may be particularly relevant for older adults with poor digital literacy as "people will always be left out if it is on a computer" (Workshop 1) or for those who experience anxiety related to help seeking, where the technology should not be "too daunting" (Workshop 1). However, neither of these barriers were reported to be personal concerns for the participants.

Feeling Down/ Getting Up							
What are you feeling? (as many as you want)	What do you need? (as many as you want)						
Feeling Blue 🗹	In need of activities 🚽						
Feeling angry	In need of company 📈 or just a chat						
Feeling isolated 🛛 🗹	In need of practical 🗌 help						
Feeling empty 🛛 🔽	In need of medical 🗌 assistance						
Feeling suicidal	In need of mental health support						
Feeling unwell							



Figure 2. User journey demonstrating how a consumer might engage with the prototype.



Discussion

Technology Use by Older Adults

Our results align with previous findings that older adults routinely engage with a range of technologies, including computers, mobile phones, eBook readers, and tablets. Importantly, the preference for smartphones highlights a change in device use among older adults. Although previous studies have found that the use of home computers was nearly universal in a sample of older adults (93%), the use of smartphones was far less frequent (52%) [20]. The present results emphasize the rapid growth in smartphone ownership among older adults in recent years and the effect of aging [41], with younger people with greater digital literacy and experience with technology moving into the older age group. For example, among Americans aged 65 years and older, ownership of smartphones increased from 23% in 2013 to 42% in 2016 [4]. It is important to recognize that device adoption varies considerably with age, education, and household income. The proportion of older adults who own a smartphone or tablet is markedly higher for those aged 65 to 69 years (59% and 41%, respectively) relative to those aged 75 to 79 years (31% and 28%, respectively) [4]. Similarly, individuals with higher levels of education (a bachelor's degree or beyond) are significantly more likely to have a computer and/or smartphone [20]. As such, consideration of the *digital divide* is crucial when considering technology use among older adults, as there may be barriers to access (eg, internet, smartphone) that preclude their engagement with web-based tools, including for, but not limited to, information and entertainment purposes and for the purposes of improving and maintaining health and well-being.

Components of and Strategies to Support Well-Being

Participants generally conceptualized well-being as an absence of illness (ie, *feeling healthy*) and the capacity to fulfill one's goals and carry out activities of one's choice. However, there was also recognition that illness or disability and well-being are not mutually exclusive; rather, there is a need for personal awareness and acceptance of self. The fulfillment of basic life needs, namely, safety in one's surroundings, connection to others, and resilience (ie, the ability to bounce back in the face of stressful events) were also referenced. Importantly, participants noted that stigma can detract from well-being as it may be a barrier to seeking and accessing help for mental health problems. The factors of well-being identified by participants align with the 6 components of the Ryff model of psychological well-being [42], which includes self-acceptance, mastery of the environment, autonomy, positive relationships, personal growth, and life purpose. Our results highlight the consistency of views on psychological well-being among older adults over more than 30 years and, importantly, suggest these are key targets for health-related interventions.

Several strategies to promote and maintain well-being were referenced equally, including maintaining a healthy diet and exercising regularly, engaging in leisure activities, and making use of health-related information and tips. Consistent with the recognition that social connectedness is a key determinant of health [43,44], participants agreed that social connectedness is an important component of well-being. However, this was balanced with a need to be self-reliant in maintaining one's well-being so as not to burden others. HITs have the potential to provide low-cost intervention and prevention tools that are designed specifically to target components of well-being [42] and symptoms of mental illness, such as anxiety, depression, and problematic health behaviors (eg, alcohol, gambling, and smoking). In fact, a meta-analysis found that apps were superior

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21461

to control conditions in improving stress levels and quality of life and depressive and generalized anxiety symptoms, with no marked difference relative to active interventions, including in-person treatment [45].

Benefits and Pitfalls of Technology Use

Although there is no doubt that technology has the potential to facilitate social connection via phone calls, videoconferencing, text messaging, group chats, and even games, participants agreed that in-person connection remains a vital part of personal relationships and interactions with health professionals. In a recent study, it was shown that when allowed to rely on a smartphone for information, participants were less likely to speak to other people and felt less socially connected than those who were not allowed to use phones [46]. As evidenced by our participants, older adults will engage with social media to stay connected to family and friends; however, previous qualitative work in this area revealed that older adults prefer deep, thoughtful, one-on-one communications as opposed to the light-touch, group-based interactions promoted through social media [47]. These findings suggest that it is important to ensure that HITs are well integrated with the health care system, enabling the therapeutic relationship between a consumer and health professional as opposed to rendering it unnecessary. This may be a particularly important consideration for older adults who tend to experience greater degrees of social isolation and loneliness, which are known risk factors for health problems, including cognitive decline and depression [48].

In addition to social connection, several participants also reported engaging with technology to play games, such as Candy Crush and Words with Friends. Interestingly, older adults aged 65 years and older are the fastest-growing segment of new digital game players in Australia [49]. Although utility as a leisure activity is important, gaming may also present an opportunity for incidental cognitive assessment, where changes in game behavior or performance may be indicative of decline at its earliest stage, thereby facilitating early intervention strategies to mitigate known modifiable risk factors such as depression, midlife hypertension, midlife obesity, and low physical activity [50]. Importantly, a systematic review of gamified cognitive assessment and training paradigms found evidence suggestive of associated improvements in engagement, intrinsic motivation, and training outcomes (when relevant) [51,52]. In addition to promoting repeated engagement, gamifying cognitive tasks can improve usability, decrease test anxiety, and increase ecological validity [51]. Further research is now required to validate the application of game design principles to cognitive assessment to improve sensitivity to the earliest signs of decline and to cognitive training to promote engagement, real-world transfer, and sustainability of outcomes.

The Potential Impact of Health Information Technologies

The disruption caused by the COVID-19 global pandemic has resulted in a greater need for and reliance on digital health care for screening, treatment, and ongoing maintenance of health. To this end, HITs offer a viable alternative for those who prefer or are required to use digital health care due to health concerns (eg, during the COVID-19 pandemic) and geographic, transport,

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21461
```

or mobility constraints. One of the marked discrepancies between our study and others that have investigated technology use for health-related purposes by older adults relates to familiarity with and confidence in using technology. Although this was not a personal concern among our participants, a lack of familiarity with technologies has frequently been cited as a potential barrier to adoption for older adults [53], specifically in relation to web-based health care information seeking [54]. As referenced previously, consideration of the *digital divide* is crucial to ensure that those who may not have easy access to technology, or the skills required to use it, are not excluded from receiving mental health care delivered via HITs. Recommendations to bridge the digital divide include (1) technology subsidies for low-income consumers, (2) user-friendly technologies appropriate for consumers with physical disabilities and cognitive impairment; and (3) demonstrations and training opportunities for consumers who might not otherwise have the opportunity to learn how to use available technologies [55].

Furthermore, health services are also encouraged to consider the addition of a digital navigator to their care team to improve the uptake and implementation of HITs within care [56]. The role of a digital navigator is 3-fold: (1) evaluate HITs, such as apps, and make appropriate recommendations to health professionals; (2) set up technology and troubleshoot with the consumer, thereby allowing the health professional to focus on the clinical interaction with the consumer; and (3) interpret and report salient data collected by the HIT to both the consumer and the health professional in a user-friendly way to inform care and self-management. Although the current use of HITs among older adults is relatively low, this does not appear to be due to lack of interest [20] but rather due to the need for education and training in relation to the potential benefits of HITs and the practicalities of engagement with these technologies [57]. As such, a digital navigator has the potential to be particularly impactful for the older adult community, including both for consumers and their families and for health professionals.

Prototyping the InnoWell Platform for Older Adults

Importantly, many of the features and functions suggested by participants for the digital tool align with the core principles underpinning the design and development of the InnoWell Platform, which include increasing access to standardized, broad-based assessment; identifying and tracking consumer needs; matching those needs with personalized care options; and enhancing the quality of care provided to consumers [34]. Although the assessment was not discussed per se, participants recognized that the more information that was input into the digital tool, including via interoperable devices, increased the likelihood of personalized feedback and recommendations. Furthermore, the ability to track and store data over time was valued by participants as a means to better understand what information, resources, and intervention strategies were associated with positive health outcomes based on personal goals relative to those that were not effective for the consumer. It was also recognized that a personal data record, only shared with health professionals with the consumer's permission, had the potential to facilitate coordinated care across health professionals and services and to prevent the need to retell one's

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

story repeatedly to new providers. Although it was noted that HITs have the potential to improve access to services, particularly for consumers in regional or remote areas, there was consensus that HITs cannot and should not replace health professionals. Even when developed and delivered by a credible source, it was believed that HITs are not comparable with in-person care and that the connection with a health professional remains a valued part of seeking and receiving care. That said, participants consistently stated that they would make use of an HIT if asked to do so by a health professional.

Despite the willingness to engage with HITs, data privacy and security concerns were frequently referenced as barriers to use, which aligns with previous user-centered work in this area [58]. This is perhaps not surprising, given the frequency of data breaches globally. For example, the United States Department of Health and Human Services' Office for Civil Rights breach portal listed 510 health care data breaches of 500 or more records in 2019, reflecting a 196% increase from 2018 [59]. Needless to say, adherence to relevant privacy policies is paramount in the development and implementation of HITs to protect consumers' health information from being disclosed for marketing purposes or, perhaps more importantly, identity theft and fraud.

Importantly, the results of this study have translated to a configuration of the InnoWell Platform specifically tailored to older adults. The broad-based assessment, for example, has been modified to reflect areas of health that are particularly relevant to older adults, including cognition and pain, and to incorporate assessment tools specifically designed for the older adult community (as opposed to tools used in configurations of the InnoWell Platform designed for young people or veterans). All informational materials provided within the InnoWell Platform are appropriate for older adults. For example, fact sheets are provided regarding the benefits of physical activity or the health impacts of excessive alcohol use for older adults. Furthermore, the care options embedded within the InnoWell Platform have been revised to reflect the needs of older adults, such as recommendations for apps for cognitive training, medication management, and cardiovascular health. The design and development of additional features and functionality of the InnoWell Platform based on the information gathered in this study are currently under consideration for inclusion in the next iteration of this innovative HIT.

Limitations

This study has some limitations that are important to note. All participants in this study were regular users of technology with high levels of digital literacy. As such, the accessibility, engagement, and appropriateness of technology for novice users or those who do not have easy access to technology could not be explored. In addition, only 2 supportive others were included

in the participant sample, thereby limiting any conclusions that can be drawn about the features or functions of HITs that may be appropriate specifically for this user group. Finally, to promote patient privacy, no demographic information was collected from participants; therefore, we were unable to comment on factors such as age range, highest level of education, or occupational status (eg, retired). This also precludes the ability to investigate differences in technology preferences based on age (eg, *50-64 years vs* 65-80 years).

Conclusions

Older adults readily engage with a range of technologies in day-to-day life, with current participants endorsing a preference for smartphones and computers relative to other devices. HITs have the potential to improve access to cost-effective and low-intensity interventions at scale to improve and maintain mental health and well-being. Participants referenced personalization and the ability to access up-to-date, credible information and resources as primary facilitators of HIT adoption, with a strong desire for integration with standard care practices to preserve personal connections with health professionals. Data privacy and security risks were a primary barrier to HIT use, although this may be mitigated if the source of the digital tool is reputable. Variability in digital literacy among older adults also has the potential to limit the adoption of such tools. However, several strategies may improve uptake and efficacy, including active co-design of HITs specifically with the older adult community to ensure usability, acceptability, and appropriateness; support for HIT selection and use of clinical applications via a digital navigator; and education and training materials embedded within the HIT.

Future Directions

The configuration of the InnoWell Platform specific for older adults is now being trialed in a naturalistic 90-day user testing study. Participants aged 50 years and older are invited to engage with the InnoWell Platform for a period of 90 days and asked to complete short web-based surveys at 5 time points (baseline [or day 1], day 15, day 30, day 60, and day 90), regarding the quality, usability, and acceptability of the functionality of the prototyped InnoWell Platform. Eighteen participants have enrolled in this study to date, and results are expected to be submitted for publication in early 2021. The findings will inform the iterative redesign and development of the InnoWell Platform before the implementation within an older adult health service setting. Furthermore, participant feedback will also be used in the design and development of other HITs for the older adult community, such as gamified cognitive tests to assess and monitor cognitive functioning over time and multifaceted, interactive web-based interventions to support and maintain mental health and well-being.

Acknowledgments

This research is being conducted on behalf of the Australian Government Department of Health as part of Project Synergy (2017-2020). Funding is secured. InnoWell was formed by the University of Sydney and PwC (Australia) to deliver the Aus \$30 million (US \$21.10 million) Australian Government-funded Project Synergy. The authors acknowledge and thank Ms Katharine

Braunstein and the LEAF (Project Synergy Lived Experience Advisory Function) led by Ms Sue Muller for their contribution to this research. In addition, they wish to thank the participants for their involvement in this study.

Authors' Contributions

The authors IH and TD were integral in securing funding to support this study. The study was designed by HL and TD, with subsequent contributions by AR. All data analyses were conducted by HL and AR. All authors contributed to and approved the final manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

IH was an inaugural commissioner on Australia's National Mental Health Commission (2012-2018). He is the Co-Director, Health and Policy at the Brain and Mind Centre (BMC), University of Sydney. The BMC operates early-intervention youth services at Camperdown under contract to headspace. He is the Chief Scientific Adviser to, and an equity shareholder in, InnoWell. InnoWell was formed by the University of Sydney (45% equity) and PwC (45% equity) to deliver the Aus \$30 (US \$21.10 million) million Australian Government–funded Project Synergy (2017-2020), a 3-year program for the transformation of mental health services internationally through the use of innovative technologies. The other authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose. The source of funding does not entail any potential conflict of interest for the other members of the Project Synergy Research and Development Team.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Older adult participatory design agenda. [DOCX File, 48 KB - aging_v4i1e21461_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Population Projections, Australia, 2006 to 2101. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2008. URL: <u>https://bit.ly/338jbQ6</u> [accessed 2020-06-16]
- 2. An Ageing Australia: Preparing for the Future. Canberra, Australia: Commonwealth of Australia; 2013.
- 3. Communications Report 2013-14. The Australian Communications and Media Authority (ACMA). 2015. URL: <u>https://www.acma.gov.au/publications/2014-12/report/communications-report-2013-14</u> [accessed 2020-09-24]
- 4. Anderson M, Perrin A. Technology Use Among Seniors. Pew Research Center. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/</u> internet/2017/05/17/technology-use-among-seniors/ [accessed 2020-06-03]
- 5. Internet/Broadband Factsheet. Pew Research Centre. 2019. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/fact-sheet/internet-broadband/</u> [accessed 2020-09-23]
- 6. Czaja SJ. Long-term care services and support systems for older adults: the role of technology. Am Psychol 2016;71(4):294-301. [doi: 10.1037/a0040258] [Medline: 27159436]
- Mouton A, Cloes M. Web-based interventions to promote physical activity by older adults: promising perspectives for a public health challenge. Arch Public Health 2013 Jul 2;71(1):16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/0778-7367-71-16] [Medline: 23819885]
- 8. Vegesna A, Tran M, Angelaccio M, Arcona S. Remote patient monitoring via non-invasive digital technologies: a systematic review. Telemed J E Health 2017 Jan;23(1):3-17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2016.0051] [Medline: 27116181]
- 9. Hickie IB, Davenport TA, Burns J. Overview of project synergy: building an online platform to deliver right care, first time. Med J Aust 2019;211(7):S4-S7.
- 10. Andersson G, Cuijpers P. Internet-based and other computerized psychological treatments for adult depression: a meta-analysis. Cogn Behav Ther 2009;38(4):196-205. [doi: 10.1080/16506070903318960] [Medline: 20183695]
- 11. Andrews G, Cuijpers P, Craske MG, McEvoy P, Titov N. Computer therapy for the anxiety and depressive disorders is effective, acceptable and practical health care: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2010 Oct 13;5(10):e13196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013196] [Medline: 20967242]
- 12. Glozier N, Christensen H, Naismith S, Cockayne N, Donkin L, Neal B, et al. Internet-delivered cognitive behavioural therapy for adults with mild to moderate depression and high cardiovascular disease risks: a randomised attention-controlled trial. PLoS One 2013;8(3):e59139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0059139] [Medline: 23555624]
- Cox D, Ritterband L, Magee J, Clarke W, Gonder-Frederick L. Blood glucose awareness training delivered over the internet. Diabetes Care 2008 Aug;31(8):1527-1528 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2337/dc07-1956</u>] [Medline: <u>18477813</u>]
- 14. Kraschnewski JL, Stuckey HL, Rovniak LS, Lehman EB, Reddy M, Poger JM, et al. Efficacy of a weight-loss website based on positive deviance. A randomized trial. Am J Prev Med 2011 Dec;41(6):610-614. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2011.08.012] [Medline: 22099238]
- Cunningham JA, Wild TC, Cordingley J, van Mierlo T, Humphreys K. A randomized controlled trial of an internet-based intervention for alcohol abusers. Addiction 2009 Dec;104(12):2023-2032 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02726.x] [Medline: 19922569]

- Christensen H, Batterham PJ, Gosling JA, Ritterband LM, Griffiths KM, Thorndike FP, et al. Effectiveness of an online insomnia program (SHUTi) for prevention of depressive episodes (the GoodNight Study): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet Psychiatry 2016 Apr;3(4):333-341. [doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00536-2] [Medline: 26827250]
- 17. Irvine AB, Gelatt VA, Seeley JR, Macfarlane P, Gau JM. Web-based intervention to promote physical activity by sedentary older adults: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013 Feb 5;15(2):e19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2158] [Medline: 23470322]
- Cheng VWS, Davenport T, Johnson D, Vella K, Mitchell J, Hickie IB. Naturalistic evaluation of a sport-themed mental health and wellbeing app aimed at men (MindMax), that incorporates applied video games and gamification. Internet Interv 2020 Apr;20:100306 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2020.100306] [Medline: 32181146]
- 19. Hakobyan L, Lumsden J, O'Sullivan D. Older adults with AMD as co-designers of an assistive mobile application. Int J Mob Hum Comput Interact 2014;6(1):54-70. [doi: 10.4018/ijmhci.2014010104]
- 20. LaMonica HM, English A, Hickie IB, Ip J, Ireland C, West S, et al. Examining internet and ehealth practices and preferences: survey study of Australian older adults with subjective memory complaints, mild cognitive impairment, or dementia. J Med Internet Res 2017 Oct 25;19(10):e358 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7981] [Medline: 29070481]
- Andrews JA, Brown LJ, Hawley MS, Astell AJ. Older adults' perspectives on using digital technology to maintain good mental health: interactive group study. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb 13;21(2):e11694 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11694] [Medline: 30758292]
- 22. Lee C, Coughlin JF. Perspective: older adults' adoption of technology: an integrated approach to identifying determinants and barriers. J Prod Innov Manag 2014 Jun 3;32(5):747-759. [doi: 10.1111/jpim.12176]
- 23. Tams S, Thatcher JB, Grover V. Concentration, competence, confidence, and capture: an experimental study of age, interruption-based technostress, and task performance. J Assoc Inf Syst 2018;19:857-908. [doi: 10.17705/1jais.00511]
- 24. Heinz M, Martin P, Margrett JA, Yearns M, Franke W, Yang H, et al. Perceptions of technology among older adults. J Gerontol Nurs 2013 Jan;39(1):42-51. [doi: 10.3928/00989134-20121204-04] [Medline: 23244061]
- 25. E Mental Health Strategy for Australia. Australian Government Department of Health. 2012. URL: <u>https://bit.ly/36dVRCr</u> [accessed 2020-09-24]
- 26. Five Year Forward View. NHS England. 2014. URL: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.</u> pdf [accessed 2020-09-24]
- Bjerkan J, Hedlund M, Hellesø R. Patients' contribution to the development of a web-based plan for integrated care a participatory design study. Inform Health Soc Care 2015 Mar;40(2):167-184. [doi: <u>10.3109/17538157.2014.907803</u>] [Medline: <u>24786524</u>]
- 28. Davenport T, Milton A, Ospina-Pinillos L, Whittle L, Ricci C, Burns J. Project Synergy research and development cycle: iterative processes of participatory design, user testing, implementation and feasibility testing. Med J Aust 2019;211(7):S8-11.
- LaMonica HM, Davenport TA, Burns J, Cross S, Hodson S, Veitch J, et al. Technology-enabled mental health service reform for open arms - veterans and families counselling: participatory design study. JMIR Form Res 2019 Sep 19;3(3):e13662 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13662] [Medline: 31538937]
- 30. Goeman DP, Dickins M, Iliffe S, Pond D, O'Keefe F. Development of a discussion tool to enable well-being by providing choices for people with dementia: a qualitative study incorporating codesign and participatory action research. BMJ Open 2017 Nov 14;7(11):e017672. [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017672] [Medline: 29138202]
- Hwang AS, Truong KN, Cameron JI, Lindqvist E, Nygård L, Mihailidis A. Co-Designing Ambient Assisted Living (AAL) Environments: Unravelling the Situated Context of Informal Dementia Care. Biomed Res Int 2015 Nov 15;2015(11):720483 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2015/720483] [Medline: 26161410]
- 32. Davenport TA, Ospina-Pinillos L, Ricci C, Milton A, Burns JM, Hickie IB. Fit Uni Life to thrive: an online health and wellbeing prototype for young people. Med J Aus 2019;211(7):S12-S16.
- 33. Ospina-Pinillos L, Davenport TA, Ricci CS, Milton AC, Scott EM, Hickie IB. Developing a mental health eclinic to improve access to and quality of mental health care for young people: using participatory design as research methodologies. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 28;20(5):e188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9716] [Medline: 29807878]
- 34. Davenport TA, LaMonica HM, Whittle L, English A, Iorfino F, Cross S, et al. Validation of the InnoWell platform: protocol for a clinical trial. JMIR Res Protoc 2019 May 31;8(5):e13955 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13955] [Medline: 31152524]
- Naismith SL, Norrie LM, Mowszowski L, Hickie IB. The neurobiology of depression in later-life: clinical, neuropsychological, neuroimaging and pathophysiological features. Prog Neurobiol 2012 Jul;98(1):99-143. [doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2012.05.009] [Medline: 22609700]
- Livingston G, Huntley J, Sommerlad A, Ames D, Ballard C, Banerjee S, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet commission. Lancet 2020 Aug;396(10248):413-446 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)30367-6] [Medline: 32738937]
- Boise L, Wild K, Mattek N, Ruhl M, Dodge H, Kaye J. Willingness of older adults to share data and privacy concerns after exposure to unobtrusive in-home monitoring. Gerontechnology 2013;11(3):428-435 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.4017/gt.2013.11.3.001.00</u>] [Medline: <u>23525351</u>]

- 38. Fischer SH, David D, Crotty BH, Dierks M, Safran C. Acceptance and use of health information technology by community-dwelling elders. Int J Med Inform 2014 Sep;83(9):624-635 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.06.005] [Medline: 24996581]
- 39. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 40. Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics 1977 Mar;33(1):159-174. [Medline: <u>843571</u>]
- 41. Understanding the Digital Behaviours of Older Australians: Summary of National Survey and Qualitative Research. eSafety Commissioner. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.esafety.gov.au/sites/default/files/2019-08/</u> Understanding-digital-behaviours-older-Australians-summary-report-2018.pdf [accessed 2020-09-24]
- 42. Ryff CD. In the eye of the beholder: views of psychological well-being among middle-aged and older adults. Psychol Aging 1989 Jun;4(2):195-201. [doi: 10.1037//0882-7974.4.2.195] [Medline: 2789747]
- 43. National Seniors Productive Ageing Centre. Social Engagement and Wellbeing Among Mature Age Australians. Canberra, Australia: Department of Health and Ageing; 2013.
- 44. Promoting Individual, Family, and Community Connectedness to Prevent Suicidal Behavior. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2008. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/Suicide_Strategic_Direction_Full_Version-a.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-09-24]
- 45. Linardon J, Cuijpers P, Carlbring P, Messer M, Fuller-Tyszkiewicz M. The efficacy of app-supported smartphone interventions for mental health problems: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. World Psychiatry 2019 Oct;18(3):325-336 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/wps.20673] [Medline: 31496095]
- 46. Kushlev K, Proulx JD, Dunn EW. Digitally connected, socially disconnected: the effects of relying on technology rather than other people. Comput Hum Behav 2017 Nov;76:68-74. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2017.07.001</u>]
- 47. Hope A, Schwaba T, Piper A. Understanding Digital and Material Social Communications for Older Adults. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2014 Presented at: CHI'14; April 26-May 1, 2014; Toronto, Canada. [doi: 10.1145/2556288.2557133]
- 48. Social Isolation, Loneliness in Older People Pose Health Risks. National Institute on Aging NIH. URL: <u>https://bit.ly/</u> <u>3jbB06d</u> [accessed 2020-06-09]
- 49. Brand J, Todhunter S, Jervis J. Digital Australia 2018. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.igea.net/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/</u> Digital-Australia-2018-DA18-Final-1.pdf [accessed 2020-09-24]
- 50. Norton S, Matthews FE, Barnes DE, Yaffe K, Brayne C. Potential for primary prevention of Alzheimer's disease: an analysis of population-based data. Lancet Neurol 2014 Aug;13(8):788-794. [doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70136-X] [Medline: 25030513]
- Lumsden J, Edwards EA, Lawrence NS, Coyle D, Munaf
 MR. Gamification of cognitive assessment and cognitive training: a systematic review of applications and efficacy. JMIR Serious Games 2016 Jul 15;4(2):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.5888] [Medline: 27421244]
- Savulich G, Thorp E, Piercy T, Peterson KA, Pickard JD, Sahakian BJ. Improvements in attention following cognitive training with the novel 'decoder' game on an iPad. Front Behav Neurosci 2019;13:2 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00002] [Medline: 30719000]
- 53. Crabb RM, Rafie S, Weingardt KR. Health-related internet use in older primary care patients. Gerontology 2012;58(2):164-170. [doi: 10.1159/000329340] [Medline: 21734360]
- 54. Kruse RL, Koopman RJ, Wakefield BJ, Wakefield DS, Keplinger LE, Canfield SM, et al. Internet use by primary care patients: where is the digital divide? Fam Med 2012 May;44(5):342-347 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23027117]
- 55. Choi NG, Dinitto DM. The digital divide among low-income homebound older adults: internet use patterns, eHealth literacy, and attitudes toward computer/internet use. J Med Internet Res 2013 May 2;15(5):e93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2645] [Medline: 23639979]
- 56. Wisniewski H, Torous J. Digital navigators to implement smartphone and digital tools in care. Acta Psychiatr Scand 2020 Apr;141(4):350-355. [doi: 10.1111/acps.13149] [Medline: 31930477]
- 57. Wang J, Du Y, Coleman D, Peck M, Myneni S, Kang H, et al. Mobile and connected health technology needs for older adults aging in place: cross-sectional survey study. JMIR Aging 2019 May 15;2(1):e13864 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13864] [Medline: 31518283]
- 58. Wilkowska W, Ziefle M. Privacy and data security in E-health: requirements from the user's perspective. Health Informatics J 2012 Sep;18(3):191-201. [doi: 10.1177/1460458212442933] [Medline: 23011814]
- 59. 2019 Healthcare Data Breach Report. HIPAA Journal. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.hipaajournal.com/</u> 2019-healthcare-data-breach-report/ [accessed 2020-09-06]

Abbreviations

RenderX

BMC: Brain and Mind Centre **HIT:** health information technology



Edited by J Wang; submitted 16.06.20; peer-reviewed by J Andrews, J Kim; comments to author 03.09.20; revised version received 08.09.20; accepted 11.09.20; published 06.01.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u>
LaMonica HM, Davenport TA, Roberts AE, Hickie IB
Understanding Technology Preferences and Requirements for Health Information Technologies Designed to Improve and Maintain
the Mental Health and Well-Being of Older Adults: Participatory Design Study
JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e21461
URL: https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e21461
doi:10.2196/21461
PMID:33404509

©Haley M LaMonica, Tracey A Davenport, Anna E Roberts, Ian B Hickie. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 06.01.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Using Consumer-Grade Physical Activity Trackers to Measure Frailty Transitions in Older Critical Care Survivors: Exploratory Observational Study

Ben Kim¹, PhD; Miranda Hunt², BA; John Muscedere², MD; David M Maslove², MD, MS, FRCP; Joon Lee^{3,4,5}, PhD

¹School of Public Health and Health Systems, University of Waterloo, Waterloo, ON, Canada

²Department of Critical Care Medicine, Queen's University, Kingston, ON, Canada

³Data Intelligence for Health Lab, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

⁴Department of Community Health Sciences, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

⁵Department of Cardiac Sciences, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Joon Lee, PhD Data Intelligence for Health Lab Cumming School of Medicine University of Calgary 3280 Hospital Drive NW Calgary, AB, T2N 4Z6 Canada Phone: 1 403 220 2968 Email: joonwu.lee@ucalgary.ca

Abstract

Background: Critical illness has been suggested as a sentinel event for frailty development in at-risk older adults. Frail critical illness survivors are affected by increased adverse health outcomes, but monitoring the recovery after intensive care unit (ICU) discharge is challenging. Clinicians and funders of health care systems envision an increased role of wearable devices in monitoring clinically relevant measures, as sensor technology is advancing rapidly. The use of wearable devices has also generated great interest among older patients, and they are the fastest growing group of consumer-grade wearable device users. Recent research studies indicate that consumer-grade wearable devices offer the possibility of measuring frailty.

Objective: This study aims to examine the data collected from wearable devices for the progression of frailty among critical illness survivors.

Methods: An observational study was conducted with 12 older survivors of critical illness from Kingston General Hospital in Canada. Frailty was measured using the Clinical Frailty Scale (CFS) at ICU admission, hospital discharge, and 4-week follow-up. A wearable device was worn between hospital discharge and 4-week follow-up. The wearable device collected data on step count, physical activity, sleep, and heart rate (HR). Patient assessments were reviewed, including the severity of illness, cognition level, delirium, activities of daily living, and comorbidity.

Results: The CFS scores increased significantly following critical illness compared with the pre-ICU frailty level (P=.02; d=-0.53). Survivors who were frail over the 4-week follow-up period had significantly lower daily step counts than survivors who were not frail (P=.02; d=1.81). There was no difference in sleep and HR measures. Daily step count was strongly correlated with the CFS at 4-week follow-up (r=-0.72; P=.04). The average HR was strongly correlated with the CFS at hospital discharge (r=-0.72; P=.046). The HR SD was strongly correlated (r=0.78; P=.02) with the change in CFS from ICU admission to 4-week follow-up. No association was found between the CFS and sleep measures. The pattern of increasing step count over the 4-week follow-up period was correlated with worsening of frailty (r=.62; P=.03).

Conclusions: This study demonstrated an association between frailty and data generated from a consumer-grade wearable device. Daily step count and HR showed a strong association with the frailty progression of the survivors of critical illness over time. Understanding this association could unlock a new avenue for clinicians to monitor and identify a vulnerable subset of the older adult population that might benefit from an early intervention.

(JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e19859) doi:10.2196/19859

KEYWORDS

frailty; frail elderly; wearable electronic devices; fitness trackers; activity trackers; heart rate; sleep monitoring; critical care outcomes

Introduction

Frailty Among Critical Illness Survivors

Frailty is a state of increased vulnerability to adverse health outcomes due to the loss of physiological and cognitive reserves [1]. Although frailty often overlaps with terms such as disability and comorbidity, it has been well described that frailty is an independent concept that can be quantitatively separated [2]. Frailty is recognized as a dynamic state, and recent studies have highlighted the need to quantify changes between the stages of frailty to better inform clinicians with the development of tailored treatments [3].

Critical illness has been suggested as a sentinel event for the development of frailty, especially for at-risk older adults [4]. Frailty is frequently evaluated as a prognostic tool in critical care settings to better guide decision making by clinicians and to manage the expectations of patients and families on health outcomes [5]. Critical illness survivors who were frail before the illness, in comparison with those who were not frail, have a significantly higher mortality rate [5-7], are more likely to acquire functional dependence [5,8], have lower quality of life [5], and are more frequently rehospitalized within 12 months [7]. However, no studies have examined the progression of frailty throughout and beyond critical illnesses and how physical and functional recovery is related to changes in frailty.

Wearable Device Uses in Research

Older adults are the fastest growing group of consumer-grade wearable device users [9]. The potential uses of these devices for general wellness and clinical purposes have gathered the interest of many stakeholders, including patients, care providers, funders, governments and policy makers, and technology developers [10-14]. The opportunity to leverage data generated from such devices for clinical and medical purposes is expected to increase as these devices are becoming smaller, cheaper, and ever more accessible in the recent years [15]. Coupled with the logistic and financial challenges of monitoring critical illness survivors' functional recovery outside the hospital setting, many recent research studies investigated several possible uses, including wearable devices as a tool to objectively measure the physical activity level [16,17], sedentary behaviors [18], and mobility [19] and to screen for frailty [20].

Objectives

We examined the data generated from wearable devices for their association with the progression of frailty after hospital discharge and hypothesized significant associations between frailty and physical activity, sleep quality, and heart rate (HR), as reported by the wearable devices. In particular, we hypothesized that survivors who are frail would have lower physical activity, diminished sleep quality, and impaired HR control compared with those who are not frail. We also hypothesized that survivors whose frailty returns to the precritical illness level would have a higher physical activity

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e19859
```

level, better sleep quality, and tighter HR control than those who have a persistent increase in frailty after hospital discharge.

Methods

Study Design and Settings

This observational study was conducted at Kingston General Hospital in Kingston, Ontario, Canada. Patients were recruited from the FORECAST (Frailty, Outcomes, Recovery and Care Steps of Critically Ill Patients) study, which assessed an array of clinical measurements and frailty. For this study, patients were recruited during their admission to the intensive care unit (ICU) from July 2017 to August 2018. Participants were followed up at 4 weeks after hospital discharge.

A convenience sampling method was used to recruit patients aged 55 years and older. They were included in this study if they lived within the city or close by to ensure feasibility of attending the 4-week follow-up session. Patients were excluded if shared decision makers were not available to collect collateral history. We also excluded patients who had medical conditions that might have interfered with the proper use of the wearable devices, including those admitted to the ICU with catastrophic neurological illness that was not likely to be altered by ICU care (eg, massive stroke requiring ICU care, spinal cord injury with neurological deficit), those diagnosed with primary neuromuscular pathology or atrial fibrillation, or those dependent on a wheelchair for mobility. Patients with nonsinus rhythms were excluded. Patients were further excluded if they had an expected survival of less than 1 month.

Data Collection and Instrumentation

Determination of Frailty

Frailty was assessed using the Clinical Frailty Scale (CFS), a tool that has been widely used in critical care settings [1]. The CFS has been shown to outperform other frailty assessment tools in the geriatric population in correctly differentiating major health outcomes such as hospital admission and fall incidents [21]. It is especially suitable for older adults and critically ill populations who may lack cognitive or physical capabilities to answer and perform necessary tasks to be assessed for frailty with other tools [1]. The CFS ranges from 1 to 9, where 1 denotes very fit and 9 represents terminally ill. CFS scores of 1 to 3 are considered not frail, a score of 4 is considered prefrail, and 5 or higher is considered frail. However, a CFS score of 4 or higher was considered frail in this study. Frailty was assessed by one of the 3 experienced research coordinators available at a given time.

Wearable Device

Fitbit Charge HR (Fitbit; hereafter referred to as Fitbit) is a commercially available wearable device worn on the wrist. It uses a triaxial accelerometer to measure motion. These data are used to estimate physical activity, sedentariness, and sleep quality. Fitbit also measures the changes in elevation using an

altimeter. Fitbit uses an optical HR sensor (ie, photoplethysmography) to measure the HR between 30 and 220 beats per minute.

In this study, we collected physical activity levels including daily step count, active time, and sedentary time. Fitbit automatically deems the active time when a physical activity of at least three metabolic equivalents is performed. Sleep-related information is generated, including total time in bed, total sleep time (TST), awake time, and awake count. Sleep efficiency was calculated as the percentage of sleep time over the TST. Sleep time was determined by subtracting the awake time from the TST. HR was measured every minute. HR data were used to assess the average daily HR, SD of average daily HR, and average nocturnal HR. The average nocturnal HR was calculated using only the HR recorded during sleep as classified by the TST.

Other Variables

The research coordinators reviewed the patients' medical charts and collected demographic information, including age, sex, height, and weight. The degree of comorbidity and the ability to perform activities of daily living were calculated using the Charlson Comorbidity Index [22] and the Katz index [23], respectively. The severity of illness and delirium were collected and calculated using the Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II (APACHE II) [24] and the Confusion Assessment Method-ICU [25], respectively. The major critical care treatments received during the ICU stay, including invasive mechanical ventilation, noninvasive ventilation, vasopressor use, corticosteroid use, continuous renal replacement therapy, and intermittent hemodialysis, were collected. The ICU length of stay (ICU LOS) and hospital LOS were calculated from chart reviews.

Procedure

A total of 3 trained research coordinators interviewed the patients at 3 different time points: ICU admission (T1), hospital discharge (T2), and 4-week follow-up (T3). The assessment conducted at T1 was used to establish the baseline information (ie, pre-ICU admission). Figure 1 outlines the study procedure and time points for the assessments and measurement tools. All participants received a wearable device at ICU discharge and were trained on its use during the hospital ward stay before hospital discharge. Participants were encouraged to wear the device during the ward stay, but only the posthospital discharge data were used for analyses. The time between T1 and T2 is referred to as D1, between T2 and T3 as D2, and between T1 and T3 as D3, hereafter.



Kim et al

Figure 1. Study procedure and time points of assessment and measurement tools. ADL: Activities of Daily Living; APACHE: Acute Physiologic Assessment and Chronic Health Evaluation; ICU: intensive care unit.



Data Analyses and Interpretation

Descriptive statistics and univariable comparisons of means, medians, and proportions were performed to describe the demographic information and patient characteristics according to frailty status. The Shapiro-Wilk normality test was performed to check for normality. Student t test, Mann-Whitney U test, or chi-square test was performed to check for independence between frail and nonfrail survivors at T3. Cohen d was used

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e19859
```

RenderX

to evaluate the effect size when a statistically significant difference was found.

The Pearson correlation coefficient and Spearman rank correlation coefficient were calculated to analyze the correlation between the data collected from the wearables and the changes in the CFS score over D1, D2, and D3. Their relationships with patient demographics and medical data were further examined.

A linear regression was performed for individual patients' daily step count, daily TST, daily awake duration, and HR over D2. The slope of the regression line (hereafter referred to as the slope) was examined for its relationship with the changes in the CFS score over D1, D2, and D3 by performing Spearman rank correlation analysis. Patients with fewer than 5 days of wearable data were excluded from this analysis.

Statistical significance was set at α =.05 for all statistical results. Statistical analysis was performed using R Studio (R version 3.6.0, R Studio version 1.2.1335, R Studio Inc).

Ethics, Consent, and Permissions

This study was approved by the office of research ethics at the University of Waterloo (ORE22219) and the Queen's University

Health Sciences and Affiliated Teaching Hospitals Research Ethics (ROMEO/TRAQ 6020644).

Results

Recruitment

A total of 16 patients admitted to the ICU were recruited after they provided informed consent between July 2017 and August 2018. Overall, 2 patients withdrew from the study, and 2 patients' data were lost because of technical issues. In total, we had 12 patients with wearable device data collected successfully (Table 1).

Table 1. Baseline characteristics, frailty, disability, and comorbidity scores.

Patient characteristics	Frail at T3 ^a	Nonfrail at T3 ^b	P value
Demographics		·	
Patients, n	7 (58.33)	5 (41.67)	N/A ^c
Age (years), mean (SD)	66 (8.12)	67.8 (5.07)	.81
Sex (female), n (%)	6 (85.71)	1 (20.00)	.02 ^d
BMI, kg m ^{-2}	30.22 (8.36)	26.34 (16.01)	.21
Type of admission			
Medical, n (%)	1 (8.33)	10 (83.33)	N/A ^c
Surgical, n (%)	0 (0.00)	1 (8.33)	N/A
Intensive care unit length of stay (days), mean (SD)	15.29 (5.19)	13.40 (9.63)	.67
Hospital length of stay (days), mean (SD)	24.57 (10.49)	20.60 (16.32)	.62
Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II score	26.71 (6.63)	29.00 (2.45)	.81
Glasgow Coma Scale score	7.43 (4.54)	5.20 (2.28)	.56
Charlson Comorbidity Index score	1.57 (2.07)	1.00 (1.22)	.21
Katz at T1 ^a score	5.00 (1.29)	5.60 (0.55)	.59
Katz at T3 ^b score	5.71 (0.76)	6.00 (0.00)	.50

^aICU admission.

^b4-week follow-up.

^cN/A: not applicable, as *P* value cannot be computed. $^{d}P < .05$.

The patients were aged between 55 and 77 years, with a mean age of 66.75 (SD 6.80) years, and 7 patients were female. There were significantly more frail female participants than male participants (P=.02). The mean ICU LOS was 14.50 (SD 7.03) days and hospital LOS was 22.92 (SD 12.69) days. The mean APACHE II score at T1 was 27.67 (SD 5.25). Overall, 7 of the 12 patients were classified as frail at T3. There were no other major differences in baseline characteristics between frail and nonfrail patients at T3.

Clinical Frailty

Critical illness had a profound effect on the patient's frailty level (Figure 2). Compared with the baseline CFS score at T1, the CFS score at T2 increased significantly (P=.007; d=-1.13). A general trend of improvement in frailty level was observed over D2; however, the difference was not statistically significant (P=.10; d=0.59). At T3, the frailty level returned to that at the baseline for 6 patients, whereas it worsened for 6 patients. Overall, the CFS score increased significantly over D3 (P=.02; d=-0.53). The changes in frailty level at different time points are summarized in Table 2.

Figure 2. A boxplot of the Clinical Frailty Scale score at T1: ICU admission, T2: hospital discharge, and T3: 4-week follow-up (n=12). ICU: intensive care unit.



Table 2. Changes in Clinical Frailty Scale score between ICU admission and 4-week follow-up.

Frailty changes	ICU ^a admission to hospital discharge, n	Hospital discharge to 4-week follow-up, n	ICU admission to 4-week follow-up, n
Improved	0	2	0
No change	5	4	6
Worsened	7	6	6

^aICU: intensive care unit.

Frailty and Wearables Data

Of the 12 patients, 3 wore the wearable devices for fewer than 5 days over D3 (Table 3). On average, patients wore the wearables for 26.33 days. Frail patients at T3 had significantly

lower daily step counts than nonfrail patients (1336.40 vs 3781.04 steps; P=.02; d=1.81). They engaged in lesser daily physical activity than their counterparts (2.02 vs 16.34 minutes per day; P=.04; d=0.94). There was no difference in sleep and HR measures between the frail and nonfrail groups.



Table 3. Data collected from the wearable devices (n=9).

Wearable device measures	Frail at T3 ^a	Nonfrail at T3 ^b	P value
Patients, n (%)	5 (56)	4 (44)	N/A ^c
Davs worn, mean (SD)	30.20 (8.73)	21.50 (8.27)	.17
Physical activity variables		21.00 (0.27)	,
Daily step count, mean (SD)	1336.40 (1091.07)	3781.04 (1389.37)	.02 ^d
Sedentary time (min per day), mean (SD)	84.11 (55.75)	104.95 (49.78)	.58
Active duration (min per day), mean (SD)	2.02 (3.83)	16.34 (10.66)	.04 ^d
Sleep measures			
Total sleep time (min per night), mean (SD)	419.71 (166.62)	336.25 (134.07)	.81
Total time in bed (min per night), mean (SD)	456.31 (182.49)	362.16 (144.88)	.84
Awake time (min per night), mean (SD)	24.427 (11.20)	21.30 (11.33)	.69
Awake count (times per night), mean (SD)	1.65 (0.62)	1.54 (1.10)	.85
Sleep efficiency (%), mean (SD)	91.72 (2.35)	92.70 (2.00)	.53
HR ^e measures			
Average HR (bpm ^f), mean (SD)	86.93 (7.10)	80.38 (13.18)	.38
Heart rate standard deviation, bpm (SD)	8.81 (1.97)	10.66 (3.16)	.32
Average nocturnal HR, bpm (SD)	86.42 (5.87)	74.10 (20.27)	.27

^aT1: Intensive care unit admission.

^bT3: 4-week follow-up.

^cN/A: not applicable.

^d*P*<.05.

^eHR: heart rate.

^fbpm: beats per minute.

The correlations between the wearable device data and frailty are summarized in Table 4. Daily step count strongly correlated with the baseline CFS at T1 (r=-0.76; P=.03) and the CFS score at T3 (r=-0.72; P=.006). Sedentary time strongly correlated with the CFS score at T1 but did not reach statistical significance (r=-0.66; P=.07). The average HR strongly correlated (r=-0.72;

P=.046) with the CFS score at T2, and HR SD also strongly correlated (r=0.78; P=.02) with the CFS change over D3. No relationship was found between sleep measures and CFS scores. No patient characteristics had a significant relationship with the CFS score (see Multimedia Appendix 1 for the exact P values for each correlation coefficient).



Table 4. Correlations between the data collected from the wearables and the frailty level and its change overtime (n=9).

Wearable device measures and patient characteristics		Correlation (<i>r</i>)					
		Frailty at T1 ^a	Frailty at T2 ^b	Frailty at T3 ^c	Frailty change over D1 ^d	Frailty change over D2 ^e	Frailty change over D3 ^f
Physical activity data					·		
Daily step count		-0.76 ^g	-0.35	-0.72 ^g	0.55	-0.46	0.14
Active time		-0.62	0.03	-0.53	0.63	-0.56	0.18
Sedentary time		-0.66	-0.39	-0.53	0.41	-0.24	0.25
Sleep data							
In bed		0.10	0.13	0.42	-0.01	0.32	0.45
Total sleep time		0.08	0.13	0.40	0.01	0.31	0.46
Awake time		-0.26	-0.07	0.07	0.22	0.13	0.50
Awake count		-0.31	0.06	-0.10	0.37	-0.15	0.33
Sleep efficiency		0.23	-0.10	0.12	-0.32	0.20	-0.19
HR ^h data							
Average HR		-0.24	-0.72 ^g	-0.16	-0.28	0.37	0.13
Heart rate standard d	leviation	-0.55	-0.05	-0.05	0.54	-0.01	0.78 ^g
Average nocturnal H	R	0.06	-0.21	-0.19	-0.22	-0.04	-0.37
Patient characteristics							
Age		0.18	0.56	< 0.01	0.24	-0.45	-0.27
BMI		0.42	0.38	0.47	-0.11	0.15	0.04
Intensive care unit le	ength of stay	-0.01	0.21	< 0.01	0.17	-0.17	0.02
Hospital length of sta	ay	0.15	0.15	0.05	-0.03	-0.07	-0.14
Charlson Comorbidi	ty Index	0.56	0.12	0.29	-0.44	0.19	-0.44
Glasgow Coma Scale	e	0.24	-0.06	0.15	-0.27	0.19	-0.16
Changes in activities	of daily living	0.06	0.34	0.05	0.20	-0.23	-0.02
Acute Physiology an	d Chronic Health Evaluation II	0.19	0.47	-0.12	0.17	-0.50	-0.47

^aT1: Intensive care unit admission.

^bT2: Hospital discharge.

^cT3: 4-week follow-up.

^dD1: Intensive care unit admission to hospital discharge.

^eD2: Hospital discharge to 4-week follow-up.

^fD3: Intensive care unit admission to 4-week follow-up.

 $^{g}P < .05.$

^hHR: heart rate.

Frailty and Wearable Data Trends Over Time

The slope of the linear regression line for daily step count, TST, and HR was calculated to investigate the relationship between frailty and wearable device data trends over time (Figure 3).

The slope of the daily step count demonstrated strong correlations with the CFS change over D1 (r=0.71; P=.01) and D3 (r=0.65; P=.03) (Table 5). The slope of HR strongly correlated with frailty change over D3 (r=0.62; P=.03).



Figure 3. Example of the slope of linear regression line for daily step count, total sleep time, and heart rate. The slope of linear regression line represents the changes over over hospital discharge to 4-week follow-up.



Table 5. Correlation between the slope of daily step count, total sleep time, heart rate and the Clinical Frailty Scale (CFS) scores at intensive care unit admission, hospital discharge, and 4-week follow-up and changes in CFS over intensive care unit admission to hospital discharge, hospital discharge to 4-week follow-up, and intensive care unit admission to 4-week follow-up.

Time points and frame	Slope					
	Step count (r)	P value	Total sleep time (r)	P value	Heart rate (r)	P value
CFS ^a score at T1 ^b	-0.55 ^c	.08	0.59 ^c	.07	-0.31	.32
CFS score at T2 ^d	0.27	.43	0.12	.74	-0.12	.72
CFS score at T3 ^e	-0.18	.60	0.32	.36	0.10	.75
CFS change over D1 ^f	0.71 ^g	.01	-0.49	.15	0.21	.52
CFS change over D2 ^h	-0.38	.25	0.21	.56	0.20	.54
CFS change over D3 ⁱ	0.65 ^g	.03	-0.52	.13	0.62 ^d	.03

^aCFS: Clinical Frailty Scale.

^bT1: intensive care unit admission.

^c*P*<.10.

^dT2: Hospital discharge.

^eT3: 4-week follow-up.

^fD1: Intensive care unit admission to hospital discharge.

 $^{g}P < .05.$

^hD2: Hospital discharge to 4-week follow-up.

ⁱD3: Intensive care unit admission to 4-week follow-up.

Discussion

Frailty Transitions Following Critical Illness

In this exploratory observational study, we observed 12 older adult survivors of critical illness from the time of their admission to the ICU until 4-weeks after their hospital discharge. Physical recovery was monitored using a wearable device. Frailty was assessed at multiple time points throughout their ICU and hospital stay and at 4 weeks after discharge. A total of 6 patients became frailer after their critical illness, whereas the frailty of the other 6 returned to their precritical illness levels. No participant's frailty improved above their pre-ICU baseline state. The incidence rate of worsening frailty over 3 years is reported to be approximately 0.6% and 1.3% for healthy men and women, respectively [26]. A noticeably higher incidence rate in the study sample confirms the notion that critical illness is a triggering event in the transition to a frail state [4].

```
https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e19859
```

RenderX

Patterns of Wearable Measures and Frailty Transitions

We demonstrated the association between a lower physical activity level and increased frailty level. This was evident from a significantly lower daily step count and active time by the frail survivors compared with their nonfrail counterparts. This finding is consistent with a previous study that used a wearable device worn on the upper arm and reported a significantly reduced step count by frail survivors compared with a healthy control group [16]. Our results suggest that the rate at which an individual increases daily step count following critical illness may be an important indicator for the recovery of frailty back to the precritical illness level. Those whose frailty worsened showed a significantly higher rate of increase in their daily step counts (P=.03). We initially suspected that the magnitude of the positive slope was amplified because of lower step counts among those whose frailty worsened. However, the average step count was not significantly different between those whose frailty worsened and those whose frailty did not change (P=.63).

We further speculated that the difference in baseline frailty level may contribute to this finding; however, there was no significant difference in baseline frailty between the 2 groups (P=.49). Another possible explanation may be an increase in frailty because of nonphysical characteristics such as impaired cognitive function. Future research should confirm this relationship and investigate possible explanations. Understanding this relationship may help clinicians to accurately identify patients who will benefit from strengthened transitional care.

The pattern of increasing HR and the SD of HR were shown to be related to the worsening of frailty following critical illness. These findings are in line with the theoretical understanding of frailty as a concept of impaired homeostasis [27]. These patterns may be caused by the inability to evoke dynamic physiological processes to restore equilibrium. Studies that examined HR variability have concluded that frailty is associated with impaired cardiac autonomic control [28,29]. However, empirical evidence for the relationship between HR and frailty is lacking. Increased resting HR was found to be associated with functional decline among older adults [30], increased inflammatory markers [31], and an increased mortality rate among trauma patients [32].

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate frailty by collecting and analyzing longitudinal HR data from a consumer-grade wearable device. The use of consumer-grade wearable devices to monitor HR has garnered the interest of many researchers in recent years. Its feasibility and accuracy have been researched in different populations, including patients who are critically ill [33]. Many studies have demonstrated its feasibility and acceptable compliance level, but its capacity to measure HR accurately has been questioned, especially for the detection of nonsinus rhythms such as tachycardia and bradycardia [33,34]. Despite this, our study used longitudinal HR data to successfully uncover the association among frailty, HR, and its SD. Future studies should expand on this relationship and its potential use as a screening and monitoring tool for frailty and the detection of early signs of clinical deterioration among critical illness survivors.

Poor sleep quality, particularly nighttime disturbances, was reported to be associated with an increased risk of frailty among community-dwelling older adults [35,36]. Frequently perturbed sleep in hospitals adversely affects patient's recovery [37]. However, we found no significant association between sleep measures and changes in frailty. This may be explained by the inaccurate measures of sleep quality using wearable devices. The exact model of the device used in this study has been validated against polysomnography (PSG) for healthy adolescents and the same device brand among young adults [38,39]. However, it was noted that the performance of these devices may be poor in populations with low sleep quality or a high number of motionless wake episodes. Continued efforts to use consumer-grade wearable devices for routine sleep monitoring should be encouraged because the current methods such as PSG and sleep journals are not feasible because of their high cost and inaccuracy among patients who are critically ill [33].

https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e19859

XSI•FC

Implications for Consumer-Grade Wearable and Frailty Research in Critical Care Setting

Survivors of critical illness are uniquely situated as their physiological and cognitive reserves (ie, frailty) have been pushed to their limit and beyond. The successful recovery of frailty back to the precritical illness level is crucial for protection from subsequent critical illness. Unsuccessful recovery of frailty places an individual in a vulnerable state in which a lesser illness may lead to amplified adverse health outcomes, thereby requiring greater health care resources [40,41]. Our study demonstrated the possibility of early detection of unsuccessful frailty recovery in the first 4 weeks of post-ICU discharge using a wearable device. Identifying such a vulnerable subset of critical illness survivors warrants the timely delivery of frailty interventional programs that have been shown to improve frailty as well as various functional capabilities for community-dwelling older adults [42]. Furthermore, wearable devices have the potential to enhance the monitoring of physical activities in ecological settings, which can guide clinicians and researchers further by complementing the supervised data acquired in traditional settings [43].

Limitations

Our study has several limitations. The exploratory nature of the study resulted in a restrictive sample size from a single ICU that is not representative of the entire critical ill population. It limited the generalizability of the findings to other populations. Other research studies reported significant differences in the age between frail and nonfrail patients, but our study sample did not. The small sample size prevented us from stratifying patients into nonfrail, at-risk, and frail groups. The addition of another level of frailty may have helped us interpret the slope of linear regression in more detail for daily step count, sleep time, and HR. Furthermore, patients who were critically ill were discharged from the ICU to a hospital ward before being discharged, which led to varied hospital ward LOS. This may have affected the assessment of frailty at the 4-week follow-up session. However, the hospital ward LOS was not significantly different between patients who are frail and not frail (13.4 vs 7.0 days; P=.20). We chose a 4-week follow-up to investigate the early recovery process immediately following the critical illness. A longer observation period of critical illness survivors will benefit future studies as full functional and physical recovery is achieved over 6- to 12-month periods for 25% to 50% of older critical illness survivors [44,45].

Conclusions

In this study, we observed the physical recovery of critical illness survivors using a wearable device. Unsuccessful recovery of frailty to precritical illness level at 4 weeks after hospital discharge was related to a significantly lower step count followed by a high rate of increase in step count. This unsuccessful recovery was also related to an increase in HR over the same period. Sleep measures did not correlate with frailty. Our study demonstrated the possibility of using consumer-grade wearables as a tool to understand frailty progression for survivors of critical illness. We also demonstrated the added value of longitudinal wearable data. Consumer-grade wearables evolve rapidly, and future research

should focus on leveraging new features such as activity, sleep, and HR. electrocardiogram and more accurate measures of physical

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by a Core Research Project Grant (WP7.3) from the AGE-WELL Network of Centres of Excellence.

Authors' Contributions

BK, DM, and JL formulated and designed the research. MH conducted data collection under the supervision of DM and JM. BK and JL conducted the analyses, and BK prepared the manuscript under the supervision of JL. DM contributed to the development and refinement of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Correlations between the data collected from the wearables and the frailty level and its change overtime with exact P values. [DOCX File, 25 KB - aging v4i1e19859 app1.docx]

References

- Rockwood K, Song X, MacKnight C, Bergman H, Hogan DB, McDowell I, et al. A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. CMAJ 2005 Aug 30;173(5):489-495 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.050051] [Medline: 16129869]
- Fried LP, Ferrucci L, Darer J, Williamson JD, Anderson G. Untangling the concepts of disability, frailty, and comorbidity: implications for improved targeting and care. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2004 Mar;59(3):255-263. [doi: 10.1093/gerona/59.3.m255] [Medline: 15031310]
- 3. McDermid RC, Stelfox HT, Bagshaw SM. Frailty in the critically ill: a novel concept. Crit Care 2011;15(1):301 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/cc9297] [Medline: 21345259]
- 4. Muscedere J, Andrew MK, Bagshaw SM, Estabrooks C, Hogan D, Holroyd-Leduc J, et al. Screening for Frailty in Canada's Health Care System: A Time for Action. Can. J. Aging 2016 May 23;35(3):281-297. [doi: 10.1017/s0714980816000301]
- Bagshaw SM, Stelfox HT, McDermid RC, Rolfson DB, Tsuyuki RT, Baig N, et al. Association between frailty and shortand long-term outcomes among critically ill patients: a multicentre prospective cohort study. CMAJ 2014 Feb 04;186(2):95-102 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.130639] [Medline: 24277703]
- Bagshaw SM, Stelfox HT, Johnson JA, McDermid RC, Rolfson DB, Tsuyuki RT, et al. Long-term association between frailty and health-related quality of life among survivors of critical illness: a prospective multicenter cohort study. Crit Care Med 2015 May;43(5):973-982. [doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000000860] [Medline: 25668751]
- Zeng A, Song X, Dong J, Mitnitski A, Liu J, Guo Z, et al. Mortality in Relation to Frailty in Patients Admitted to a Specialized Geriatric Intensive Care Unit. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2015 Dec;70(12):1586-1594 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/gerona/glv084] [Medline: 26400736]
- Ehlenbach WJ, Hough CL, Crane PK, Haneuse SJPA, Carson SS, Curtis JR, et al. Association between acute care and critical illness hospitalization and cognitive function in older adults. JAMA 2010 Feb 24;303(8):763-770 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.167] [Medline: 20179286]
- 9. eMarketer. Older Americans Drive Growth of Wearables Internet. eMarketer Editors. 2018 Dec 13. URL: <u>https://www.emarketer.com/content/older-americans-drive-growth-of-wearables</u> [accessed 2021-01-13]
- Accenture. Silver surfers continue to make waves in ehealth. But are healthcare organizations swimming against the tide? Insight Driven Health. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.accenture.com/t20160829T222305_w_/us-en/_acnmedia/PDF-29/</u> <u>Accenture-Silver-Surfers-Continue-to-Make-Waves.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-03-30]
- Chung AE, Skinner AC, Hasty SE, Perrin EM. Tweeting to Health: A Novel mHealth Intervention Using Fitbits and Twitter to Foster Healthy Lifestyles. Clin Pediatr (Phila) 2017 Jan;56(1):26-32. [doi: <u>10.1177/0009922816653385</u>] [Medline: <u>27317609</u>]
- 12. Kelsey T, Cavendish W. Personalised health and care 2020: Using data and Technology to Transform Outcomes for Patients and Citizens. A framework for action. National Information Board. 2014. URL: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/personalised-health-and-care-2020/using-data-and-technology-to-transform-outcomes-for-patients-and-citizens</u> [accessed 2020-04-27]
- Piwek L, Ellis DA, Andrews S, Joinson A. The Rise of Consumer Health Wearables: Promises and Barriers. PLoS Med 2016 Feb;13(2):e1001953 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001953] [Medline: 26836780]

- Swan M. Emerging patient-driven health care models: an examination of health social networks, consumer personalized medicine and quantified self-tracking. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2009 Feb;6(2):492-525 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph6020492] [Medline: 19440396]
- Baig MM, Afifi S, GholamHosseini H, Mirza F. A Systematic Review of Wearable Sensors and IoT-Based Monitoring Applications for Older Adults - a Focus on Ageing Population and Independent Living. J Med Syst 2019 Jun 15;43(8):233. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-019-1365-7] [Medline: 31203472]
- 16. McNelly AS, Rawal J, Shrikrishna D, Hopkinson NS, Moxham J, Harridge SD, et al. An Exploratory Study of Long-Term Outcome Measures in Critical Illness Survivors: Construct Validity of Physical Activity, Frailty, and Health-Related Quality of Life Measures. Crit Care Med 2016 Jun;44(6):e362-e369. [doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000001645] [Medline: 26974547]
- Baldwin CE, Johnston KN, Rowlands AV, Williams MT. Physical Activity of ICU Survivors during Acute Admission: Agreement of the activPAL with Observation. Physiother Can 2018 Feb;70(1):57-63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3138/ptc.2016-61] [Medline: 29434419]
- Baldwin C, Johnston K, Rowlands A, Fraysse F, Williams M. The Story of Sedentary Behaviour and Physical Activity by Accelerometry: A Cohort Study of Adults From Awakening to ICU/Hospital Discharge. In: Australian Critical Care. Amsterdam: Elsevier Ltd; Jan 1, 2019:A.
- Cook DJ, Thompson JE, Prinsen SK, Dearani JA, Deschamps C. Functional recovery in the elderly after major surgery: assessment of mobility recovery using wireless technology. Ann Thorac Surg 2013 Sep;96(3):1057-1061. [doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2013.05.092] [Medline: 23992697]
- 20. Chen S, Honda T, Chen T, Narazaki K, Haeuchi Y, Supartini A, et al. Screening for frailty phenotype with objectively-measured physical activity in a west Japanese suburban community: evidence from the Sasaguri Genkimon Study. BMC Geriatr 2015 Apr 02;15:36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12877-015-0037-9] [Medline: 25887474]
- Ritt M, Schwarz C, Kronawitter V, Delinic A, Bollheimer LC, Gassmann KG, et al. Analysis of Rockwood et Al's Clinical Frailty Scale and Fried et Al's Frailty Phenotype as Predictors of Mortality and Other Clinical Outcomes in Older Patients Who Were Admitted to a Geriatric Ward. J Nutr Health Aging 2015 Dec;19(10):1043-1048. [doi: 10.1007/s12603-015-0667-9] [Medline: 26624218]
- 22. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987;40(5):373-383. [doi: 10.1016/0021-9681(87)90171-8] [Medline: 3558716]
- Katz S, Ford AB, Moskowitz RW, Jackson BA, Jaffe MW. Studies of Illness in the Aged. The Index of ADL: A Standardized Measure of Biological and Psychosocial Function. JAMA 1963 Sep 21;185:914-919. [doi: 10.1001/jama.1963.03060120024016] [Medline: 14044222]
- 24. Knaus WA, Draper EA, Wagner DP, Zimmerman JE. APACHE II: a severity of disease classification system. Crit Care Med 1985 Oct;13(10):818-829. [Medline: <u>3928249</u>]
- Ely EW, Margolin R, Francis J, May L, Truman B, Dittus R, et al. Evaluation of delirium in critically ill patients: validation of the Confusion Assessment Method for the Intensive Care Unit (CAM-ICU). Crit Care Med 2001 Jul;29(7):1370-1379. [doi: 10.1097/00003246-200107000-00012] [Medline: 11445689]
- 26. Peterson MJ, Giuliani C, Morey MC, Pieper CF, Evenson KR, Mercer V, Health, AgingBody Composition Study Research Group. Physical activity as a preventative factor for frailty: the health, aging, and body composition study. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2009 Jan;64(1):61-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/gerona/gln001] [Medline: 19164276]
- 27. Rockwood K, Fox RA, Stolee P, Robertson D, Beattie BL. Frailty in elderly people: an evolving concept. CMAJ 1994 Feb 15;150(4):489-495 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>8313261</u>]
- Varadhan R, Chaves PHM, Lipsitz LA, Stein PK, Tian J, Windham BG, et al. Frailty and impaired cardiac autonomic control: new insights from principal components aggregation of traditional heart rate variability indices. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2009 Jun;64(6):682-687 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/gerona/glp013</u>] [Medline: <u>19223607</u>]
- 29. Chaves PHM, Varadhan R, Lipsitz LA, Stein PK, Windham BG, Tian J, et al. Physiological complexity underlying heart rate dynamics and frailty status in community-dwelling older women. J Am Geriatr Soc 2008 Sep;56(9):1698-1703 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.01858.x] [Medline: 19166446]
- 30. Ogliari G, Mahinrad S, Stott DJ, Jukema JW, Mooijaart SP, Macfarlane PW, et al. Resting heart rate, heart rate variability and functional decline in old age. CMAJ 2015 Oct 20;187(15):E442-E449 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1503/cmaj.150462] [Medline: 26323697]
- 31. Sajadieh A, Nielsen OW, Rasmussen V, Hein HO, Abedini S, Hansen JF. Increased heart rate and reduced heart-rate variability are associated with subclinical inflammation in middle-aged and elderly subjects with no apparent heart disease. Eur Heart J 2004 Mar;25(5):363-370. [doi: 10.1016/j.ehj.2003.12.003] [Medline: 15033247]
- 32. Curtis E, Romanowski K, Sen S, Hill A, Cocanour C. Frailty score on admission predicts mortality and discharge disposition in elderly trauma patients over the age of 65 y. J Surg Res 2018 Oct;230:13-19. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jss.2018.04.017</u>] [Medline: <u>30100028</u>]
- 33. Kroll RR, McKenzie ED, Boyd JG, Sheth P, Howes D, Wood M, WEARable Information Technology for hospital INpatients (WEARIT-IN) study group. Use of wearable devices for post-discharge monitoring of ICU patients: a feasibility study. J Intensive Care 2017 Nov 21;5(1):64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40560-017-0261-9] [Medline: 29201377]

- Shcherbina A, Mattsson CM, Waggott D, Salisbury H, Christle JW, Hastie T, et al. Accuracy in Wrist-Worn, Sensor-Based Measurements of Heart Rate and Energy Expenditure in a Diverse Cohort. J Pers Med 2017 May 24;7(2) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jpm7020003] [Medline: 28538708]
- 35. Vaz Fragoso CA, Gahbauer EA, Van Ness PH, Gill TM. Sleep-wake disturbances and frailty in community-living older persons. J Am Geriatr Soc 2009 Nov;57(11):2094-2100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02522.x] [Medline: 19793356]
- 36. Ensrud KE, Blackwell TL, Ancoli-Israel S, Redline S, Cawthon PM, Paudel ML, et al. Sleep disturbances and risk of frailty and mortality in older men. Sleep Med 2012 Dec 11;13(10):1217-1225 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2012.04.010] [Medline: 22705247]
- 37. Young JS, Bourgeois JA, Hilty DM, Hardin KA. Sleep in hospitalized medical patients, part 1: factors affecting sleep. J Hosp Med 2008;3(6):473-482. [doi: 10.1002/jhm.372] [Medline: 19084897]
- de Zambotti M, Baker FC, Willoughby AR, Godino JG, Wing D, Patrick K, et al. Measures of sleep and cardiac functioning during sleep using a multi-sensory commercially-available wristband in adolescents. Physiol Behav 2016 May 01;158:143-149 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2016.03.006] [Medline: 26969518]
- Mantua J, Gravel N, Spencer RMC. Reliability of Sleep Measures from Four Personal Health Monitoring Devices Compared to Research-Based Actigraphy and Polysomnography. Sensors (Basel) 2016 May 05;16(5) [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s16050646] [Medline: 27164110]
- 40. Zampieri FG, Iwashyna TJ, Viglianti EM, Taniguchi LU, Viana WN, Costa R, ORCHESTRA Study Investigators. Association of frailty with short-term outcomes, organ support and resource use in critically ill patients. Intensive Care Med 2018 Sep;44(9):1512-1520. [doi: 10.1007/s00134-018-5342-2] [Medline: 30105600]
- 41. McIsaac DI, Beaulé PE, Bryson GL, Van Walraven C. The impact of frailty on outcomes and healthcare resource usage after total joint arthroplasty. The Bone & Joint Journal 2016 Jun;98-B(6):799-805. [doi: 10.1302/0301-620x.98b6.37124]
- 42. Puts MTE, Toubasi S, Andrew MK, Ashe MC, Ploeg J, Atkinson E, et al. Interventions to prevent or reduce the level of frailty in community-dwelling older adults: a scoping review of the literature and international policies. Age Ageing 2017 May 01;46(3):383-392 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ageing/afw247] [Medline: 28064173]
- 43. Fasano A, Mancini M. Wearable-based mobility monitoring: the long road ahead. In: Lancet Neurol. Amsterdam: Elsevier Ltd; Feb 11, 2020:378-379.
- Heyland DK, Garland A, Bagshaw SM, Cook D, Rockwood K, Stelfox HT, et al. Recovery after critical illness in patients aged 80 years or older: a multi-center prospective observational cohort study. Intensive Care Med 2015 Nov;41(11):1911-1920. [doi: 10.1007/s00134-015-4028-2] [Medline: 26306719]
- 45. Ferrante LE, Pisani MA, Murphy TE, Gahbauer EA, Leo-Summers LS, Gill TM. Factors Associated with Functional Recovery among Older Intensive Care Unit Survivors. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2016 Aug 01;194(3):299-307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1164/rccm.201506-1256OC] [Medline: 26840348]

Abbreviations

APACHE II: Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II CFS: Clinical Frailty Scale HR: heart rate ICU: intensive care unit ICU LOS: intensive care unit length of stay PSG: polysomnography TST: total sleep time

Edited by J Wang; submitted 04.05.20; peer-reviewed by S Liu, C Mueller, C Kruse; comments to author 10.09.20; revised version received 30.11.20; accepted 19.12.20; published 23.02.21.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Kim B, Hunt M, Muscedere J, Maslove DM, Lee J Using Consumer-Grade Physical Activity Trackers to Measure Frailty Transitions in Older Critical Care Survivors: Exploratory Observational Study JMIR Aging 2021;4(1):e19859 URL: <u>https://aging.jmir.org/2021/1/e19859</u> doi:10.2196/19859 PMID:<u>33620323</u>



©Ben Kim, Miranda Hunt, John Muscedere, David M Maslove, Joon Lee. Originally published in JMIR Aging (http://aging.jmir.org), 23.02.2021. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Aging, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://aging.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.
Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

